# World Journal of *Stem Cells*

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 105-280





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J S C World Journal of Stem Cells

#### Contents

#### Monthly Volume 15 Number 4 April 26, 2023

#### **OPINION REVIEW**

Banking of perinatal mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for stem cell-based personalized medicine over 105 lifetime: Matters arising

Li CH, Zhao J, Zhang HY, Wang B

#### **REVIEW**

- Obesity and cancer stem cells: Roles in cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance 120 Xie WJ, Li J
- 136 Clinical application prospects and transformation value of dental follicle stem cells in oral and neurological diseases

Yang C, Du XY, Luo W

150 Current status and prospects of basic research and clinical application of mesenchymal stem cells in acute respiratory distress syndrome

Liang TY, Lu LH, Tang SY, Zheng ZH, Shi K, Liu JQ

- 165 Extracellular vesicles: Emerged as a promising strategy for regenerative medicine Wang DR, Pan J
- 182 Human pluripotent stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells: Truly immature islet  $\beta$  cells for type 1 diabetes therapy? Jiang H, Jiang FX
- 196 Mechanisms of analgesic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in osteoarthritis pain Almahasneh F, Abu-El-Rub E, Khasawneh RR
- 209 Roles of cancer stem cells in gastrointestinal cancers Xuan SH, Hua ML, Xiang Z, He XL, Huang L, Jiang C, Dong P, Wu J

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

- 221 Harnessing and honing mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for the amelioration of graft-versus-host disease Jaing TH, Chang TY, Chiu CC
- 235 Role of brahma-related gene 1/brahma-associated factor subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells and related neural developmental disorders Ke NY, Zhao TY, Wang WR, Qian YT, Liu C



Monthly Volume 15 Number 4 April 26, 2023

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Basic Study**

248 Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal microRNAs target PI3K/Akt signaling pathway to promote the activation of fibroblasts

Li FQ, Chen WB, Luo ZW, Chen YS, Sun YY, Su XP, Sun JM, Chen SY

Repetitive administration of cultured human CD34+ cells improve adenine-induced kidney injury in mice 268

Ohtake T, Itaba S, Salybekov AA, Sheng Y, Sato T, Yanai M, Imagawa M, Fujii S, Kumagai H, Harata M, Asahara T, Kobayashi S



#### Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 4 April 26, 2023

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Stem Cells, Mariarosaria Miloso, PhD, Associate Professor, Experimental Neurology Unit, School of Medicine and Surgery, University of Milano-Bicocca, Via Cadore 48, Monza 20900, MB, Italy. mariarosaria.miloso@unimib.it

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Stem Cells (WJSC, World J Stem Cells) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of stem cells with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WJSC publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of stem cell biology and regenerative medicine, related to the wide range of stem cells including embryonic stem cells, germline stem cells, tissue-specific stem cells, adult stem cells, mesenchymal stromal cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, embryonal carcinoma stem cells, hemangioblasts, lymphoid progenitor cells, etc.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJSC is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Biological Abstracts, BIOSIS Previews, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 Edition of Journal Citation Reports cites the 2021 impact factor (IF) for WJSC as 5.247; IF without journal self cites: 5.028; 5-year IF: 4.964; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.56; Ranking: 12 among 29 journals in cell and tissue engineering; Quartile category: Q2; Ranking: 86 among 194 journals in cell biology; and Quartile category: Q2. The WJSC's CiteScore for 2021 is 5.1 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Histology is 17/61; Genetics is 145/335; Genetics (clinical) is 42/86; Molecular Biology is 221/386; Cell Biology is 164/274.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Xiang-Di Zhang; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Stem Cells	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1948-0210 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Shengwen Calvin Li, Carlo Ventura	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
April 26, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J S C World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 105-119

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.105

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

## Banking of perinatal mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for stem cellbased personalized medicine over lifetime: Matters arising

Cheng-Hai Li, Jing Zhao, Hong-Yan Zhang, Bin Wang

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Maurya DK, India; Sultana N, Bangladesh

Received: December 6, 2022 Peer-review started: December 6, 2022 First decision: December 25, 2022 Revised: January 7, 2023 Accepted: March 22, 2023 Article in press: March 22, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Cheng-Hai Li, Stem Cell Program of Clinical Research Center, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou University and Henan Provincial People's Hospital, Zhengzhou 450003, Henan Province, China

Jing Zhao, Department of Clinical Laboratory, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou University and Henan Provincial People's Hospital, Zhengzhou 450003, Henan Province, China

Hong-Yan Zhang, Department of Pharmacy, Fuwai Central China Cardiovascular Hospital, Zhengzhou 450000, Henan Province, China

Bin Wang, Department of Neurosurgery, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou University and Henan Provincial People's Hospital, Zhengzhou 450003, Henan Province, China

Corresponding author: Bin Wang, BMed, Neurosurgeon, Department of Neurosurgery, People's Hospital of Zhengzhou University and Henan Provincial People's Hospital, No. 7 Weiwu Road, Zhengzhou 450003, Henan Province, China. bin.wang201166@hotmail.com

#### Abstract

Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) are currently applied in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Numerous clinical studies have indicated that MSCs from different tissue sources can provide therapeutic benefits for patients. MSCs derived from either human adult or perinatal tissues have their own unique advantages in their medical practices. Usually, clinical studies are conducted by using of cultured MSCs after thawing or short-term cryopreserved-then-thawed MSCs prior to administration for the treatment of a wide range of diseases and medical disorders. Currently, cryogenically banking perinatal MSCs for potential personalized medicine for later use in lifetime has raised growing interest in China as well as in many other countries. Meanwhile, this has led to questions regarding the availability, stability, consistency, multipotency, and therapeutic efficiency of the potential perinatal MSC-derived therapeutic products after longterm cryostorage. This opinion review does not minimize any therapeutic benefit of perinatal MSCs in many diseases after short-term cryopreservation. This article mainly describes what is known about banking perinatal MSCs in China and, importantly, it is to recognize the limitation and uncertainty of the perinatal MSCs stored in cryobanks for stem cell medical treatments in whole life. This article also provides several recommendations for banking of perinatal MSCs for potentially future personalized medicine, albeit it is impossible to anticipate whether the donor will benefit from banked MSCs during her/his lifetime.



Key Words: Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells; Adult mesenchymal stromal/stem cells; Perinatal mesenchymal stromal/stem cells; Perinatal tissue; Stem cell bank; Personalized medicine

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This article reviews the current research related to the potential use of banked perinatal mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) for future personalized medicine. This article also discusses the matters needing attention for cryopreservation of perinatal MSCs that are possible to be banked and stored over many years. Acknowledging the limitations and uncertainties of long-term cryopreservation of perinatal MSCs, several key recommendations need to be addressed in this article for future stem cellbased medical treatments.

Citation: Li CH, Zhao J, Zhang HY, Wang B. Banking of perinatal mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for stem cellbased personalized medicine over lifetime: Matters arising. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 105-119 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/105.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.105

#### INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) possess their unique properties that have attracted great attention in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Understanding of the biological properties of MSCs has been continued over a long period of time. Approximately 50 years ago, Fridenshtein et al[1] found a minor subpopulation of transplanted bone marrow (BM) cells cultured in the diffusion chambers that can act as osteogenic stem cells to show the differentiation of these cells towards osteogenesis. MSCs were initially identified in animal BM in a series of studies as fibroblast-like cells that were plastic-adherent and formed discrete fibroblast colonies[1-3]. Such fibroblast colony-forming cells were also shown to display high proliferative capacity and osteogenic potential[3]. Caplan first coined the name "mesenchymal stem cells" in 1991 on the basis of their in vitro capacity to give rise to bone, cartilage, etc.[4], but, to date, the stem cell properties of these cells remain controversial due to the multipotent uncertainty of MSCs in vivo. The essential features of MSC population have been identified as the minimal criteria by the International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy (ISCT) based on the specific phenotypic markers, adherence to plastic, and the potential of tri-lineage differentiation (adipogenesis, chondrogenesis, and osteogenesis)[5]. Given the unknown self-renewal and differentiation properties in vivo, later, Caplan[6] proposed to change the name of MSCs to more accurately reflect their main immunomodulatory and trophic potential not for multipotency of MSCs[7]. In 2019, to further consolidate and clarify the nomenclature of MSCs unless rigorous evidence for stemness exists, the ISCT MSC committee offers a position on the functional definition of mesenchymal stem vs stromal cells<sup>[8]</sup>.

MSCs are well known to be isolated from various adult tissues including BM, adipose (AD) tissue, skeletal muscle, dental pulp, and blood[9,10], as well as vascularized tissues[11,12]. Given the immunomodulatory functions, paracrine capacity, and tropic aspects of MSCs, as well as the lacking of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR, a major histocompatibility complex class II molecule, the potential therapeutic properties of MSCs in clinical trials are being explored for MSC-based regenerative medicine. Typically, MSCs are expanded in vitro, tested, cryopreserved, and banked for later use in preclinical and clinical studies[13-15]. Biobanking of MSCs from perinatal/neonatal tissues such as umbilical cord tissue, placental tissue, as well as placenta-associated amniotic fluid (AF) and amniotic membrane (AM) for potentially personalized medicine in the future has become more popular over the last few years in China. These newborn tissues would be routinely thrown away after birth. Importantly, these neonatal tissues are an abundant and easily available source of MSCs at birth. In this rapidly growing field, usually, stem cell banking companies involved in the stem cell industry in close collaboration with hospitals in China take over neonatal tissue collection, and preparation and cryobanking of the perinatal MSCs proposed for personal or family use for future stem cell therapies when a person develops a disease. Banking of perinatal MSCs has attracted renewed attention not only in China and probably in many other countries as well. However, serious concerns have been also raised pertaining to the maintenance of functionality and stability of stem cells along with therapeutic potential of MSCs at the time of release years. It is hard to predict the true likelihood of perinatal MSC transplantation later in whole lifetime and, noticeably, there is great uncertainty regarding whether or not these MSCs can be used to treat certain diseases after decades. As such, this opinion review article highlights several key observations in regard to the limitation of perinatal MSCs stored in stem cell cryobanks for later personal or family use in the future, which should be widely considered in the settings of cryostorage to minimize the possible side effects of these MSCs for future stem cell therapies.



Importantly, this review provides several practical recommendations for banking of perinatal MSCs to better serve patients who might be desperately in need for potential personalized medicine for future stem cell-based treatments.

## PERINATAL MSCS VS ADULT MSCS IN THEIR BIOLOGICAL AND THERAPEUTIC PROPERTIES

MSCs from adult and perinatal sources exhibit differentiated biological and therapeutic properties. The preclinical and clinical data reported in the literature are varied to this end. With a focus on whether the perinatal MSCs are worth biobanking, the pros and cons of perinatal vs adult MSCs need to be addressed in this section.

Compared to adult MSCs, the newborn stem cells obtained from perinatal tissues rarely carry any infectious diseases and reduce risk of exposure to environmental toxins. Perinatal MSCs have their own advantages such as easy availability, lacking stem cell variability, and comparably low risk of donor environmental effects, as well as immune privileged property. The diversity of MSC differentiation potential is also observed among MSCs from different source tissues. For example, Hou *et al*[16] conducted an analysis of single-cell RNA-seq using MSCs derived from various tissues. By comparison, umbilical cord-derived MSCs (UC-MSCs), one of the most explored perinatal MSC types, and BMderived MSCs (BM-MSCs) exhibited the highest osteogenic potential, while AD-derived MSCs (AD-MSCs) and BM-MSCs had the highest potential of adipogenesis and chondrogenesis, respectively [16]. Meanwhile, UC-MSCs showed the highest immunosuppression as well as the highest stemness among all MSC samples in this study by Hou *et al*[16]. Although human UC-MSCs and BM-MSCs exhibited similar immunosuppressive properties, the differences in immunomodulatory effects of UC-MSCs and BM-MSCs were also suggested in a previous study<sup>[17]</sup>. In contrast, BM-MSCs expressed more indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) in *in vitro* inflammatory environment, while UC-MSCs expressed more prostaglandin E2, interleukine-6, and programmed death-ligands 1 and 2. In addition, there were more T helper 17 cells inhibited and more regulatory T cells induced by UC-MSCs compared with BM-MSCs in co-culture[17]. In an experimental model of sepsis, BM-MSCs but not UC-MSCs were proposed to improve survival rate in septic mice due to the enhanced immunoregulatory properties through a variety of mechanisms[18]. In an in vitro study, UC-MSCs showed a higher angiogenic capacity in comparison with BM-MSCs and AT-MSCs[19]. Park et al[20] conducted an in vivo study to test the angiogenic potential of perinatal chorion-derived MSCs (C-MSCs), which revealed that C-MSCs significantly increased the capillary formation in the C-MSCs injected myocardium compared to UC-MSCs and BM-MSCs. Transplantation of UC-MSCs and BM-MSCs also showed similar therapeutic effects for type I diabetes in a mouse model as well as in treated patients with type I diabetes, respectively[21]. Compared to the mice with BM-MSCs treatment, the UC-MSCs treated mice had seemingly higher β-cell mass post-transplantation, although no significant difference was observed between the two treatment groups[21]. There was no difference in the therapeutic efficacy of BM-MSCs and UC-MSCs at one-year follow-up, albeit both types of MSCs decreased the levels of haemoglobin A1c and fasting and postprandial C-peptide[21].

Overall, the relevant preclinical and clinical studies to date by the use of adult and perinatal MSCs have yielded comparable results, which may contribute to a fuller understanding of their therapeutic potential in laboratory and clinical settings. The biological and therapeutic properties of both perinatal and adult MSCs are summarized in Table 1.

## PERINATAL MSC BANKING FOR PERSONALIZED MEDICINE OVER LIFETIME: CONCERNS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Over the past 20 years of MSC translational research, clinical experiences have shown that MSCs are seemingly unmet medical needs[22-24]. Translation of stem cell potential into medical practices still confronts many challenges. Clearly, these challenges include the long- and short-term therapeutic safety and efficacy of transplanted MSCs, the sufficient capability of homing and engraftment, the long-term cultivation associated alteration of MSC therapeutic properties, loss of stem cell potency with culture time, heterogeneous functions, and consistency and stability of MSCs or MSC-based therapeutic products. While clinical studies have shown the therapeutic benefits of using MSCs in various human diseases, including cardiomyopathy, autoimmune diseases, diabetes and diabetic complications, bone and cartilage repair, and fibrosis<sup>[9]</sup>, rigorous clinical evidence for MSC therapeutics is still actually lacking. The positive, negative, or mixed clinical results have also been frequently observed in MSC clinical studies. Currently, MSCs based medicine still remains unproven and experimental. Therefore, it is possible to consider the limitation and uncertainty of perinatal MSC biobanking for personalized medicine in the context of the future therapeutic potential. Several important issues illustrated by the use of adult MSCs but not well discussed in perinatal MSCs are exemplified in this section to extend the



Table 1 Perinatal vs adult mesenchymal stem/stromal cells in their biological and therapeutic properties				
	Perinatal mesenchymal stem/stromal cells	Adult mesenchymal stem/stromal cells		
Availability	Readily available	Readily available		
Ethical concerns	Minimal crucial ethical concerns and possible religious barriers	Minimal ethical concerns and impossible religious barriers		
Immune privileged charac- teristics	Inactively controversial for immune privileged characteristics	Actively controversial for immune privileged character- istics		
Differentiation	Multipotent differentiation	Multipotent differentiation		
Variability	Low possibility of stem cell variability and multipotent plasticity	Possibility of stem cell variability and multipotent plasticity		
Heterogeneity	Diverse heterogeneities/low homogeneity	Diverse heterogeneities/low homogeneity		
Age-induced senescence	Unconcerned about age-induced senescence in vitro	Concerned about age-induced senescence in vitro		
Environmental effects	Low risk of donor environmental effects (such as virus, bacterium, chemical toxins)	Risk of donor environmental affects (such as virus, bacterium, chemical toxins)		
Therapeutic safety	Comparatively safe	Comparatively safe		
Therapeutic efficacy	Relatively low therapeutic efficacy	Relatively low therapeutic efficacy		
Therapeutic mechanisms	Lacking of precise therapeutic mechanisms	Lacking of precise therapeutic mechanisms		
Cost for banking	Expensive for banking	Expensive for banking		
Stem cell nomenclature	Controversial stem cell nomenclature	Controversial stem cell nomenclature		

discussion regarding these relevant aspects of perinatal MSCs. The key issues have been identified to date, including the following.

#### Quality assurance before cryobanking for likely future personalized medicine

It is well known that functional properties and intrinsic multipotency of MSCs can be negatively affected by donor factors such as increased donor age, genetics, and health status. Banking of MSCs at their most potent state from perinatal tissues, the "best" cell source over one's lifetime, has been supposed for future use in need of regenerative therapies. Certainly, cryobanking of perinatal MSCs is a prerequisite in personalized medicine strategy; however, the great uncertainty remains concerning the final function of perinatal MSCs, the accessibility of MSCs (e.g., a change in business circumstance), and therapeutic potential for the intractable diseases (e.g., cancer) decades later. Due to no expiration date of the perinatal MSCs cryopreserved in biobanks, exploiting and developing new approaches to testing cellular variability and stability, functionality, and heterogeneity during the processing of preparation and banking of the end MSC products should be considered carefully for cell quality assessed over longer time periods. The quality assurance programs should be performed to ensure the quality of stem cell products during the whole banking process including the perinatal tissue collection, processing, testing, preparation, and storage, as well as additional analysis (Figure 1). It should be also considered that there should be minimal levels of differentiation of perinatal MSCs in the course of the overall culture period to preserve stem cells at their most multipotent state for future use. New quality control to meet the product standards is required to be developed during the process of banking of perinatal MSCs. Except for routine multiple experiments for cell quality assessment (e.g., cell viability, proliferation, and differentiation potential), it is important to determine a panel of predicative in vitro tests for a system of quality assurance and these may be applied including but not limited to stem cell potency assay, spectral karyotyping, and genetic etiologies (Figure 1). Perinatal MSC potency assessment needs to be further validated for their therapeutic safety and effectiveness in the future. Specially, genetic etiologies associated with multi-factorial or monogenetic diseases may potentially influence stem cell safety. The wide analysis in identifying genetic/epigenetic etiologies is necessitated for therapeutic safety. For example, considering the importance of disease-associated individual single-nuleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), it is enabling to analyze and investigate whether stem cells carry diseaseassociated SNPs. Therefore, there is a critical need to further consider about whether it is worth biobanking of perinatal MSCs and whether it is to be stopped early if there is a family history of genetic conditions. Careful measuring and monitoring are extremely important before biobanking.

#### Reconsidering of pretreatment of perinatal MSCs before cryobanking

There are more and more in vitro and in vivo studies on pretreatment of MSCs, e.g., pretreatment with cytokines or growth factors and hypoxia-priming, to improve their biological properties and therapeutic effectiveness. Acknowledging and understanding a beneficial role of pretreatment, the details given in this subsection describe the feature of pretreatment among MSCs from different source tissues including





Re-culture for quality validation periodically

Environmental monitoring etc.

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.105 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Operating model of banking perinatal mesenchymal stromal/stem cells. Perinatal mesenchymal stromal/stem cells banking process includes the perinatal tissue collection, isolation, stem cell expansion, testing, preparation, and storage. The quality assurance programs are performed during the whole banking process. MSCs: Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells.

adult and perinatal sources, specifically, with the BM appearing the most common. This would be conducive to a better understanding of the stem cell therapeutic advantages and matters needing attention before banking of perinatal MSCs.

Biological properties could be altered by pre-conditioning of MSCs during in vitro expansion. Cell culture variables should be documented and, conventionally, growth medium containing fetal bovine serum and supplemented with basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) is considered to be the "gold standard" medium for primary human MSC expansion[25]. To remove animal components, serum-free medium throughout the process of cell preparation is being developed for clinical applications and MSC cryobanking. Usually, serum-free medium contains various cytokines/growth factors. Medium supplementation with bFGF is shown to increase the proliferation capacity of BM-MSCs over multiple passages<sup>[26]</sup>. Expansion is further improved in UC-MSCs by addition of bFGF in growth medium and the highest cell yield is detected in UC-MSCs among MSC lines pre-treated with bFGF including BM-MSCs and AD-MSCs during the whole culture period[27]. Additionally, despite the increased expression of HLA-DR induced by bFGF in AD-MSCs, the addition of bFGF in culture media seems not to affect the expression levels of HLA-DR in UC-MSCs and BM-MSCs in the course of passages[27]. Furthermore, the percentage of HLA-DR positive cells increases after inflammatory priming of all these three types of MSCs expanded in the bFGF-supplemented media[27]. As regards MSC differentiation, on the one hand, pretreatment with bFGF enhances BM-MSC chondrogenesis during chondrogenic pellet culture, resulting in upregulation of collagen type X and matrix metalloproteinase 13, the hypertrophic markers, in pellet cultures after 5 wk of endochondral ossification[26]. On the other hand, the supplementation with bFGF in medium has been also shown to have a negative effect on chondrogenesis of BM-MSCs[28,29] as well as their adipogenesis and osteogenesis[29,30]. Studies in laboratories demonstrate a time-dependent contribution of bFGF signaling to the reduced osteogenic/adipogenic differentiation of BM-MSCs throughout the culture[30,31]. For instance, the activity of alkaline phosphatase, a marker of osteogenesis, is significantly reduced during osteogenic differentiation in the case of addition of bFGF after passage 4 compared to the control at the same passage of MSCs and, similarly, adipogenesis potential is also significantly decreased by time during differentiation[30].

Pretreatment of MSCs has been observed to enhance the biological properties of the frozen and thawed MSCs. For example, one study reports that there are more apoptotic cells in the post-thawed cryopreserved BM-MSCs than the live BM-MSCs in active culture[32]. These frozen-thawed BM-MSCs are susceptible to complement-mediated lysis[33] and T-cell mediated apoptosis[34]. Interestingly, frozen-thawed MSCs primed by interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) in the culture medium for 48 h prior to

cryopreservation may partly avoid the lysis by activated T cells[34]. The mechanism of MSC-mediated immunosuppression has been previously proposed as IDO expression in BM-MSCs[35] as well as UC-MSCs[36] induced by IFN-y. However, while pre-licensing MSCs with IFN-y have been seen to enhance their IDO expression in vitro[37,38], the pre-licensed MSCs by IFN- $\gamma$ , compared to the unstimulated MSCs, have let to the loss of their effectiveness in rescuing retinal ganglion cells in a retinal ischemia/ reperfusion injury mouse model[37]. Together, the results of pretreatment with cytokines including but not limited to bFGF and IFN- $\gamma$  indicate the different effects on the biological properties of MSCs depending on their existing microenvironment (e.g., inflammation) or the specific pathological contexts.

Apart from pretreatment with cytokines, other approaches can also be proposed to boost the therapeutic potential of MSCs, for example, microenvironmental hypoxia-primed MSCs[39]. One previous study shows that, compared to standard 21% O<sub>2</sub> tension, 3% O<sub>2</sub> can increase clonogenic potential, in vitro migration, and stemness of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly (WJ) of human umbilical cord (WJ-MSCs)[40]. Another previous study indicates that umbilical cord blood (UCB)-derived MSCs (UCB-MSCs) primed with hypoxia and calcium ions exhibit improved self-renewal, migratory, antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory capacities, resulting in further improving therapeutic potential for graft *vs* host disease in an animal model[41].

As mentioned above, in theory, pretreatment of MSCs from adult or perinatal sources with cytokines can improve their biological and functional properties. However, previous in vitro and in vivo studies could not prove the therapeutic efficacy of the freshly cultured or post-thawed MSCs with cytokine pretreatment. Microenvironment conditions (e.g., hypoxia) have become a promising strategy prior to cryopreservation, which is possible for the enhancement of MSC-based therapeutic potential. In vitro and in vivo studies indicate that pretreatment strategy may benefit patients in a disease specific context. However, without knowing the context of a specific pathology, it is not possible to assess and predict the function of perinatal MSCs pretreated with cytokines for stem cell medical treatments after many years. Therefore, whether pretreatment of perinatal MSCs should become the standardization for biobanking for their future applications as stem cell-based treatments remains to be further investigated.

#### Pre-selection for biobanking to decrease the heterogeneity of perinatal MSCs

As known, there are diverse heterogeneities of MSCs including inter-donor/individual, inter-tissue/ source, inter-cellular, and inter-colony heterogeneities involved in the manufacturing and biobanking of MSCs. MSC heterogeneity reflects the diversity of MSC-associated environments or niches. The present paper extends the relevant discussion regarding the pre-selection required prior to banking with the aim to control product consistency for a stem cell bank for maximizing the "homogeneity" of perinatal MSCs. As well known, MSCs including adult and perinatal MSCs derived different tissues differ in their functional characteristics. Wegmeyer et al[42] conducted one previous study to evaluate the source- and donor-dependent differential stem cell properties and found UC-MSCs, AM-derived MSCs (AM-MSCs), and BM-MSCs exhibited comparable differences between each other. Interestingly, UC-MSCs and AM-MSCs exhibited different growth characteristics and morphologies as well as high inter-donor variability of AM-MSCs but not UC-MSCs. In contrast, another previous report indicated that, compared to UCB-MSCs, placental tissue MSCs, and WJ-MSCs, umbilical cord lining-derived MSCs showed the highest proliferation and migration rates and prolonged survival in immunodeficient mice [43]. Concerning immunosuppressive properties, in contrast to placenta MSCs, both UC- and BM-MSCs significantly reduced the proliferation of activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells[44]. Additionally, the heterogeneous proangiogenic properties of perinatal and adult MSCs were observed in one previous study, which showed that both BM-MSCs and placental chorionic villi MSCs had significant proangiogenic activities on endothelial cells in matrigel in vitro compared to AD-MSCs and UC-MSCs[45]. Importantly, compared to dental pulp MSCs and AD-MSCs, WJ-MSCs showed the strongest therapeutic efficacy in reducing fasting glucose levels in type II diabetic mice in one previous in vivo study[46].

As mentioned above, due to inconsistency of MSCs, different perinatal MSCs populations may have heterogeneous functional properties, consequently leading to different therapeutic efficiency. Therefore, a pre-selection may be required before stem cell banking to identify relatively homogeneous perinatal MSCs for potential later use in life. As known, pretreatment with cytokines before banking may be a suitable approach to support therapeutic potential of perinatal MSCs in the future as exemplified by IFN-γ pre-licensing. Peltzer *et al*<sup>[47]</sup> conducted a previous study to create an *in vitro* "tolerogenic" niche priming mimicking placental environment, which showed that primed perinatal MSCs (UC-, UCB-, AM-, and chorionic-MSCs) with IFN- $\gamma$  could enhance their immunomodulatory potential in a dose- and donor-dependant manner. This study by Peltzer *et al*[47] may suggest that an approach to screen the large number of perinatal MSCs with cytokine priming will be beneficial for the consistency of banking MSCs. Sorting of perinatal MSCs may be another effective approach for pre-selection, for example, preselection of MSC subpopulation using surface markers to increase the purity of the expanded MSCs. A series of markers need to be considered in sorting of perinatal MSCs, including cell surface markers related to MSC clonogenicity, potency, differentiation, and immunomodulatory properties[48]. Practically, a few conventional approaches to increasing the consistency of perinatal MSCs may be also considered, such as the use of the single colony of MSCs and specific biomaterials (see below), and the handing of MSCs by the standardized protocols for manufacturing consistency.

#### Biomaterial scaffold approach to maintain the maximal biological properties of perinatal MSCs

MSCs within the body have their own physical microenvironments or niches to maintain their unique biological properties. In order to mimic a specific stem cell niche, various biomaterials such as alginate, chitosan, collagen hyaluronic acid, silica gel, silk fibroin, poly(lactic acid), and graphene-base materials are being explored for use as scaffolds/surfaces supporting the growth and differentiation of MSCs in vitro and in vivo. By comparing the conventional techniques with monolayer culture of MSCs, biomaterial scaffold approach such as cell surface modification and encapsulation technology for tissue engineering exhibits improved MSC survival and proliferation, increased differentiation potential, and maintenance of stem cell stemness [49,50]. Further studies indicate that biomaterials can enhance the paracrine function of MSCs[51]. While technical challenges for development of biomaterials remain the degradability, viscoelasticity/elasticity, architecture property, and compatibility, the non-toxic 3D porous biomaterials are already widely used for delivery of encapsulated UC-MSCs or BM-MSCs in preclinical studies[52,53] as well as in clinical trials[54,55]. Interestingly, cryopreservation of microencapsulated stem cells in alginate hydrogel has been reported to suppress ice formation that contributes to the effect of cryoprotection [56]. Importantly, there are no significant differences in cell viability and multi-lineage differentiation potential between the MSCs post cryopreservation either encapsulated or without encapsulation [56]. Similar studies have been also conducted with MSCs cryopreserved in degradable hyaluronic-acid based hydrogel [57]. In addition, intravenous injection of freeze-thawed mouse MSC encapsulates with microgel into recipient mice shows similar levels of cell survival as fresh non-cryopreserved MSC encapsulates [58]. As mentioned above, previous and current studies are instructive to note that using special biomaterial scaffold may be considered as a suitable new strategy for banking of MSCs from different source tissues including but not limited to perinatal tissues.

#### Dimethyl sulfoxide and dimethyl sulfoxide-free cryoprotectants

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), as a key cryopreservation agent, is most often used in the cryostorage to protect cells from mechanical and osmotic stress due to the formation of ice crystals<sup>[59]</sup>. DMSO is also observed to have significant influence on the viability, phenotype, and proliferation of MSCs, as well as cellular epigenome, and to induce changes in cellular processes[60,61]. As such, low concentrations of DMSO and DMSO with combinations of non-cytotoxic biocompatible agents/substances are being explored for MSC culture and cryopreservation in preclinical and clinical studies. For example, one previous study demonstrated that human BM-MSCs modified to express tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand were cryopreserved in a low concentration (5%) of DMSO (accepted as nontoxic concentrations of below 10%) with 95% human serum albumin without affecting their biological properties[62]. However, a question may be raised as to whether DMSO at a very low concentration may not be sufficient to prevent freezing damage to MSCs.

Currently, there are different types of effective and non-toxic cryoprotective agents/compounds used as suitable replacements for DMSO, such as glycerol, hydroxyethyl starch, trehalose, and dextran [59, 61]. One study reports that DMSO-free cryopreservation solutions composed of sugars, sugar alcohols, and small-molecule additives have been showed to retain MSC post-thaw viability, cell surface markers, and proliferation and differentiation potential[60]. The osmolyte-based freeze solutions also exhibit a more normal alignment of the actin cytoskeleton of MSCs compared to DMSO frozen cells[60]. A nontoxic cryoprotective agent, a combination of trehalose and glycerol, has been tested in another study for cryopreservation of AD-derived stem cells, and the cells cryopreserved with this cryoprotective agent presented high cell viability and proliferation and migration capacity after thawing[63]. Overall, while various studies are being devoted to possible improvement of DMSO as a cryoprotectant, some alternatives to DMSO are being evaluated as cryopretectants for cryopreservation of MSCs from different tissue sources including perinatal tissues. DMSO together with alternatives to DMSO have not been tested enough to advocate their use for biobanking of MSCs stored over many years. Therefore, the use of DMSO alone as a cryopreservation agent may not insure the final functional properties of MSCs for stem cell-based treatments after many years and the new freezing solutions need to be intensively investigated for long-term therapeutic stem cell cryopreservation.

#### Ethical and regulatory concerns

Banking stem cells using neonatal birth-associated tissues or other related sources began with the establishment of banking cord blood for hematopoietic cell transplantation in the early 1990s[64]. Given that perinatal MSCs have the positive characteristics of both embryonic stem cells and adult stem cells, the ethical issue involvement may be related to the use of embryonic stem cells. In particular, there are further ethical and regulatory issues that will challenge banking of perinatal MSCs. In China, currently, there are so many exaggerate advertisements directly to consumers on banking of life-saving perinatal stem cells to insure infants or family members against serious illnesses in the future. Parents are encouraged to make decision for the preservation of their children' stem cells in a private stem cell bank for the future health of their children. Indeed, the current applications of MSCs as stem cell medical treatments are sometimes also exaggerated by the social media. Parents or requestors need to pay thousands of dollars for the commercial banks of perinatal MSCs as well as an annual fee for the maintenance of stem cells. Therefore, physicians and clinical investigators in hospitals who have



financial conflicts of interest associated with stem cell banking should disclose any financial relationship. Currently, there is a lack of clarity in country-level regulations in China for the management of stem cell banking and the guidance document for quality control on the banking of MSCs. Accordingly, technical and ethical guidelines are imperative for the appropriate governance and restriction of banking perinatal MSCs to insure standardization for MSCs with good quality for future stem cell therapies. Technical and ethical guidelines should also be in line with the international standardized regimens such as guidelines from the International Society for Stem Cell Research and the International Stem Cell Banking Initiative. Lastly, the most established private banks of perinatal MSCs in China, previously engaged in cord blood storage, are paid by the parents and these banks store the source of stem cells for future use by the donor and, probably, the donor's relatives.

Correspondingly, an additional challenge is whether the source of MSCs with potential applications in the future can be shared by the donor-unrelated recipients. In this regard, many public banks that store the perinatal MSCs derived from the donated newborn tissues should be established free charge of anything for banking. In accordance, these banks are open for research and they store stem cells for all recipients in future personalized medicine including the donors, the donor's families, and those unrelated with donors when they might be desperately in need due to life-threatening diseases. Due to no data available for the use of public banks of perinatal MSCs in China, clinical applications of cord blood stem cells from the banks are illustrated for the perspective in the future. One representative example is that the public cord blood banks have released at least 30 times for the usage rate of previously cryopreserved cord blood stem cells as compared to the private banks worldwide[65]. Almost over the past 30 years, cord blood banks have been successfully achieved for safe storage and rapid availability for cord blood stem cell-based treatments[66]. Another example is that, in a cord blood bank (MEDIPOST Co., Ltd., Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Korea), cell populations were evaluated and, among 557 UCB units, 128 units cryopreserved for more than 10 years were used for transplantation [67]. Therefore, the useful value of public or private stem cell banks to society or the donors is important for the stem cell medicine potential in the future.

#### Reculturing post-thawed cryopreserved perinatal MSCs from stem cell banks at the release time

Usually, the freshly cultured perinatal MSCs are seemingly to be more potent than freshly thawed cells in therapeutic properties of MSCs. Some studies suggest that perinatal MSCs may lose their functionality with cryopreservation, which could in turn affect the efficacy. Whether the characteristics of thawed perinatal MSCs vs cultured MSCs would be changed needs to be further discussed here. One previous study showed that freshly cultured UC-MSCs were superior to cryopreserved and thawed UC-MSCs in regard to cell viability[68]. Another previous study demonstrated that osteogenic and chondrogenic capacities were slightly reduced in cryopreserved human UC-MSCs for one year, compared to non-cryopreserved UC-MSCs from the same donor[69]. In contrast, one previous study showed that short-term cryopreservation and subsequent thawing of UC-MSCs could not alter the specific MSC surface markers and the proliferation capacity [70]. There was no obvious difference in fibroblast-like morphology and cellular viabilities between freshly frozen thawed and culture-rescued UC-MSCs[71,72]. Frozen thawed and culture-rescued UC-MSCs also displayed similar osteogenesis, chondrogenesis, and adipogenesis<sup>[71]</sup>. Similarly, one previous study by Narakornsak et al<sup>[73]</sup> to compare the post-thawed human AF MSCs (AF-MSCs) after one-month cryopreservation to the nonfrozen AF-MSCs showed no statistical differences between these cells in MSC surface markers, cell proliferation, chondrogenic differentiation, and immune privileged properties. Still, one previous study to analyze immunomodulatory activity in vitro indicated no significant differences in the suppression of activated T cells in the freshly thawed UC-MSCs vs the freshly cultured UC-MSCs[70]. Comparatively, there were different observations reported by assessing the potential in immunosuppression between freshly thawed and cultured UC-MSCs<sup>[71]</sup>, as showed the freshly culture-rescued UC-MSCs to be more potent in immunosuppression than the frozen-thawed UC-MSCs.

In animal experiments, immunomodulatory activity in an adjuvant-induced arthritis rat model and angiogenic potential using a mouse model for hindlimb ischemia were observed and *in vivo* studies showed no significant difference in immunomodulatory and angiogenic potential of freshly thawed and freshly cultured UC-MSCs[70]. Treatment with the freshly thawed UC-MSCs improved the regeneration of rotator cuff tendon in an animal model after injection at 2 and 4 wk, respectively, which was comparable to the therapeutic potential for tendon regeneration by the use of the culture-rescued UC-MSCs[72]. In a ventilator-induced lung injury animal model, the fresh UC-MSCs as well as the fresh BM-MSCs were found to enhance injury resolution and repair, while the cryopreserved UC-MSCs were comparably effective[74]. As mentioned above, these experimental and preclinical data were provided to support short-term cryopreserved perinatal MSCs (*e.g.*, UC-MSCs) for stem cell-based applications in translational medicine. However, long-term cryopreserved perinatal MSCs need to be further explored to achieve preclinical and clinical safety and efficiency after intervention. Accordingly, it is advisable to continuously culture post-thawed perinatal MSCs for at least an additional passage at the release time for restoration of stem cell biological properties and, meanwhile, it is also required to conduct extra assessment of safety and therapeutic effectiveness.

#### Short-term but not long-term cryopreservation of perinatal tissues for MSC preparation

Last but not least, a key issue has also been identified to date: Instead of banking perinatal MSCs, shotterm cryopreservation of perinatal tissues (e.g., umbilical cord tissue) potentially for perinatal MSC storage for future stem cell-based treatments. Freezing of umbilical cords that yield post-thaw MSCs with high scalability is still controversial. One previous study reported that the frozen umbilical cord tissues for at least 2 wk were thawed and minced to generate a large number of MSCs by in vitro expansion[75]. UC-MSCs from cryopreserved and thawed umbilical cord tissues exhibited characteristics such as cellular phenotypes, immunosuppressive properties, and differentiation potentials similar to those of UC-MSCs from fresh tissues [75]. Another previous study reported that the fresh WJ cryopreserved for 30 d in liquid nitrogen can yield large numbers of post-thaw MSCs[76]. However, one previous study reported that although the cryopreserved umbilical cord tissue segments were thawed 5 years later to release MSCs after enzymatic digestion, those displayed poor recoveries and produced few viable UC-MSCs compared with fresh cord tissue samples [77]. Still, one previous study to assess the optimal isolation culture and cryopreservation methods to facilitate cord WJ-MSCs banking failed as no MSC cultures were obtained from the thawed cord WJ samples stored for 1 wk, 1 mo, or 6 mo in liquid nitrogen, respectively [78]. In addition, one study showed that cryopreservation of umbilical cord tissues for at least 1 mo in liquid nitrogen did not prevent the later collection of UC-MSCs by the explant method<sup>[79]</sup>. Currently, transplantation of UC-MSCs from fresh and short-term cryopreserved-thenthawed cord tissues is an issue of increasing interest. Similar to cord blood banks, perinatal umbilical cord tissue cryobanks are present in many other countries including United States, United Kingdom, Australia, and South Africa[80]. As a whole, given that cryopreservation cannot prevent the high cord quality, long-term restoration of perinatal umbilical cord tissue in banks may be unadvisable for potentially later use for post-thaw MSC preparation.

Collectively, when considering subsequent events, there are many limitations and uncertainties for stem cell medical treatments using perinatal MSCs banked over many years. Although most (if not all) aforementioned key issues, as summarized in Figure 2, are not specific to perinatal MSCs, such as cell quality insurance, heterogeneity, genetic etiologies, supplementation of scaffold, and use of cryoprotectants, these should be considered for the application of biobanking of perinatal MSCs. Research and development of different types of stem cell-based medication must be viewed with a forward-looking perspective. Importantly, when contemplating these issues including biological and technical concerns, this is a question as to whether any specific types of perinatal MSCs are worth biobanking. Without knowing the specific clinical applications, it is impossible to develop (*e.g.*, potency assay), and without a potency assay, it is not possible to assess the quality of perinatal MSCs stored by cryopreservation over many years. The question will always be raised as to what functions perinatal MSCs banked over many years can still actually play for the possible applications in their clinical practices. Realizing that short-term banking and restoration of perinatal MSCs is being routinely applied particularly in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering, long-term banking of perinatal MSCs as well as perinatal tissues for stem cell medical treatments within the lifetime should not be encouraged.

#### DISCUSSION

This opinion review focuses on several important points of view that are currently attracting people's attention. The review article does not diminish the clinical translational perspective of MSCs from either adult or neonatal tissues. Given the current situation of banking perinatal MSCs, the aim of this article is to contribute a balanced, comprehensive, and critical view in the settings of cryobanking of perinatal MSCs to probably maximize their potentially therapeutic activity in the future. As described above, there is no expiration date of cryostorage of the perinatal MSCs and it is not known about future timeline of stored perinatal MSCs for potential therapeutic applications. Therefore, the key issues have been identified in this article and, on the one hand, it is possible that the stored perinatal MSCs would be used for potential personalized medicine for a child when he/she develops a disease later on. On the other hand, it is too remote to assess the therapeutic benefit in the next decades. For example, by the time when a baby reaches the age of 50, no one knows whether these cells could be accessible and useful for personalized medicine at that time because there is a potential change for therapeutic benefit of perinatal MSCs. Although the short-term cryopreserved-then-thawed perinatal MSCs or the recultured MSCs are being widely used in pre-clinical and clinical studies, there are no data provided to support applications of long-term low-temperature storage of perinatal MSCs in banks, e.g., cryopreservation of MSCs over a period of more than 10 years. Furthermore, it is not clear about how much the advanced techniques in science would be developed, for example, genome editing and precision medicine technologies to provide the best tools, probably, as opposed to MSC-based therapies looking forward 50 years. Science still drives the development of the advanced techniques and, eventually, the emerging advanced technologies are likely to influence the direction of therapeutic strategies in MSC-based translational medicine.

#### Li CH et al. Perinatal MSCs cryopreserved for later use



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.105 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Strategies and administrative requirements for high-quality stem cell banks. MSCs: Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells; DMSO: Dimethyl sulfoxide.

> To date, banking perinatal stem cells and stem cell-derived newborn tissues have raised growing interest potentially for future stem cell applications. Due to less information available in scientifically understanding stem cell biology in vivo from the transplanted patients, such as stem cell proliferation, differentiation, immunomodulation, homing, and fate of MSCs, the true function and the precise mechanisms of the therapeutic benefit remain largely unclear. More importantly, given the unknown context of a specific pathology in the future, it should be noted as to whether perinatal MSCs are worth biobanking for a long period of time to achieve clinical efficiency. People believe that banking of perinatal MSCs may serve patients well one day in the foreseeable future, ideally for several years, when they may really need for the personalized medicine. But instead, the great uncertainties remain for potential use of the cryopreserved perinatal MSCs for stem cell-based treatments in the unforeseeable future. Acknowledging the limitations and uncertainties of banking perinatal MSCs for future potential personalized medicine, the following key recommendations should be addressed and the most of the recommendations proposed do not apply to the perinatal MSCs only.

> For the sake of therapeutic safety and effectiveness in the future, a series of predicative tests in vitro for quality assurance as well as the additional analysis of genetic/epigenetic etiologies should be considered before cryobanking of perinatal MSCs. The novel strategic approaches, for example, biomaterial scaffold techniques, should be encouraged to use for maintaining the maximal biological and functional properties of perinatal MSCs in the routine banking practices.

> Emerging practicable technologies would also be applied to yield a number of the desired stem cell types, *i.e.*, homogeneous and consistent perinatal MSCs, and, consequently, it is essential to develop novel biological technologies with a high yield of stem cells for cryobanking. The appropriate governance is required and banking of the perinatal MSC-based therapeutic products should comply with accreditation standards and the international standardized guidelines.

> The public banks are to be built as a priority to better serve all recipients who might be desperately in need in the future and, therefore, the roles played by the public banks should not be underestimated. Lastly, instead of banking perinatal MSCs, short-term but not for long-term restoration of perinatal tissues, for instance umbilical cord tissue, may be suggestive of a possible approach of cell preparation



for stem cell-based medicine.

#### CONCLUSION

MSCs can provide therapeutic benefit given their unique biological characteristics, but, to date, there is still much to learn about stem cell science and medicine. MSCs derived from diverse tissues have their different functional properties and perinatal MSCs have their own advantages. Therapeutic properties of perinatal MSCs have been shown by multiple preclinical and clinical studies; however, banking of perinatal MSCs for personalized medicine in whole life remains to be unforeseeable. Therefore, it is extremely important for parents, physicians, and clinical investigators to be aware that there are limitations and uncertainties of banking perinatal MSCs for the future personalized medicine. Based on the above consideration, this opinion review article is conducted to address the concerns raised and provides several practical recommendations for banking perinatal MSCs for future potential personalized medicine. Accordingly, different strategic approaches can be employed in this rapidly growing field to improve this process, making perinatal MSCs available for future stem cell based therapies when needed to avoid banking poor-quality MSCs discarded as novel medical waste products in the future.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Li CH, Zhao J, and Zhang HY contributed equally to this work; and all authors contributed to conception, design, data analysis and interpretation, drafting, critical revision, and approval of the final version of the article.

**Supported by** the Henan Province Science and Technique Bureau R&D Project, No. 222102310228.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Cheng-Hai Li 0000-0002-1922-2784; Jing Zhao 0000-0002-7962-1656; Hong-Yan Zhang 0000-0001-5424-050X; Bin Wang 0000-0002-6816-2212.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Wang JJ

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Fridenshtein AIa, Piatetskii-Shapiro II, Petrakova KV. [Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells]. Arkh Anat Gistol Embriol 1969; 56: 3-11 [PMID: 4903779]
- 2 Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP. Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 1968; 6: 230-247 [PMID: 5654088]
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Gerasimov UV. Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and 3 transplantation in diffusion chambers. Cell Tissue Kinet 1987; 20: 263-272 [PMID: 3690622 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2184.1987.tb01309.x]
- Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1991; 9: 641-650 [PMID: 1870029 DOI: 10.1002/jor.1100090504] 4
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop Dj, Horwitz 5 E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006; 8: 315-317 [PMID: 16923606 DOI: 10.1080/14653240600855905]
- Caplan AI. What's in a name? Tissue Eng Part A 2010; 16: 2415-2417 [PMID: 20412005 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2010.0216
- Caplan AI. Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Time to Change the Name! Stem Cells Transl Med 2017; 6: 1445-1451 [PMID: 7 28452204 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.17-0051]
- Viswanathan S, Shi Y, Galipeau J, Krampera M, Leblanc K, Martin I, Nolta J, Phinney DG, Sensebe L. Mesenchymal 8 stem versus stromal cells: International Society for Cell & Gene Therapy (ISCT®) Mesenchymal Stromal Cell committee



position statement on nomenclature. Cytotherapy 2019; 21: 1019-1024 [PMID: 31526643 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.08.002]

- Li C, Zhao H, Cheng L, Wang B. Allogeneic vs. autologous mesenchymal stem/stromal cells in their medication practice. Cell Biosci 2021; 11: 187 [PMID: 34727974 DOI: 10.1186/s13578-021-00698-y]
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U. Clinical Trials With Mesenchymal Stem Cells: An Update. Cell Transplant 2016; 25: 10 829-848 [PMID: 26423725 DOI: 10.3727/096368915X689622]
- Supakul S, Yao K, Ochi H, Shimada T, Hashimoto K, Sunamura S, Mabuchi Y, Tanaka M, Akazawa C, Nakamura T, 11 Okawa A, Takeda S, Sato S. Pericytes as a Source of Osteogenic Cells in Bone Fracture Healing. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 30832329 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20051079]
- Xu J, Li D, Hsu CY, Tian Y, Zhang L, Wang Y, Tower RJ, Chang L, Meyers CA, Gao Y, Broderick K, Morris C, Hooper 12 JE, Nimmagadda S, Péault B, James AW. Comparison of skeletal and soft tissue pericytes identifies CXCR4(+) bone forming mural cells in human tissues. Bone Res 2020; 8: 22 [PMID: 32509378 DOI: 10.1038/s41413-020-0097-0]
- 13 Kulus M, Sibiak R, Stefańska K, Zdun M, Wieczorkiewicz M, Piotrowska-Kempisty H, Jaśkowski JM, Bukowska D, Ratajczak K, Zabel M, Mozdziak P, Kempisty B. Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells Derived from Human and Animal Perinatal Tissues-Origins, Characteristics, Signaling Pathways, and Clinical Trials. Cells 2021; 10 [PMID: 34943786 DOI: 10.3390/cells10123278]
- Hoang DM, Pham PT, Bach TQ, Ngo ATL, Nguyen QT, Phan TTK, Nguyen GH, Le PTT, Hoang VT, Forsyth NR, Heke 14 M, Nguyen LT. Stem cell-based therapy for human diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2022; 7: 272 [PMID: 35933430 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-022-01134-4]
- Mebarki M, Abadie C, Larghero J, Cras A. Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: a promising 15 candidate for the development of advanced therapy medicinal products. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 152 [PMID: 33637125 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02222-y]
- Hou W, Duan L, Huang C, Li X, Xu X, Qin P, Hong N, Wang D, Jin W. Cross-Tissue Characterization of Heterogeneities of Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Their Differentiation Potentials. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 781021 [PMID: 34977025 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.7810211
- 17 Song Y, Lim JY, Lim T, Im KI, Kim N, Nam YS, Jeon YW, Shin JC, Ko HS, Park IY, Cho SG. Human mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord and bone marrow exert immunomodulatory effects in different mechanisms. World J Stem Cells 2020; 12: 1032-1049 [PMID: 33033563 DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v12.i9.1032]
- Varkouhi AK, He X, Teixeira Monteiro AP, Amatullah H, Tsoporis JN, Gupta S, Ektesabi AM, Mei SHJ, Stewart DJ, 18 Keating A, Dos Santos CC. Immunophenotypic characterization and therapeutics effects of human bone marrow- and umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in an experimental model of sepsis. Exp Cell Res 2021; 399: 112473 [PMID: 33428902 DOI: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2021.112473]
- 19 Pinto DS, Ahsan T, Serra J, Fernandes-Platzgummer A, Cabral JMS, da Silva CL. Modulation of the in vitro angiogenic potential of human mesenchymal stromal cells from different tissue sources. J Cell Physiol 2020; 235: 7224-7238 [PMID: 32037550 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.29622]
- Park YS, Park BW, Choi H, Lee SH, Kim M, Park HJ, Kim IB. Chorion-derived perinatal mesenchymal stem cells 20 improve cardiac function and vascular regeneration: Preferential treatment for ischemic heart disease. Hellenic J Cardiol 2022; 66: 52-58 [PMID: 35649476 DOI: 10.1016/j.hjc.2022.05.010]
- Zhang W, Ling Q, Wang B, Wang K, Pang J, Lu J, Bi Y, Zhu D. Comparison of therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem 21 cells from umbilical cord and bone marrow in the treatment of type 1 diabetes. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 406 [PMID: 35941696 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02974-1]
- Bianco P, Cao X, Frenette PS, Mao JJ, Robey PG, Simmons PJ, Wang CY. The meaning, the sense and the significance: 22 translating the science of mesenchymal stem cells into medicine. Nat Med 2013; 19: 35-42 [PMID: 23296015 DOI: 10.1038/nm.3028]
- Galipeau J. The mesenchymal stromal cells dilemma--does a negative phase III trial of random donor mesenchymal 23 stromal cells in steroid-resistant graft-versus-host disease represent a death knell or a bump in the road? Cytotherapy 2013; 15: 2-8 [PMID: 23260081 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2012.10.002]
- 24 Galipeau J, Sensébé L. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells: Clinical Challenges and Therapeutic Opportunities. Cell Stem Cell 2018; 22: 824-833 [PMID: 29859173 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.05.004]
- 25 Basoli V, Della Bella E, Kubosch EJ, Alini M, Stoddart MJ. Effect of expansion media and fibronectin coating on growth and chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 13089 [PMID: 34158528 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-92270-4]
- Narcisi R, Cleary MA, Brama PA, Hoogduijn MJ, Tüysüz N, ten Berge D, van Osch GJ. Long-term expansion, enhanced 26 chondrogenic potential, and suppression of endochondral ossification of adult human MSCs via WNT signaling modulation. Stem Cell Reports 2015; 4: 459-472 [PMID: 25733021 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.01.017]
- 27 Tesarova L, Jaresova K, Simara P, Koutna I. Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Are Able to Use bFGF Treatment and Represent a Superb Tool for Immunosuppressive Clinical Applications. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32731615 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21155366]
- Hellingman CA, Koevoet W, Kops N, Farrell E, Jahr H, Liu W, Baatenburg de Jong RJ, Frenz DA, van Osch GJ. 28 Fibroblast growth factor receptors in in vitro and in vivo chondrogenesis: relating tissue engineering using adult mesenchymal stem cells to embryonic development. Tissue Eng Part A 2010; 16: 545-556 [PMID: 19728793 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2008.0551]
- 29 Lai WT, Krishnappa V, Phinney DG. Fibroblast growth factor 2 (Fgf2) inhibits differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by inducing Twist2 and Spry4, blocking extracellular regulated kinase activation, and altering Fgf receptor expression levels. Stem Cells 2011; 29: 1102-1111 [PMID: 21608080 DOI: 10.1002/stem.661]
- Gharibi B, Hughes FJ. Effects of medium supplements on proliferation, differentiation potential, and in vitro expansion of 30 mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012; 1: 771-782 [PMID: 23197689 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2010-0031]
- Fischer J, Knoch N, Sims T, Rosshirt N, Richter W. Time-dependent contribution of BMP, FGF, IGF, and HH signaling 31 to the proliferation of mesenchymal stroma cells during chondrogenesis. J Cell Physiol 2018; 233: 8962-8970 [PMID:



29856487 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.26832]

- Chinnadurai R, Garcia MA, Sakurai Y, Lam WA, Kirk AD, Galipeau J, Copland IB. Actin cytoskeletal disruption 32 following cryopreservation alters the biodistribution of human mesenchymal stromal cells in vivo. Stem Cell Reports 2014; 3: 60-72 [PMID: 25068122 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.05.003]
- 33 Moll G, Alm JJ, Davies LC, von Bahr L, Heldring N, Stenbeck-Funke L, Hamad OA, Hinsch R, Ignatowicz L, Locke M, Lönnies H, Lambris JD, Teramura Y, Nilsson-Ekdahl K, Nilsson B, Le Blanc K. Do cryopreserved mesenchymal stromal cells display impaired immunomodulatory and therapeutic properties? Stem Cells 2014; 32: 2430-2442 [PMID: 24805247 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1729]
- Chinnadurai R, Copland IB, Garcia MA, Petersen CT, Lewis CN, Waller EK, Kirk AD, Galipeau J. Cryopreserved 34 Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Are Susceptible to T-Cell Mediated Apoptosis Which Is Partly Rescued by IFNy Licensing. Stem Cells 2016; 34: 2429-2442 [PMID: 27299362 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2415]
- 35 Ren G, Su J, Zhang L, Zhao X, Ling W, L'huillie A, Zhang J, Lu Y, Roberts AI, Ji W, Zhang H, Rabson AB, Shi Y. Species variation in the mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression. Stem Cells 2009; 27: 1954-1962 [PMID: 19544427 DOI: 10.1002/stem.118]
- Mebarki M, Iglicki N, Marigny C, Abadie C, Nicolet C, Churlaud G, Maheux C, Boucher H, Monsel A, Menasché P, 36 Larghero J, Faivre L, Cras A. Development of a human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cell-based advanced therapy medicinal product to treat immune and/or inflammatory diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 571 [PMID: 34774107 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02637-7]
- Burand AJ, Gramlich OW, Brown AJ, Ankrum JA. Function of Cryopreserved Mesenchymal Stromal Cells With and Without Interferon-γ Prelicensing is Context Dependent. Stem Cells 2017; 35: 1437-1439 [PMID: 27758056 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2528]
- Gramlich OW, Burand AJ, Brown AJ, Deutsch RJ, Kuehn MH, Ankrum JA. Cryopreserved Mesenchymal Stromal Cells 38 Maintain Potency in a Retinal Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury Model: Toward an off-the-shelf Therapy. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 26463 [PMID: 27212469 DOI: 10.1038/srep26463]
- Levy O, Kuai R, Siren EMJ, Bhere D, Milton Y, Nissar N, De Biasio M, Heinelt M, Reeve B, Abdi R, Alturki M, Fallatah 39 M, Almalik A, Alhasan AH, Shah K, Karp JM. Shattering barriers toward clinically meaningful MSC therapies. Sci Adv 2020; 6: eaba6884 [PMID: 32832666 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aba6884]
- 40 Obradovic H, Krstic J, Trivanovic D, Mojsilovic S, Okic I, Kukolj T, Ilic V, Jaukovic A, Terzic M, Bugarski D. Improving stemness and functional features of mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton's jelly of a human umbilical cord by mimicking the native, low oxygen stem cell niche. Placenta 2019; 82: 25-34 [PMID: 31174623 DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2019.05.005]
- Kim Y, Jin HJ, Heo J, Ju H, Lee HY, Kim S, Lee S, Lim J, Jeong SY, Kwon J, Kim M, Choi SJ, Oh W, Yang YS, Hwang 41 HH, Yu HY, Ryu CM, Jeon HB, Shin DM. Small hypoxia-primed mesenchymal stem cells attenuate graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 2018; 32: 2672-2684 [PMID: 29789652 DOI: 10.1038/s41375-018-0151-8]
- Wegmeyer H, Bröske AM, Leddin M, Kuentzer K, Nisslbeck AK, Hupfeld J, Wiechmann K, Kuhlen J, von Schwerin C, 42 Stein C, Knothe S, Funk J, Huss R, Neubauer M. Mesenchymal stromal cell characteristics vary depending on their origin. Stem Cells Dev 2013; 22: 2606-2618 [PMID: 23676112 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2013.0016]
- Stubbendorff M, Deuse T, Hua X, Phan TT, Bieback K, Atkinson K, Eiermann TH, Velden J, Schröder C, 43 Reichenspurner H, Robbins RC, Volk HD, Schrepfer S. Immunological properties of extraembryonic human mesenchymal stromal cells derived from gestational tissue. Stem Cells Dev 2013; 22: 2619-2629 [PMID: 23711207 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2013.0043
- Castro-Manrreza ME, Mayani H, Monroy-García A, Flores-Figueroa E, Chávez-Rueda K, Legorreta-Haquet V, 44 Santiago-Osorio E, Montesinos JJ. Human mesenchymal stromal cells from adult and neonatal sources: a comparative in vitro analysis of their immunosuppressive properties against T cells. Stem Cells Dev 2014; 23: 1217-1232 [PMID: 24428376 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2013.0363]
- Du WJ, Chi Y, Yang ZX, Li ZJ, Cui JJ, Song BQ, Li X, Yang SG, Han ZB, Han ZC. Heterogeneity of proangiogenic 45 features in mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, and placenta. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016; 7: 163 [PMID: 27832825 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-016-0418-9]
- Ma Y, Wang L, Yang S, Liu D, Zeng Y, Lin L, Qiu L, Lu J, Chang J, Li Z. The tissue origin of human mesenchymal stem 46 cells dictates their therapeutic efficacy on glucose and lipid metabolic disorders in type II diabetic mice. Stem Cell Res *Ther* 2021; **12**: 385 [PMID: 34233739 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02463-x]
- Peltzer J, Montespan F, Thepenier C, Boutin L, Uzan G, Rouas-Freiss N, Lataillade JJ. Heterogeneous functions of 47 perinatal mesenchymal stromal cells require a preselection before their banking for clinical use. Stem Cells Dev 2015; 24: 329-344 [PMID: 25203666 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2014.0327]
- Srinivasan A, Sathiyanathan P, Yin L, Liu TM, Lam A, Ravikumar M, Smith RAA, Loh HP, Zhang Y, Ling L, Ng SK, 48 Yang YS, Lezhava A, Hui J, Oh S, Cool SM. Strategies to enhance immunomodulatory properties and reduce heterogeneity in mesenchymal stromal cells during ex vivo expansion. Cytotherapy 2022; 24: 456-472 [PMID: 35227601 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2021.11.009]
- Biagini G, Senegaglia AC, Pereira T, Berti LF, Marcon BH, Stimamiglio MA. 3D Poly(Lactic Acid) Scaffolds Promote 49 Different Behaviors on Endothelial Progenitors and Adipose-Derived Stromal Cells in Comparison With Standard 2D Cultures. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2021; 9: 700862 [PMID: 34568295 DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2021.700862]
- 50 Shakouri-Motlagh A, O'Connor AJ, Brennecke SP, Kalionis B, Heath DE. Native and solubilized decellularized extracellular matrix: A critical assessment of their potential for improving the expansion of mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Biomater 2017; 55: 1-12 [PMID: 28412553 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2017.04.014]
- Qazi TH, Mooney DJ, Duda GN, Geissler S. Biomaterials that promote cell-cell interactions enhance the paracrine 51 function of MSCs. Biomaterials 2017; 140: 103-114 [PMID: 28644976 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.06.019]
- Angelopoulos I, Trigo C, Ortuzar MI, Cuenca J, Brizuela C, Khoury M. Delivery of affordable and scalable encapsulated 52 allogenic/autologous mesenchymal stem cells in coagulated platelet poor plasma for dental pulp regeneration. Sci Rep 2022; 12: 435 [PMID: 35013332 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-02118-0]



- Blocki A, Beyer S, Dewavrin JY, Goralczyk A, Wang Y, Peh P, Ng M, Moonshi SS, Vuddagiri S, Raghunath M, Martinez 53 EC, Bhakoo KK. Microcapsules engineered to support mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) survival and proliferation enable long-term retention of MSCs in infarcted myocardium. Biomaterials 2015; 53: 12-24 [PMID: 25890702 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.02.075]
- Brizuela C, Meza G, Urrejola D, Quezada MA, Concha G, Ramírez V, Angelopoulos I, Cadiz MI, Tapia-Limonchi R, 54 Khoury M. Cell-Based Regenerative Endodontics for Treatment of Periapical Lesions: A Randomized, Controlled Phase I/ II Clinical Trial. J Dent Res 2020; 99: 523-529 [PMID: 32202965 DOI: 10.1177/0022034520913242]
- 55 He X, Wang Q, Zhao Y, Zhang H, Wang B, Pan J, Li J, Yu H, Wang L, Dai J, Wang D. Effect of Intramyocardial Grafting Collagen Scaffold With Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Patients With Chronic Ischemic Heart Disease: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3: e2016236 [PMID: 32910197 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.16236]
- 56 Zhao G, Liu X, Zhu K, He X. Hydrogel Encapsulation Facilitates Rapid-Cooling Cryopreservation of Stem Cell-Laden Core-Shell Microcapsules as Cell-Biomaterial Constructs. Adv Healthc Mater 2017; 6 [PMID: 29178480 DOI: 10.1002/adhm.201700988]
- Khetan S. Cryopreservation of network bioactivity and multi-lineage stromal cell differentiation potential within three-57 dimensional synthetic hydrogels. Cryobiology 2022; 105: 41-49 [PMID: 34922883 DOI: 10.1016/j.cryobiol.2021.12.003]
- 58 Mao AS, Ozkale B, Shah NJ, Vining KH, Descombes T, Zhang L, Tringides CM, Wong SW, Shin JW, Scadden DT, Weitz DA, Mooney DJ. Programmable microencapsulation for enhanced mesenchymal stem cell persistence and immunomodulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 2019; 116: 15392-15397 [PMID: 31311862 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1819415116]
- Erol OD, Pervin B, Seker ME, Aerts-Kaya F. Effects of storage media, supplements and cryopreservation methods on 59 quality of stem cells. World J Stem Cells 2021; 13: 1197-1214 [PMID: 34630858 DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v13.i9.1197]
- Pollock K, Samsonraj RM, Dudakovic A, Thaler R, Stumbras A, McKenna DH, Dosa PI, van Wijnen AJ, Hubel A. 60 Improved Post-Thaw Function and Epigenetic Changes in Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Cryopreserved Using Multicomponent Osmolyte Solutions. Stem Cells Dev 2017; 26: 828-842 [PMID: 28178884 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2016.0347]
- Linkova DD, Rubtsova YP, Egorikhina MN. Cryostorage of Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Biomedical Cell-Based 61 Products. Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 36078098 DOI: 10.3390/cells11172691]
- Yuan Z, Lourenco Sda S, Sage EK, Kolluri KK, Lowdell MW, Janes SM. Cryopreservation of human mesenchymal 62 stromal cells expressing TRAIL for human anti-cancer therapy. Cytotherapy 2016; 18: 860-869 [PMID: 27260207 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.04.005
- 63 Zhang TY, Tan PC, Xie Y, Zhang XJ, Zhang PQ, Gao YM, Zhou SB, Li QF. The combination of trehalose and glycerol: an effective and non-toxic recipe for cryopreservation of human adipose-derived stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 460 [PMID: 33129347 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01969-0]
- Brown KS, Rao MS, Brown HL. The Future State of Newborn Stem Cell Banking. J Clin Med 2019; 8 [PMID: 30669334 64 DOI: 10.3390/jcm8010117]
- Ballen KK, Verter F, Kurtzberg J. Umbilical cord blood donation: public or private? Bone Marrow Transplant 2015; 50: 65 1271-1278 [PMID: 26030051 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2015.124]
- Gupta AO, Wagner JE. Umbilical Cord Blood Transplants: Current Status and Evolving Therapies. Front Pediatr 2020; 66 8: 570282 [PMID: 33123504 DOI: 10.3389/fped.2020.570282]
- Kim GH, Kwak J, Kim SH, Kim HJ, Hong HK, Jin HJ, Choi SJ, Oh W, Um S. High Integrity and Fidelity of Long-Term 67 Cryopreserved Umbilical Cord Blood for Transplantation. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 33466868 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10020293
- Chen G, Yang T, Fu C, Miao M, Jin Z, Tang X, Han Y, He G, Zhang X, Ma X, Chen F, Hu X, Xue S, Wang Y, Qiu H, 68 Sun A, Depei W. Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant severe acute graftversus-host disease. Blood 2011; 118: 4536 [DOI: 10.1182/blood.V118.21.4536.4536]
- Zhang M, Zhao Y, Wang L, Zheng Y, Yu H, Dong X, He W, Yin Z, Wang Z. Study of the biological characteristics of 69 human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells after long-time cryopreservation. Cell Tissue Bank 2022; 23: 739-752 [PMID: 35066739 DOI: 10.1007/s10561-021-09973-1]
- Bárcia RN, Santos JM, Teixeira M, Filipe M, Pereira ARS, Ministro A, Água-Doce A, Carvalheiro M, Gaspar MM, 70 Miranda JP, Graça L, Simões S, Santos SCR, Cruz P, Cruz H. Umbilical cord tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells maintain immunomodulatory and angiogenic potencies after cryopreservation and subsequent thawing. Cytotherapy 2017; 19: 360-370 [PMID: 28040463 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.11.008]
- Nguyen MQ, Bui HTH, Tuyet ANT, Nhung TTH, Hoang DM, Liem NT, Hoang VT. Comparative Bioactivity Analysis 71 for Off-the-Shelf and Culture-Rescued Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells in a Xeno- and Serum-Free Culture System. Cell Transplant 2021; 30: 9636897211039441 [PMID: 34538123 DOI: 10.1177/09636897211039441]
- 72 Yea JH, Park JK, Kim IJ, Sym G, Bae TS, Jo CH. Regeneration of a full-thickness defect of rotator cuff tendon with freshly thawed umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 387 [PMID: 32894193 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01906-1]
- 73 Narakornsak S, Aungsuchawan S, Pothacharoen P, Puaninta C, Markmee R, Tancharoen W, Laowanitwattana T, Poovachiranon N, Thaojamnong C. Amniotic fluid: Source of valuable mesenchymal stem cells and alternatively used as cryopreserved solution. Acta Histochem 2019; 121: 72-83 [PMID: 30401477 DOI: 10.1016/j.acthis.2018.10.009]
- Horie S, Gonzalez H, Brady J, Devaney J, Scully M, O'Toole D, Laffey JG. Fresh and Cryopreserved Human Umbilical-74 Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Attenuate Injury and Enhance Resolution and Repair following Ventilation-Induced Lung Injury. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34884645 DOI: 10.3390/ijms222312842]
- Shimazu T, Mori Y, Takahashi A, Tsunoda H, Tojo A, Nagamura-Inoue T. Serum- and xeno-free cryopreservation of human umbilical cord tissue as mesenchymal stromal cell source. Cytotherapy 2015; 17: 593-600 [PMID: 25881518 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.03.604]
- Fong CY, Subramanian A, Biswas A, Bongso A. Freezing of Fresh Wharton's Jelly From Human Umbilical Cords Yields 76 High Post-Thaw Mesenchymal Stem Cell Numbers for Cell-Based Therapies. J Cell Biochem 2016; 117: 815-827 [PMID:



#### 26365815 DOI: 10.1002/jcb.25375]

- Badowski M, Muise A, Harris DT. Mixed effects of long-term frozen storage on cord tissue stem cells. Cytotherapy 2014; 77 16: 1313-1321 [PMID: 25108655 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.05.020]
- Chatzistamatiou TK, Papassavas AC, Michalopoulos E, Gamaloutsos C, Mallis P, Gontika I, Panagouli E, Koussoulakos 78 SL, Stavropoulos-Giokas C. Optimizing isolation culture and freezing methods to preserve Wharton's jelly's mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) properties: an MSC banking protocol validation for the Hellenic Cord Blood Bank. Transfusion 2014; 54: 3108-3120 [PMID: 24894363 DOI: 10.1111/trf.12743]
- Skiles ML, Brown KS, Tatz W, Swingle K, Brown HL. Quantitative analysis of composite umbilical cord tissue health 79 using a standardized explant approach and an assay of metabolic activity. Cytotherapy 2018; 20: 564-575 [PMID: 29429941 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.01.001]
- 80 Arutyunyan I, Fatkhudinov T, Sukhikh G. Umbilical cord tissue cryopreservation: a short review. Stem Cell Res Ther 2018; 9: 236 [PMID: 30219095 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-018-0992-0]



WJSC

# World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 120-135

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.120

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Obesity and cancer stem cells: Roles in cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance

Wen-Jie Xie, Jian Li

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Hejazi J, Iran; Papadopoulos K, Thailand; Li SC, United States

Received: November 28, 2022 Peer-review started: November 28. 2022 First decision: January 23, 2023 Revised: January 28, 2023 Accepted: March 16, 2023 Article in press: March 16, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Wen-Jie Xie, Jian Li, Department of General Surgery, The Third Hospital of Mianyang, Sichuan Mental Health Center, Mianyang 621000, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Jian Li, MM, Associate Chief Physician, Surgeon, Department of General Surgery, The Third Hospital of Mianyang, Sichuan Mental Health Center, No. 190 East Section of Jiannan Road, Youxian District, Mianyang 621000, Sichuan Province, China. 654747973@qq.com

### Abstract

Obesity, the global pandemic since industrialization, is the number one lifestylerelated risk factor for premature death, which increases the incidence and mortality of various diseases and conditions, including cancer. In recent years, the theory of cancer stem cells (CSCs), which have the capacity for self-renewal, metastasis and treatment resistance, has been bolstered by increasing evidence. However, research on how obesity affects CSCs to facilitate cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance is still in its infancy, although evidence has already begun to accumulate. Regarding the ever-increasing burden of obesity and obesity-related cancer, it is pertinent to summarize evidence about the effects of obesity on CSCs, as elucidating these effects will contribute to the improvement in the management of obesity-related cancers. In this review, we discuss the association between obesity and CSCs, with a particular focus on how obesity promotes cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance through CSCs and the mechanisms underlying these effects. In addition, the prospect of preventing cancer and targeting the mechanisms linking obesity and CSCs to reduce cancer risk or to improve the survival of patients with cancer is considered.

Key Words: Obesity; High-fat diet; Cancer stem cells; Carcinogenesis; Metastasis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Obesity increases the incidence and mortality of various cancers; however, research on how obesity affects cancer stem cells (CSCs) is still in its infancy. In this review, we discuss the association between obesity and CSCs, with a particular focus on how obesity promotes cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance through CSCs and the mechanisms underlying these effects. In addition, the prospect of preventing cancer and targeting the mechanisms linking obesity and CSCs to reduce cancer risk or to improve the survival of patients with cancer is considered.

**Citation:** Xie WJ, Li J. Obesity and cancer stem cells: Roles in cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance. *World J Stem Cells* 2023; 15(4): 120-135

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/120.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.120

#### INTRODUCTION

For millions of years, humans and their predecessors have evolved under the pressure of undernutrition, which selects a genotype that enables overeating, low energy expenditure, a high degree of calorie absorption and efficient energy storage in adipose tissue[1]. Therefore, with the development of the social economy in the past few decades, overnutrition and an increasingly sedentary lifestyle tip the balance from a few calories consumed but more expended to more calories consumed but little expended, leading to the pandemic of excess body weight, which is mainly measured by body mass index (BMI). Over the past four decades, the prevalence of overweight and obesity has nearly tripled globally. Between 1975 and 2016, the worldwide prevalence of obesity increased from less than 1% to 6%-8% among children, from 3% to more than 11% among men and from 6% to 15% among women[2]. Based on data from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) 2015, overweight or obesity affects over 2.1 billion people, or nearly 30% of the global population[3]. Obesity was estimated to increase the economic burden by approximately 2 trillion United States dollars, or 2.8% of the global gross domestic product, and to lead to the loss of an estimated 5-20 years of life expectancy, representing one of the most serious unmet public health challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century[4-6].

Malignancy, a set of diseases caused by the interplay between genetic and environmental or behavioral factors, ranks as the third leading cause of premature death and disability attributable to excess body weight worldwide following cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus[7]. Recent studies have demonstrated that excess body weight is associated with higher risks of several types of cancer, including esophageal adenocarcinoma, multiple myeloma, and cancers of the gastric cardia, colon, rectum, biliary tract system, pancreas, breast, endometrium, ovary, and kidney[8]. In 2019, the estimated number of high BMI-related cancer cases accounted for 4.59% and 4.45% of all cancer-cause deaths and disability-adjusted life years, respectively[9]. Obesity can not only increase the risk of tumorigenesis but also promote the progression and metastasis of developed cancer and can affect the therapeutic efficacy and survival of patients with cancer[10].

Regarding the altered biological processes that occur in the context of obesity that contribute to cancer, the majority of studies have focused on common themes, including inflammation, hypoxia, angiogenesis and altered energy metabolism, which influence the proliferation and survival of cancer cells[10]. However, in recent years, emerging challenges in cancer management have promoted the proposal of many theories to explain the initiation and progression of cancer; one of them is the hypothesis of cancer stem cells (CSCs), which has been bolstered by an accumulating body of evidence [11]. CSCs, also referred to as treatment-refractory, tumor-initiating cells, constitute a small subpopulation of cancer cells within tumors capable of self-renewal, which can divide and differentiate into various tumor cell types (intratumoral heterogeneity). They can secrete antiapoptotic factors, undergo epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), and display a higher performance of drug efflux pumps. Therefore, CSCs are preferentially aggressive and pose a high risk of therapy resistance and disease relapse[11]. With the rapidly increasing incidence of cancer attributable to obesity, a better understanding of the roles of obesity in CSC biology is of paramount significance. However, research in this area is in its infancy. In this review, we discuss the association between obesity and CSCs, with a particular focus on how obesity promotes cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance through CSCs and the mechanisms underlying these effects. In addition, the prospect of prevention and targeting mechanisms linking obesity and CSCs to reduce cancer risk or to improve the survival of patients with cancer is considered.

Zaishidene® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### **OBESITY AND CSCS IN CANCER INITIATION**

In the context of an increase in the global prevalence of obesity, large-scale epidemiological studies have demonstrated a compelling increased risk of tumorigenesis in individuals with obesity, and several landmark studies have summarized this evidence. To evaluate the strength and validity of the evidence for the association between adiposity and the risk of developing or dying from cancer, an umbrella review of the literature comprising 204 meta-analyses of large studies with limited heterogeneity or evidence of bias was published in 2017, which concluded that the associations for 11 cancers were supported by strong evidence, while others could be genuine, but substantial uncertainty remains[8]. In 2016, data from a meta-analysis reported by the International Agency for Research on Cancer supported relative risks of 1.5 to 1.8 in obesity for these tumor sites [12]. In GBD 2019, 13 cancer types were also found to be affected by a high BMI[9]. Although some inconsistencies in cancer types contributing to obesity were reported across these studies, a consistent and compelling association has been demonstrated in many cancer types, including esophageal adenocarcinoma, multiple myeloma, and cancers of the gastric cardia, colon, rectum, biliary tract system, pancreas, breast, endometrium, ovary, and kidney (Figure 1). In the majority of these cancers, the CSC theory has been established in tumorigenesis. For example, in the intestine, inactivation of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene can lead to the rapid and lethal generation of adenomas in intestinal stem cells (ISCs) but not in non-stem cells<sup>[13]</sup>. Breast cancer was found to originate from a rare population of mammary gland progenitor cells, the depletion of which significantly impaired tumor growth [14]. Therefore, to increase the risk of these cancers, obesity may disturb the normal biology of stem/progenitor cells residing in these tissues, which is conducive to their transformation.

Except for compelling epidemiological evidence, no attempts have been made to investigate the biology of cancer-related adult stem cells in populations with obesity. Multiple animal models have been developed to recapitulate the effects of obesity or a pro-obesity diet on the initiation of cancer and have suggested that a high-fat diet (HFD) can promote tumorigenesis in the colorectum, prostate and liver[15-17]. However, the cellular origin of cancer was not defined in these studies. In recent years, research revealing the links between obesity or HFD and adult stem cells has increased (Table 1)[18-28]. Although discrepancies exist, the majority of these studies reported one or more of the following findings: Obesity or a HFD increases the depth or number of crypts in the intestine; non-stem cell progenitors in a HFD setting acquire stem cell attributes; the number and the capacity to form organoids of stem cells or progenitor cells are increased by a HFD; stem cells undergo autonomous changes in response to a HFD that poise them for niche-independent growth. Although studies exploring the initiation of carcinogenesis from these stem cells are very limited, the alterations in stem cells reported in these studies can predispose them to transformation. First, obesity or a HFD expands the pool of cells - both stem cells and progenitor cells - that can serve as the cellular origin of nascent cancers. Second, stem cells from mice on a HFD become functionally uncoupled from their niche in the organoid assay and in vivo, consistent with the hallmarks of cancer cells. Third, several studies have shown the possible links between these perturbations and tumorigenesis. For instance, when injected with azoxymethane, aberrant crypt foci (ACF), an early-appearing lesion of colon carcinogenesis, were increased in male mice fed a HFD[21]. In another study, more spontaneous intestinal low-grade adenomas and carcinomas were observed in HFD-fed mice than in standard diet-fed mice<sup>[19]</sup>.

At present, elucidating how obesity and a pro-obesity diet contribute to the cellular origin of cancer in the intestine is the central focus of research, and data on stem cells in other tissues are very limited. Several reasons can explain such a tissue preference for studying the impact of obesity and HFD physiology on the initiation of cancer. First, robust epidemiological evidence has been accumulated for the increased risk of colon cancer in obese populations, and a better understanding of the altered biology of ISCs that occurs in the context of obesity will provide immeasurable public health benefits [10]. Second, the stem cell theory advanced most rapidly in ISCs, from which the histological architecture of the intestine has been well established [29]. Third, ISCs reside in the base of the intestinal crypt and directly interact with luminal nutrients, bacteria, and other intraepithelial and subepithelial cells, making the intestine an ideal system for studying the pathophysiological changes on a HFD[29]. Finally, the natural orifice of the intestine makes in situ manipulations for tumor induction or diagnostic tests easier than other *in vivo* cancer models<sup>[30]</sup>. Despite all of this, as consistent and compelling associations have been demonstrated between obesity and more than 10 cancer types, elucidating how stem cells in tissues other than the intestine are perturbed by obesity or HFD holds the same importance. Currently, the majority of obesity models are induced by HFD; however, other dietary patterns, such as a high-sugar diet and Western-styled diet, have also been shown to be obesogenic, and the effects of these dietary patterns on the initiation of cancer warrant further studies. Furthermore, the alterations in stem cell biology in tissues with increased cancer incidence warrant further investigation in obese human beings, not just in animals.

Zaishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Murine models of high-fat diet-induced obesity and cancer stem cells				
Tissue	Findings	Ref.		
Intestine	Increased crypt depth and villus height; increased number of Olmf4-positive ISCs; increased size of the enterospheres that developed from ISCs	[18]		
Intestine	Increase in crypt depth; non-stem progenitor intestinal cells gain more stemness features and self-renewal; 50% increase in the number of Olfm4+ ISCs; 23% decrease in the number of Paneth cells; more likely to initiate mini-intestines; organoids had higher frequencies of Lgr5+ ISCs; ISCs by themselves had an increased capacity to initiate organoids	[19]		
Intestine	Combined with Pten inactivation, obesity is insufficient to drive Lgr5+ ISC-derived tumorigenesis	[20]		
Intestine	Increased aberrant crypt and crypt foci; increased proliferation of colonocytes per mouse	[21]		
Intestine	Higher number of Lgr5+ stem cells per crypt	[ <mark>22</mark> ]		
Intestine	Increased number of ISCs and progenitor cells; crypts are further likely to form mini-intestine organoids in a 3D culture	[23]		
Intestine	Increased intestinal epithelial cell proliferation	[24]		
Intestine	Reprograms Bmi1+ cells to function and persist as stem-like cells in mucosal homeostasis and tumor development	[25]		
Intestine	Increased number of crypts; increased total numbers of ISCs and percentage of ISCs in S-phase; reduced numbers of Paneth and goblet cells	[26]		
Lung	Increased number of AT2 cells; higher stem cell colony forming efficiency	[27]		
Esophagus	Increased numbers of epithelial progenitors in Barrett's esophagus	[28]		

ISC: Intestinal stem cell; Lgr5: Leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 5; AT2: Alveolar type-2.



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.120 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Relative risk of individual cancers at high body mass index. Data were obtained from a meta-analysis reported by the International Agency for Research on Cancer working group. The number represents the relative risk and its 95% confidence interval of the highest body mass index category vs normal body mass index. NA: Not available.

#### **OBESITY AND CSCS IN CANCER PROGRESSION AND THERAPY RESISTANCE**

In addition to promoting tumorigenesis, obesity might also promote the progression of established cancers, affect the efficacy of present forefront antitumor therapies and shorten the survival of patients with cancer. For instance, a meta-analysis including 86490 patients treated for clinically localized prostate cancer showed a moderate and consistent relationship between obesity and biochemical recurrence, and there was a 10% increase in biochemical recurrence per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> increase in BMI[31]. In the Carolina Breast Cancer Study phase 3, a high waist-to-hip ratio was found to be associated with a

high risk of metastasis[32]. Poor survival was also reported in overweight or obese patients with colorectal, endometrial and breast cancer [33-35]. In addition to the increased likelihood of recurrence, the poor prognosis of obese patients with cancer also results from the reduction in the efficacy of antitumor therapies[36]. Mechanistically, the link between obesity and increased recurrence, therapy resistance and poor survival is likely multifactorial, with some differences related to more advanced stages being attributed to reduced participation in routine screening or the systemic effects of obesity on drug pharmacokinetics and metabolism [37,38]. In addition to these explanations, emerging evidence has shown that the activation of stem cell programs in cancers can lead to progression, metastatic growth and therapy resistance[11].

The key roles of obesity in the activation of stem cell programs have attracted much attention in recent years; however, as in studies on the effects of obesity on cancer-initiating cells, the promotion effects of obesity on cancer through CSCs are also mainly limited to animal models, which are utilized to investigate how specific obesity-related factors induce the stemness of cancer cells. Knowledge about CSCs in obese patients with cancer is still not clear. For example, obesity increases inflammation in the tumor microenvironment (TME) through local and systemic adipokines, proinflammatory cytokines or hormones, which modulate the stemness of cancer cells[39]. In a mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma, diet-induced obesity increased inflammatory signaling via STAT3, and this finding was associated with larger tumors with a cancer-stem-cell-like phenotype[40]. Prolonged culture of breast cancer cells, which developed from a fat-rich environment, with adipocytes increased the proportion of cells expressing stem-like markers in vitro and the abundance of cancer cells with metastatic potential in vivo[41]. Regarding the involvement of CSCs in therapy resistance, leptin was found to interfere with the efficacy of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) in colon tumor stem cells by increasing cell viability and reducing 5-FU-induced DNA damage[42].

EMT is a reversible cellular process during which epithelial cells transiently acquire mesenchymal phenotypes, such as an elongated, fibroblast-like morphology as well as an increased capacity for migration and invasion[43]. It is now widely accepted that EMT has well-established roles in cancer metastasis<sup>[43]</sup>. In the majority of carcinomas, only CSCs exhibit aspects of EMT-program activation<sup>[44]</sup>. Various extracellular stimuli, including obesity-related factors, have been implicated in the induction of EMT programs. For instance, esophageal cancer cells cocultured with visceral adipose tissue taken from obese patients resulted in the induced expression of genes involved in EMT, which was also noted in tumor biopsies from obese patients[45]. Cytokines and growth factors released by adipose stem cells (ASCs) can induce EMT-like changes in various cancer cells[10]. The adipokine leptin has also been found to activate EMT programs to enhance the proliferation and metastasis of breast cancer cells[46]. Therefore, obesity can propel primary tumor cells toward EMT events, leading to malignant progression.

#### THE LINKS BETWEEN OBESITY AND CSCS

As discussed above, CSCs participate in every step of tumorigenesis promoted by obesity. Understanding the key links between obesity and CSCs, therefore, offers important potential to decrease the incidence and improve the outcomes of obese patients with cancer. Several main factors are considered to connect obesity and cancer: Components of pro-obesity diets, metabolic and hormonal alterations associated with obesity, dysfunctional adipose tissue in the TME, low-grade obesity-related inflammation, self-renewal and stemness pathways, and microbiome dysbiosis. Each of these factors is intimately linked to and cross-talks with each other. For example, fatty acids in pro-obesity diets accumulate in adipocytes, leading to expansion and dysfunction of adipose tissue, which is intimately linked to endocrine and paracrine dysregulation, such as increased circulating insulin, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and leptin. All of these alterations activate and maintain a prolonged low-grade inflammatory state, predisposing individuals with obesity to an increased cancer risk and poor outcomes[47-49]. Although these factors were mainly investigated in nonspecific conditions, their involvement in CSC biology is also beginning to accumulate evidence (Figure 2).

#### Components of pro-obesity diets

Although the mechanistic links are not completely understood, nutrient-sensing signaling activated by components of a pro-obesity diet has been shown to influence stem cell behavior and tumorigenesis. This was also indirectly suggested in a leptin-receptor-deficient (db/db) mouse model, which becomes obese on control diets and does not rely on a HFD. In *db/db* mice, the number of ISCs was reduced, while ISC function was not affected, highlighting that components of a pro-obesity diet can regulate stem cells independently of obesity [19]. As early as 1989, Blakeborough et al [50] reported that diets high in fat support a Bacteroides-dominated colonic microflora and increase the excretion of secondary bile acids to augment free radical production, which may overcome the antioxidant defense mechanisms of stem cells, causing DNA damage, tumorigenesis and proliferation of transformed stem cells. Since then, numerous studies have suggested for decades that a pro-obesity diet engages many diverse pathways in stem cells in various tissues that collectively contribute to tumorigenesis. For instance, a HFD increases





DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.120 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Mechanisms linking obesity and cancer stem cells. In the obese microenvironment, the stem cell pool is increased and loses niche dependence, predisposing these stem cells to transformation. Several main factors are considered to connect obesity and cancer stem cells (CSCs): Components of pro-obesity diets, metabolic and hormonal alterations associated with obesity, dysfunctional adipose tissue in the tumor microenvironment, low-grade obesity-related inflammation, self-renewal and stemness pathways, and microbiome dysbiosis. These factors are intimately linked to and cross-talk with each other, synergistically leading to the activation of CSC programs through various signaling pathways. ASC: Adipose stem cell; BAs: Bile acids; CSC: Cancer stem cell; CTC: Circulating tumor cell; FAs: Fatty acids; FABPs: Fatty acid binding proteins; FAO: Fatty acid oxidation; IGF: Insulin-like factor; IGFR: Insulin-like receptor; LDs: Lipid droplets; LEP: Leptin; LEPR: Leptin receptor; LRP: Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein; NCID: Notch intracellular cytoplasmic domain; PI3K: Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PPAR-5: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor 5; TAZ: Transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif; TFs: Transcription factors; TLR: Toll-like receptor; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; TNFR: Tumor necrosis factor receptor; YAP: Yes-associated protein; NF-kB: Nuclear factor-kappaB.

> leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 5 (Lgr5) expression and promotes tumor growth in a xenograft model independent of obesity. Mechanistically, dietary fats stimulate vitamin Abound serum retinol-binding protein 4 and retinoic acid 6, which are implicated in colon stem cell selfrenewal, to activate the JAK-STAT3 pathway and boost Lgr5 expression and the tumorigenicity of ISCs [51].

> The representative components of a pro-obesity diet, that is, fatty acids such as palmitic acid or oleic acid, were found to enhance the number and self-renewal potential of ISCs and to permit organoid body formation without supporting signaling from their niche cells in a well-designed study[19]. The molecular mechanism by which fatty acids deregulate ISCs to promote tumorigenesis was also delineated in this study. It was proposed that fatty acids can be transported to the nucleus by fatty acidbinding proteins or can be produced directly by lipid metabolism in the nucleus, where they increase the number and self-renewal of ISCs via peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\delta$  (PPAR- $\delta$ ), a nuclear receptor that senses fatty acid derivatives, the synthetic activation of which mimics both the *in vivo* and *in vitro* impact of a HFD and fatty acid treatment<sup>[19]</sup>. In contrast, loss of PPAR-δ completely abrogated the effects of fatty acids on Lgr5+ ISC function with respect to organoid-initiating capacity [19]. The downstream signaling mediating the effects of PPAR- $\delta$  activation was attributed to WNT/ $\beta$ catenin, as demonstrated by increased  $\beta$ -catenin staining and upregulation of its target genes (Jag1, Jag 2 and Bmp4) in ISCs and progenitors from HFD- and PPAR- $\delta$  agonist-treated mice[19]. Free fatty acids produced by obese fat lipolysis also serve as ligands for Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on cancer cells to activate nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-κB), leading to an increase in CSCs[52]. Another critical element in a pro-obesity diet that is significantly elevated in some obese individuals, cholesterol, was also demonstrated to affect stem cell function, thus promoting tumorigenesis. In Drosophila, dietary



cholesterol modulated the differentiation of ISCs by stabilizing the Delta ligand and Notch extracellular domain and altering their trafficking in endosomal vesicles, while a low-sterol diet slowed the proliferation of enteroendocrine tumors initiated by Notch pathway disruption[53]. In a rodent animal model, evidence also showed that dietary cholesterol acts as a mitogen for ISCs, while disruption of cholesterol homeostasis dramatically enhances tumor formation in APC<sub>min</sub> mice[54].

Although bile acids are not elements in a pro-obesity diet, their excretion is essential for the digestion and absorption of dietary fat and is increased when a HFD is consumed. Bile acids are endogenous agonists of the G protein-coupled bile acid receptor, the activation of which augments Yes-associated protein 1 (YAP1) signaling, leading to increased stem cell number and proliferation and enhanced organoid-forming capability of ISCs[55]. In addition, bile acids, such as tauro- $\beta$ -muricholic acid and deoxycholic acid, can antagonize intestinal farnesoid X receptor (FXR), a master regulator of bile acid homeostasis. Antagonizing FXR in the intestinal lumen enhances the proliferation and DNA damage of stem cells, initiating the transformation of ISCs to a malignant phenotype and promoting adenoma-toadenocarcinoma progression [56]. Conversely, selective activation of intestinal FXR by its agonist can restrict abnormal ISC growth and skew differentiation toward goblet cells, thus curtailing HFD-induced intestinal cancer progression[56].

#### Metabolic alterations

Aerobic glycolysis has long been viewed as the main metabolic characteristic of cancer cells. However, in recent years, CSCs have been found to be intimately dependent on lipid metabolism to maintain their self-renewal capability. Therefore, in addition to the abovementioned studies that investigated the regulation of CSC function by lipids as elements of a pro-obesity diet, numerous studies have explored the effects of lipids on CSCs at the cellular metabolism level. Metabolism of fatty acids and cholesterol, including de novo biosynthesis, storage and fatty acid oxidation (FAO), supports the stemness, proliferation and chemotherapy resistance of CSCs[57]. Metabolic analysis demonstrated that lipid synthesis, including *de novo* lipid biosynthesis, lipid desaturation, and cholesterol synthesis, displays high activity in CSCs, indicating that lipid synthesis plays critical roles in stemness maintenance[58]. Human breast cancer-derived data suggest that FAO promotes cancer cell stemness and chemoresistance. Blocking FAO resensitizes them to chemotherapy and inhibits CSCs in mouse breast tumors in vivo[59]. Furthermore, cytarabine-resistant acute myeloid leukemia cells, which are enriched in leukemic stem cells, exhibited increased FAO[60]. FAO is also responsible for the stemness and chemotherapy resistance in gastric cancer induced by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)[61]. To meet the critical functions of lipids in CSCs, lipid droplets, organelles that store neutral lipids, accumulate and are more abundant in CSCs in numerous types of cancer[57]. Although evidence connecting lipid metabolism and CSCs is increasingly accumulating, whether obesity can augment the lipid metabolic alteration in CSCs is not clear because studies on the metabolic adaptations of CSCs in obese environments are limited. However, the incidence of hyperlipidemia is higher in obese populations, and in obese individuals, CSCs more readily reside in a fat-rich TME, which may provide more lipids to CSCs. Therefore, theoretically, lipid metabolic alterations in obesity support the stemness of cancer cells, although further studies are warranted to validate such effects.

Another common metabolic alteration of obese patients is insulin resistance, leading to increased levels of circulating insulin and IGF-1, which contribute to the increased risk and mortality of several cancers in obese individuals. Mice with diet-induced obesity exhibited increased concentrations of plasma glucose, insulin, and IGF-1, which were significantly correlated with increased proliferation and self-renewal of ISCs, as well as decreased Paneth cell numbers<sup>[26]</sup>. In addition, insulin significantly increased the capacity of organoid formation in vitro[26]. Reports have suggested that the PI3K/AKT pathway is the major contributor to the abnormal renewal of ISCs endowed by insulin/IGF-1[62]. Therefore, insulin/IGF-1 signaling was suggested to mediate the effects of obesity on the function of stem cells, which is conducive to their transformation. Even insulin/IGF-1 levels in newborns are associated with the risk of future breast cancer, possibly resulting from an increased total number of stem cells [63]. Parallel to their function in normal stem cells, evidence suggests the roles of insulin/IGF-1 in cancer progenitor/stem cells from solid and hematopoietic malignancies. Insulin/IGF-1 and their receptors are overexpressed or overactivated in human thyroid, hepatic and breast CSCs and participate in the self-renewal, EMT and chemoresistance of cancer cells[64]. These emerging discoveries will undoubtedly promote renewed efforts aimed at targeting the insulin/IGF-1 system that contribute to CSC biology.

#### Hormonal alterations

Adipose tissue has long been viewed as an energy reservoir; however, this perspective has changed in recent years, as numerous bioactive adipokines, including more than 50 different metabolic and hormonal factors, cytokines and chemokines, were reported to be released by adipose tissue[65]. Two of the major adipose tissue-derived hormones are leptin and adiponectin, which have opposite effects. In contrast to lean adipose tissue, which mainly secretes the antimitogenic adipokine adiponectin in obesity, increased preadipocytes yield high levels of leptin, which has proangiogenic and promitogenic effects[66,67].

Leptin acts as a growth factor for many tissues, such as the mammary gland, lung, liver, and colonic epithelium[68]. The links between leptin and CSCs have been comprehensively studied in breast cancer [69]. In a diet-induced obese mouse model, mammary epithelial polarity was disrupted, which can contribute to overactivation of the PI3K/AKT pathway downstream of the paracrine effect of leptin expressed by neighboring adipocytes. Leptin expands the pool of stem/progenitor cells in the breast epithelium and causes mitotic spindle misalignment, which is an early step in tumor initiation [70]. The leptin receptor was found to be expressed on breast CSCs, and in orthotopically transplanted breast cancer, leptin can promote CSC enrichment[71,72]. Inactivation of the leptin receptor attenuated the expression of CSC transcription factors and reduced the self-renewal of cancer cells in tumor sphere assays<sup>[71]</sup>. Leptin-mediated cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance through CSCs in other cancers have also been extensively investigated<sup>[69]</sup>. For instance, leptin was found to initiate the early transformation of colon cancer. ACF multiplicity, as early-appearing lesions of tumorigenesis, was increased by a HFD in *ob/ob* mice or in a genetic mouse (*db/db*) model with leptin receptor deletion[73, 74]. However, in *db/db* mice fed a control diet, the function of ISCs and the activity of PPAR- $\delta$  and Wnt/  $\beta$ -catenin signaling were not changed, indicating that obesity and elements in a pro-obesity diet may cause different alterations in the function of stem cells[19]. In addition, no leptin receptor was found on colonic stem cells, and leptin did not increase the pool of Lgr5+ stem cells, suggesting that leptin may be dispensable in the early stages of colon carcinogenesis[22]. Collectively, these findings indicate that although the crucial role of leptin in CSCs may be affected by the cellular origin of cancer, the potential of leptin pathways in cancer initiation and progression will lead to future areas of therapeutic management.

Although data are scarce, other adipokines with altered secretion in obese adipose tissue were also shown to affect the function of CSCs. For example, DeClercq *et al*[22] specifically investigated the effect of a HFD on colonic stem cell maintenance during cancer initiation and found that the number of stem cells and their proliferation capacity were significantly increased, while the incidence of apoptosis was decreased. The authors proposed that these effects are the result of decreased adiponectin signaling based on the findings that the reduction in stem cell number and increase in apoptosis were diminished in organoid cultures from obese mice treated with an adiponectin receptor agonist[22]. In addition, following a decrease in adiponectin signaling, obesity can increase tumorigenesis in the intestine[22]. Resistin, another adipokine, was highly associated with the transcription of genes related to CSCs in low malignant breast cancer cells and noncarcinogenic breast epithelial cells[75]. These adipokines with different effects on CSCs and their therapeutic translational potential need further research.

#### Dysfunctional adipose tissue in the TME

Despite the systemic effects of adipose tissue on CSCs through the secretion of circulating metabolic and hormonal factors, adipose tissue also constitutes an important part of the microenvironment of several cancers, and its dysfunction resulting from obesity is considered a critical determinant of cancer progression[76]. For example, cancer-associated adipose tissue obtained from obese patients with breast cancer was found to increase inflammatory breast cancer aggressiveness via the regulation of CSC markers<sup>[77]</sup>. Coculture of breast cancer cells with human-derived adipocytes increased the abundance of mammosphere-forming cells and stem-like cancer cells in vitro and increased tumor-initiating cells and metastasis in mouse models<sup>[41]</sup>. Mechanistic investigations demonstrated that immature adipocyte contact activates Src, thus promoting embryonic stem cell transcription factor upregulation, including Sox2, c-Myc, and Nanog, to mediate CSC expansion[41]. Moreover, Sox2-dependent induction of miR-302b further stimulated c-Myc and Sox2 expression and potentiated cytokine-induced CSC-like properties[41]. However, adipose tissue from different anatomical sites may have different effects on CSCs. For example, serial transplantation of pluripotent stem cells cultured in conditioned medium of breast cancer cells into mammary fat pads evoked the same features of breast cancer, while this result was perturbed following subcutaneous transplantation, indicating that mammary adipose tissue can synergize with secretory factors produced by cancer cells to transform normal cells into CSCs, while subcutaneous adipose tissue cannot [78]. Such performance differences may be caused by the various metabolic characteristics of adipose tissue from different anatomical sites determined by sex steroid hormones<sup>[79]</sup>.

Among various adipose tissue cell types, ASCs are key players in adipose tissue. Under obese conditions, the biology of ASCs is dramatically altered, and ASCs can be recruited to sites of inflammation, including tumors[80]. ASCs are able to produce a large variety of circulating growth factors, cytokines and adipokines, which play important roles in CSC function. In addition to their systemic effects, ASCs represent an important cellular component in the TME. Therefore, in a breast cancer patient-derived xenograft model, cancers grown in the presence of ASCs had increased numbers of CD44+CD24– CSCs in the peripheral blood and had a higher tendency to form metastases[81]. This effect may be mediated by leptin, as the stable knockdown of leptin in obese ASCs led to a significant reduction in circulating CSCs[81]. In addition, ASCs reshape the TME and support the generation of CSCs, which are associated with radioresistance and chemotherapy resistance[82].

Zaishidena® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Low-grade obesity-related inflammation

In recent decades, the contribution of inflammation to cancer initiation, progression and therapy resistance has regained enormous interest, and the association between inflammation and CSCs has also been explored extensively<sup>[83]</sup>. Obesity has long been considered a facilitator of mild, chronic, systemic inflammation. Along with the expansion of adipose tissue in obesity, hypoxia causes adipocyte stress and malfunction, recruiting different types of immune cells[84,85]. Both adipocytes and immune cells release numerous adipokines, cytokines, chemokines and hormones, which perpetuate the inflammatory state[84,85]. Therefore, it is reasonable to speculate that obesity can affect CSCs through lowgrade inflammation. Although chronic inflammation is not induced consistently in obese mouse models, which may be related to the differences in feeding patterns and other combined interventions, current evidence indicates that inflammation might have a role in alterations in stem cells leading to tumorigenesis. Inflammatory mediators were found to be increased in the intestinal mucosa in mice with obesity or those fed a HFD, resulting from cytokine release by myofibroblasts and immune cells[86]. Local inflammation has been demonstrated to expand colon cell progenitors or stem cells and to induce their proliferation in the intestine. For example, HFD-induced obesity elevated both the colonic proliferative zone and stem cell zone in a pig model, and the proliferative zone was associated with an increase in the innate inflammatory markers TLR4, NF-κB, IL-6, and lipocalin-2[87]. In addition, activation of NF-KB, the central pathway downstream of the majority of proinflammatory cytokines, following local inflammation enhanced the reprogramming of non-stem enterocytes to acquire stemcell-like properties, which expanded the pool of stem cells and generated tumor-initiating cells[88]. HFD-induced obesity promoted the phosphorylation of GSK3β and then increased the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin, thereby activating the expression of WNT signaling target genes[89]. These effects were diminished by the deletion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), indicating the role of inflammation induced by TNF-a in colon tumorigenesis associated with obesity[89]. Another inflammatory mediator, prostaglandin E2, was also found to be elevated by HFD in the circulation or in local tissues, leading to an increased number and division rate of stem cells[22].

Other proinflammatory mediators have also been demonstrated to facilitate CSC expansion. For example, IL-6 can induce malignant features in human ductal breast carcinoma stem/progenitor cells [90]. IL-8 treatment leads to breast cancer cells partially acquiring some stem-like cell attributes, thereby increasing their aggressiveness[91]. Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2, derived from cancer-associated fibroblasts, stimulates the stem cell-specific, sphere-forming phenotype in breast cancer cells and CSC self-renewal[92]. Although these studies were not carried out under obese conditions, these proinflammatory mediators are consistently elevated in obese individuals and are upregulated upon contact with cancer cells. The enrichment of CSCs may be partially attributed to these cytokines, as a few studies indeed found that proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, are overexpressed in cancer-associated adipose tissue from obese patients and induce the stemness of cancer cells, while such effects were not found in nonobese patients<sup>[77]</sup>. Considering the importance of localized and systemic inflammation in the induction and maintenance of stemness in cancer cells and the definite association between inflammation and obesity, elucidating how these inflammatory pathways increase the risk of cancer incidence, progression and therapy resistance via CSCs holds great promise to decrease the burden of cancer in obesity.

#### Self-renewal and stemness pathways

Stem cells are proposed to reside in a distinctive microenvironment, that is, the stem cell niche, which induces and maintains the self-renewal and differentiation of stem cells. In the TME, niche signals also play critical roles in cancer cells acquiring more stemness. Although the pathways responsible for establishing a CSC phenotype are diverse and differ among cancer entities, developmental signaling pathways, including the Notch, WNT, Hedgehog and Hippo pathways, are commonly altered in CSCs and interact with each other and with other common oncogenic signaling pathways and have key regulatory functions that support the maintenance and survival of these cells, making them prime targets for anti-CSC therapy [82]. Obesity, HFD and abnormal adipocytes may engage in these selfrenewal and stemness pathways directly or indirectly through increased local and systemic levels of many cytokines and adipokines. For example, in ISCs and progenitors from mice fed a HFD, the expression of Jag1 and Jag2, which are ligands for the Notch pathway and are normally expressed by neighboring niche cells, was increased by the activation of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin, indicating that a HFD drives ISCs to niche independence<sup>[19]</sup>. Within the ISC niche, MSCs were expanded and secreted predominant levels of Wnt2b in the colon of HFD-fed mice, which promoted the growth of tumorigenic properties and accelerated the expression of CSC-related markers in colon organoids [93]. CSCs isolated from obese mice also exhibited enhanced Notch2 expression[94]. However, such direct evidence supporting the association between obesity and alterations in stemness pathways is scarce, and more studies are needed to test this model. Nonetheless, some emerging data demonstrate alterations in these stemness pathways in obesity-induced cancers. For instance, HFD consumption could upregulate the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin proteins in a mouse xenograft tumor model[95]. Notch signaling activity was increased in breast cancer cells following coculture with obesity-altered ASCs[96]. In addition, YAP, the major player in the Hippo pathway, dictates mitochondrial redox homeostasis to facilitate obesity-associated breast



cancer progression[97]. Although the contributions of CSCs were not examined in these studies, regarding the definitive effects of these signaling pathways on CSCs, it is reasonable to speculate that the upregulated activity of these pathways in obesity may promote the progression of cancer through CSCs and that targeting these pathways may be more promising in obesity-induced cancers.

#### Microbiome dysbiosis

The epithelial barrier surfaces of our body host a diverse microbial community, or microbiota, that is composed of a variety of microorganisms, such as bacteria, fungi, and viruses[98]. Substantial studies have reported that obesity or HFD markedly affects the composition of the commercial microbiota, especially in the intestine[48]. Obesity-induced perturbation of the gut microbiota has been demonstrated to influence stem cell phenotypes. For example, structural changes in the microbiota were associated with HFD-induced myeloid progenitor skewing of the differentiation capacity of hematopoietic stem cells[99]. The intestinal tract bacteria Lactobacillus induces the release of adiponectin by niche cells through NF- $\kappa$ B activation[100]. In pigs with HFD-induced obesity, the elevation of the proliferative zone and stem cell zone was associated with increased abundance of the gut bacterial phyla Proteobacteria and Firmicutes [87]. In addition to these initial data suggesting the association between obesity-related microbiome dysbiosis and the possible development of CSCs, evidence linking the microbiome in obesity to CSC function is lacking. Whether obesity-induced alterations in the composition of the host microbiota affect initiation, progression and therapy resistance and the underlying mechanisms need more investigation with the hope of providing more strategies for cancer prevention and treatment.

#### CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

If the above-discussed links between obesity and CSCs are founded on convincing evidence, an obvious question is whether targeting both can prevent or improve the outcomes of cancer. At present, targeting both obesity and CSCs has great challenges; however, progress is gradually being made. For example, bariatric surgery has been popularized globally, leading to more weight loss and longer maintenance than diet and lifestyle changes[101]. Intriguingly, in these patients with obesity who received bariatric surgery, a decrease in overall cancer diagnoses was observed[102,103]. However, surgical intervention does not guarantee the recovery of obese patients to a normal state and is typically a harmful method. Theoretically, obesity prevention represents the most promising and scientific solution, which requires joint efforts and cooperation from throughout the whole world[104]. However, under obesity pandemic conditions, exploring strategies to lower the incidence of obesity-related cancer represents the primary goal. Unfortunately, no experience has been gained. As low-grade inflammation plays a central role in linking obesity and cancer, anti-inflammatory therapy may be a promising direction, which has been validated in the prevention of colorectal cancer[105]. For obese patients with established malignancies, there is an urgent need to improve therapeutic efficacy and long-term survival. As mentioned above, various mechanisms have been proposed to link obesity and CSCs; thus, whether blocking these connections can prevent or delay the initiation and progression of cancer needs further study. Encouragingly, such strategies have been explored extensively, and some of them have already advanced into clinical use. For example, the clinical development of therapeutics targeting CSC-associated developmental signaling pathways has resulted in improved patient outcomes[82]. Some inflammatory factortargeting therapies also show promising results in improving outcomes in patients with cancer[106]. Lifestyle interventions, such as reduced dietary intake and increased physical activity, were demonstrated to cause weight loss, leading to altered expression of inflammatory factors and maintenance of stem cell homeostasis[107,108]. Therefore, what awaits us next is to validate their efficacy in obese people with cancer.

#### CONCLUSION

As stated above, notwithstanding the clear and compelling link between obesity and CSCs, as well as an understanding of the mechanisms connecting them, this research area is still in its infancy. Most scientific research exploring the association of CSCs and obesity originates from mouse models or was inferred indirectly from the conclusions of different research fields. Therefore, there are still many major questions waiting for answers. For example, how can the profound differences in cancer incidence across different anatomical sites influenced by obesity be explained? Do the differences in the microenvironment across adult stem cell niches contribute to these variations? Regarding alterations in stem cell biology, how much overlap is there among animal models and obese patients? What role does the microbiome play in mediating the induction, maintenance and therapy response of CSCs? Does obesity differentially regulate normal and malignant stem cells, and how does it do so? How does obesity influence the crosstalk between CSCs and immunoediting? To what extent are stem cells conditioned in



obesity reversed when obesity is improved? Does obesity enhance the establishment of premetastatic niches? Can strategies aimed at targeting the mechanisms linking obesity and CSCs prevent the initiation and delay the progression of cancer?

Despite a wealth of unknowns, it is clear that obesity increases the stem cell pool and induces biological modulation in these cells, which predisposes these stem cells to transformation. Regarding the increased prevalence of obesity and its convincing association with cancer, programs are urgently needed to decrease the incidence of obesity. At this time, primary obesity prevention through public health policies, including dietary and lifestyle changes, represents a compelling approach toward a reduction in the incidence of obesity and its associated cancer. Identifying obese patients with increased cancer risk and developing appropriate management of obesity or applying cancer prevention methods such as anti-inflammatory agents in these populations represents another compelling approach toward a reduction in the burden of cancer in obesity. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the association between obesity and CSCs, and large amounts of agents targeting these pathways have been developed. Testing them in patients with obesity and comparing their efficacy with that in nonobese individuals are important components of future translational research and clinical trials.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author thanks the Health Commission of Mianyang City and the Science and Education Department of the Third Hospital of Mianyang for their support. The space limitations of this review have unfortunately meant that I have not been able to separately cite many of the original publications that have contributed substantially to the literature. I sincerely apologize to the authors of these publications. All figures in this review were created with BioRender.com.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Li J designed the review; Li J and Xie WJ reviewed the literature; Xie WJ drafted the manuscript; Li J revised the manuscript; and all authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Wen-Jie Xie 0000-0001-9589-9431; Jian Li 0000-0002-5807-2360.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

#### REFERENCES

- Blüher M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019; 15: 288-298 [PMID: 30814686 DOI: 10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8]
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet 2017; 390: 2627-2642 [PMID: 29029897 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3]
- GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, Marczak L, Mokdad 3 AH, Moradi-Lakeh M, Naghavi M, Salama JS, Vos T, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Ahmed MB, Al-Aly Z, Alkerwi A, Al-Raddadi R, Amare AT, Amberbir A, Amegah AK, Amini E, Amrock SM, Anjana RM, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Banerjee A, Barac A, Baye E, Bennett DA, Beyene AS, Biadgilign S, Biryukov S, Bjertness E, Boneya DJ, Campos-Nonato I, Carrero JJ, Cecilio P, Cercy K, Ciobanu LG, Cornaby L, Damtew SA, Dandona L, Dandona R, Dharmaratne SD, Duncan BB, Eshrati B, Esteghamati A, Feigin VL, Fernandes JC, Fürst T, Gebrehiwot TT, Gold A, Gona PN, Goto A, Habtewold TD, Hadush KT, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hay SI, Horino M, Islami F, Kamal R, Kasaeian A, Katikireddi SV, Kengne AP, Kesavachandran CN, Khader YS, Khang YH, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Kim YJ, Kinfu Y, Kosen S, Ku T, Defo BK, Kumar GA, Larson HJ, Leinsalu M, Liang X, Lim SS, Liu P, Lopez AD, Lozano R, Majeed A, Malekzadeh R, Malta DC, Mazidi M, McAlinden C, McGarvey ST, Mengistu DT, Mensah GA, Mensink GBM, Mezgebe HB, Mirrakhimov EM,



Mueller UO, Noubiap JJ, Obermeyer CM, Ogbo FA, Owolabi MO, Patton GC, Pourmalek F, Qorbani M, Rafay A, Rai RK, Ranabhat CL, Reinig N, Safiri S, Salomon JA, Sanabria JR, Santos IS, Sartorius B, Sawhney M, Schmidhuber J, Schutte AE, Schmidt MI, Sepanlou SG, Shamsizadeh M, Sheikhbahaei S, Shin MJ, Shiri R, Shiue I, Roba HS, Silva DAS, Silverberg JI, Singh JA, Stranges S, Swaminathan S, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Tadese F, Tedla BA, Tegegne BS, Terkawi AS, Thakur JS, Tonelli M, Topor-Madry R, Tyrovolas S, Ukwaja KN, Uthman OA, Vaezghasemi M, Vasankari T, Vlassov VV, Vollset SE, Weiderpass E, Werdecker A, Wesana J, Westerman R, Yano Y, Yonemoto N, Yonga G, Zaidi Z, Zenebe ZM, Zipkin B, Murray CJL. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 13-27 [PMID: 28604169 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1614362]

- Malik VS, Hu FB. The role of sugar-sweetened beverages in the global epidemics of obesity and chronic diseases. Nat Rev 4 Endocrinol 2022; 18: 205-218 [PMID: 35064240 DOI: 10.1038/s41574-021-00627-6]
- Fontaine KR, Redden DT, Wang C, Westfall AO, Allison DB. Years of life lost due to obesity. JAMA 2003; 289: 187-193 [PMID: 12517229 DOI: 10.1001/jama.289.2.187]
- Prospective Studies Collaboration, Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, Emberson J, Halsey J, Qizilbash N, 6 Collins R, Peto R. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet 2009; 373: 1083-1096 [PMID: 19299006 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60318-4]
- 7 Dai H, Alsalhe TA, Chalghaf N, Riccò M, Bragazzi NL, Wu J. The global burden of disease attributable to high body mass index in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: An analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study. PLoS Med 2020; 17: e1003198 [PMID: 32722671 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003198]
- 8 Kyrgiou M, Kalliala I, Markozannes G, Gunter MJ, Paraskevaidis E, Gabra H, Martin-Hirsch P, Tsilidis KK. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: umbrella review of the literature. BMJ 2017; 356: j477 [PMID: 28246088 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.j477]
- Zhi X, Kuang XH, Liu K, Li J. The global burden and temporal trend of cancer attributable to high body mass index: 9 Estimates from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Front Nutr 2022; 9: 918330 [PMID: 35958256 DOI: 10.3389/fnut.2022.918330
- O'Sullivan J, Lysaght J, Donohoe CL, Reynolds JV. Obesity and gastrointestinal cancer: the interrelationship of adipose 10 and tumour microenvironments. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 15: 699-714 [PMID: 30323319 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0069-7
- Lytle NK, Barber AG, Reya T. Stem cell fate in cancer growth, progression and therapy resistance. Nat Rev Cancer 2018; 11 18: 669-680 [PMID: 30228301 DOI: 10.1038/s41568-018-0056-x]
- Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, Grosse Y, Bianchini F, Straif K; International Agency for Research on 12 Cancer Handbook Working Group. Body Fatness and Cancer--Viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 794-798 [PMID: 27557308 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsr1606602]
- Barker N, Ridgway RA, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, Begthel H, van den Born M, Danenberg E, Clarke AR, Sansom 13 OJ, Clevers H. Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature 2009; 457: 608-611 [PMID: 19092804 DOI: 10.1038/nature07602]
- Blaas L, Pucci F, Messal HA, Andersson AB, Josue Ruiz E, Gerling M, Douagi I, Spencer-Dene B, Musch A, Mitter R, 14 Bhaw L, Stone R, Bornhorst D, Sesay AK, Jonkers J, Stamp G, Malanchi I, Toftgård R, Behrens A. Lgr6 Labels a rare population of mammary gland progenitor cells that are able to originate luminal mammary tumours. Nat Cell Biol 2016; 18: 1346-1356 [PMID: 27798604 DOI: 10.1038/ncb3434]
- Yang J, Wei H, Zhou Y, Szeto CH, Li C, Lin Y, Coker OO, Lau HCH, Chan AWH, Sung JJY, Yu J. High-Fat Diet 15 Promotes Colorectal Tumorigenesis Through Modulating Gut Microbiota and Metabolites. Gastroenterology 2022; 162: 135-149.e2 [PMID: 34461052 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.08.041]
- Hayashi T, Fujita K, Matsushita M, Hayashi Y, Uemura M, Nonomura N. Metformin inhibits prostate cancer growth 16 induced by a high-fat diet in Pten-deficient model mice. Int J Urol 2019; 26: 307-309 [PMID: 30458584 DOI: 10.1111/iju.13847]
- Zhang X, Coker OO, Chu ES, Fu K, Lau HCH, Wang YX, Chan AWH, Wei H, Yang X, Sung JJY, Yu J. Dietary 17 cholesterol drives fatty liver-associated liver cancer by modulating gut microbiota and metabolites. Gut 2021; 70: 761-774 [PMID: 32694178 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319664]
- Zhou W, Davis EA, Dailey MJ. Obesity, independent of diet, drives lasting effects on intestinal epithelial stem cell 18 proliferation in mice. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2018; 243: 826-835 [PMID: 29932373 DOI: 10.1177/1535370218777762]
- Beyaz S, Mana MD, Roper J, Kedrin D, Saadatpour A, Hong SJ, Bauer-Rowe KE, Xifaras ME, Akkad A, Arias E, Pinello 19 L, Katz Y, Shinagare S, Abu-Remaileh M, Mihaylova MM, Lamming DW, Dogum R, Guo G, Bell GW, Selig M, Nielsen GP, Gupta N, Ferrone CR, Deshpande V, Yuan GC, Orkin SH, Sabatini DM, Yilmaz ÖH. High-fat diet enhances stemness and tumorigenicity of intestinal progenitors. Nature 2016; 531: 53-58 [PMID: 26935695 DOI: 10.1038/nature17173]
- 20 Tabrizian T, Wang D, Guan F, Hu Z, Beck AP, Delahaye F, Huffman DM. Apc inactivation, but not obesity, synergizes with Pten deficiency to drive intestinal stem cell-derived tumorigenesis. Endocr Relat Cancer 2017; 24: 253-265 [PMID: 28351943 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-16-0536]
- Sikalidis AK, Fitch MD, Fleming SE. Diet induced obesity increases the risk of colonic tumorigenesis in mice. Pathol 21 Oncol Res 2013; 19: 657-666 [PMID: 23536280 DOI: 10.1007/s12253-013-9626-0]
- DeClercq V, McMurray DN, Chapkin RS. Obesity promotes colonic stem cell expansion during cancer initiation. Cancer 22 Lett 2015; 369: 336-343 [PMID: 26455770 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.001]
- 23 Xie Y, Ding F, Di W, Lv Y, Xia F, Sheng Y, Yu J, Ding G. Impact of a highfat diet on intestinal stem cells and epithelial barrier function in middleaged female mice. Mol Med Rep 2020; 21: 1133-1144 [PMID: 32016468 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2020.10932]
- Mao J, Hu X, Xiao Y, Yang C, Ding Y, Hou N, Wang J, Cheng H, Zhang X. Overnutrition stimulates intestinal epithelium proliferation through β-catenin signaling in obese mice. *Diabetes* 2013; **62**: 3736-3746 [PMID: 23884889 DOI: 10.2337/db13-0035
- Li W, Zimmerman SE, Peregrina K, Houston M, Mayoral J, Zhang J, Maqbool S, Zhang Z, Cai Y, Ye K, Augenlicht LH. 25 The nutritional environment determines which and how intestinal stem cells contribute to homeostasis and tumorigenesis.



Carcinogenesis 2019; 40: 937-946 [PMID: 31169292 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgz106]

- Mah AT, Van Landeghem L, Gavin HE, Magness ST, Lund PK. Impact of diet-induced obesity on intestinal stem cells: 26 hyperproliferation but impaired intrinsic function that requires insulin/IGF1. Endocrinology 2014; 155: 3302-3314 [PMID: 24914941 DOI: 10.1210/en.2014-1112]
- 27 Hegab AE, Ozaki M, Meligy FY, Kagawa S, Ishii M, Betsuyaku T. High fat diet activates adult mouse lung stem cells and accelerates several aging-induced effects. Stem Cell Res 2018; 33: 25-35 [PMID: 30308415 DOI: 10.1016/j.scr.2018.10.006
- Münch NS, Fang HY, Ingermann J, Maurer HC, Anand A, Kellner V, Sahm V, Wiethaler M, Baumeister T, Wein F, 28 Einwächter H, Bolze F, Klingenspor M, Haller D, Kavanagh M, Lysaght J, Friedman R, Dannenberg AJ, Pollak M, Holt PR, Muthupalani S, Fox JG, Whary MT, Lee Y, Ren TY, Elliot R, Fitzgerald R, Steiger K, Schmid RM, Wang TC, Quante M. High-Fat Diet Accelerates Carcinogenesis in a Mouse Model of Barrett's Esophagus via Interleukin 8 and Alterations to the Gut Microbiome. Gastroenterology 2019; 157: 492-506.e2 [PMID: 30998992 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.04.013]
- Gehart H, Clevers H. Tales from the crypt: new insights into intestinal stem cells. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 29 16: 19-34 [PMID: 30429586 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0081-y]
- Roper J, Tammela T, Akkad A, Almeqdadi M, Santos SB, Jacks T, Yilmaz ÖH. Colonoscopy-based colorectal cancer 30 modeling in mice with CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing and organoid transplantation. Nat Protoc 2018; 13: 217-234 [PMID: 29300388 DOI: 10.1038/nprot.2017.136]
- 31 Rivera-Izquierdo M, Pérez de Rojas J, Martínez-Ruiz V, Arrabal-Polo MA, Pérez-Gómez B, Jiménez-Moleón JJ. Obesity and biochemical recurrence in clinically localised prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 86,490 patients. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2022; 25: 411-421 [PMID: 34987170 DOI: 10.1038/s41391-021-00481-7]
- 32 Olsson LT, Walens A, Hamilton AM, Benefield HC, Fleming JM, Carey LA, Hursting SD, Williams KP, Troester MA. Obesity and Breast Cancer Metastasis across Genomic Subtypes. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2022; 31: 1944-1951 [PMID: 35973227 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-22-0013]
- Cespedes Feliciano EM, Kroenke CH, Meyerhardt JA, Prado CM, Bradshaw PT, Dannenberg AJ, Kwan ML, Xiao J, 33 Quesenberry C, Weltzien EK, Castillo AL, Caan BJ. Metabolic Dysfunction, Obesity, and Survival Among Patients With Early-Stage Colorectal Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 3664-3671 [PMID: 27601537 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4473]
- Kokts-Porietis RL, McNeil J, Morielli AR, Cook LS, Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM. Prospective Cohort Study of Pre-34 and Postdiagnosis Obesity and Endometrial Cancer Survival. J Natl Cancer Inst 2022; 114: 409-418 [PMID: 34597394 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djab197]
- Picon-Ruiz M, Morata-Tarifa C, Valle-Goffin JJ, Friedman ER, Slingerland JM. Obesity and adverse breast cancer risk 35 and outcome: Mechanistic insights and strategies for intervention. CA Cancer J Clin 2017; 67: 378-397 [PMID: 28763097 DOI: 10.3322/caac.214051
- Hoy AJ, Nagarajan SR, Butler LM. Tumour fatty acid metabolism in the context of therapy resistance and obesity. Nat 36 *Rev Cancer* 2021; **21**: 753-766 [PMID: 34417571 DOI: 10.1038/s41568-021-00388-4]
- Maruthur NM, Bolen S, Gudzune K, Brancati FL, Clark JM. Body mass index and colon cancer screening: a systematic 37 review and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012; 21: 737-746 [PMID: 22492832 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0826
- Horowitz NS, Wright AA. Impact of obesity on chemotherapy management and outcomes in women with gynecologic 38 malignancies. Gynecol Oncol 2015; 138: 201-206 [PMID: 25870918 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.04.002]
- 39 Olson OC, Quail DF, Joyce JA. Obesity and the tumor microenvironment. Science 2017; 358: 1130-1131 [PMID: 29191893 DOI: 10.1126/science.aao5801]
- Uthaya Kumar DB, Chen CL, Liu JC, Feldman DE, Sher LS, French S, DiNorcia J, French SW, Naini BV, Junrungsee S, 40 Agopian VG, Zarrinpar A, Machida K. TLR4 Signaling via NANOG Cooperates With STAT3 to Activate Twist1 and Promote Formation of Tumor-Initiating Stem-Like Cells in Livers of Mice. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 707-719 [PMID: 26582088 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.11.002]
- Picon-Ruiz M, Pan C, Drews-Elger K, Jang K, Besser AH, Zhao D, Morata-Tarifa C, Kim M, Ince TA, Azzam DJ, 41 Wander SA, Wang B, Ergonul B, Datar RH, Cote RJ, Howard GA, El-Ashry D, Torné-Poyatos P, Marchal JA, Slingerland JM. Interactions between Adipocytes and Breast Cancer Cells Stimulate Cytokine Production and Drive Src/Sox2/miR-302b-Mediated Malignant Progression. Cancer Res 2016; 76: 491-504 [PMID: 26744520 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0927
- Bartucci M, Svensson S, Ricci-Vitiani L, Dattilo R, Biffoni M, Signore M, Ferla R, De Maria R, Surmacz E. Obesity 42 hormone leptin induces growth and interferes with the cytotoxic effects of 5-fluorouracil in colorectal tumor stem cells. Endocr Relat Cancer 2010; 17: 823-833 [PMID: 20603394 DOI: 10.1677/ERC-10-0083]
- Yang J, Antin P, Berx G, Blanpain C, Brabletz T, Bronner M, Campbell K, Cano A, Casanova J, Christofori G, Dedhar S, 43 Derynck R, Ford HL, Fuxe J, García de Herreros A, Goodall GJ, Hadjantonakis AK, Huang RYJ, Kalcheim C, Kalluri R, Kang Y, Khew-Goodall Y, Levine H, Liu J, Longmore GD, Mani SA, Massagué J, Mayor R, McClay D, Mostov KE, Newgreen DF, Nieto MA, Puisieux A, Runyan R, Savagner P, Stanger B, Stemmler MP, Takahashi Y, Takeichi M, Theveneau E, Thiery JP, Thompson EW, Weinberg RA, Williams ED, Xing J, Zhou BP, Sheng G; EMT International Association (TEMTIA). Guidelines and definitions for research on epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2020; 21: 341-352 [PMID: 32300252 DOI: 10.1038/s41580-020-0237-9]
- Shibue T, Weinberg RA. EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat Rev Clin 44 Oncol 2017; 14: 611-629 [PMID: 28397828 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.44]
- 45 Allott EH, Morine MJ, Lysaght J, McGarrigle SA, Donohoe CL, Reynolds JV, Roche HM, Pidgeon GP. Elevated Tumor Expression of PAI-1 and SNAI2 in Obese Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Patients and Impact on Prognosis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2012; 3: e12 [PMID: 23238211 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2012.5]
- Strong AL, Ohlstein JF, Biagas BA, Rhodes LV, Pei DT, Tucker HA, Llamas C, Bowles AC, Dutreil MF, Zhang S, 46 Gimble JM, Burow ME, Bunnell BA. Leptin produced by obese adipose stromal/stem cells enhances proliferation and metastasis of estrogen receptor positive breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res 2015; 17: 112 [PMID: 26286584 DOI: 10.1186/s13058-015-0622-z



- Rohm TV, Meier DT, Olefsky JM, Donath MY. Inflammation in obesity, diabetes, and related disorders. Immunity 2022; 47 55: 31-55 [PMID: 35021057 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.12.013]
- Cani PD, Jordan BF. Gut microbiota-mediated inflammation in obesity: a link with gastrointestinal cancer. Nat Rev 48 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 15: 671-682 [PMID: 29844585 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0025-6]
- 49 Iyengar NM, Gucalp A, Dannenberg AJ, Hudis CA. Obesity and Cancer Mechanisms: Tumor Microenvironment and Inflammation. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 4270-4276 [PMID: 27903155 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4283]
- Blakeborough MH, Owen RW, Bilton RF. Free radical generating mechanisms in the colon: their role in the induction 50 and promotion of colorectal cancer? Free Radic Res Commun 1989; 6: 359-367 [PMID: 2792847 DOI: 10.3109/10715768909087919
- Karunanithi S, Levi L, DeVecchio J, Karagkounis G, Reizes O, Lathia JD, Kalady MF, Noy N. RBP4-STRA6 Pathway 51 Drives Cancer Stem Cell Maintenance and Mediates High-Fat Diet-Induced Colon Carcinogenesis. Stem Cell Reports 2017; 9: 438-450 [PMID: 28689994 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.06.002]
- Rinkenbaugh AL, Baldwin AS. The NF-KB Pathway and Cancer Stem Cells. Cells 2016; 5 [PMID: 27058560 DOI: 52 10.3390/cells5020016]
- Obniski R, Sieber M, Spradling AC. Dietary Lipids Modulate Notch Signaling and Influence Adult Intestinal 53 Development and Metabolism in Drosophila. Dev Cell 2018; 47: 98-111.e5 [PMID: 30220569 DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2018.08.013]
- Wang B, Rong X, Palladino END, Wang J, Fogelman AM, Martín MG, Alrefai WA, Ford DA, Tontonoz P. Phospholipid 54 Remodeling and Cholesterol Availability Regulate Intestinal Stemness and Tumorigenesis. Cell Stem Cell 2018; 22: 206-220.e4 [PMID: 29395055 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.12.017]
- Sorrentino G, Perino A, Yildiz E, El Alam G, Bou Sleiman M, Gioiello A, Pellicciari R, Schoonjans K. Bile Acids Signal 55 via TGR5 to Activate Intestinal Stem Cells and Epithelial Regeneration. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 956-968.e8 [PMID: 32485177 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.067]
- Fu T, Coulter S, Yoshihara E, Oh TG, Fang S, Cayabyab F, Zhu Q, Zhang T, Leblanc M, Liu S, He M, Waizenegger W, 56 Gasser E, Schnabl B, Atkins AR, Yu RT, Knight R, Liddle C, Downes M, Evans RM. FXR Regulates Intestinal Cancer Stem Cell Proliferation. Cell 2019; 176: 1098-1112.e18 [PMID: 30794774 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.036]
- Wang SY, Hu QC, Wu T, Xia J, Tao XA, Cheng B. Abnormal lipid synthesis as a therapeutic target for cancer stem cells. 57 World J Stem Cells 2022; 14: 146-162 [PMID: 35432735 DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v14.i2.146]
- Yi M, Li J, Chen S, Cai J, Ban Y, Peng Q, Zhou Y, Zeng Z, Peng S, Li X, Xiong W, Li G, Xiang B. Emerging role of lipid 58 metabolism alterations in Cancer stem cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2018; 37: 118 [PMID: 29907133 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-018-0784-5
- Wang T, Fahrmann JF, Lee H, Li YJ, Tripathi SC, Yue C, Zhang C, Lifshitz V, Song J, Yuan Y, Somlo G, Jandial R, Ann D, Hanash S, Jove R, Yu H. JAK/STAT3-Regulated Fatty Acid β-Oxidation Is Critical for Breast Cancer Stem Cell Self-Renewal and Chemoresistance. Cell Metab 2018; 27: 136-150.e5 [PMID: 29249690 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.11.001]
- Farge T, Saland E, de Toni F, Aroua N, Hosseini M, Perry R, Bosc C, Sugita M, Stuani L, Fraisse M, Scotland S, Larrue 60 C, Boutzen H, Féliu V, Nicolau-Travers ML, Cassant-Sourdy S, Broin N, David M, Serhan N, Sarry A, Tavitian S, Kaoma T, Vallar L, Iacovoni J, Linares LK, Montersino C, Castellano R, Griessinger E, Collette Y, Duchamp O, Barreira Y, Hirsch P, Palama T, Gales L, Delhommeau F, Garmy-Susini BH, Portais JC, Vergez F, Selak M, Danet-Desnoyers G, Carroll M, Récher C, Sarry JE. Chemotherapy-Resistant Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells Are Not Enriched for Leukemic Stem Cells but Require Oxidative Metabolism. Cancer Discov 2017; 7: 716-735 [PMID: 28416471 DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0441]
- He W, Liang B, Wang C, Li S, Zhao Y, Huang Q, Liu Z, Yao Z, Wu Q, Liao W, Zhang S, Liu Y, Xiang Y, Liu J, Shi M. 61 MSC-regulated lncRNA MACC1-AS1 promotes stemness and chemoresistance through fatty acid oxidation in gastric cancer. Oncogene 2019; 38: 4637-4654 [PMID: 30742067 DOI: 10.1038/s41388-019-0747-0]
- Zhou W, Rowitz BM, Dailey MJ. Insulin/IGF-1 enhances intestinal epithelial crypt proliferation through PI3K/Akt, and 62 not ERK signaling in obese humans. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2018; 243: 911-916 [PMID: 29950119 DOI: 10.1177/1535370218785152
- Savarese TM, Strohsnitter WC, Low HP, Liu Q, Baik I, Okulicz W, Chelmow DP, Lagiou P, Quesenberry PJ, Noller KL, 63 Hsieh CC. Correlation of umbilical cord blood hormones and growth factors with stem cell potential: implications for the prenatal origin of breast cancer hypothesis. Breast Cancer Res 2007; 9: R29 [PMID: 17501995 DOI: 10.1186/bcr1674]
- Malaguarnera R, Belfiore A. The emerging role of insulin and insulin-like growth factor signaling in cancer stem cells. 64 Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2014; 5: 10 [PMID: 24550888 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00010]
- Gilbert CA, Slingerland JM. Cytokines, obesity, and cancer: new insights on mechanisms linking obesity to cancer risk 65 and progression. Annu Rev Med 2013; 64: 45-57 [PMID: 23121183 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-med-121211-091527]
- McArdle MA, Finucane OM, Connaughton RM, McMorrow AM, Roche HM. Mechanisms of obesity-induced 66 inflammation and insulin resistance: insights into the emerging role of nutritional strategies. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2013; 4: 52 [PMID: 23675368 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00052]
- Tilg H, Moschen AR. Adipocytokines: mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 67 2006; 6: 772-783 [PMID: 16998510 DOI: 10.1038/nri1937]
- 68 Pourvali K, Monji H. Obesity and intestinal stem cell susceptibility to carcinogenesis. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2021; 18: 37 [PMID: 33827616 DOI: 10.1186/s12986-021-00567-y]
- Crean-Tate KK, Reizes O. Leptin Regulation of Cancer Stem Cells in Breast and Gynecologic Cancer. Endocrinology 69 2018; 159: 3069-3080 [PMID: 29955847 DOI: 10.1210/en.2018-00379]
- Tenvooren I, Jenks MZ, Rashid H, Cook KL, Muhlemann JK, Sistrunk C, Holmes J, Wang K, Bonin K, Hodges K, Lo 70 HW, Shaikh A, Camarillo IG, Lelièvre SA, Seewaldt V, Vidi PA. Elevated leptin disrupts epithelial polarity and promotes premalignant alterations in the mammary gland. Oncogene 2019; 38: 3855-3870 [PMID: 30670780 DOI: 10.1038/s41388-019-0687-8]
- Zheng Q, Banaszak L, Fracci S, Basali D, Dunlap SM, Hursting SD, Rich JN, Hjlemeland AB, Vasanji A, Berger NA, 71 Lathia JD, Reizes O. Leptin receptor maintains cancer stem-like properties in triple negative breast cancer cells. Endocr



Relat Cancer 2013; 20: 797-808 [PMID: 24025407 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-13-0329]

- Zheng Q, Dunlap SM, Zhu J, Downs-Kelly E, Rich J, Hursting SD, Berger NA, Reizes O. Leptin deficiency suppresses 72 MMTV-Wnt-1 mammary tumor growth in obese mice and abrogates tumor initiating cell survival. Endocr Relat Cancer 2011; 18: 491-503 [PMID: 21636700 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-11-0102]
- 73 Endo H, Hosono K, Uchiyama T, Sakai E, Sugiyama M, Takahashi H, Nakajima N, Wada K, Takeda K, Nakagama H, Nakajima A. Leptin acts as a growth factor for colorectal tumours at stages subsequent to tumour initiation in murine colon carcinogenesis. Gut 2011; 60: 1363-1371 [PMID: 21406387 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.235754]
- 74 Higurashi T, Endo H, Uchiyama T, Uchiyama S, Yamada E, Ohkubo H, Sakai E, Takahashi H, Maeda S, Wada K, Natsumeda Y, Hippo Y, Nakajima A, Nakagama H. Conditional knockout of the leptin receptor in the colonic epithelium revealed the local effects of leptin receptor signaling in the progression of colonic tumors in mice. Carcinogenesis 2014; 35: 2134-2141 [PMID: 24958593 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgu135]
- Avtanski D, Garcia A, Caraballo B, Thangeswaran P, Marin S, Bianco J, Lavi A, Poretsky L. Resistin induces breast 75 cancer cells epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and stemness through both adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1)-dependent and CAP1-independent mechanisms. Cytokine 2019; 120: 155-164 [PMID: 31085453 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2019.04.016]
- Wu Q, Li B, Li Z, Li J, Sun S. Cancer-associated adipocytes: key players in breast cancer progression. J Hematol Oncol 76 2019; 12: 95 [PMID: 31500658 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-019-0778-6]
- 77 Ibrahim AS, El-Shinawi M, Sabet S, Ibrahim SA, Mohamed MM. Role of adipose tissue-derived cytokines in the progression of inflammatory breast cancer in patients with obesity. Lipids Health Dis 2022; 21: 67 [PMID: 35927653 DOI: 10.1186/s12944-022-01678-y]
- Abu Quora HA, Zahra MH, El-Ghlban S, Nair N, Afify SM, Hassan G, Nawara HM, Sheta M, Monzur S, Fu X, Osman 78 A, Seno A, Seno M. Microenvironment of mammary fat pads affected the characteristics of the tumors derived from the induced cancer stem cells. Am J Cancer Res 2021; 11: 3475-3495 [PMID: 34354856]
- Rebuffé-Scrive M, Eldh J, Hafström LO, Björntorp P. Metabolism of mammary, abdominal, and femoral adipocytes in 79 women before and after menopause. Metabolism 1986; 35: 792-797 [PMID: 3747836 DOI: 10.1016/0026-0495(86)90217-9]
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, Richardson AL, Polyak K, Tubo R, Weinberg RA. 80 Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature 2007; 449: 557-563 [PMID: 17914389 DOI: 10.1038/nature06188]
- Sabol RA, Bowles AC, Côté A, Wise R, O'Donnell B, Matossian MD, Hossain FM, Burks HE, Del Valle L, Miele L, 81 Collins-Burow BM, Burow ME, Bunnell BA. Leptin produced by obesity-altered adipose stem cells promotes metastasis but not tumorigenesis of triple-negative breast cancer in orthotopic xenograft and patient-derived xenograft models. Breast Cancer Res 2019; 21: 67 [PMID: 31118047 DOI: 10.1186/s13058-019-1153-9]
- Clara JA, Monge C, Yang Y, Takebe N. Targeting signalling pathways and the immune microenvironment of cancer stem 82 cells - a clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2020; 17: 204-232 [PMID: 31792354 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-019-0293-2]
- Greten FR, Grivennikov SI. Inflammation and Cancer: Triggers, Mechanisms, and Consequences. Immunity 2019; 51: 27-83 41 [PMID: 31315034 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025]
- Ghaben AL, Scherer PE. Adipogenesis and metabolic health. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2019; 20: 242-258 [PMID: 30610207 84 DOI: 10.1038/s41580-018-0093-z]
- Kawai T, Autieri MV, Scalia R. Adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in obesity. Am J Physiol Cell 85 Physiol 2021; 320: C375-C391 [PMID: 33356944 DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00379.2020]
- Kizil C, Kyritsis N, Brand M. Effects of inflammation on stem cells: together they strive? EMBO Rep 2015; 16: 416-426 86 [PMID: 25739812 DOI: 10.15252/embr.201439702]
- Charepalli V, Reddivari L, Radhakrishnan S, Eriksson E, Xiao X, Kim SW, Shen F, Vijay-Kumar M, Li Q, Bhat VB, 87 Knight R, Vanamala JKP. Pigs, Unlike Mice, Have Two Distinct Colonic Stem Cell Populations Similar to Humans That Respond to High-Calorie Diet prior to Insulin Resistance. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2017; 10: 442-450 [PMID: 28576788 DOI: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-17-0010]
- Schwitalla S, Fingerle AA, Cammareri P, Nebelsiek T, Göktuna SI, Ziegler PK, Canli O, Heijmans J, Huels DJ, Moreaux 88 G, Rupec RA, Gerhard M, Schmid R, Barker N, Clevers H, Lang R, Neumann J, Kirchner T, Taketo MM, van den Brink GR, Sansom OJ, Arkan MC, Greten FR. Intestinal tumorigenesis initiated by dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem-celllike properties. Cell 2013; 152: 25-38 [PMID: 23273993 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.012]
- Deng H, Gerencser AA, Jasper H. Signal integration by Ca(2+) regulates intestinal stem-cell activity. Nature 2015; 528: 89 212-217 [PMID: 26633624 DOI: 10.1038/nature16170]
- Sansone P, Storci G, Tavolari S, Guarnieri T, Giovannini C, Taffurelli M, Ceccarelli C, Santini D, Paterini P, Marcu KB, 90 Chieco P, Bonafè M. IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. J Clin Invest 2007; 117: 3988-4002 [PMID: 18060036 DOI: 10.1172/JCI32533]
- 91 Ospina-Muñoz N, Vernot JP. Partial acquisition of stemness properties in tumorspheres obtained from interleukin-8treated MCF-7 cells. *Tumour Biol* 2020; **42**: 1010428320979438 [PMID: 33325322 DOI: 10.1177/1010428320979438]
- Tsuyada A, Chow A, Wu J, Somlo G, Chu P, Loera S, Luu T, Li AX, Wu X, Ye W, Chen S, Zhou W, Yu Y, Wang YZ, 92 Ren X, Li H, Scherle P, Kuroki Y, Wang SE. CCL2 mediates cross-talk between cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts that regulates breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2012; 72: 2768-2779 [PMID: 22472119 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3567]
- Kim TY, Kim S, Kim Y, Lee YS, Lee SH, Kweon MN. A High-Fat Diet Activates the BAs-FXR Axis and Triggers Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Properties in the Colon. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 13: 1141-1159 [PMID: 34971821 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.12.015]
- Hillers-Ziemer LE, McMahon RQ, Hietpas M, Paderta G, LeBeau J, McCready J, Arendt LM. Obesity Promotes 94 Cooperation of Cancer Stem-Like Cells and Macrophages to Enhance Mammary Tumor Angiogenesis. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32098183 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12020502]
- Tang FY, Pai MH, Chiang EP. Consumption of high-fat diet induces tumor progression and epithelial-mesenchymal



transition of colorectal cancer in a mouse xenograft model. J Nutr Biochem 2012; 23: 1302-1313 [PMID: 22221675 DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.07.011]

- Sabol RA, Villela VA, Denys A, Freeman BT, Hartono AB, Wise RM, Harrison MAA, Sandler MB, Hossain F, Miele L, 96 Bunnell BA. Obesity-Altered Adipose Stem Cells Promote Radiation Resistance of Estrogen Receptor Positive Breast Cancer through Paracrine Signaling. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32326381 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21082722]
- Dai JZ, Wang YJ, Chen CH, Tsai IL, Chao YC, Lin CW. YAP Dictates Mitochondrial Redox Homeostasis to Facilitate 97 Obesity-Associated Breast Cancer Progression. Adv Sci (Weinh) 2022; 9: e2103687 [PMID: 35182054 DOI: 10.1002/advs.202103687
- 98 Roy S, Trinchieri G. Microbiota: a key orchestrator of cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2017; 17: 271-285 [PMID: 28303904 DOI: 10.1038/nrc.2017.13]
- Luo Y, Chen GL, Hannemann N, Ipseiz N, Krönke G, Bäuerle T, Munos L, Wirtz S, Schett G, Bozec A. Microbiota from 99 Obese Mice Regulate Hematopoietic Stem Cell Differentiation by Altering the Bone Niche. Cell Metab 2015; 22: 886-894 [PMID: 26387866 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.08.020]
- Su X, Yan H, Huang Y, Yun H, Zeng B, Wang E, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Liu F, Che Y, Zhang Z, Yang R. Expression of 100 FABP4, adipsin and adiponectin in Paneth cells is modulated by gut Lactobacillus. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 18588 [PMID: 26687459 DOI: 10.1038/srep18588]
- 101 Reges O, Greenland P, Dicker D, Leibowitz M, Hoshen M, Gofer I, Rasmussen-Torvik LJ, Balicer RD. Association of Bariatric Surgery Using Laparoscopic Banding, Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass, or Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy vs Usual Care Obesity Management With All-Cause Mortality. JAMA 2018; 319: 279-290 [PMID: 29340677 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2017.20513]
- 102 Sjöström L, Gummesson A, Sjöström CD, Narbro K, Peltonen M, Wedel H, Bengtsson C, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, Dahlgren S, Jacobson P, Karason K, Karlsson J, Larsson B, Lindroos AK, Lönroth H, Näslund I, Olbers T, Stenlöf K, Torgerson J, Carlsson LM; Swedish Obese Subjects Study. Effects of bariatric surgery on cancer incidence in obese patients in Sweden (Swedish Obese Subjects Study): a prospective, controlled intervention trial. Lancet Oncol 2009; 10: 653-662 [PMID: 19556163 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70159-7]
- 103 Adams TD, Stroup AM, Gress RE, Adams KF, Calle EE, Smith SC, Halverson RC, Simper SC, Hopkins PN, Hunt SC. Cancer incidence and mortality after gastric bypass surgery. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009; 17: 796-802 [PMID: 19148123 DOI: 10.1038/oby.2008.610]
- 104 Lavie CJ, Laddu D, Arena R, Ortega FB, Alpert MA, Kushner RF. Healthy Weight and Obesity Prevention: JACC Health Promotion Series. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72: 1506-1531 [PMID: 30236314 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.08.1037]
- 105 Hou J, Karin M, Sun B. Targeting cancer-promoting inflammation - have anti-inflammatory therapies come of age? Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2021; 18: 261-279 [PMID: 33469195 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-020-00459-9]
- 106 Propper DJ, Balkwill FR. Harnessing cytokines and chemokines for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2022; 19: 237-253 [PMID: 34997230 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-021-00588-9]
- 107 Campbell KL, Landells CE, Fan J, Brenner DR. A Systematic Review of the Effect of Lifestyle Interventions on Adipose Tissue Gene Expression: Implications for Carcinogenesis. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017; 25 Suppl 2: S40-S51 [PMID: 29086521 DOI: 10.1002/obv.22010]
- 108 Calibasi-Kocal G, Mashinchian O, Basbinar Y, Ellidokuz E, Cheng CW, Yilmaz ÖH. Nutritional Control of Intestinal Stem Cells in Homeostasis and Tumorigenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2021; 32: 20-35 [PMID: 33277157 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2020.11.003



W J S C World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 136-149

DOI: 10.4252/wisc.v15.i4.136

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Clinical application prospects and transformation value of dental follicle stem cells in oral and neurological diseases

Chao Yang, Xin-Ya Du, Wen Luo

Specialty type: Cell biology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Feng YZ, China; Rotondo JC, Italy

Received: December 19, 2022 Peer-review started: December 19, 2022 First decision: January 6, 2023

Revised: January 18, 2023 Accepted: March 21, 2023 Article in press: March 21, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Chao Yang, Research and Development Department, Shenzhen Uni-medica Technology Co., Ltd, Shenzhen 518051, Guangdong Province, China

Chao Yang, Xin-Ya Du, Department of Stomatology, The People's Hospital of Longhua, Shenzhen 518109, Guangdong Province, China

Wen Luo, Department of Stomatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, Haikou 570102, Hainan Province, China

Wen Luo, School of Stomatology, Hainan Medical University, Haikou 571199, Hainan Province, China

Corresponding author: Wen Luo, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Doctor, Department of Stomatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, No. 31 Longhua Road, Longhua District, Haikou 570102, Hainan Province, China. luowen228@163.com

### Abstract

Since dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) were first reported, six types of dental SCs (DSCs) have been isolated and identified. DSCs originating from the craniofacial neural crest exhibit dental-like tissue differentiation potential and neuroectodermal features. As a member of DSCs, dental follicle SCs (DFSCs) are the only cell type obtained at the early developing stage of the tooth prior to eruption. Dental follicle tissue has the distinct advantage of large tissue volume compared with other dental tissues, which is a prerequisite for obtaining a sufficient number of cells to meet the needs of clinical applications. Furthermore, DFSCs exhibit a significantly higher cell proliferation rate, higher colony-formation capacity, and more primitive and better anti-inflammatory effects than other DSCs. In this respect, DFSCs have the potential to be of great clinical significance and translational value in oral and neurological diseases, with natural advantages based on their origin. Lastly, cryopreservation preserves the biological properties of DFSCs and enables them to be used as off-shelf products for clinical applications. This review summarizes and comments on the properties, application potential, and clinical transformation value of DFSCs, thereby inspiring novel perspectives in the future treatment of oral and neurological diseases.

Key Words: Dental follicle stem cells; Oral disease; Neurological disease; Tissue engineering; Regeneration; Immunoregulation


©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This review is intended to summarize and comment on the properties, application potentials, and clinical transformation value of dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs). Stem cells derived from dental SCs (DSCs) originating from the craniofacial neural crest exhibit dental-like tissue differentiation potentials and neuro-ectodermal features, making them a promising alternative for the treatment of oral and neurological diseases. Moreover, in contrast to other DSCs, DFSCs from the early-developing tissues exhibit a number of superior properties, including larger tissue volume, higher cell proliferation rate, more similar biological profiles to progenitor cells of origin, and better anti-inflammatory effects, etc. These advantages are part of the critical mechanism by which DFSCs exert therapeutic effects and are relevant for large scale scaling and industrial generation for clinical applications. Moreover, cryopreservation preserves the biological properties of DFSCs and enables them to be used as off-shelf products for clinical applications. Therefore, DFSCs could have great clinical prospects and translational value in oral and neurological diseases with natural advantages.

Citation: Yang C, Du XY, Luo W. Clinical application prospects and transformation value of dental follicle stem cells in oral and neurological diseases. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 136-149 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/136.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.136

# INTRODUCTION

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells characterized by the ability of self-renewal, clonality, and differentiation into various types of cells[1]. With the development of cell biology and modern medicine, the application of stem cells has brought a new approach for restoring tissue defects and treatment of some refractory diseases[2,3]. To date, regenerative medicine has become an important branch of modern medical science and has played an increasingly important role in clinical treatment. Stem cells are a vital element of regenerative medicine, and different stem cell types have their own advantages and drawbacks[4]. With stem cell research deepening, it is crucial to explore the appropriate stem cells to solve clinical problems and obtain better clinical outcomes.

Stem cells for application in regenerative medicine are divided into the following two categories: Pluripotent and multipotent. Pluripotent stem cells include natural embryonic stem cells (ESCs) originating from the inner cell mass of the blastocyte and artificially induced pluripotent SCs (iPSCs)[5]. Multipotent stem cells refer to adult stem cells that exist in different tissues of the body, and their main function is general homeostasis and repair of injured tissues by differentiation[6]. Adult stem cells are also known as postnatal stem cells and mainly originate from either epithelial cells or mesenchymal cells [4].

Mesenchymal SCs (MSCs) are typical adult stem cells derived from mesenchymal tissues. In addition to the ability of self-renewal, high proliferation, and multidirectional differentiation, MSCs also present high immunomodulation and antiapoptotic capacity, to achieve the purpose of promoting tissue regeneration and disease treatment. Compared with ESCs, MSCs are multipotent but limited in terms of differentiation ability. However, the acquisition and clinical application of ESCs are also dramatically restricted to ethical, legal, safety, and source constraints[7]. Moreover, since iPSCs were first generated in 2006 by Takahashi et al[8] with four factors, a growing number of researchers have focused on the clinical application prospects and transformation value of iPSCs and their specialized differentiation cells. Nevertheless, iPSCs also present some worrying aspects as follows: (1) iPSCs have pluripotency, similar to ESCs, as well as the ability to cause possible teratomas while the specialized differentiated final product contains undifferentiated cells[9]; (2) there is possibility of tumor formation by integrated oncogenes, insertional mutagenesis, and disrupting tumor suppressor genes[9]; (3) epigenetic memories and genomic aberrations have been detected in reprogrammed cells[10]; and (4) human skin fibroblastderived iPSCs have a 72% ultraviolet light-related damage, and human blood-derived iPSCs have a high prevalence of acquired BCL6 corepressor mutations (26.9% of lines)[11].

The first human trial using retinal pigment epithelium derived from iPSCs for the treatment of agerelated macular degeneration was started in Japan in 2014 but was later suspended[12]. Recently, another study has reported a distinctive case of immature teratoma after the patient underwent autologous iPSC-derived cell therapy for diabetes. Two months after the cells had been injected into the deltoid muscle, a teratoma formed in the injection area[13]. Safety remains the most important criterion of a cellular product for clinical applications[9]; thus, more safety-related quality detections with iPSCderived cell therapy should be performed. In contrast to ESCs, iPSCs, and iPSCs specialized differentiation cells, several studies have demonstrated that MSCs exhibit good safety profiles, making MSCs

the most widely used cell type for clinical applications at present[14-16]. To date, various MSCs have been discovered in different tissues, including bone marrow, umbilical cord, umbilical cord blood, placenta, amniotic fluid, hair follicle, adipose tissue, and dental tissues[17-26].

Since dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) were first reported by Gronthos et al[27] in 2000, a growing interest has been observed toward the potential of dental stem cells (DSCs) for the treatment of oral and neurological diseases[28,29]. Six types of human DSCs have been isolated and identified at different stages of tooth development<sup>[30]</sup>. For instance, DPSCs, stem cells from apical papilla (SCAPs)<sup>[31]</sup>, stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs)[32], periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) [33], and gingival mesenchymal stem cells (GMSCs)[34] can be gained after tooth eruption, while dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs) are a special kind of DSCs, which can be obtained at the early developing stage of the tooth prior to eruption[35] (Figure 1).

The dental follicle is an ectomesenchyme-derived and loose connective tissue originating from the cranial neural crest. During the bud stage of tooth development, the dental follicle is formed and surrounds the dental papilla and enamel organ, which plays a critical role in tooth eruption via regulating bone resorption and formation [36]. In the late bell stage, the dental follicle gives rise to the supporting tissues of the tooth-periodontium, including cementum, alveolar bone, and periodontal ligament[37]. Compared with other dental tissues, dental follicle tissue has the obvious advantage of large tissue volume, which is the premise of obtaining a sufficient number of cells to meet the needs of clinical application. Meanwhile, the number of DFSCs obtained in the same passage is far greater than that of DPSCs, accordingly being more suitable for large-scale expansion and industrial generation[38]. Due to the origin of dental follicle tissue in the early stage of tooth development, it has been demonstrated that DFSCs have the following advantages over DPSCs. First, DFSCs exhibit a significantly higher cell proliferation rate and colony-formation capacity than DPSCs[38], which further suggests that DFSCs may be better able to meet the needs of clinical transformation in terms of quantity and quality. Second, DSCs originate from neural crest cells. DFSCs have more similar protein profiles with cranial neural crest cells (CNCCs) than DPSCs, and possess high potency in odontogenic differentiation in vitro[39], which demonstrates that DFSCs may have better transformation advantages for the treatment of neurological and oral diseases. Third, DFSCs have better inhibitory effects on the proliferation of proinflammatory lymphocytes and better promote the proliferation of anti-inflammatory Treg cells than SHEDs and DPSCs[40], which indicates that DFSCs have better immunoregulation capacity. Of note, the advantages in terms of quantity, quality, differentiation, and immunoregulatory properties, as mentioned above, are part of the critical mechanism by which MSCs exert therapeutic effects. In this regard, DFSCs appear to be the candidate cells with natural advantages for regenerative medicine compared with stem cells from other dental tissues. Indeed, as a kind of dental tissue-derived stem cells originating from the neural crest, DFSCs may be more advantageous in promoting oral tissue regeneration, including periodontium, dental pulp, and tooth regeneration, as well as in treating neurological injury and neurodegenerative diseases, such as spinal cord and brain injury, as well as Parkinson's disease (PD) and Alzheimer's disease.

# ORAL DISEASES AND FUNCTIONAL UNIT REGENERATION VIA DENTAL FOLLICLE STEM CELLS

#### Periodontitis and periodontal regeneration

The periodontium is a complex functional unit that plays a critical role in the oral cavity [41]. Periodontitis is a common and chronic inflammatory disease caused by plaque in the teeth[42]. As the disease progresses, gingival recession, loss of soft tissue attachment, and even intrabony defects can occur, ultimately resulting in premature tooth loss[43]. To date, while numerous conventional clinical treatments for periodontitis have been shown to control inflammation and aggressive progression, these strategies have not been able to achieve periodontal regeneration. Previous preclinical studies have demonstrated that the transplantation of stem cells presented the potential and provided new hope for periodontal regeneration[44,45].

The combination of DFSCs and hydroxyapatite scaffold forms a cementum-like matrix in vivo after transplantation into mice[35]. Scaffold plays a critical role in tissue engineering, providing support for transplanted stem cells and enhancing the therapeutic effects of tissue regeneration. The cell sheet technique prevents extracellular matrix degradation and provides a novel scaffold-free cell delivery strategy[46]. The extracellular matrix contains numerous growth factors and provides support to the cells without the need for additional scaffolds[47]. In addition, cell viability and function can be restored without the digestion operation step. A complex of dental follicle cell sheets forms periodontal tissuelike structures, including cementum-like structures and periodontal ligament with abundant blood vessels after transplantation into the subcutaneous areas of nude mice[48], demonstrating that DFSC sheets have the potential to achieve the goal of periodontal regeneration.

The tooth root development requires stimulation from Hertwig's epithelial root sheath (HERS), and DFSCs differentiate into cementoblasts during the epithelial-mesenchymal interaction process[49]. Accordingly, it has been demonstrated that the formation of cementum and periodontal ligament-like





Figure 1 Main dental stem cells derived from different dental tissues. This image shows the six types of human dental stem cells isolated and identified at different stages of tooth development. Dental follicle stem cells are obtained at the early developing stage of the tooth prior to eruption.

tissue was enhanced at 5 wk after implantation into rat submentum when DFSCs had been pre-exposed to HERSCs[50], suggesting that establishing a microenvironment similar to tooth root development is important for periodontal regeneration. Moreover, appropriate microinflammation preconditioning is important for improving the regeneration and immunoregulation capacity of DFSCs and their secreted exosomes. Lipopolysaccharides (LPS) upregulated the expression of osteogenic and adhesion-related proteins in DFSC sheets, which showed good performance in canine periodontal regeneration[51]. Furthermore, LPS enhanced the paracrine activity and immunomodulatory effect of DFSCs, and LPSpreconditioned DFSC-derived small extracellular vesicles (sEV) were beneficial for repairing lost alveolar bone in rats[52]. A later study further clarified that LPS-preconditioned DFC-sEV inhibited intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) as an antioxidant; it reduced the NF-kB receptor activator ligand/osteoprotegerin ratio of PDLSCs by inhibiting ROS/Jun amino-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling under inflammatory conditions and promoted macrophages to polarize toward the M2 phenotype via ROS/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling [53].

For clinical applications, autologous PDLSCs have been used in clinical studies (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01357785; www.isrctn.com Identifier: ISRCTN13093912), and the results showed no significant differences in the effect on intrabony lesions between PDLSCs groups and scaffold-only groups[54,55]. Although some previous studies have demonstrated that PDLSCs might be the first choice for periodontal regeneration[28,43], DFSCs can give rise to periodontal supporting tissues, including cementum, alveolar bone, and periodontal ligaments. Moreover, previous comparative studies have revealed that DFSCs exhibit a stronger capacity for the regeneration of cementum and periodontal attachment than PDLSCs[48,56]. Thus, DFSCs can be considered a better candidate cell source for periodontal regeneration.

#### Dental pulp necrosis and pulp regeneration

Dental pulp necrosis is an irreversible inflammatory dental disease that causes destruction and loss of the pulp tissue, resulting in the loss of teeth and even abscesses of the jaw [57]. Bacterial infections play a key role in the development of dental pulp necrosis. Bacterial invasion and colonization were observed in the pulp necrotic areas with caries exposure and symptomatic irreversible pulpitis. Additionally, bacterial penetration of blood vessels occurred, which may spread bacterial infections[58]. Before it leads to more serious consequences, endodontic treatment must be performed to remove the damaged pulp[59,60]. However, the tooth becomes more fragile and susceptible to caries, periapical infection, and fracture after endodontic treatment because of the loss of blood and nutrition supply [59].

Stem cell-based dental pulp regeneration has the objective of developing new methods to replace the conventional treatment of dental pulp necrosis. Scaffolds, stem cells, and growth factors have been used for dental pulp regeneration. Findings from animal studies have shown that DPSCs seeded in a collagen scaffold with dentin matrix protein 1 were able to induce the formation of dental pulp-like tissues in immunodeficient mice[61], and DPSCs pellets stimulated by bone morphogenetic protein 2 promoted the dentin formation onto the amputated pulp of dog teeth[62]. Later, autologous pulp stem cells and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor with a clinical-grade atelocollagen scaffold were transplanted into the dog pulpectomized teeth, promoting pulp/dentin regeneration[63]. A pilot clinical study using a similar strategy has also observed complete pulp regeneration in humans[64]. Moreover, a scaffold-free translation strategy has also been used for pulp regeneration. DPSC aggregates derived from the autologous canine tooth pulp induced the regeneration of three-dimensional pulp tissue equipped with



blood vessels and sensory nerves 12 mo after treatment[65]. Consequently, DPSCs are derived from the pulp tissue and it appears that DPSCs have the potential to promote dentin-pulp regeneration, while DFSCs have a similar capacity.

Previous studies have demonstrated that providing an inductive microenvironment with a suitable scaffold could achieve dentin and even dental pulp regeneration. Treated dentin matrix (TDM) is derived from animal or human dentin matrix treated with ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid, containing abundant collagen, noncollagenous proteins, and growth factors. Both rat and human TDM induce and support complete dentin regeneration, in addition to inducing transplanted DFSCs to differentiate into odontoblasts and express dentin sialoprotein and matrix protein 1[66,67]. The cell sheet technique promotes dental pulp regeneration. DFSC sheets were substituted for DFSCs and, in combination with TDM, were implanted subcutaneously into the dorsum of mice. New dentin pulp-like tissues were observed after eight weeks post-transplantation[68]. Moreover, native dental pulp extracellular matrix (NDPE) can be used to obtain prefabricated-shaped dental pulp. Dentin-pulp complex-like tissues and columnar odontoblasts-like layers arranged along the interface between newly formed predentin matrix could be found after DFSCs-NDPE-TDM transplantation to the jaw of miniature swine for 12 wk[69]. Therefore, DFSCs could also exhibit the capacity to regenerate the dentin-pulp tissues with suitable inductive scaffolds.

#### Tooth root and whole-tooth regeneration

The regeneration of whole teeth is a major objective and promise of oral regenerative medicine. To date, two main strategies have been used to achieve this goal. The first strategy is a combination of mesenchymal and epithelial cells to construct a bioengineered tooth germ, which is then transplanted into the alveolar socket. Parts of animals showed whole-tooth eruption around 3.5 mo after tooth-germ implantation[70]. However, several barriers should be addressed in future studies of bioengineered teeth, such as indiscriminate shape and smaller size than natural teeth[4,70-73]. The second strategy includes the direct reconstruction of the functional units, such as bio-tooth root with periodontal tissue-like structures and dentin-pulp-like tissues.

As with the combination of implants and crowns to replace missing teeth, researchers have explored implant-like scaffolds to reconstruct the root. As mentioned above, TDM has the potential to be a suitable scaffold for root reconstruction. Yang et al[68] used calcified human dentin to model an alveolar microenvironment and used DFSC sheets-TDM-DFSC sheets to reconstruct the pulp-root-periodontium structure. TDM could induce and support DFSC sheets to develop new dentin-pulp and cementumperiodontium-like tissues after subcutaneous transplantation into nude mice for 8 wk[68]. Moreover, with seed DFSCs, the complex of aligned PLGA/Gelatin electrospun sheet/TDM/NDPE generated tooth root-like tissues after 12 wk of transplantation in porcine jaws[69]. Shape-optimized TDM scaffolds with DFSCs were transplanted into the alveolar bone of swine, and ceramic crowns were installed. These bio-tooth roots not only regenerated histologically but also allowed masticatory functions and remained stable for 3 mo<sup>[74]</sup>. In nonhuman primates, a novel functional biological root complex was constructed based on DFSC sheets and *in vitro* three dimensional (3D) suspension culture. This complex was then transplanted into rhesus monkeys and gradually restored occlusal function and long-term masticatory function for 2 years during the evaluation period [75]. In this regard, DFSCs with suitable scaffolds have the potential to be suitable stem cells for whole-tooth reconstruction based on bio-booth root regeneration.

# THERAPEUTIC POTENTIALS OF DENTAL FOLLICLE STEM CELLS IN NEUROLOGICAL DISEASES

#### Neural differentiation of dental follicle stem cells

As mentioned above, dental follicle is an ectomesenchyme tissue that originates from the cranial neural crest. DFSCs not only express the markers typical of MSCs [*e.g.*, cluster of differentiation (CD) 44, CD90, CD105] but also express neural cell markers (*e.g.*, Nestin,  $\beta$ -III tubulin, and CNpase)[76-78] and even embryonic stem cell markers (octamer-binding transcription factor 4 and sex-determining region Y-box 2)[79], indicating that DFSCs may retain some of the neural and embryonic features and can differentiate into neural-like cells. DFSCs display neural-like cell morphology with small neurite-like cell extrusions with a neuronal differentiation strategy[76]. Dental pulp comprises blood vessels, neural fibers, and connective tissue, and DPSCs exhibit extraordinary capacity to differentiate into neural-like cells and represent a potential source for neuronal regeneration therapies[80]. However, a comparative study has demonstrated that DFSCs possess more similar protein profiles to CNCCs than DPSCs[39]. Moreover, compared with DPSCs, the expression of CNpase, neurofilament protein, Nestin, and  $\beta$ -III tubulin of DFSCs was upregulated significantly after treatment in the same neural-induction condition [78]. From this perspective, DFSCs may be a better candidate cell type for neural differentiation and even for the treatment of neurological diseases based on pre-differentiation.

Zaishidena® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# Therapeutic potentials of dental follicle stem cells in neurotrauma and neurodegenerative disorders

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is a severe neurological trauma that causes the impairment of sensory and motor functions[81]. The acute stage of injury is directly caused by trauma, including compression, contusion, and shear injury forces. Proinflammatory cells are then activated, releasing abundant inflammatory cytokines, which induce a cascade of secondary injury[82]. Many neurons, astrocytes, and other neural cells die in the injured area due to necrosis or apoptosis during the secondary injury [83]. Until now, current clinical strategies have not achieved satisfactory outcomes due to irreversible damage to neural cells. Stem cell-based therapies hold the promise of developing new approaches for the treatment of SCI. Several types of stem cells have been used for transplantation, such as neural SCs (NSCs), ES/ iPS-derived NSCs, and MSCs[84]. However, the sources of NSCs are limited and also face ethical issues. ES/iPS-derived cells exhibit some of the aforementioned worrying aspects. Thus, MSCs may now be a better candidate cell type for SCI. Researchers have compared the therapeutic effects of MSCs from bone marrow and dental pulp. Transplantation of DPSCs promoted marked recovery of locomotor function in the hind limbs, while transplantation of bone marrow SCs (BMSCs) resulted in substantially less recovery of locomotor function in rats with complete SCI. The main mechanisms include inhibition of apoptosis in neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes; promotion of regeneration of disjunct axons; and differentiation into mature oligodendrocytes to replace lost cells[85]. Later, another comparative study explored the differences among DFSCs, SCAPs, and DPSCs for the treatment of SCI. Findings from an animal study demonstrated that all three types of DSCs, especially DFSCs, have the potential to promote functional recovery after SCI by reducing the inflammatory response, promoting neurite regeneration, reducing progressive hemorrhagic necrosis, and differentiation into mature neurons and oligodendrocytes but not astrocytes [77]. Moreover, scaffolds with DFSCs were also used to repair the spinal cord defect; for example, aligned poly-ε-caprolactone/poly-lactide-co-glycolic acid electrospun material allowed nerve fibers to pass through, and induced DFSCs to differentiate in vivo[86].

PD is a common and progressive neurodegenerative disorder characterized by tremors, rigidity, and bradykinesia[87,88]. The aggregates of ubiquitin and  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive protein, Lewy bodies, and the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta are the main characteristics that define PD[89]. The incidence of the disease rises steeply with age, affecting approximately 1% of the population between the ages of 70 years and 79 years[90]. Although pharmacological approaches (such as amantadine and levodopa) and nonpharmacologic strategies (deep brain stimulation, exercise, and physical therapy) have been used in PD treatment[91,92], these therapeutic strategies only delay the progression of the disease and relieve the symptoms but do not achieve regeneration of dopaminergic neurons. There has been considerable excitement about the use of MSCs to treat neurodegenerative diseases via secretion of anti-inflammatory factors [e.g., indoleamine (2,3)-dioxygenase (IDO), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)], growth factors [e.g., vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor (GDNF)], and exosomes to achieve neuroinflammation attenuation and neural regeneration [93,94]. Various cell types, including BMSCs, adipose derived stem cells, umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells (UCMSCs), and DSCs, and their neural-primed cells or accessory products (such as exosomes) have been used to treat PD[95-99]. The locomotive defect was recovered in PD rats after neural-primed SHEDs were transplanted and differentiated into neurons and dopaminergic neurons in vivo. The transplanted cells resided in the brains of rats and formed functional connections [98]. DFSCs have also been transplanted for the treatment of PD and survived in the transplanted regions of PD mice for more than 6 wk after surgery. DFSCs not only increased the number of dopaminergic neurons around them but also differentiated into tyrosine hydroxylase-positive cells, indicating that DFSCs may be a potential source in the exploration of possible therapeutic roles in PD [99]. In addition, other DSCs have been used to treat stroke, Alzheimer's disease, and a variety of peripheral nervous system diseases [100,101]. Based on the biological properties of DFSCs, they may also present promising therapeutic effects in the treatment of the aforementioned neurological diseases.

## IMMUNOREGULATION OF DENTAL FOLLICLE STEM CELLS

Both in oral and neurological diseases, the immunomodulatory capacity is one of the most crucial functions of MSCs to facilitate the repair or regeneration of damaged tissues [51,77]. MSCs can regulate the proliferation, activation, maturation, and function of innate and adaptive immune cells via cell-tocell direct contact, soluble cytokines, and exosomes[102]. As a kind of MSCs, DFSCs also present immunomodulatory characteristics. In acute lung injury models, DFSCs could suppress the production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ ; decrease the proportion of proinflammatory macrophage M1 phenotype; increase the level of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and the proportion of anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype both in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in vivo and in vitro experiments[103]. Furthermore, DFSCs also exhibit great therapeutic potential in autoimmune diseases and chronic inflammatory disorders. DFSCs suppress the proliferation of T lymphocytes and lymphocyte apoptosis but increase the number of Tregs. DFSCs also reduce the secretion level of TNF-α but upregulate the level of IL-10 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of patients with rheumatoid arthritis[104].



Moreover, in inflamed mononuclear cell samples of patients with Crohn's disease, DFSCs also downregulate lymphocyte proliferation, CD4 + IL22BP T cell ratio, and the secretion of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6, but increase the frequency of Tregs and the level of IL-10[105]. From the case studies mentioned above, we can briefly summarize that DFSCs exert the common immune modulatory capacity *via* suppressing the proinflammatory immune cells [*e.g.*, T-helper (Th) 1, Th17, macrophage M1] and cytokines (*e.g.*, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6) and increasing the number of anti-inflammatory immune cells (*e.g.*, Tregs, macrophage M2) and cytokines (*e.g.*, IL-4 and IL-10). Therefore, it is necessary to design experiments to examine the ratio or level changes in inflammatory cells and cytokines after co-culture of DFSCs with activated PBMCs, which can help us to screen the cells with superior immune properties and obtain better clinical outcomes.

# CRYOPRESERVATION OF DENTAL FOLLICLE STEM CELLS

Stem cell-based therapies have been investigated for tissue engineering and treatment of many diseases for several decades, and cryopreservation can be used to effectively preserve stem cells. Cryopreservation is the process of gradually cooling cells or tissues to sub-zero temperatures, and finally preserving them in the gas phase liquid nitrogen (-150°C to -196°C) for an extended period. In this state, the biological activity of the cells is stopped, and their viability can be restored by careful thawing when needed[106]. Human DFSCs isolated from fresh and cryopreserved dental follicles show similar biological characteristics, such as proliferation ability, surface markers, and tri-linage differentiation capacities[107]. Moreover, the two types of DFSCs possess the same osteogenic differentiation potential and immunomodulatory properties for bone tissue engineering, resulting in the inhibition of adaptive immune response, which demonstrates that the stemness and immunomodulatory capacity of longterm-preserved dental follicle tissues can be restored [108]. Another study compared the biological characteristics between cryopreserved DFSCs and the cells from cryopreserved dental follicles. After 3 mo of cryopreservation, the cells from the cryopreserved dental follicles showed similar levels of stemness and apoptosis-related genes and exhibited similar osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation capabilities to cryopreserved DFSCs[109]. In this regard, both cryopreservation of DFSCs from fresh dental follicle tissues and direct cryopreservation of dental follicle tissues can preserve the biological properties of the cells. As a consequence, cryopreservation technology enables DFSCs to the off-the-shelf products for clinical applications.

Cryopreservation addresses the preservation of DFSCs. Another problem is that it is questionable whether allogeneic stem cells exhibit the same therapeutic effects as autologous stem cells. A previous study compared the therapeutic effects of allogeneic and autologous PDLSCs on periodontal tissue regeneration in a miniature pig model of periodontitis. Significant periodontal tissue regeneration was achieved in both transplanted groups without significant difference due to low immunogenicity and marked immunosuppression of T-cell antigen *via* PGE2[110]. Furthermore, allogeneic DSCs likely did not affect the therapeutic effects because of their inherent characteristics. However, more experiments should be performed to compare the outcomes of allogeneic and autologous DFSCs in different diseases.

In addition to cell cryopreservation, some biological materials can be cryopreserved. For instance, after being cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen with cryoprotectant for several months, the cryopreserved TDM exhibited superior mechanical properties, more dentin-related proteins, and a larger pore diameter than the fresh TDM. The cryopreserved TDM was also able to induce dental follicle cells to regenerate new dentin-pulp-like tissues[111], suggesting that the cryopreservation techniques address the preservation of biological materials and also enable them to be used as off-the-shelf scaffold for tissue engineering.

# CONCLUSION

In this review, it was found that among MSCs, stem cells derived from dental tissue originating from the craniofacial neural crest exhibit dental-like tissue differentiation potential and neuro-ectodermal features, which makes them a promising alternative for the treatment of oral and neurological diseases (Figure 2). Moreover, in contrast to other DSCs, those from the early-developing tissues exhibit several superior properties, including larger tissue volume, higher cell proliferation rate and colony-formation capacity, more similar biological profiles to progenitor cells of origin, and better anti-inflammatory effects. These advantages are part of the critical mechanism by which MSCs exert therapeutic effects and are relevant for large-scale scaling and industrial generation for clinical applications. Cryopreservation preserves the biological properties of DFSCs and enables them to be used as off-shelf products for clinical applications. Therefore, DFSCs could have great clinical prospects and translational value in oral and neurological diseases with natural advantages.



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.136 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 The origin of dental follicle stem cells and the main strategies/mechanisms of dental follicle stem cell-based therapies in oral and neurological diseases. Dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs) originating from the craniofacial neural crest exhibit dental-like tissue differentiation potential and neuro-ectodermal features. For the regeneration of periodontium and pulp, the main strategy is the combination of DFSCs or their accessory products (exosomes) with various scaffolds (such as treated dentin matrix, native dental pulp extracellular matrix, and hydroxyapatite). The cell sheet technique prevents the degradation of the extracellular matrix and makes it a natural scaffold. In addition, appropriate stimulation may enhance the therapeutic effect, such as preconditioning with Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells or lipopolysaccharides. For the treatment of neurotrauma and neurodegenerative disorders, DFSCs enable tissue regeneration primarily by reducing inflammatory response and apoptosis, promoting angiogenesis, and differentiating into mature functional neurons and oligodendrocytes.

> Currently, SHEDs, DPSCs, PDLSCs, and GMSCs have been used in clinics[54,65,112,113], and clinical trials of DFSCs are also forthcoming. For future clinical applications of DFSCs, several key points need further investigation. First, as one of the three essential elements in tissue engineering, the selection of stem cells is vital. Therefore, potency assessment and screening criteria should be established, including donor screening and culture system optimization. In addition to sterility, safety, activity, homogeneity, purity, and stability, the levels of released cytokines or markers associated with immunomodulation ( e.g., IL-4 and IL-10), dental tissue (e.g., VEGF, dentin sialophosphoprotein), or neural regeneration (e.g., Nestin, GDNF, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor) should be detected [17]. Furthermore, the potency evaluation system should contain the inhibition of proinflammatory immune cells (e.g., Th1, Th17, and macrophage M1) and cytokines (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$ , interferon- $\gamma$ , IL-1, and IL-6), the promotion of anti-inflammatory immune cells (e.g., Tregs, macrophage M2) and cytokines (e.g., IL-4 and IL-10) after PBMCs co-culture with DFSCs in vitro, and the promotion of neuron and oligodendrocyte or multi-differentiation capacity that includes neural/osteogenic differentiation [79,103,105,114-120]. Then, in vivo experiments should be used to verify the correctness of the potency assessment system. Second, in the field of tissue engineering, appropriate scaffold materials have a synergetic effect on the promotion of regeneration with stem cells. Some of these materials include beta-tricalcium phosphate, collagen sponge, xenogeneic bone substitute, and TDM, some of which have been used in the clinic[54, 55,74,113,121,122]. Without a doubt, the quest for more suitable scaffold materials remains a long-term process. Third, a wide range of bioactive factors and RNAs, including proteins, cytokines, proinflammatory components, extracts from biological materials, long non-coding RNAs, and microRNAs, have been used to enhance differentiation and immunomodulation capacities[53,123-127], and these strategies may further improve the therapeutic potential of DFSCs in clinical applications in the future. Collectively, with the development of materials and preconditioning strategies, and in combination with the natural superiority exhibited by DFSCs in terms of medicinal properties, DFSC-based therapeutics are a promising strategy for the future treatment of oral and neurological diseases.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yang C wrote the manuscript and drew the figures; Luo W revised the original manuscript; Du



XY reviewed the manuscript; Yang C, Luo W, and Du XY proposed the ideas and approved the manuscript to be published.

Supported by the Hainan Provincial Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 822RC828.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Chao Yang 0000-0001-6351-2327; Xin-Ya Du 0000-0001-6591-037X; Wen Luo 0000-0002-5662-597X.

**S-Editor:** Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

# REFERENCES

- Kolios G, Moodley Y. Introduction to stem cells and regenerative medicine. Respiration 2013; 85: 3-10 [PMID: 23257690 DOI: 10.1159/000345615]
- 2 Brianna, Ling APK, Wong YP. Applying stem cell therapy in intractable diseases: a narrative review of decades of progress and challenges. Stem Cell Investig 2022; 9: 4 [PMID: 36238449 DOI: 10.21037/sci-2022-021]
- Hussain A, Tebyaniyan H, Khayatan D. The Role of Epigenetic in Dental and Oral Regenerative Medicine by Different 3 Types of Dental Stem Cells: A Comprehensive Overview. Stem Cells Int 2022; 2022: 5304860 [PMID: 35721599 DOI: 10.1155/2022/5304860]
- 4 Soudi A, Yazdanian M, Ranjbar R, Tebyanian H, Yazdanian A, Tahmasebi E, Keshvad A, Seifalian A. Role and application of stem cells in dental regeneration: A comprehensive overview. EXCLI J 2021; 20: 454-489 [PMID: 33746673 DOI: 10.17179/excli2021-3335]
- Aydin S, Şahin F. Stem Cells Derived from Dental Tissues. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019; 1144: 123-132 [PMID: 30635857 5 DOI: 10.1007/5584 2018 333]
- Paz AG, Maghaireh H, Mangano FG. Stem Cells in Dentistry: Types of Intra- and Extraoral Tissue-Derived Stem Cells 6 and Clinical Applications. Stem Cells Int 2018; 2018: 4313610 [PMID: 30057624 DOI: 10.1155/2018/4313610]
- 7 Ding DC, Shyu WC, Lin SZ. Mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 2011; 20: 5-14 [PMID: 21396235 DOI: 10.3727/096368910X]
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by 8 defined factors. Cell 2006; 126: 663-676 [PMID: 16904174 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024]
- Jung Y, Bauer G, Nolta JA. Concise review: Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells: progress toward safe clinical products. Stem Cells 2012; 30: 42-47 [PMID: 21898694 DOI: 10.1002/stem.727]
- Gore A, Li Z, Fung HL, Young JE, Agarwal S, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Canto I, Giorgetti A, Israel MA, Kiskinis E, Lee 10 JH, Loh YH, Manos PD, Montserrat N, Panopoulos AD, Ruiz S, Wilbert ML, Yu J, Kirkness EF, Izpisua Belmonte JC, Rossi DJ, Thomson JA, Eggan K, Daley GQ, Goldstein LS, Zhang K. Somatic coding mutations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2011; 471: 63-67 [PMID: 21368825 DOI: 10.1038/nature09805]
- Rouhani FJ, Zou X, Danecek P, Badja C, Amarante TD, Koh G, Wu Q, Memari Y, Durbin R, Martincorena I, Bassett 11 AR, Gaffney D, Nik-Zainal S. Substantial somatic genomic variation and selection for BCOR mutations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Genet 2022; 54: 1406-1416 [PMID: 35953586 DOI: 10.1038/s41588-022-01147-3]
- Garber K. RIKEN suspends first clinical trial involving induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2015; 33: 890-891 12 [PMID: 26348942 DOI: 10.1038/nbt0915-890]
- Han L, He H, Yang Y, Meng Q, Ye F, Chen G, Zhang J. Distinctive Clinical and Pathologic Features of Immature 13 Teratomas Arising from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Beta Cell Injection in a Diabetes Patient. Stem Cells Dev 2022; 31: 97-101 [PMID: 35018826 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2021.0255]
- 14 Cui J, Jin L, Ding M, He J, Yang L, Cui S, Wang X, Ma J, Liu A. Efficacy and safety of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of systemic sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 118 [PMID: 35313985 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02786-3]
- Qu W, Wang Z, Engelberg-Cook E, Yan D, Siddik AB, Bu G, Allickson JG, Kubrova E, Caplan AI, Hare JM, Ricordi C, 15 Pepine CJ, Kurtzberg J, Pascual JM, Mallea JM, Rodriguez RL, Nayfeh T, Saadi S, Durvasula RV, Richards EM, March K, Sanfilippo FP. Efficacy and Safety of MSC Cell Therapies for Hospitalized Patients with COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Stem Cells Transl Med 2022; 11: 688-703 [PMID: 35640138 DOI: 10.1093/stcltm/szac032]
- Wang Y, Yi H, Song Y. The safety of MSC therapy over the past 15 years: a meta-analysis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 16 545 [PMID: 34663461 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02609-x]
- 17 Yang C, Wu M, You M, Chen Y, Luo M, Chen Q. The therapeutic applications of mesenchymal stromal cells from human perinatal tissues in autoimmune diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 103 [PMID: 33541422 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02158-3]



- Lightner AL, Ream J, Nachand D, Fulmer C, Regueiro M, Steele SR. Remestemcel-L allogeneic bone marrow-derived 18 mesenchymal stem cell product to treat medically refractory Crohn's colitis: preliminary phase IB/IIA study. Br J Surg 2022; 109: 653-655 [PMID: 35714218 DOI: 10.1093/bjs/znac078]
- 19 Lian XF, Lu DH, Liu HL, Liu YJ, Han XQ, Yang Y, Lin Y, Zeng QX, Huang ZJ, Xie F, Huang CH, Wu HM, Long AM, Deng LP, Zhang F. Effectiveness and safety of human umbilical cord-mesenchymal stem cells for treating type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes 2022; 13: 877-887 [PMID: 36312002 DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v13.i10.877]
- Kim HJ, Cho KR, Jang H, Lee NK, Jung YH, Kim JP, Lee JI, Chang JW, Park S, Kim ST, Moon SW, Seo SW, Choi SJ, 20 Na DL. Intracerebroventricular injection of human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells in patients with Alzheimer's disease dementia: a phase I clinical trial. Alzheimers Res Ther 2021; 13: 154 [PMID: 3452146] DOI: 10.1186/s13195-021-00897-2
- 21 Aghayan HR, Salimian F, Abedini A, Fattah Ghazi S, Yunesian M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Makarem J, Majidzadeh-A K, Hatamkhani A, Moghri M, Danesh A, Haddad-Marandi MR, Sanati H, Abbasvandi F, Arjmand B, Azimi P, Ghavamzadeh A. Sarrami-Forooshani R. Human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) caused by COVID-19 (phase I clinical trial): safety profile assessment. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 365 [PMID: 35902979 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02953-6]
- Bajek A, Olkowska J, Walentowicz-Sadłecka M, Walentowicz P, Sadłecki P, Grabiec M, Bodnar M, Marszałek A, Dębski R, Porowińska D, Czarnecka J, Kaźmierski Ł, Drewa T. High Quality Independent From a Donor: Human Amniotic Fluid Derived Stem Cells-A Practical Analysis Based on 165 Clinical Cases. J Cell Biochem 2017; 118: 116-126 [PMID: 27261372 DOI: 10.1002/jcb.25618]
- Li S, Li H, Zhangdi H, Xu R, Zhang X, Liu J, Hu Y, Ning D, Jin S. Hair follicle-MSC-derived small extracellular vesicles 23 as a novel remedy for acute pancreatitis. J Control Release 2022; 352: 1104-1115 [PMID: 36402231 DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2022.11.029
- Zhou L, Wang H, Yao S, Li L, Kuang X. Efficacy of Human Adipose Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Promoting 24 Skin Wound Healing. J Healthc Eng 2022; 2022: 6590025 [PMID: 35368914 DOI: 10.1155/2022/6590025]
- 25 Suda S, Nito C, Ihara M, Iguchi Y, Urabe T, Matsumaru Y, Sakai N, Kimura K; J- REPAIR trial group. Randomised placebo-controlled multicentre trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of JTR-161, allogeneic human dental pulp stem cells, in patients with Acute Ischaemic stRoke (J-REPAIR). BMJ Open 2022; 12: e054269 [PMID: 35613802 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054269]
- Poliwoda S, Noor N, Downs E, Schaaf A, Cantwell A, Ganti L, Kaye AD, Mosel LI, Carroll CB, Viswanath O, Urits I. 26 Stem cells: a comprehensive review of origins and emerging clinical roles in medical practice. Orthop Rev (Pavia) 2022; 14: 37498 [PMID: 36034728 DOI: 10.52965/001c.37498]
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo 27 . Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 13625-13630 [PMID: 11087820 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.240309797]
- Zhai Q, Dong Z, Wang W, Li B, Jin Y. Dental stem cell and dental tissue regeneration. Front Med 2019; 13: 152-159 28 [PMID: 29971640 DOI: 10.1007/s11684-018-0628-x]
- 29 Li B, Ouchi T, Cao Y, Zhao Z, Men Y. Dental-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells: State of the Art. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 654559 [PMID: 34239870 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.654559]
- Saito MT, Silvério KG, Casati MZ, Sallum EA, Nociti FH Jr. Tooth-derived stem cells: Update and perspectives. World J 30 Stem Cells 2015; 7: 399-407 [PMID: 25815123 DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v7.i2.399]
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, Liu H, Gronthos S, Wang CY, Wang S, Shi S. Mesenchymal 31 stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. PLoS One 2006; 1: e79 [PMID: 17183711 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000079
- Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, Shi S. SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous 32 teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100: 5807-5812 [PMID: 12716973 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0937635100]
- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M, Robey PG, Wang CY, Shi S. Investigation of 33 multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet 2004; 364: 149-155 [PMID: 15246727 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Zhang Q, Shi S, Liu Y, Uyanne J, Shi Y, Le AD. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human gingiva are capable of 34 immunomodulatory functions and ameliorate inflammation-related tissue destruction in experimental colitis. J Immunol 2009; 183: 7787-7798 [PMID: 19923445 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902318]
- Handa K, Saito M, Yamauchi M, Kiyono T, Sato S, Teranaka T, Sampath Narayanan A. Cementum matrix formation in 35 vivo by cultured dental follicle cells. Bone 2002; 31: 606-611 [PMID: 12477575 DOI: 10.1016/s8756-3282(02)00868-2]
- Bi R, Lyu P, Song Y, Li P, Song D, Cui C, Fan Y. Function of Dental Follicle Progenitor/Stem Cells and Their Potential in 36 Regenerative Medicine: From Mechanisms to Applications. Biomolecules 2021; 11 [PMID: 34356621 DOI: 10.3390/biom11070997
- Ten Cate AR. The development of the periodontium--a largely ectomesenchymally derived unit. Periodontol 2000 1997; 37 **13**: 9-19 [PMID: 9567921 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0757.1997.tb00093.x]
- 38 Shoi K, Aoki K, Ohya K, Takagi Y, Shimokawa H. Characterization of pulp and follicle stem cells from impacted supernumerary maxillary incisors. Pediatr Dent 2014; 36: 79-84 [PMID: 24960375]
- 39 Chen G, Sun Q, Xie L, Jiang Z, Feng L, Yu M, Guo W, Tian W. Comparison of the Odontogenic Differentiation Potential of Dental Follicle, Dental Papilla, and Cranial Neural Crest Cells. J Endod 2015; 41: 1091-1099 [PMID: 25882137 DOI: 10.1016/j.joen.2015.03.003]
- Yildirim S, Zibandeh N, Genc D, Ozcan EM, Goker K, Akkoc T. The Comparison of the Immunologic Properties of Stem 40 Cells Isolated from Human Exfoliated Deciduous Teeth, Dental Pulp, and Dental Follicles. Stem Cells Int 2016; 2016: 4682875 [PMID: 26770205 DOI: 10.1155/2016/4682875]
- Nuñez J, Vignoletti F, Caffesse RG, Sanz M. Cellular therapy in periodontal regeneration. Periodontol 2000 2019; 79: 41 107-116 [PMID: 30892768 DOI: 10.1111/prd.12250]
- Liu J, Ruan J, Weir MD, Ren K, Schneider A, Wang P, Oates TW, Chang X, Xu HHK. Periodontal Bone-Ligament-42 Cementum Regeneration via Scaffolds and Stem Cells. Cells 2019; 8 [PMID: 31167434 DOI: 10.3390/cells8060537]



- Novello S, Debouche A, Philippe M, Naudet F, Jeanne S. Clinical application of mesenchymal stem cells in periodontal 43 regeneration: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Periodontal Res 2020; 55: 1-12 [PMID: 31378933 DOI: 10.1111/jre.12684]
- Yan XZ, Yang F, Jansen JA, de Vries RB, van den Beucken JJ. Cell-Based Approaches in Periodontal Regeneration: A 44 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Periodontal Defect Models in Animal Experimental Work. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2015; 21: 411-426 [PMID: 25929285 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEB.2015.0049]
- Li Q, Yang G, Li J, Ding M, Zhou N, Dong H, Mou Y. Stem cell therapies for periodontal tissue regeneration: a network 45 meta-analysis of preclinical studies. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 427 [PMID: 33008471 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01938-7]
- 46 Flores MG, Hasegawa M, Yamato M, Takagi R, Okano T, Ishikawa I. Cementum-periodontal ligament complex regeneration using the cell sheet technique. J Periodontal Res 2008; 43: 364-371 [PMID: 18205734 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.2007.01046.x]
- Bou-Ghannam S, Kim K, Grainger DW, Okano T. 3D cell sheet structure augments mesenchymal stem cell cytokine 47 production. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 8170 [PMID: 33854167 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-87571-7]
- Guo S, Guo W, Ding Y, Gong J, Zou Q, Xie D, Chen Y, Wu Y, Tian W. Comparative study of human dental follicle cell 48 sheets and periodontal ligament cell sheets for periodontal tissue regeneration. Cell Transplant 2013; 22: 1061-1073 [PMID: 23007138 DOI: 10.3727/096368912X656036]
- Zeichner-David M, Oishi K, Su Z, Zakartchenko V, Chen LS, Arzate H, Bringas P Jr. Role of Hertwig's epithelial root 49 sheath cells in tooth root development. Dev Dyn 2003; 228: 651-663 [PMID: 14648842 DOI: 10.1002/dvdy.10404]
- Bai Y, Bai Y, Matsuzaka K, Hashimoto S, Fukuyama T, Wu L, Miwa T, Liu X, Wang X, Inoue T. Cementum- and periodontal ligament-like tissue formation by dental follicle cell sheets co-cultured with Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells. Bone 2011; 48: 1417-1426 [PMID: 21376148 DOI: 10.1016/j.bone.2011.02.016]
- Guo S, Kang J, Ji B, Guo W, Ding Y, Wu Y, Tian W. Periodontal-Derived Mesenchymal Cell Sheets Promote Periodontal 51 Regeneration in Inflammatory Microenvironment. Tissue Eng Part A 2017; 23: 585-596 [PMID: 28437177 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2016.0334]
- Shi W, Guo S, Liu L, Liu Q, Huo F, Ding Y, Tian W. Small Extracellular Vesicles from Lipopolysaccharide-52 Preconditioned Dental Follicle Cells Promote Periodontal Regeneration in an Inflammatory Microenvironment. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2020; 6: 5797-5810 [PMID: 33320548 DOI: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.0c00882]
- 53 Huang Y, Liu Q, Liu L, Huo F, Guo S, Tian W. Lipopolysaccharide-Preconditioned Dental Follicle Stem Cells Derived Small Extracellular Vesicles Treating Periodontitis via Reactive Oxygen Species/Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling-Mediated Antioxidant Effect. Int J Nanomedicine 2022; 17: 799-819 [PMID: 35228798 DOI: 10.2147/IJN.S350869]
- Sánchez N, Fierravanti L, Núñez J, Vignoletti F, González-Zamora M, Santamaría S, Suárez-Sancho S, Fernández-Santos 54 ME, Figuero E, Herrera D, García-Sanz JA, Sanz M. Periodontal regeneration using a xenogeneic bone substitute seeded with autologous periodontal ligament-derived mesenchymal stem cells: A 12-month quasi-randomized controlled pilot clinical trial. J Clin Periodontol 2020; 47: 1391-1402 [PMID: 32946590 DOI: 10.1111/jcpe.13368]
- Chen FM, Gao LN, Tian BM, Zhang XY, Zhang YJ, Dong GY, Lu H, Chu Q, Xu J, Yu Y, Wu RX, Yin Y, Shi S, Jin Y. 55 Treatment of periodontal intrabony defects using autologous periodontal ligament stem cells: a randomized clinical trial. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016; 7: 33 [PMID: 26895633 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-016-0288-1]
- Tian Y, Bai D, Guo W, Li J, Zeng J, Yang L, Jiang Z, Feng L, Yu M, Tian W. Comparison of human dental follicle cells and human periodontal ligament cells for dentin tissue regeneration. Regen Med 2015; 10: 461-479 [PMID: 26022765 DOI: 10.2217/rme.15.21]
- 57 Hong H, Chen X, Li K, Wang N, Li M, Yang B, Yu X, Wei X. Dental follicle stem cells rescue the regenerative capacity of inflamed rat dental pulp through a paracrine pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 333 [PMID: 32746910 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01841-1]
- Ricucci D, Siqueira JF Jr, Abdelsayed RA, Lio SG, Rôças IN. Bacterial Invasion of Pulp Blood Vessels in Teeth with 58 Symptomatic Irreversible Pulpitis. J Endod 2021; 47: 1854-1864 [PMID: 34597722 DOI: 10.1016/j.joen.2021.09.010]
- Sugiaman VK, Djuanda R, Pranata N, Naliani S, Demolsky WL, Jeffrey. Tissue Engineering with Stem Cell from Human 59 Exfoliated Deciduous Teeth (SHED) and Collagen Matrix, Regulated by Growth Factor in Regenerating the Dental Pulp. Polymers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 36145860 DOI: 10.3390/polym14183712]
- Guan X, Zhou Y, Yang Q, Zhu T, Chen X, Deng S, Zhang D. Vital Pulp Therapy in Permanent Teeth with Irreversible 60 Pulpitis Caused by Caries: A Prospective Cohort Study. J Pers Med 2021; 11 [PMID: 34834477 DOI: 10.3390/jpm11111125]
- Prescott RS, Alsanea R, Fayad MI, Johnson BR, Wenckus CS, Hao J, John AS, George A. In vivo generation of dental 61 pulp-like tissue by using dental pulp stem cells, a collagen scaffold, and dentin matrix protein 1 after subcutaneous transplantation in mice. J Endod 2008; 34: 421-426 [PMID: 18358888 DOI: 10.1016/j.joen.2008.02.005]
- Iohara K, Nakashima M, Ito M, Ishikawa M, Nakasima A, Akamine A. Dentin regeneration by dental pulp stem cell 62 therapy with recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2. J Dent Res 2004; 83: 590-595 [PMID: 15271965 DOI: 10.1177/154405910408300802]
- Iohara K, Murakami M, Takeuchi N, Osako Y, Ito M, Ishizaka R, Utunomiya S, Nakamura H, Matsushita K, Nakashima 63 M. A novel combinatorial therapy with pulp stem cells and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor for total pulp regeneration. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013; 2: 521-533 [PMID: 23761108 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2012-0132]
- Nakashima M, Iohara K, Murakami M, Nakamura H, Sato Y, Ariji Y, Matsushita K. Pulp regeneration by transplantation 64 of dental pulp stem cells in pulpitis: a pilot clinical study. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017; 8: 61 [PMID: 28279187 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-017-0506-5
- Xuan K, Li B, Guo H, Sun W, Kou X, He X, Zhang Y, Sun J, Liu A, Liao L, Liu S, Liu W, Hu C, Shi S, Jin Y. Deciduous 65 autologous tooth stem cells regenerate dental pulp after implantation into injured teeth. Sci Transl Med 2018; 10 [PMID: 30135248 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3227]
- Li R, Guo W, Yang B, Guo L, Sheng L, Chen G, Li Y, Zou Q, Xie D, An X, Chen Y, Tian W. Human treated dentin 66



matrix as a natural scaffold for complete human dentin tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 2011; 32: 4525-4538 [PMID: 21458067 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.03.008]

- Guo W, He Y, Zhang X, Lu W, Wang C, Yu H, Liu Y, Li Y, Zhou Y, Zhou J, Zhang M, Deng Z, Jin Y. The use of dentin 67 matrix scaffold and dental follicle cells for dentin regeneration. Biomaterials 2009; 30: 6708-6723 [PMID: 19767098 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.08.034]
- Yang B, Chen G, Li J, Zou Q, Xie D, Chen Y, Wang H, Zheng X, Long J, Tang W, Guo W, Tian W. Tooth root 68 regeneration using dental follicle cell sheets in combination with a dentin matrix - based scaffold. Biomaterials 2012; 33: 2449-2461 [PMID: 22192537 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.11.074]
- Chen G, Chen J, Yang B, Li L, Luo X, Zhang X, Feng L, Jiang Z, Yu M, Guo W, Tian W. Combination of aligned PLGA/ 69 Gelatin electrospun sheets, native dental pulp extracellular matrix and treated dentin matrix as substrates for tooth root regeneration. Biomaterials 2015; 52: 56-70 [PMID: 25818413 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.02.011]
- 70 Furquim CP, Kumagai RY, Bustillos-Torrez W, Meza-Mauricio J, Tanaka CJ, Santana V, Retamal-Valdes B, Shibli JA. Whole Tooth Regeneration: Can Animal Studies be Translated into Clinical Application? Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2022; 28: 104-112 [PMID: 35172636 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEC.2022.0022]
- 71 Kuo TF, Huang AT, Chang HH, Lin FH, Chen ST, Chen RS, Chou CH, Lin HC, Chiang H, Chen MH. Regeneration of dentin-pulp complex with cementum and periodontal ligament formation using dental bud cells in gelatin-chondroitinhyaluronan tri-copolymer scaffold in swine. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008; 86: 1062-1068 [PMID: 18067171 DOI: 10.1002/jbm.a.31746]
- Duailibi SE, Duailibi MT, Zhang W, Asrican R, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. Bioengineered dental tissues grown in the rat jaw. 72 J Dent Res 2008; 87: 745-750 [PMID: 18650546 DOI: 10.1177/154405910808700811]
- 73 Wang F, Wu Z, Fan Z, Wu T, Wang J, Zhang C, Wang S. The cell re-association-based whole-tooth regeneration strategies in large animal, Sus scrofa. Cell Prolif 2018; 51: e12479 [PMID: 30028040 DOI: 10.1111/cpr.12479]
- Luo X, Yang B, Sheng L, Chen J, Li H, Xie L, Chen G, Yu M, Guo W, Tian W. CAD based design sensitivity analysis 74 and shape optimization of scaffolds for bio-root regeneration in swine. Biomaterials 2015; 57: 59-72 [PMID: 25913251 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.03.062]
- Yang B, Yang X, Luo X, Chen G, Chen J, Huo F, Zhu Z, Tian Y, Guo W, Tian W. Dfcs/tdm based artificial bio-root to 75 obtain long-term functional root regeneration in non-human primate. Chem Eng J 2023; 451: 1-22 [DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2022.138738
- Völlner F, Ernst W, Driemel O, Morsczeck C. A two-step strategy for neuronal differentiation in vitro of human dental 76 follicle cells. Differentiation 2009; 77: 433-441 [PMID: 19394129 DOI: 10.1016/j.diff.2009.03.002]
- Yang C, Li X, Sun L, Guo W, Tian W. Potential of human dental stem cells in repairing the complete transection of rat 77 spinal cord. J Neural Eng 2017; 14: 026005 [PMID: 28085005 DOI: 10.1088/1741-2552/aa596b]
- Yang C, Sun L, Li X, Xie L, Yu M, Feng L, Jiang Z, Guo W, Tian W. The potential of dental stem cells differentiating 78 into neurogenic cell lineage after cultivation in different modes in vitro. Cell Reprogram 2014; 16: 379-391 [PMID: 25072651 DOI: 10.1089/cell.2014.0026]
- Morsczeck C, Völlner F, Saugspier M, Brandl C, Reichert TE, Driemel O, Schmalz G. Comparison of human dental follicle cells (DFCs) and stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) after neural differentiation in vitro. Clin Oral Investig 2010; 14: 433-440 [PMID: 19590907 DOI: 10.1007/s00784-009-0310-4]
- Al-Maswary AA, O'Reilly M, Holmes AP, Walmsley AD, Cooper PR, Scheven BA. Exploring the neurogenic 80 differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells. PLoS One 2022; 17: e0277134 [PMID: 36331951 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0277134]
- McDonald JW, Sadowsky C. Spinal-cord injury. Lancet 2002; 359: 417-425 [PMID: 11844532 DOI: 81 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07603-1]
- Kong X, Gao J. Macrophage polarization: a key event in the secondary phase of acute spinal cord injury. J Cell Mol Med 2017; 21: 941-954 [PMID: 27957787 DOI: 10.1111/jcmm.13034]
- Yang R, Pan J, Wang Y, Xia P, Tai M, Jiang Z, Chen G. Application and prospects of somatic cell reprogramming 83 technology for spinal cord injury treatment. Front Cell Neurosci 2022; 16: 1005399 [PMID: 36467604 DOI: 10.3389/fncel.2022.1005399
- Yasuda A, Tsuji O, Shibata S, Nori S, Takano M, Kobayashi Y, Takahashi Y, Fujiyoshi K, Hara CM, Miyawaki A, Okano 84 HJ, Toyama Y, Nakamura M, Okano H. Significance of remyelination by neural stem/progenitor cells transplanted into the injured spinal cord. Stem Cells 2011; 29: 1983-1994 [PMID: 22028197 DOI: 10.1002/stem.767]
- Sakai K, Yamamoto A, Matsubara K, Nakamura S, Naruse M, Yamagata M, Sakamoto K, Tauchi R, Wakao N, Imagama 85 S, Hibi H, Kadomatsu K, Ishiguro N, Ueda M. Human dental pulp-derived stem cells promote locomotor recovery after complete transection of the rat spinal cord by multiple neuro-regenerative mechanisms. J Clin Invest 2012; 122: 80-90 [PMID: 22133879 DOI: 10.1172/JCI59251]
- Li X, Yang C, Li L, Xiong J, Xie L, Yang B, Yu M, Feng L, Jiang Z, Guo W, Tian W. A therapeutic strategy for spinal 86 cord defect: human dental follicle cells combined with aligned PCL/PLGA electrospun material. Biomed Res Int 2015; 2015: 197183 [PMID: 25695050 DOI: 10.1155/2015/197183]
- Hayes MT. Parkinson's Disease and Parkinsonism. Am J Med 2019; 132: 802-807 [PMID: 30890425 DOI: 87 10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.03.001]
- 88 Jankovic J. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2008; 79: 368-376 [PMID: 18344392 DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.131045]
- Lin G, Wang L, Marcogliese PC, Bellen HJ. Sphingolipids in the Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease and Parkinsonism. 89 Trends Endocrinol Metab 2019; 30: 106-117 [PMID: 30528460 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2018.11.003]
- 90 Lees AJ, Hardy J, Revesz T. Parkinson's disease. Lancet 2009; 373: 2055-2066 [PMID: 19524782 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60492-X]
- Mursaleen LR, Stamford JA. Drugs of abuse and Parkinson's disease. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 91 2016; 64: 209-217 [PMID: 25816790 DOI: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.03.013]
- Parkes JD, Baxter RC, Marsden CD, Rees JE. Comparative trial of benzhexol, amantadine, and levodopa in the treatment 92



of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1974; 37: 422-426 [PMID: 4838913 DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.37.4.422]

- 93 Andrzejewska A, Dabrowska S, Lukomska B, Janowski M. Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Neurological Disorders. Adv Sci (Weinh) 2021; 8: 2002944 [PMID: 33854883 DOI: 10.1002/advs.202002944]
- Staff NP, Jones DT, Singer W. Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Therapies for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Mayo Clin Proc 94 2019; 94: 892-905 [PMID: 31054608 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.01.001]
- 95 Chi K, Fu RH, Huang YC, Chen SY, Hsu CJ, Lin SZ, Tu CT, Chang LH, Wu PA, Liu SP. Adipose-derived Stem Cells Stimulated with n-Butylidenephthalide Exhibit Therapeutic Effects in a Mouse Model of Parkinson's Disease. Cell Transplant 2018; 27: 456-470 [PMID: 29756519 DOI: 10.1177/0963689718757408]
- Chen D, Fu W, Zhuang W, Lv C, Li F, Wang X. Therapeutic effects of intranigral transplantation of mesenchymal stem 96 cells in rat models of Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci Res 2017; 95: 907-917 [PMID: 27617772 DOI: 10.1002/jnr.23879]
- Mathieu P, Roca V, Gamba C, Del Pozo A, Pitossi F. Neuroprotective effects of human umbilical cord mesenchymal 97 stromal cells in an immunocompetent animal model of Parkinson's disease. J Neuroimmunol 2012; 246: 43-50 [PMID: 22458982 DOI: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.03.004]
- 98 Zhang N, Lu X, Wu S, Li X, Duan J, Chen C, Wang W, Song H, Tong J, Li S, Liu Y, Kang X, Wang X, Han F. Intrastriatal transplantation of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth reduces motor defects in Parkinsonian rats. Cytotherapy 2018; 20: 670-686 [PMID: 29576501 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.02.371]
- Bi F, Xiong J, Han X, Yang C, Li X, Chen G, Guo W, Tian W. Dental follicle cells show potential for treating Parkinson's 99 disease through dopaminergic-neuronogenic differentiation. Hum Cell 2022; 35: 1708-1721 [PMID: 36040643 DOI: 10.1007/s13577-022-00774-6]
- 100 Wang D, Wang Y, Tian W, Pan J. Advances of tooth-derived stem cells in neural diseases treatments and nerve tissue regeneration. Cell Prolif 2019; 52: e12572 [PMID: 30714230 DOI: 10.1111/cpr.12572]
- 101 Nagpal A, Kremer KL, Hamilton-Bruce MA, Kaidonis X, Milton AG, Levi C, Shi S, Carey L, Hillier S, Rose M, Zacest A, Takhar P, Koblar SA. TOOTH (The Open study Of dental pulp stem cell Therapy in Humans): Study protocol for evaluating safety and feasibility of autologous human adult dental pulp stem cell therapy in patients with chronic disability after stroke. Int J Stroke 2016; 11: 575-585 [PMID: 27030504 DOI: 10.1177/1747493016641111]
- Shi Y, Wang Y, Li Q, Liu K, Hou J, Shao C. Immunoregulatory mechanisms of mesenchymal stem and stromal cells in 102 inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Nephrol 2018; 14: 493-507 [PMID: 29895977 DOI: 10.1038/s41581-018-0023-5]
- Chen X, Yang B, Tian J, Hong H, Du Y, Li K, Li X, Wang N, Yu X, Wei X. Dental Follicle Stem Cells Ameliorate 103 Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation by Secreting TGF-β3 and TSP-1 to Elicit Macrophage M2 Polarization. Cell Physiol Biochem 2018; 51: 2290-2308 [PMID: 30537736 DOI: 10.1159/000495873]
- 104 Zibandeh N, Genç D, İnanç GN, Direskeneli RH, Akkoç T. IFN-y stimulated dental follicle mesenchymal stem cells regulate activated lymphocyte response in rheumatoid arthritis patients in vitro. Turk J Med Sci 2019; 49: 1779-1788 [PMID: 31655532 DOI: 10.3906/sag-1812-152]
- Zibandeh N, Genc D, Duran Y, Banzragch M, Sokwala S, Goker K, Atug O, Akkoç T. Human dental follicle 105 mesenchymal stem cells alleviate T cell response in inflamed tissue of Crohn's patients. Turk J Gastroenterol 2020; 31: 400-409 [PMID: 32519960 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2020.19358]
- Arora V, Arora P, Munshi AK. Banking stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED): saving for the future. 106 J Clin Pediatr Dent 2009; 33: 289-294 [PMID: 19725233 DOI: 10.17796/jcpd.33.4.y887672r0j703654]
- Park BW, Jang SJ, Byun JH, Kang YH, Choi MJ, Park WU, Lee WJ, Rho GJ. Cryopreservation of human dental follicle tissue for use as a resource of autologous mesenchymal stem cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017; 11: 489-500 [PMID: 25052907 DOI: 10.1002/term.1945]
- Kang YH, Lee HJ, Jang SJ, Byun JH, Lee JS, Lee HC, Park WU, Lee JH, Rho GJ, Park BW. Immunomodulatory 108 properties and in vivo osteogenesis of human dental stem cells from fresh and cryopreserved dental follicles. Differentiation 2015; 90: 48-58 [PMID: 26493125 DOI: 10.1016/j.diff.2015.10.001]
- Yang H, Li J, Sun J, Guo W, Li H, Chen J, Hu Y, Tian W, Li S. Cells isolated from cryopreserved dental follicle display 109 similar characteristics to cryopreserved dental follicle cells. Cryobiology 2017; 78: 47-55 [PMID: 28716597 DOI: 10.1016/j.crvobiol.2017.07.003
- Ding G, Liu Y, Wang W, Wei F, Liu D, Fan Z, An Y, Zhang C, Wang S. Allogeneic periodontal ligament stem cell 110 therapy for periodontitis in swine. Stem Cells 2010; 28: 1829-1838 [PMID: 20979138 DOI: 10.1002/stem.512]
- Jiao L, Xie L, Yang B, Yu M, Jiang Z, Feng L, Guo W, Tian W. Cryopreserved dentin matrix as a scaffold material for 111 dentin-pulp tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 2014; 35: 4929-4939 [PMID: 24680189 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.03.016]
- Yamada Y, Nakamura-Yamada S, Konoki R, Baba S. Promising advances in clinical trials of dental tissue-derived cell-112 based regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 175 [PMID: 32398041 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01683-x]
- Ferrarotti F, Romano F, Gamba MN, Quirico A, Giraudi M, Audagna M, Aimetti M. Human intrabony defect 113 regeneration with micrografts containing dental pulp stem cells: A randomized controlled clinical trial. J Clin Periodontol 2018; 45: 841-850 [PMID: 29779220 DOI: 10.1111/jcpe.12931]
- Yang C, Chen Y, Zhong L, You M, Yan Z, Luo M, Zhang B, Yang B, Chen Q. Homogeneity and heterogeneity of 114 biological characteristics in mesenchymal stem cells from human umbilical cords and exfoliated deciduous teeth. Biochem Cell Biol 2020; 98: 415-425 [PMID: 31794246 DOI: 10.1139/bcb-2019-0253]
- Kanao S, Ogura N, Takahashi K, Ito K, Suemitsu M, Kuyama K, Kondoh T. Capacity of Human Dental Follicle Cells to 115 Differentiate into Neural Cells In vitro. Stem Cells Int 2017; 2017: 8371326 [PMID: 28261273 DOI: 10.1155/2017/8371326]
- 116 Heng BC, Lim LW, Wu W, Zhang C. An Overview of Protocols for the Neural Induction of Dental and Oral Stem Cells In vitro. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2016; 22: 220-250 [PMID: 26757369 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEB.2015.0488]
- 117 Zhang J, Ding H, Liu X, Sheng Y, Jiang C. Dental Follicle Stem Cells: Tissue Engineering and Immunomodulation. Stem Cells Dev 2019; 28: 986-994 [PMID: 30968740 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2019.0012]
- Genç D, Zibandeh N, Nain E, Gökalp M, Özen AO, Göker MK, Akkoç T. Dental follicle mesenchymal stem cells down-118 regulate Th2-mediated immune response in asthmatic patients mononuclear cells. Clin Exp Allergy 2018; 48: 663-678



[PMID: 29498435 DOI: 10.1111/cea.13126]

- 119 Mori G, Ballini A, Carbone C, Oranger A, Brunetti G, Di Benedetto A, Rapone B, Cantore S, Di Comite M, Colucci S, Grano M, Grassi FR. Osteogenic differentiation of dental follicle stem cells. Int J Med Sci 2012; 9: 480-487 [PMID: 22927773 DOI: 10.7150/ijms.4583]
- 120 Pan K, Sun Q, Zhang J, Ge S, Li S, Zhao Y, Yang P. Multilineage differentiation of dental follicle cells and the roles of Runx2 over-expression in enhancing osteoblast/cementoblast-related gene expression in dental follicle cells. Cell Prolif 2010; 43: 219-228 [PMID: 20546240 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2184.2010.00670.x]
- Abdal-Wahab M, Abdel Ghaffar KA, Ezzatt OM, Hassan AAA, El Ansary MMS, Gamal AY. Regenerative potential of 121 cultured gingival fibroblasts in treatment of periodontal intrabony defects (randomized clinical and biochemical trial). J Periodontal Res 2020; 55: 441-452 [PMID: 32080858 DOI: 10.1111/jre.12728]
- Apatzidou DA, Bakopoulou AA, Kouzi-Koliakou K, Karagiannis V, Konstantinidis A. A tissue-engineered biocomplex 122 for periodontal reconstruction. A proof-of-principle randomized clinical study. J Clin Periodontol 2021; 48: 1111-1125 [PMID: 33899259 DOI: 10.1111/jcpe.13474]
- Wu J, Jin F, Tang L, Yu J, Xu L, Yang Z, Wu G, Duan Y, Jin Y. Dentin non-collagenous proteins (dNCPs) can stimulate 123 dental follicle cells to differentiate into cementoblast lineages. Biol Cell 2008; 100: 291-302 [PMID: 18042041 DOI: 10.1042/BC20070092]
- 124 Felthaus O, Ernst W, Driemel O, Reichert TE, Schmalz G, Morsczeck C. TGF-beta stimulates glial-like differentiation in murine dental follicle precursor cells (mDFPCs). Neurosci Lett 2010; 471: 179-184 [PMID: 20100544 DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.01.037
- Meng M, Chen Y, Chen X, Zhang Q, Guo W, Zhou X, Zou J. IL-1a Regulates Osteogenesis and Osteoclastic Activity of 125 Dental Follicle Cells Through JNK and p38 MAPK Pathways. Stem Cells Dev 2020; 29: 1552-1566 [PMID: 33107399 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2020.0118]
- 126 Yang H, Li J, Hu Y, Sun J, Guo W, Li H, Chen J, Huo F, Tian W, Li S. Treated dentin matrix particles combined with dental follicle cell sheet stimulate periodontal regeneration. Dent Mater 2019; 35: 1238-1253 [PMID: 31201017 DOI: 10.1016/j.dental.2019.05.016
- 127 Lanzillotti C, De Mattei M, Mazziotta C, Taraballi F, Rotondo JC, Tognon M, Martini F. Long Non-coding RNAs and MicroRNAs Interplay in Osteogenic Differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 646032 [PMID: 33898434 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.646032]



С WJS

# World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 150-164

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.150

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Current status and prospects of basic research and clinical application of mesenchymal stem cells in acute respiratory distress syndrome

Tian-Yu Liang, Li-Hai Lu, Si-Yu Tang, Zi-Hao Zheng, Kai Shi, Jing-Quan Liu

<b>Specialty type:</b> Cell and tissue engineering	Tian-Yu Liang, Jing-Quan Liu, Emergency and Critical Care Center, Intensive Care Unit, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital (Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College), Hangzhou 310014, Zhejiang Province, China
<b>Provenance and peer review:</b> Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Li-Hai Lu, Zi-Hao Zheng, Fourth School of Clinical Medicine, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou 310053, Zhejiang Province, China
Peer-review model: Single blind	<b>Si-Yu Tang</b> , The Second School of Clinical Medicine, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou 310053, Zhejiang Province, China
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification Grade A (Excellent): 0	Kai Shi, Department of Respiratory Medicine, The Affiliated Hospital of Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou 310015, Zhejiang Province, China
Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0	<b>Corresponding author:</b> Jing-Quan Liu, MD, Doctor, Emergency and Critical Care Center, Intensive Care Unit, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital (Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College), No. 158 Shangtang Road, Gongshu District, Hangzhou 310014, Zhejiang Province, China. liujqaticu@163.com
<b>P-Reviewer:</b> Prasetyo EP,	
Indonesia; Scuteri A, Italy; Ventura C, Italy	Abstract
Received: December 20, 2022 Peer-review started: December 20, 2022	Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is a common and clinically devastating disease that causes respiratory failure. Morbidity and mortality of patients in intensive care units are stubbornly high, and various complications severely affect the quality of life of survivors. The pathophysiology of ARDS
First decision: January 6, 2023	includes increased alveolar-capillary membrane permeability, an influx of
Revised: January 20, 2023	protein-rich pulmonary edema fluid, and surfactant dysfunction leading to severe
Accepted: March 20, 2023	hypoxemia. At present, the main treatment for ARDS is mechanical treatment
Article in press: March 20, 2023	combined with diuretics to reduce pulmonary edema, which primarily improves

Article in press: March 20, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



symptoms, but the prognosis of patients with ARDS is still very poor. Mesen-

chymal stem cells (MSCs) are stromal cells that possess the capacity to self-renew and also exhibit multilineage differentiation. MSCs can be isolated from a variety of tissues, such as the umbilical cord, endometrial polyps, menstrual blood, bone marrow, and adipose tissues. Studies have confirmed the critical healing and immunomodulatory properties of MSCs in the treatment of a variety of diseases. Recently, the potential of stem cells in treating ARDS has been explored via basic research and clinical trials. The efficacy of MSCs has been shown in a variety of in vivo models of ARDS, reducing bacterial pneumonia and ischemia-reperfusion injury while promoting the repair of ventilator-induced lung injury. This article reviews the current basic research findings and clinical applications of MSCs in the treatment of ARDS in order to emphasize the clinical prospects of MSCs.

Key Words: Acute respiratory distress syndrome; Mesenchymal stem cells; Pulmonary edema; Inflammatory response; Tissue repair; Pulmonary fibrosis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Acute respiratory disease syndrome (ARDS) is a common disease with high morbidity and mortality. ARDS is characterized by increased alveolar-capillary membrane permeability, influx of protein-rich pulmonary edema fluid, and surfactant dysfunction, resulting in severe hypoxemia. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have the self-renewal and multilineage differentiation properties, and their immunomodulatory abilities have been implicated in the treatment of disease. Herein, we discuss the pathophysiology of ARDS and recent research surrounding the clinical application of MSCs in the treatment of ARDS.

Citation: Liang TY, Lu LH, Tang SY, Zheng ZH, Shi K, Liu JQ. Current status and prospects of basic research and clinical application of mesenchymal stem cells in acute respiratory distress syndrome. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 150-164

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/150.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.150

## INTRODUCTION

#### Acute respiratory distress syndrome

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is a clinicopathological condition characterized by increased lung fluid, decreased lung compliance, and severe hypoxemia [1,2]. ARDS was defined in 1994 by the American-European Consensus Conference[3]. After several decades of research and discussions, the current internationally recognized definition of ARDS is the Berlin definition which proposes three categories of ARDS based on the severity of hypoxemia: Mild [200 mmHg < arterial oxygen pressure (PaO<sub>2</sub>)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO<sub>2</sub>) < 300 mmHg], moderate (100 mmHg < PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> < 200 mmHg), and severe ( $PaO_2/FiO_2 < 100$  mmHg), along with explicit criteria related to the timing of the syndrome's onset, the origin of edema, and chest radiograph findings[4-6]. The pathogenesis of ARDS is characterized by an unregulated inflammatory cascade with increased pulmonary endothelial and epithelial permeability[7]. Endogenous chemicals and microbial products linked to cell injury are hypothesized to attach to receptors on epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages, triggering an immunological response. The unrestricted synthesis of reactive oxygen species, leukocyte proteases, chemokines, and inflammatory substances that results to gradual lung damage. The immune-mediated reaction is known as a "cytokine storm"[8,9]. The pathophysiological changes that occur during the development of ARDS are shown in Figure 1. Currently, the clinical treatment of ARDS is rather limited and is mainly based on organ function support, such as lung protective ventilation, liver and kidney function protection, gastrointestinal function protection, venous thrombosis prevention, and nutritional support [10]. Despite the profound understanding of the molecular mechanism of ARDS, improvement of pulmonary ventilation strategies, and strengthening of supportive care for critically ill patients, the prognosis of patients with ARDS is still unsatisfactory. Currently, the global mortality rate of ARDS exceeds 40%, whilst 6%-10% of patients with respiratory failure may develop ARDS in the emergency room[11]. The long-term sequelae of ARDS include long-term cognitive impairment, psychological disease, neuromuscular weakness, pulmonary dysfunction, and decline in quality of life because of long-term medical expenses[12]. Therefore, new and safer therapies are urgently needed for ARDS treatment.

#### Mesenchymal stem cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) were first described by Friedenstein et al[13], as an adherent, fibroblastlike cell population in the bone marrow (BM) that could regenerate rudiments of bone in vivo[13,14]. After decades of research, it has been found that MSCs are present in a variety of tissues and organs and can also differentiate into a variety of cells to play related roles (Figure 2)[15,16]. However, the understanding of MSCs is still inadequate. MSCs were officially defined by the International Society of Cell Therapy in 2006 as follows: (1) MSCs must display plastic-adherent capacities; (2) A simultaneous



Liang TY et al. MSCs therapy for ARDS



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.150 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Following acute lung injury, pulmonary vascular macrophages produce chemokines to increase vascular permeability, resulting in neutrophil aggregation. Neutrophils reach the pulmonary interstitium and alveolar space and release proteases, cytokines, and other harmful substances to destroy the alveolar microstructure, leading to cell dysfunction and eventually causing exudates and lung fluid to enter the alveolar space, resulting in the development of pulmonary fibrosis. Additionally, the disorder of pulmonary vascular coagulation and fibrinolysis caused by inflammation leads to pulmonary vascular microthrombosis, which is also one of the causes of pulmonary edema.

> expression of stromal markers, an absence of hematopoietic or endothelial markers and human leukocyte antigen-DR surface molecules; and (3) An in vitro differentiation potential for osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts[17,18]. The method of obtaining and culturing MSCs is simpler than other stem cells, and MSCs have broad application prospects in a variety of inflammatory-related diseases because of their unique immunomodulatory properties[19].

> MSCs are considered a new approach for the treatment of ADRS[20]. The mechanism of MSCs in the treatment of ARDS is multifaceted, and the immunomodulatory effect of MSCs is a crucial aspect of it (Figure 3). At present, the collective view of the immune regulation ability of MSCs is based on the secretion of cytokines, such as tumor growth factor (TGF)-β and tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6 [21]. By releasing a variety of cytokines and extracellular vesicles (EVs), MSCs play anti-inflammatory and anti-cell death roles and promote the generation of microcirculation, thereby promoting the clearance of bacteria and alveolar fluid, alleviating organ damage, thus alleviating ARDS-related symptoms[22-24].

# CURRENT BASIC RESEARCH FOR THE USE OF MSCS IN ARDS TREATMENT

# Immunoregulation ability of MSCs in ARDS

The hallmark of ARDS is a series of inflammatory responses. Uncontrollable inflammatory responses are known to cause catastrophic damage to various organs<sup>[25]</sup>. MSCs are pluripotent stem cells with immune properties that can secrete a variety of cytokines, such as anti-inflammatory factors, antiapoptotic factors, and antimicrobial peptides[26-28]. MSCs regulate immune activity via three different mechanisms: (1) Direct contact with tissue cells; (2) Production of a series of cytokines to regulate cell activities; and (3) Exerting immune effects by regulating the activity of T cells[29-31]. Currently, the MSC treatment of ARDS is mediated by controlling inflammatory responses. Therefore, the related mechanisms have become a hot research topic, and new research findings are constantly emerging, which introduce new views.





Figure 2 Mesenchymal stem cells can be derived from a variety of cell types and can differentiate into different types of cells to play specific roles. In the pathological process of acute respiratory distress syndrome, mesenchymal stem cells can act on a variety of cells to play a protective role. MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; DC: Dendritic cell.

MSCs regulate the immune activity of the dendritic cells: Conventional dendritic cells (cDCs) are unique antigen-presenting cells that bridge antigen immunity and innate immunity and can be activated by MSCs as regulatory DCs[32,33]. An existing study has shown that after lung injury induced by lipopolysaccharide, a large number of DCs accumulate in the lungs, which in turn aggravates lung inflammation and lung injury[34]. The underlying mechanism may involve the polarization of the Thelper cell (Th) 1 response and regulating neutrophil infiltration[35,36]. The aggregation of cDCs can lead to the activation of the Th1 pathway and aggravate the inflammatory response. At the same time, cDCs can also recruit neutrophils, prolong the life of neutrophils, upregulate innate immunity, and further intensify the inflammatory response [37,38]. MSCs also abolish the capacity of mDCs to migrate to chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 19, for DCs to display major histocompatibility complex class II peptide complexes recognized by specific antibodies, and for ovalbumin-pulsed DCs to support antigen-specific CD4+ T-cell proliferation[39].

Additionally, many studies have shown that MSC-EVs play key roles in the pathogenesis and progression of acute lung injury (ALI)/ARDS[40]. One of the underlying mechanisms may involve the potential impairment of antigen uptake, which may halt DC maturation[41]. MSC-EVs from the human BM may regulate the levels of maturation and activation markers (CD83, CD38, and CD80) and inflammatory cytokines [interleukin (IL)-6, IL-12p70, and TGF-β] in vitro via regulating the CCR7 gene by carrying miR-21-5p[42]. Additionally, the emerging role of MSC-EVs in facilitating pulmonary epithelium repair, rescuing mitochondrial dysfunction, and restoring pulmonary vascular leakage has been shown[43,44]. Therefore, regulating the maturation of DC cells in the early stage of lung injury can effectively alleviate secondary lung injury<sup>[45]</sup> (Table 1).

MSCs induce the activation of macrophages: Alveolar macrophages are guardians of the alveoli and airways, and interstitial macrophages are guardians of blood vessels and the lung interstitium [46]. After lung injury, tissue monocyte-derived macrophages accumulate and have increased viability in the lungs, and persist at the lesion for a long time after lung injury [47]. Macrophages respond in a variety of ways, including modulation of function (activation), the release of inflammatory chemical mediators that control immune cell recruitment, and the modulation of epithelial responses<sup>[48]</sup>. Macrophages can be divided into two phenotypes based on their functions, the M1 type in resting states and the M2 type in the activated state<sup>[49]</sup>. M1-type macrophages can secrete a variety of cytokines and participate in many processes including pro-inflammatory, pro-apoptosis, free radical formation, and matrix degradation pathways, while M2-type macrophages play a role in anti-inflammatory and anti-cell death



Table 1 Recent studies on the mechanism of mesenchymal stem cell action in acute respiratory distress syndrome					
Ref.	Time	Animal/cell line	Interference	Pathway	Conclusion/main effect
Zhang <i>et al</i> [112]	2022	C-mice	Human dermal fibroblasts or MSCs were intravenously	САР	MSC treatment significantly protects mice against bacterial pneumonia or LPS-induced lung injury <i>via</i> the CAP pathway. When the CAP was inhibited through vagotomy (VGX) and pharmacological and genetic ablation experiments, the anti-inflammatory effects of MSCs were markedly reduced in lung injury models
Kakabadze <i>et al</i> [113]	2022	Wistar rats	HPMSCs	-	HPMSCs have the ability to migrate and attach to damaged lung tissue, contributing to the resolution of pathology, restoration of function, and tissue repair in the alveolar space
Wang et al[ <mark>114</mark> ]	2022	C-mice	Human placental MSCs	Macrophage polarization pathway	Human PMSC treatment preferentially rescued resident M2 AMΦs over recruited M1 BMMΦs with overall M2 polarization to improve KP-related ARDS survival
Wang et al[115]	2022	SD rats	LRMSC/HMSC- C/HMSC-BM	-	Three kinds of LRMSC, HMSC-C and HMSC-BM are protective against LPS-induced lung injury, HMSC-C was more effective than LRMSC and HMSC-BM to treat LPS-induced lung injury
Zhang et al [116]	2022	C-mice	MSC derived microvesicles	KEGG pathway and GO function	MSV microvesicles treatment was involved in alleviated lung injury and promoting lung tissue repair by dysregulated miRNAs
Xu et al <mark>[60]</mark>	2022	BALB/c mice	Umbilical cord-derived MSCs	-	Transplantation of UC-MSCs transfected with SP-B could potentiate M2 macrophage polarization and further relieve LPS-stimulated lung injury
Xue <i>et al</i> [117]	2022	C-mice	Bone marrow-derived MSC	-	TGF- $\beta$ 1 from MSCs restored skewed Treg/Th17 levels induced by hypoxic- and LPS-stimulated conditions and reduced inflammation
He <i>et al</i> [118]	2022	Hnsclc cell line A549 (ATCC, CCL-185)	MSCs	CXCL12/CXCR4 signal axis	<i>In vivo</i> transplantation of MSCs significantly attenuated lung injury in ARDS, inhibited serum pro- inflammatory factors in mice, and down-regulated expression of apoptotic and focal factors in lung tissues
Zhang et al [ <mark>119</mark> ]	2022	C-mice	Mouse bone marrow- derived MSCs	Wnt/β-catenin transition signaling	MVs released from MSCs exerted protective effects on early fibrosis by suppressing EMT in LPS-induced ARDS
Meng et al[120]	2021	-	MSCs derived from normal mouse bone marrow	Akt/Mtor signaling	MTORC2 like mTORC1 as an important signaling of regulation of MSC-secreted HGF protective against LPS-induced lung endothelial dysfunction
Ishii et al[ <mark>121</mark> ]	2021	Adult male Fischer 344 rats	Adipose-derived MSCs	-	AD-MSCs enhanced the barrier function between lung epithelial cells, suggesting that both direct adhesion and indirect paracrine effects strengthened the barrier function of lung alveolar epithelium <i>in</i> <i>vitro</i>
Wang et al[122]	2021	C-mice	Bone MSCs	Vimentin-Rab7a pathway	MSCs can reach the damaged lung tissue through migration, reduce inflammatory responses and alleviate lung injury
Liu et al[123]	2021	SD rats	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell	Beclin-1	BMSC-derived exosomes were taken up by the alveolar macrophages and attenuated LPS-induced alveolar macrophage viability loss and apoptosis. Exosomes effectively improved the survival rate of ALI rats, which was associated with alleviating lung pathological changes pulmonary vascular permeability and attenuating inflammatory response

C-mice: C57BL/6 mice; CAP: Cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway; HPMSCs: Human placental mesenchymal stem cells; PMSCs: Placental MSCs; AMΦs: Alveolar macrophage; BMMΦ: Bone marrow-recruited macrophage; Hnsclc: Human non-small cell lung cancer; KP: Klebsiella pneumonia; LRMSC: Lung resident MSC; HMSC-C: Human chorion-derived MSC; HMSC-BM: Human bone marrow derived MSC; KEGG: Kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes; GO: Gene ontology; SP-B: Surfactant protein B; AD-MSC: Adipose tissue-derived MSC; EMT: Epithelial-mesenchymal transition; SD: Sprague-Dawley; mTOR: Mammalian TOR; ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome; ALI: Acute lung injury; TGF-\$1: Tumor growth factor-\$1.

> processes during the inflammatory response, and promote angiogenesis and tissue repair[50-52]. The transformation of the M1/M2 phenotype helps subside the inflammatory response and alleviate tissue

Gaisbideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.150 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 The main mechanism of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for acute respiratory distress syndrome. Mesenchymal stem cell can treat acute respiratory distress syndrome by regulating inflammatory response, reducing pulmonary edema, alleviating pulmonary fibrosis, and promoting tissue repair. MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell.

damage. In ARDS, this balance can effectively remove harmful substances and pro-inflammatory factors from the body and promote lung tissue repair. Conversely, the destruction of this balance aggravates the pathological development of ARDS. Studies have shown that MSCs can control the pathological development of ARDS by regulating the polarization of macrophages and effectively promoting the repair process in ARDS[53]. Basic studies have shown that MSC treatment reduces the expression of CD86 on macrophages in the ALI models, indicating that MSCs can inhibit the transformation of macrophages to the M1 phenotype[54]. Several mechanisms of MSCs have been described, such as: (1) MSCS can promote the phenotypic transformation of macrophages through paracrine secretion of soluble cytokines[55]; (2) MSCS promotes macrophage polarization through exosomes[51]; (3) Metabolic Reprogramming[56]; (4) MSCS regulate mitochondrial transfer[57]; and (5) Apoptotic and efferocytosis effects[58]. The involved signaling pathways are as follows: (1) The nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2/ heme oxygenase-1 signaling pathway[59]; (2) The Notch signaling pathway; (3) The Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling pathway[60]; and (4) The nuclear factor-kappa B signaling pathway[61].

**MSCs regulate the T-cell balance:** Imbalances between regulatory T cells (Tregs) and IL-17-producing Th17 are a sign of the development of inflammatory response in ARDS[62,63]. The main function of Th17 cells is to promote inflammation, release inflammatory factors, and play an important role in autoimmune diseases. Fortunately, they are precisely regulated by regulatory cells[64]. However, Treg cells can release anti-inflammatory factors (IL-4 and IL-10), control the inflammatory reaction process, and induce tissue damage repair[65,66]. Previous studies have shown that Tregs transferred into ALI animals can reduce the level of alveolar pro-inflammatory cytokines and inhibit neutrophil apoptosis and fibroblast recruitment[67,68]. A recent study also showed that a proportion of Th17 cells and Tregs > 0.79 was an independent predictor of 28-d mortality in patients with ARDS[62]. Therefore, maintaining the balance of Tregs and Th17 cells is crucial for patients with ARDS.

Existing studies indicated that, *in vitro*, MSCs repress the Th17 molecular program through the programmed cell death protein 1 pathway, prevent the differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells into Th17 cells, inhibit the production of inflammatory cytokines by Th17 cells, and induce Treg phenotype[69-71]. A study has shown that TGF- $\beta$ 1, as the main paracrine cytokine of MSCs, can significantly regulate the transformation of T cells into Tregs, disturb the Th17/Treg balance, and significantly contribute to the control of inflammatory response in ARDS[72]. It is also reported that MSCs can prevent the initial differentiation of CD4+ T cells into Th17 cells, inhibit the generation of inflammation, and induce the

aishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

generation of Tregs in vitro [73]. Several experiments have proved that controlling the level of Th17/Treg is the key to MSC-mediated control of the inflammatory response in ARDS. Therefore, it is extremely critical to find a method to regulate this balance, which may be the basis for a revolutionary breakthrough in the treatment of ARDS.

#### MSCs promote tissue repair

Lung epithelial cell and endothelial cell damage and the exudation of highly concentrated protein fluid are the basic pathological changes in ARDS. Therefore, the treatment of ARDS requires a combination of a lung-protective ventilation strategy and fluid manipulation[74]. The immediate effect of these strategies is that MSCs can directly participate in the reconstruction of lung injury by migrating to the site of lung injury, but this aspect has less impact on ARDS injury repair[75]. Evidence shows that MSCs can be directly transformed into type II alveolar epithelial cells to support the role of injured cells<sup>[74]</sup>. Meanwhile, cell-to-cell contact also provides a prerequisite for the control of inflammatory responses [76]. The formation and tissue damage of pulmonary edema is also related to the dysfunction of the pulmonary vascular system. The increased permeability of pulmonary capillaries leads to a series of serious consequences, such as the exudation of a variety of cells and cytokines and the formation of intravascular microthrombosis. Studies have shown that MSCs can also enhance the barrier system of the pulmonary vascular system, which is beneficial for promoting the repair of lung tissue[77]. Hepatocyte growth factor, angiopoietin-1, and keratinocyte growth factor secreted by MSCs can improve vascular endothelial barrier function [78-82]. Genetic engineering in situ has shown that MSCs could promote the potential of pulmonary angiogenesis[83]. Therefore, various results have shown that MSCs could inhibit pulmonary edema and also provide the basis for the regeneration of lung tissue.

# Alleviation of pulmonary fibrosis

The cellular basis of the lung is composed of alveoli, various types of parenchymal cells, and BMderived cells[84]. The interaction between various cells is crucial for maintaining the basic functions of the lungs<sup>[85]</sup>. Although lung protective ventilation strategies have been applied in clinical practice, ARDS survivors still have related health problems, and some patients develop fibroproliferative responses characterized by fibroblast accumulation and deposition of collagen and other extracellular matrix components in the lungs[86]. After ALI, vascular permeability increases, plasma exudates, and protein fluid aggregates, leading to pulmonary edema. Inflammatory factors from the coagulation/ anticoagulation system and inflammatory system enter the lungs and damage the alveolar-capillary membrane barrier[87]. In the early inflammatory phase of ARDS, various immune cells continuously release a variety of harmful substances, including reactive oxygen species and nitrogen, as well as proteolytic enzymes such as elastase and matrix metalloproteinases, leading to lung endothelial and epithelial cell damage [86,88]. Persistent damage and failure to quickly repair this damage are the main factors that induce a pathological fibroproliferative response [89]. Late in the inflammatory response, massive and persistent accumulation of macrophages, fibroblasts, fibroblasts, and myofibroblasts in the alveolar space results in excessive deposition of fibronectin, collagen types I and III, and other components of the extracellular matrix [90,91]. The pro-fibrotic/anti-fibrotic balance is disrupted, and the fibrogenic effect increases dramatically, leading to irreversible pulmonary fibrosis. MSCs have shown gratifying advantages in anti-fibrotic effects. In preclinical models of lung fibrosis produced by bleomycin, silica, paraquat, and radiation, MSCs obviously show the ability to prolong life time[92-95]. However, MSC control of pulmonary fibrosis is also a double-edged sword. Studies have shown that MSCS can differentiate into ATII cells in vitro, inhibit the production of degradation enzymes, and thereby inhibit the secretion of pro-fibrotic factors by various immune cells[96]. There is also evidence that abnormally activated Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin and TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathways can induce the differentiation of pulmonary intrinsic MSCs into myofibroblasts and promote the development of pulmonary fibrosis [97].

# CLINICAL EXPERIENCE USING MSCS FOR ARDS

To date, experience with the application of MSCs in patients is limited. The data of the available clinical evidence is summarized in Table 2. Wilson and his colleagues reported the results of the phase I stem cell research for ARDS treatment (START) in 2015[98]. Patients with moderate to severe ARDS received a single intravenous dose of low  $[1 \times 10^6 \text{ MSCs/kg predicted body weight (PBW)}]$ , medium (5 × 10<sup>6</sup> MSCs/kg PBW), or high  $(1 \times 10^7 \text{ MSCs/kg PBW})$  (*n* = 3/dose). All patients tolerated MSC infusion without prespecified infusion-related adverse events. High-dose MSCs improved daily SOFA scores compared with low-dose MSCs. Based on these promising results, the knowledge of the safety of administering MSCs to critically ill patients with ARDS is improving. A phase 2a clinical trial to evaluate the safety of BM-MSCs administered to patients with moderate to severe ARDS has also been conducted[99]. The primary outcome was safety, and secondary outcomes included respiratory, systemic, and serum biomarker endpoints. The study included 60 patients with ARDS, and intravenous Adipose-MSCs,  $1 \times 10^6$ /kg predicted body weight, vs the placebo was administered; however, there was



Table 2 Clinical study characteristics					
Ref.	Cell type	Patient number	Outcome	Study design/evidence level	Publish time
Wilson <i>et al</i> [ <mark>98</mark> ]	MSC	9	No serious adverse events	Phase 1 clinical trial: A multicenter, open-label phase	2015
Matthay <i>et al</i> [99]	BM- MSCs	60	(1) No patients had any adverse events; (2) Mortality at 28 and 60 d was not significantly increased; and (3) $\uparrow$ Oxygenation index	Phase 2a safety trial: Prospective, double-blind, multicenter, randomized trial	2019
Yip et al <b>[100]</b>	UC- MSCs	9	<ul> <li>(1) In-hospital mortality was 33.3% (3/9); (2) No serious prespecified cell infusion-associated or treatment-related adverse events; (3) ↓Circulating inflammatory biomarkers;</li> <li>(4) ↓Mesenchymal stem cell markers; and (5) ↑Immune cell markers</li> </ul>	Phase I clinical trial: Prospective	2020
Lanzoni <i>et al</i> [107]	UC- MSCs	24	(1) No serious adverse events; (2) $\uparrow$ Survival; and (3) $\downarrow$ Inflammatory cytokines at day 6	Phase 1/2a clinical trial: A double-blind, randomized controlled trial	2021
Dilogo <i>et al</i> [108]	UC- MSCs	20	(1) $\uparrow$ Survival; and (2) $\downarrow$ Interleukin 6	Clinical trial: A multicentered, double-blind, randomized clinical trial	2021
Monsel <i>et al</i> [109]	UC- MSCs	45	(1) $PaO_2/FiO_2$ changes between D0 and D7 did not differ significantly; and (2) Clinical improvement	Clinical trial: A multicentered, double-blind, randomized clinical trial	2022
Grégoire <i>et al</i> [110]	BM- MSCs	8	(1) $\uparrow$ Survival; (2) Clinical improvement; and (3) $\downarrow$ Day-7 D-dimer value	A phase I/II Clinical Trial	2022
Kaffash Farkhad <i>et al</i> [111]	UC- MSCs	10	(1) $\uparrow PaO_2/FiO_2$ ; (2) $\downarrow Serum CRP$ ; (3) $\downarrow IL-6$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-17 A; and (4) $\uparrow TGF-\beta$ , IL-1B and IL-10	Phase 1 clinical trial: A single- center, open-label	2022

UC-MSC: Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells; CDC: Cardiosphere-derived cells; BM-MCs: Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells; PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub>: Arterial oxygen partial pressure/fractional inspired oxygen; CRP: C-reactive protein; CT: Computed tomography; ICU: Intensive care unit; ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; TNF-a: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IFN-Y: Interferon-gamma; TGF-ß: Tumor growth factor-β; IL: Interleukin.

> no difference in the outcome in patients treated with Adipose-MSCs vs the placebo. In another phase I study, nine consecutive patients were enrolled, between December 2017 and August 2019, the first three patients got low-dose human umbilical cord-derived MSCs, the following three patients received an intermediate dosage, and the last three patients received a high dose[100]. The results of the first phase of clinical trials demonstrated that a single dose of human umbilical cord-derived MSCs was safe and showed good results in all nine patients with ARDS. Swedish researchers tested the systemic administration of allogeneic BM-derived MSCs (2 × 10<sup>6</sup> cells/kg) in two patients with severe refractory ARDS, both of whom recovered from multiple organ failure and showed reduced markers of systemic and pulmonary inflammation[101]. In summary, clinical studies report that MSC administration is safe for patients with ARDS, with few adverse reactions. However, due to the relatively small number of patients in these studies, further research is needed to test the curative effect.

# MSCS FOR CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019-INDUCED ARDS

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease responsible for the COVID-19 pandemic, caused by a novel coronavirus called severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2[102,103]. COVID-19 has various respiratory and non-respiratory clinical manifestations, including mild or severe influenza-like syndrome, pneumonia, or respiratory failure, which may eventually lead to sepsis with multiple organ failure. The most common reason for being admitted to intensive care units is a respiratory failure caused by ARDS[104,105]. In a case series, Hashemian et al[106] found that multiple infusions of high-dose allogeneic prenatal MSCs are safe and can relieve the respiratory distress of severe patients with COVID-19 and inhibit the inflammatory response[106]. 24 participants were randomly assigned to either the umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell (UC-MSC) therapy or the control group in a double-blind, phase 1/2a randomized controlled trial. The UC-MSC treatment group got two intravenous infusions of  $100 \pm 20 \times 10^6$  UC-MSCs, while the control group received two infusions of vehicle solution[107]. The primary endpoint was safety (adverse events) after 6 h; cardiac arrest or death within 24 h post-infusion) and secondary endpoints included patient survival at 31 d after the first infusion and time to recovery. Serious adverse events related to UC-MSC infusion were

not observed. Thus, UC-MSC is safe to inject into patients with COVID-19-induced ARDS. In subjects who received UC-MSC treatment, inflammatory cytokines decreased significantly on the sixth day. In a recent clinical research, 40 COVID-19 patients who were critically unwell got either saline or intravenous UC-MSCs[108]. The findings revealed that the survival rate of patients in the UC-MSCs group was 2.5 times greater than that of the control group. Among patients with complications, the UC-MSCs group had a fourfold greater survival rate than the control group. A multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial (STROMA-CoV-2) in France, with 45 enrolled patients, has also been conducted [109]. Patients were randomly assigned to receive three intravenous infusions of  $1 \times 10^{6}$ UC-MSCs/kg or placebo (0.9% NaCl) over 5 d after recruitment. PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> changes between D0 and D7 did not differ significantly between the UC-MSCs and placebo groups. Six (28.6%) of the 21 UC-MSCs patients and six (25%) of the 24 (25%) placebo patients had serious adverse events not related to UC-MSCs treatment. A phase I/II clinical study was also done in patients with severe COVID-19 to assess the safety and effectiveness of three intravenous infusions of BM-derived MSCs at 3-d intervals[110]. Eight intensive care unit patients requiring supplemental oxygen were treated with BM-MSCs. Survival was significantly higher in the MSC group at 28 and 60 d, but there was no significant difference in the number of invasive ventilation-free days, high flow nasal oxygenation-free days, oxygen support-free days, or intensive care unit-free days. MSC infusion was well tolerated, and no adverse effects associated with MSC infusion were reported. Furthermore, a single-center, open-label, phase 1 clinical trial enrolled 20 confirmed COVID-19 patients with mild-to-moderate degree ARDS, who were divided into two groups: The control and the intervention group (UC-MSCs)[111]. The patients received three intravenous infusions of UC-MSCs (1 × 106 cells/kg BW per injection) every other day. There were no adverse effects to cell infusion throughout the clinical study, oxygenation was greatly enhanced, antiinflammatory factor levels were significantly increased, and pro-inflammatory factor levels were dramatically lowered. This intervention may reduce cytokine storms and restore respiratory function.

To summarize, MSCs from different tissues, such as BM, adipose, UC, and placental tissues, have entered the clinical trial stage. Some studies have used MSCs to treat COVID-19-induced ARDS.

# PROSPECT

With the progress of scientific research, our understanding of the physiological and pathological processes of ARDS has gradually deepened, and the relevant treatment methods are also improving year by year. However, the final prognosis of patients has not improved much; therefore, it is particularly important to find a method to treat ARDS. MSCs have a variety of characteristics that are striking. At present, as a potential therapeutic method, MSCs have gradually entered the international arena of research and have been unanimously recognized by scientists worldwide. Their application has achieved some effect in improving the survival rate of patients with ARDS. However, because of various reasons, only a few clinical trials are conducted. Although the achievements of basic research are emerging endlessly, there is a theoretical basis for MSC use to enter clinical treatment, and the side effects of MSCs are not clear. Moreover, their clinical application involves ethical issues. As a cell therapy, its safety needs a lot of control experiments to be proven. This has hindered the successful application of MSCs. Fortunately, the basic experimental research on their mechanism of action is becoming more and more in-depth, and the application value of MSC therapy is also much clearer. Their successful application for the treatment of ARDS is expected to improve the quality of life of patients.

# CONCLUSION

Due to the impasse that has been reached in the treatment of ARDS, MSC therapy has gained increasing attention. MSCs are known for their anti-inflammatory, differentiation, paracrine, and microvesicle transport abilities, which could perfectly target the pathological mechanisms of ARDS, providing a theoretical basis for treatment and precision treatment. Despite the current evaluation of MSC treatment of ARDS, further research is needed to observe the specific response to MSC treatment in the long term.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the authors of the primary studies for their timely and helpful responses to our information requests.

Zaishidenq® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All the authors had full access to all the data of the article, who were responsible for data integrity and accuracy; Liu JQ and Liang TY drafted the manuscript; Tang SY, Zheng ZH and Shi K designed the tables and figures; Lu LH worked on supervision; All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Supported by The Youth Fund project of the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province, No. LQ20H15010; and Zhejiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Science and Technology Planning Project, No. 2023ZL575.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Tian-Yu Liang 0000-0001-6772-9187; Kai Shi 0000-0002-2600-2966; Jing-Quan Liu 0000-0002-4956-7118.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Fan JR

# REFERENCES

- Nanchal RS, Truwit JD. Recent advances in understanding and treating acute respiratory distress syndrome. F1000Res 2018; 7 [PMID: 30210781 DOI: 10.12688/f1000research]
- Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL, Carlet J, Falke K, Hudson L, Lamy M, Legall JR, Morris A, Spragg R. The 2 American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149: 818-824 [PMID: 7509706 DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.149.3.7509706]
- ARDS Definition Task Force, Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT, Ferguson ND, Caldwell E, Fan E, Camporota 3 L, Slutsky AS. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the Berlin Definition. JAMA 2012; 307: 2526-2533 [PMID: 22797452 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2012.5669]
- Fan E, Brodie D, Slutsky AS. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Advances in Diagnosis and Treatment. JAMA 2018; 4 319: 698-710 [PMID: 29466596 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2017.21907]
- Hanley C, Giacomini C, Brennan A, McNicholas B, Laffey JG. Insights Regarding the Berlin Definition of ARDS from 5 Prospective Observational Studies. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2022; 43: 379-389 [PMID: 35679873 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-1744306
- Gorman EA, O'Kane CM, McAuley DF. Acute respiratory distress syndrome in adults: diagnosis, outcomes, long-term 6 sequelae, and management. Lancet 2022; 400: 1157-1170 [PMID: 36070788 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01439-8]
- Bos LDJ, Ware LB. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: causes, pathophysiology, and phenotypes. Lancet 2022; 400: 7 1145-1156 [PMID: 36070787 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01485-4]
- Cao C, Zhang L, Liu F, Shen J. Therapeutic Benefits of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Potential Mechanisms and Challenges. J Inflamm Res 2022; 15: 5235-5246 [PMID: 36120184 DOI: 10.2147/JIR.S372046
- Kaku S, Nguyen CD, Htet NN, Tutera D, Barr J, Paintal HS, Kuschner WG. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Etiology, Pathogenesis, and Summary on Management. J Intensive Care Med 2020; 35: 723-737 [PMID: 31208266 DOI: 10.1177/08850666198550211
- Saguil A, Fargo MV. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Diagnosis and Management. Am Fam Physician 2020; 101: 10 730-738 [PMID: 32538594]
- Bellani G, Laffey JG, Pham T, Fan E, Brochard L, Esteban A, Gattinoni L, van Haren F, Larsson A, McAuley DF, Ranieri 11 M, Rubenfeld G, Thompson BT, Wrigge H, Slutsky AS, Pesenti A; LUNG SAFE Investigators; ESICM Trials Group. Epidemiology, Patterns of Care, and Mortality for Patients With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome in Intensive Care Units in 50 Countries. JAMA 2016; 315: 788-800 [PMID: 26903337 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.0291]
- Mart MF, Ware LB. The long-lasting effects of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Expert Rev Respir Med 2020; 14: 12 577-586 [PMID: 32168460 DOI: 10.1080/17476348.2020.1743182]
- 13 Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP. Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 1968; 6: 230-247 [PMID: 5654088]
- Chen Y, Shao JZ, Xiang LX, Dong XJ, Zhang GR. Mesenchymal stem cells: a promising candidate in regenerative 14 medicine. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008; 40: 815-820 [PMID: 18295530 DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.01.007]
- Vizoso FJ, Eiro N, Cid S, Schneider J, Perez-Fernandez R. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Secretome: Toward Cell-Free 15 Therapeutic Strategies in Regenerative Medicine. Int J Mol Sci 2017; 18 [PMID: 28841158 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18091852]
- Assis-Ribas T, Forni MF, Winnischofer SMB, Sogayar MC, Trombetta-Lima M. Extracellular matrix dynamics during 16 mesenchymal stem cells differentiation. Dev Biol 2018; 437: 63-74 [PMID: 29544769 DOI: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.03.002]



- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop Dj, Horwitz 17 E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006; 8: 315-317 [PMID: 16923606 DOI: 10.1080/14653240600855905]
- 18 Roberts I. Mesenchymal stem cells. Vox Sang 2004; 87 Suppl 2: 38-41 [PMID: 15209876 DOI: 10.1111/j.1741-6892.2004.00452.x]
- 19 Yao P, Zhou L, Zhu L, Zhou B, Yu Q. Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A Potential Therapeutic Strategy for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Eur Neurol 2020; 83: 235-241 [PMID: 32690856 DOI: 10.1159/000509268]
- Xiao K, Hou F, Huang X, Li B, Qian ZR, Xie L. Mesenchymal stem cells: current clinical progress in ARDS and COVID-20 19. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 305 [PMID: 32698898 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01804-6]
- Zhang S, Danchuk SD, Bonvillain RW, Xu B, Scruggs BA, Strong AL, Semon JA, Gimble JM, Betancourt AM, Sullivan 21 DE, Bunnell BA. Interleukin 6 mediates the therapeutic effects of adipose-derived stromal/stem cells in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury. Stem Cells 2014; 32: 1616-1628 [PMID: 24449042 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1632]
- Qin H, Zhao A. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for acute respiratory distress syndrome: from basic to clinics. Protein Cell 22 2020; **11**: 707-722 [PMID: 32519302 DOI: 10.1007/s13238-020-00738-2]
- Walter J, Ware LB, Matthay MA. Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms of potential therapeutic benefit in ARDS and 23 sepsis. Lancet Respir Med 2014; 2: 1016-1026 [PMID: 25465643 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70217-6]
- Gorman E, Millar J, McAuley D, O'Kane C. Mesenchymal stromal cells for acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 24 sepsis, and COVID-19 infection: optimizing the therapeutic potential. Expert Rev Respir Med 2021; 15: 301-324 [PMID: 33172313 DOI: 10.1080/17476348.2021.1848555]
- Ware LB, Matthay MA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 2000; 342: 1334-1349 [PMID: 10793167 25 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200005043421806]
- Lee JW, Fang X, Gupta N, Serikov V, Matthay MA. Allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of E. coli endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in the ex vivo perfused human lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106: 16357-16362 [PMID: 19721001 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0907996106]
- 27 Lee JW, Krasnodembskaya A, McKenna DH, Song Y, Abbott J, Matthay MA. Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cells in ex vivo human lungs injured with live bacteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013; 187: 751-760 [PMID: 23292883 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.201206-0990OC]
- Petrou P, Gothelf Y, Argov Z, Gotkine M, Levy YS, Kassis I, Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Ben-Hur T, Offen D, Abramsky O, 28 Melamed E, Karussis D. Safety and Clinical Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Secreting Neurotrophic Factor Transplantation in Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Results of Phase 1/2 and 2a Clinical Trials. JAMA Neurol 2016; 73: 337-344 [PMID: 26751635 DOI: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.4321]
- Beyth S, Borovsky Z, Mevorach D, Liebergall M, Gazit Z, Aslan H, Galun E, Rachmilewitz J. Human mesenchymal stem 29 cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. Blood 2005; 105: 2214-2219 [PMID: 15514012 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2921]
- 30 Glennie S, Soeiro I, Dyson PJ, Lam EW, Dazzi F. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induce division arrest anergy of activated T cells. Blood 2005; 105: 2821-2827 [PMID: 15591115 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3696]
- Di Nicola M, Carlo-Stella C, Magni M, Milanesi M, Longoni PD, Matteucci P, Grisanti S, Gianni AM. Human bone 31 marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. Blood 2002; **99**: 3838-3843 [PMID: 11986244 DOI: 10.1182/blood.v99.10.3838]
- Waisman A, Lukas D, Clausen BE, Yogev N. Dendritic cells as gatekeepers of tolerance. Semin Immunopathol 2017; 39: 32 153-163 [PMID: 27456849 DOI: 10.1007/s00281-016-0583-z]
- Yin X, Chen S, Eisenbarth SC. Dendritic Cell Regulation of T Helper Cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2021; 39: 759-790 33 [PMID: 33710920 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-101819-025146]
- 34 Li L, Dong L, Zhao D, Gao F, Yan J. Classical dendritic cells regulate acute lung inflammation and injury in mice with lipopolysaccharideinduced acute respiratory distress syndrome. Int J Mol Med 2019; 44: 617-629 [PMID: 31173158 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2019.4208
- Thompson BT, Chambers RC, Liu KD. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 562-572 [PMID: 28792873 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1608077]
- Whartenby KA, Calabresi PA, McCadden E, Nguyen B, Kardian D, Wang T, Mosse C, Pardoll DM, Small D. Inhibition 36 of FLT3 signaling targets DCs to ameliorate autoimmune disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102: 16741-16746 [PMID: 16272221 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0506088102]
- 37 Shao Z, Bharadwaj AS, McGee HS, Makinde TO, Agrawal DK. Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand increases a lung DC subset with regulatory properties in allergic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123: 917-924.e2 [PMID: 19348927 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.01.052]
- Ludwig IS, Geijtenbeek TB, van Kooyk Y. Two way communication between neutrophils and dendritic cells. Curr Opin 38 Pharmacol 2006; 6: 408-413 [PMID: 16750420 DOI: 10.1016/j.coph.2006.03.009]
- Lu Z, Meng S, Chang W, Fan S, Xie J, Guo F, Yang Y, Qiu H, Liu L. Mesenchymal stem cells activate Notch signaling to 39 induce regulatory dendritic cells in LPS-induced acute lung injury. J Transl Med 2020; 18: 241 [PMID: 32546185 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-020-02410-z]
- Hu Q, Zhang S, Yang Y, Yao JQ, Tang WF, Lyon CJ, Hu TY, Wan MH. Extracellular vesicles in the pathogenesis and 40 treatment of acute lung injury. Mil Med Res 2022; 9: 61 [PMID: 36316787 DOI: 10.1186/s40779-022-00417-9]
- Reis M, Mavin E, Nicholson L, Green K, Dickinson AM, Wang XN. Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Derived Extracellular 41 Vesicles Attenuate Dendritic Cell Maturation and Function. Front Immunol 2018; 9: 2538 [PMID: 30473695 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02538
- Zhou L, Luo H, Lee JW. Role of extracellular vesicles in lung diseases. Chin Med J (Engl) 2022; 135: 1765-1780 [PMID: 42 35866573 DOI: 10.1097/CM9.000000000002118]
- Dutra Silva J, Su Y, Calfee CS, Delucchi KL, Weiss D, McAuley DF, O'Kane C, Krasnodembskaya AD. Mesenchymal 43 stromal cell extracellular vesicles rescue mitochondrial dysfunction and improve barrier integrity in clinically relevant



models of ARDS. Eur Respir J 2021; 58 [PMID: 33334945 DOI: 10.1183/13993003.02978-2020]

- Sun H, Zhang T, Gao J. Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A Potential Biodrug for Acute 44 Respiratory Distress Syndrome Treatment. BioDrugs 2022; 36: 701-715 [PMID: 36087245 DOI: 10.1007/s40259-022-00555-5
- Lu Z, Chang W, Meng S, Xu X, Xie J, Guo F, Yang Y, Qiu H, Liu L. Mesenchymal stem cells induce dendritic cell 45 immune tolerance via paracrine hepatocyte growth factor to alleviate acute lung injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 2019; 10: 372 [PMID: 31801626 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-019-1488-2]
- Aegerter H, Lambrecht BN, Jakubzick CV. Biology of lung macrophages in health and disease. Immunity 2022; 55: 1564-46 1580 [PMID: 36103853 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2022.08.010]
- Morales-Nebreda L, Misharin AV, Perlman H, Budinger GR. The heterogeneity of lung macrophages in the susceptibility 47 to disease. Eur Respir Rev 2015; 24: 505-509 [PMID: 26324812 DOI: 10.1183/16000617.0031-2015]
- 48 Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 2008; 8: 958-969 [PMID: 19029990 DOI: 10.1038/nri2448]
- Dang W, Tao Y, Xu X, Zhao H, Zou L, Li Y. The role of lung macrophages in acute respiratory distress syndrome. 49 Inflamm Res 2022; 71: 1417-1432 [PMID: 36264361 DOI: 10.1007/s00011-022-01645-4]
- Chen X, Tang J, Shuai W, Meng J, Feng J, Han Z. Macrophage polarization and its role in the pathogenesis of acute lung 50 injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome. Inflamm Res 2020; 69: 883-895 [PMID: 32647933 DOI: 10.1007/s00011-020-01378-2
- 51 Li JW, Wei L, Han Z, Chen Z. Mesenchymal stromal cells-derived exosomes alleviate ischemia/reperfusion injury in mouse lung by transporting anti-apoptotic miR-21-5p. Eur J Pharmacol 2019; 852: 68-76 [PMID: 30682335 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.01.022]
- Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S, Gordon S, Hamilton JA, Ivashkiv LB, Lawrence T, 52 Locati M, Mantovani A, Martinez FO, Mege JL, Mosser DM, Natoli G, Saeij JP, Schultze JL, Shirey KA, Sica A, Suttles J, Udalova I, van Ginderachter JA, Vogel SN, Wynn TA. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. Immunity 2014; 41: 14-20 [PMID: 25035950 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008]
- 53 Liu C, Xiao K, Xie L. Advances in the Regulation of Macrophage Polarization by Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Implications for ALI/ARDS Treatment. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 928134 [PMID: 35880175 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.9281341
- 54 Sadeghi S, Mosaffa N, Hashemi SM, Mehdi Naghizadeh M, Ghazanfari T. The immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells on long term pulmonary complications in an animal model exposed to a sulfur mustard analog. Int Immunopharmacol 2020; 80: 105879 [PMID: 31767545 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105879]
- 55 Wakayama H, Hashimoto N, Matsushita Y, Matsubara K, Yamamoto N, Hasegawa Y, Ueda M, Yamamoto A. Factors secreted from dental pulp stem cells show multifaceted benefits for treating acute lung injury in mice. Cytotherapy 2015; 17: 1119-1129 [PMID: 26031744 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.04.009]
- Selleri S, Bifsha P, Civini S, Pacelli C, Dieng MM, Lemieux W, Jin P, Bazin R, Patey N, Marincola FM, Moldovan F, 56 Zaouter C, Trudeau LE, Benabdhalla B, Louis I, Beauséjour C, Stroncek D, Le Deist F, Haddad E. Human mesenchymal stromal cell-secreted lactate induces M2-macrophage differentiation by metabolic reprogramming. Oncotarget 2016; 7: 30193-30210 [PMID: 27070086 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.8623]
- Islam MN, Das SR, Emin MT, Wei M, Sun L, Westphalen K, Rowlands DJ, Quadri SK, Bhattacharya S, Bhattacharya J. 57 Mitochondrial transfer from bone-marrow-derived stromal cells to pulmonary alveoli protects against acute lung injury. Nat Med 2012; 18: 759-765 [PMID: 22504485 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2736]
- Pang SHM, D'Rozario J, Mendonca S, Bhuvan T, Payne NL, Zheng D, Hisana A, Wallis G, Barugahare A, Powell D, 58 Rautela J, Huntington ND, Dewson G, Huang DCS, Gray DHD, Heng TSP. Mesenchymal stromal cell apoptosis is required for their therapeutic function. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 6495 [PMID: 34764248 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-26834-3
- 59 Lv H, Liu Q, Sun Y, Yi X, Wei X, Liu W, Zhang Q, Yi H, Chen G. Mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate acute lung injury induced by LPS mainly through stanniocalcin-2 mediating macrophage polarization. Ann Transl Med 2020; 8: 334 [PMID: 32355778 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2020.02.105]
- Xu H, Nie G, Yin T, Shao C, Ding D, Zou M. Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells with Surfactant Protein B 60 Alleviates Inflammatory Response in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome by Regulating Macrophage Polarization. Balkan Med J 2022; 39: 130-139 [PMID: 35330560 DOI: 10.4274/balkanmedj.galenos.2021.2021-9-8]
- Gao S, Mao F, Zhang B, Zhang L, Zhang X, Wang M, Yan Y, Yang T, Zhang J, Zhu W, Qian H, Xu W. Mouse bone 61 marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells induce macrophage M2 polarization through the nuclear factor-KB and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 pathways. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2014; 239: 366-375 [PMID: 24500984 DOI: 10.1177/1535370213518169]
- Yu ZX, Ji MS, Yan J, Cai Y, Liu J, Yang HF, Li Y, Jin ZC, Zheng JX. The ratio of Th17/Treg cells as a risk indicator in 62 early acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care 2015; 19: 82 [PMID: 25887535 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-015-0811-2]
- Risso K, Kumar G, Ticchioni M, Sanfiorenzo C, Dellamonica J, Guillouet-de Salvador F, Bernardin G, Marquette CH, 63 Roger PM. Early infectious acute respiratory distress syndrome is characterized by activation and proliferation of alveolar T-cells. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2015; 34: 1111-1118 [PMID: 25652606 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-015-2333-x]
- Noack M, Miossee P. Th17 and regulatory T cell balance in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Autoimmun Rev 2014; 13: 668-677 [PMID: 24418308 DOI: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013.12.004]
- Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune neuroinflammation. Immunol Rev 2014; 259: 231-244 65 [PMID: 24712469 DOI: 10.1111/imr.12169]
- LaMarca B, Cornelius DC, Harmon AC, Amaral LM, Cunningham MW, Faulkner JL, Wallace K. Identifying immune 66 mechanisms mediating the hypertension during preeclampsia. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2016; 311: R1-R9 [PMID: 27097659 DOI: 10.1152/ajpregu.00052.2016]
- D'Alessio FR, Tsushima K, Aggarwal NR, West EE, Willett MH, Britos MF, Pipeling MR, Brower RG, Tuder RM, McDyer JF, King LS. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Tregs resolve experimental lung injury in mice and are present in humans with



acute lung injury. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 2898-2913 [PMID: 19770521 DOI: 10.1172/JCI36498]

- Garibaldi BT, D'Alessio FR, Mock JR, Files DC, Chau E, Eto Y, Drummond MB, Aggarwal NR, Sidhaye V, King LS. 68 Regulatory T cells reduce acute lung injury fibroproliferation by decreasing fibrocyte recruitment. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2013; 48: 35-43 [PMID: 23002097 DOI: 10.1165/rcmb.2012-0198OC]
- 69 Ghannam S, Pène J, Moquet-Torcy G, Jorgensen C, Yssel H. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit human Th17 cell differentiation and function and induce a T regulatory cell phenotype. J Immunol 2010; 185: 302-312 [PMID: 20511548 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902007]
- 70 Luz-Crawford P, Kurte M, Bravo-Alegría J, Contreras R, Nova-Lamperti E, Tejedor G, Noël D, Jorgensen C, Figueroa F, Djouad F, Carrión F. Mesenchymal stem cells generate a CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell population during the differentiation process of Th1 and Th17 cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013; 4: 65 [PMID: 23734780 DOI: 10.1186/scrt216]
- Luz-Crawford P, Noël D, Fernandez X, Khoury M, Figueroa F, Carrión F, Jorgensen C, Djouad F. Mesenchymal stem 71 cells repress Th17 molecular program through the PD-1 pathway. PLoS One 2012; 7: e45272 [PMID: 23028899 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045272]
- Chen J, Zhang X, Xie J, Xue M, Liu L, Yang Y, Qiu H. Overexpression of TGFB1 in murine mesenchymal stem cells 72 improves lung inflammation by impacting the Th17/Treg balance in LPS-induced ARDS mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 311 [PMID: 32698911 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01826-0]
- Zhang S, Chen X, Devshilt I, Yun Q, Huang C, An L, Dorjbat S, He X. Fennel main constituent, transanethole treatment 73 against LPS induced acute lung injury by regulation of Th17/Treg function. Mol Med Rep 2018; 18: 1369-1376 [PMID: 29901094 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2018.9149]
- Zhang X, Chen J, Xue M, Tang Y, Xu J, Liu L, Huang Y, Yang Y, Qiu H, Guo F. Overexpressing p130/E2F4 in 74 mesenchymal stem cells facilitates the repair of injured alveolar epithelial cells in LPS-induced ARDS mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 2019; 10: 74 [PMID: 30841904 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-019-1169-1]
- Xu G, Zhang L, Ren G, Yuan Z, Zhang Y, Zhao RC, Shi Y. Immunosuppressive properties of cloned bone marrow 75 mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Res 2007; 17: 240-248 [PMID: 17325691 DOI: 10.1038/cr.2007.4]
- Liu L, He H, Liu A, Xu J, Han J, Chen Q, Hu S, Xu X, Huang Y, Guo F, Yang Y, Qiu H. Therapeutic Effects of Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Models of Pulmonary and Extrapulmonary Acute Lung Injury. Cell Transplant 2015; 24: 2629-2642 [PMID: 25695285 DOI: 10.3727/096368915X687499]
- Li YY, Xu QW, Xu PY, Li WM. MSC-derived exosomal miR-34a/c-5p and miR-29b-3p improve intestinal barrier 77 function by targeting the Snail/Claudins signaling pathway. Life Sci 2020; 257: 118017 [PMID: 32603821 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118017]
- Wang H, Zheng R, Chen Q, Shao J, Yu J, Hu S. Mesenchymal stem cells microvesicles stabilize endothelial barrier 78 function partly mediated by hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). Stem Cell Res Ther 2017; 8: 211 [PMID: 28969681 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-017-0662-7]
- Meng SS, Guo FM, Zhang XW, Chang W, Peng F, Qiu HB, Yang Y. mTOR/STAT-3 pathway mediates mesenchymal stem cell-secreted hepatocyte growth factor protective effects against lipopolysaccharide-induced vascular endothelial barrier dysfunction and apoptosis. J Cell Biochem 2019; 120: 3637-3650 [PMID: 30242894 DOI: 10.1002/jcb.27642]
- Yang Y, Chen QH, Liu AR, Xu XP, Han JB, Qiu HB. Synergism of MSC-secreted HGF and VEGF in stabilising 80 endothelial barrier function upon lipopolysaccharide stimulation via the Rac1 pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015; 6: 250 [PMID: 26674641 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-015-0257-0]
- Hu S, Park J, Liu A, Lee J, Zhang X, Hao Q, Lee JW. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Microvesicles Restore Protein Permeability 81 Across Primary Cultures of Injured Human Lung Microvascular Endothelial Cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 2018; 7: 615-624 [PMID: 29737632 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.17-0278]
- Matthay MA, Thompson BT, Read EJ, McKenna DH Jr, Liu KD, Calfee CS, Lee JW. Therapeutic potential of 82 mesenchymal stem cells for severe acute lung injury. Chest 2010; 138: 965-972 [PMID: 20923800 DOI: 10.1378/chest.10-0518
- Doi R, Tsuchiya T, Mitsutake N, Nishimura S, Matsuu-Matsuyama M, Nakazawa Y, Ogi T, Akita S, Yukawa H, Baba Y, 83 Yamasaki N, Matsumoto K, Miyazaki T, Kamohara R, Hatachi G, Sengyoku H, Watanabe H, Obata T, Niklason LE, Nagayasu T. Transplantation of bioengineered rat lungs recellularized with endothelial and adipose-derived stromal cells. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 8447 [PMID: 28814761 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-09115-2]
- Murray JF. The structure and function of the lung. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2010; 14: 391-396 [PMID: 20202294] 84
- Yamada M. The Roles of MicroRNAs and Extracellular Vesicles in the Pathogeneses of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis 85 and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Tohoku J Exp Med 2020; 251: 313-326 [PMID: 32779621 DOI: 10.1620/tjem.251.313
- 86 Zemans RL, Colgan SP, Downey GP. Transepithelial migration of neutrophils: mechanisms and implications for acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2009; 40: 519-535 [PMID: 18978300 DOI: 10.1165/rcmb.2008-0348TR]
- Matthay MA, Ware LB, Zimmerman GA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Clin Invest 2012; 122: 2731-2740 87 [PMID: 22850883 DOI: 10.1172/JCI60331]
- Lee WL, Downey GP. Leukocyte elastase: physiological functions and role in acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care 88 Med 2001; 164: 896-904 [PMID: 11549552 DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.5.2103040]
- Madtes DK, Rubenfeld G, Klima LD, Milberg JA, Steinberg KP, Martin TR, Raghu G, Hudson LD, Clark JG. Elevated 89 transforming growth factor-alpha levels in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158: 424-430 [PMID: 9700116 DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.158.2.9711112]
- Snyder LS, Hertz MI, Peterson MS, Harmon KR, Marinelli WA, Henke CA, Greenheck JR, Chen B, Bitterman PB. Acute 90 lung injury. Pathogenesis of intraalveolar fibrosis. J Clin Invest 1991; 88: 663-673 [PMID: 1864975 DOI: 10.1172/JCI115351]
- 91 Chandel NS, Budinger GR, Mutlu GM, Varga J, Synenki L, Donnelly HK, Zirk A, Eisenbart J, Jovanovic B, Jain M. Keratinocyte growth factor expression is suppressed in early acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome by smad and c-Abl pathways. Crit Care Med 2009; 37: 1678-1684 [PMID: 19325470 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31819fc81a]
- 92 Chen J, Si L, Zhou L, Deng Y. Role of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in the development of PQ induced



pulmonary fibrosis. Mol Med Rep 2019; 19: 3283-3290 [PMID: 30816470 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2019.9976]

- He F, Wang Y, Li Y, Yu L. Human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells alleviate paraquat-induced pulmonary fibrosis in 93 rats by inhibiting the inflammatory response. Life Sci 2020; 243: 117290 [PMID: 31923420 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117290
- Periera-Simon S, Xia X, Catanuto P, Coronado R, Kurtzberg J, Bellio M, Lee YS, Khan A, Smith R, Elliot SJ, Glassberg 94 MK. Anti-fibrotic effects of different sources of MSC in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in C57BL6 male mice. Respirology 2021; 26: 161-170 [PMID: 32851725 DOI: 10.1111/resp.13928]
- Zhang E, Yang Y, Chen S, Peng C, Lavin MF, Yeo AJ, Li C, Liu X, Guan Y, Du X, Du Z, Shao H. Bone marrow 95 mesenchymal stromal cells attenuate silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis potentially by attenuating Wnt/β-catenin signaling in rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 2018; 9: 311 [PMID: 30428918 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-018-1045-4]
- 96 Tzouvelekis A, Toonkel R, Karampitsakos T, Medapalli K, Ninou I, Aidinis V, Bouros D, Glassberg MK. Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Front Med (Lausanne) 2018; 5: 142 [PMID: 29868594 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00142]
- 97 Harrell CR, Sadikot R, Pascual J, Fellabaum C, Jankovic MG, Jovicic N, Djonov V, Arsenijevic N, Volarevic V. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Therapy of Inflammatory Lung Diseases: Current Understanding and Future Perspectives. Stem Cells Int 2019; 2019: 4236973 [PMID: 31191672 DOI: 10.1155/2019/4236973]
- Wilson JG, Liu KD, Zhuo H, Caballero L, McMillan M, Fang X, Cosgrove K, Vojnik R, Calfee CS, Lee JW, Rogers AJ, Levitt J, Wiener-Kronish J, Bajwa EK, Leavitt A, McKenna D, Thompson BT, Matthay MA. Mesenchymal stem (stromal) cells for treatment of ARDS: a phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Respir Med 2015; 3: 24-32 [PMID: 25529339 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70291-7]
- Matthay MA, Calfee CS, Zhuo H, Thompson BT, Wilson JG, Levitt JE, Rogers AJ, Gotts JE, Wiener-Kronish JP, Bajwa EK, Donahoe MP, McVerry BJ, Ortiz LA, Exline M, Christman JW, Abbott J, Delucchi KL, Caballero L, McMillan M, McKenna DH, Liu KD. Treatment with allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells for moderate to severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (START study): a randomised phase 2a safety trial. Lancet Respir Med 2019; 7: 154-162 [PMID: 30455077 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30418-1]
- 100 Yip HK, Fang WF, Li YC, Lee FY, Lee CH, Pei SN, Ma MC, Chen KH, Sung PH, Lee MS. Human Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Crit Care Med 2020; 48: e391-e399 [PMID: 32187077 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004285]
- 101 Simonson OE, Mougiakakos D, Heldring N, Bassi G, Johansson HJ, Dalén M, Jitschin R, Rodin S, Corbascio M, El Andaloussi S, Wiklander OP, Nordin JZ, Skog J, Romain C, Koestler T, Hellgren-Johansson L, Schiller P, Joachimsson PO, Hägglund H, Mattsson M, Lehtiö J, Faridani OR, Sandberg R, Korsgren O, Krampera M, Weiss DJ, Grinnemo KH, Le Blanc K. In Vivo Effects of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Two Patients With Severe Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016; 5: 845 [PMID: 27221332 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0021erratum]
- 102 Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, Wang B, Xiang H, Cheng Z, Xiong Y, Zhao Y, Li Y, Wang X, Peng Z. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA 2020; 323: 1061-1069 [PMID: 32031570 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585]
- 103 Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, Zhao X, Huang B, Shi W, Lu R, Niu P, Zhan F, Ma X, Wang D, Xu W, Wu G, Gao GF, Tan W; China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 727-733 [PMID: 31978945 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017]
- 104 Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020; 395: 497-506 [PMID: 31986264 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- 105 Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, Xiang J, Wang Y, Song B, Gu X, Guan L, Wei Y, Li H, Wu X, Xu J, Tu S, Zhang Y, Chen H, Cao B. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1054-1062 [PMID: 32171076 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3]
- 106 Hashemian SR, Aliannejad R, Zarrabi M, Soleimani M, Vosough M, Hosseini SE, Hossieni H, Keshel SH, Naderpour Z, Hajizadeh-Saffar E, Shajareh E, Jamaati H, Soufi-Zomorrod M, Khavandgar N, Alemi H, Karimi A, Pak N, Rouzbahani NH, Nouri M, Sorouri M, Kashani L, Madani H, Aghdami N, Vasei M, Baharvand H. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from perinatal tissues for treatment of critically ill COVID-19-induced ARDS patients: a case series. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 91 [PMID: 33514427 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02165-4]
- Lanzoni G, Linetsky E, Correa D, Messinger Cayetano S, Alvarez RA, Kouroupis D, Alvarez Gil A, Poggioli R, Ruiz P, 107 Marttos AC, Hirani K, Bell CA, Kusack H, Rafkin L, Baidal D, Pastewski A, Gawri K, Leñero C, Mantero AMA, Metalonis SW, Wang X, Roque L, Masters B, Kenyon NS, Ginzburg E, Xu X, Tan J, Caplan AI, Glassberg MK, Alejandro R, Ricordi C. Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome: A double-blind, phase 1/2a, randomized controlled trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2021; 10: 660-673 [PMID: 33400390 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.20-0472]
- Dilogo IH, Aditianingsih D, Sugiarto A, Burhan E, Damayanti T, Sitompul PA, Mariana N, Antarianto RD, Liem IK, 108 Kispa T, Mujadid F, Novialdi N, Luviah E, Kurniawati T, Lubis AMT, Rahmatika D. Umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells as critical COVID-19 adjuvant therapy: A randomized controlled trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2021; 10: 1279-1287 [PMID: 34102020 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.21-0046]
- 109 Monsel A, Hauw-Berlemont C, Mebarki M, Heming N, Mayaux J, Nguekap Tchoumba O, Diehl JL, Demoule A, Annane D, Marois C, Demeret S, Weiss E, Voiriot G, Fartoukh M, Constantin JM, Mégarbane B, Plantefève G, Malard-Castagnet S, Burrel S, Rosenzwajg M, Tchitchek N, Boucher-Pillet H, Churlaud G, Cras A, Maheux C, Pezzana C, Diallo MH, Ropers J, Menasché P, Larghero J; APHP STROMA-CoV-2 Collaborative Research Group. Treatment of COVID-19associated ARDS with mesenchymal stromal cells: a multicenter randomized double-blind trial. Crit Care 2022; 26: 48 [PMID: 35189925 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-022-03930-4]
- 110 Grégoire C, Layios N, Lambermont B, Lechanteur C, Briquet A, Bettonville V, Baudoux E, Thys M, Dardenne N, Misset



B, Beguin Y. Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Therapy in Severe COVID-19: Preliminary Results of a Phase I/II Clinical Trial. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 932360 [PMID: 35860245 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.932360]

- Kaffash Farkhad N, Sedaghat A, Reihani H, Adhami Moghadam A, Bagheri Moghadam A, Khadem Ghaebi N, 111 Khodadoust MA, Ganjali R, Tafreshian AR, Tavakol-Afshari J. Mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for COVID-19-induced ARDS patients: a successful phase 1, control-placebo group, clinical trial. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 283 [PMID: 35765103 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02920-1]
- 112 Zhang X, Wei X, Deng Y, Yuan X, Shi J, Huang W, Huang J, Chen X, Zheng S, Chen J, Chen K, Xu R, Wang H, Li W, Li S, Yi H, Xiang AP. Mesenchymal stromal cells alleviate acute respiratory distress syndrome through the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2022; 7: 307 [PMID: 36064538 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-022-01124-6]
- 113 Kakabadze Z, Kipshidze N, Paresishvili T, Vadachkoria Z, Chakhunashvili D. Human Placental Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of ARDS in Rat. Stem Cells Int 2022; 2022: 8418509 [PMID: 35756754 DOI: 10.1155/2022/8418509]
- Wang LT, Yen BL, Wang HH, Chao YY, Lee W, Huang LY, Chiu SK, Siu LK, Liu KJ, Sytwu HK, Yen ML. Placental 114 mesenchymal stem cells boost M2 alveolar over M1 bone marrow macrophages via IL-1ß in Klebsiella-mediated acute respiratory distress syndrome. Thorax 2022 [PMID: 35450943 DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-217928]
- Wang L, Feng Y, Dou M, Wang J, Bi J, Zhang D, Hou D, Chen C, Bai C, Zhou J, Tong L, Song Y. Study of 115 mesenchymal stem cells derived from lung-resident, bone marrow and chorion for treatment of LPS-induced acute lung injury. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 2022; 302: 103914 [PMID: 35447348 DOI: 10.1016/j.resp.2022.103914]
- 116 Zhang X, Ye L, Liang G, Tang W, Yao L, Huang C. Different microRNAs contribute to the protective effect of mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in LPS induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. Iran J Basic Med Sci 2021; 24: 1702-1708 [PMID: 35432797 DOI: 10.22038/IJBMS.2021.56433.12640]
- Xue M, Zhang X, Chen J, Liu F, Xu J, Xie J, Yang Y, Yu W, Qiu H. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Secreted TGF-β1 Restores 117 Treg/Th17 Skewing Induced by Lipopolysaccharide and Hypoxia Challenge via miR-155 Suppression. Stem Cells Int 2022; 2022: 5522828 [PMID: 35313652 DOI: 10.1155/2022/5522828]
- 118 He X, Li C, Yin H, Tan X, Yi J, Tian S, Wang Y, Liu J. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibited the apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells caused by ARDS through CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. Bioengineered 2022; 13: 9060-9070 [PMID: 35301927 DOI: 10.1080/21655979.2022.2052652]
- 119 Zhang X, Ye L, Tang W, Ji Y, Zheng L, Chen Y, Ge Q, Huang C. Wnt/β-Catenin Participates in the Repair of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome-Associated Early Pulmonary Fibrosis via Mesenchymal Stem Cell Microvesicles. Drug Des Devel Ther 2022; 16: 237-247 [PMID: 35082486 DOI: 10.2147/DDDT.S344309]
- Meng SS, Guo FM, Huang LL, Huang YZ, Xie JF, Yang CS, Qiu HB, Yang Y. mTORC2 Activation Mediated by 120 Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Secreted Hepatocyte Growth Factors for the Recovery of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Vascular Endothelial Barrier. Stem Cells Int 2021; 2021: 9981589 [PMID: 34707661 DOI: 10.1155/2021/9981589]
- Ishii M, Tsuchiya T, Doi R, Morofuji Y, Fujimoto T, Muto H, Suematsu T, Mori R, Matsumoto K, Miyazaki T, 121 Tomoshige K, Watanabe H, Iwatake M, Nagayasu T. Increased In Vitro Intercellular Barrier Function of Lung Epithelial Cells Using Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells. Pharmaceutics 2021; 13 [PMID: 34452225 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics13081264]
- 122 Wang K, Du B, Zhang Y, Wu C, Wang X, Zhang X, Wang L. Vimentin-Rab7a Pathway Mediates the Migration of MSCs and Lead to Therapeutic Effects on ARDS. Stem Cells Int 2021; 2021: 9992381 [PMID: 34367295 DOI: 10.1155/2021/9992381
- 123 Liu X, Gao C, Wang Y, Niu L, Jiang S, Pan S. BMSC-Derived Exosomes Ameliorate LPS-Induced Acute Lung Injury by miR-384-5p-Controlled Alveolar Macrophage Autophagy. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2021; 2021: 9973457 [PMID: 34234888 DOI: 10.1155/2021/9973457]



WJSC

# World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 165-181

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.165

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Extracellular vesicles: Emerged as a promising strategy for regenerative medicine

Dian-Ri Wang, Jian Pan

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Hassaan NA, Egypt; Kabdesh I, Russia; Ou Q, China; Li SC, United States

Received: December 20, 2022 Peer-review started: December 20, 2022 First decision: January 9, 2023 Revised: January 30, 2023 Accepted: March 20, 2023 Article in press: March 20, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Dian-Ri Wang, Jian Pan, State Key Laboratory of Oral Diseases and National Clinical Research Center for Oral Diseases and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, West China Hospital of Stomatology, Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Jian Pan, PhD, Doctor, State Key Laboratory of Oral Diseases and National Clinical Research Center for Oral Diseases and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, West China Hospital of Stomatology, Sichuan University, No. 14 Third Section, Renmin Road South, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China. jianpancn@scu.edu.cn

# Abstract

Cell transplantation therapy has certain limitations including immune rejection and limited cell viability, which seriously hinder the transformation of stem cellbased tissue regeneration into clinical practice. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) not only possess the advantages of its derived cells, but also can avoid the risks of cell transplantation. EVs are intelligent and controllable biomaterials that can participate in a variety of physiological and pathological activities, tissue repair and regeneration by transmitting a variety of biological signals, showing great potential in cell-free tissue regeneration. In this review, we summarized the origins and characteristics of EVs, introduced the pivotal role of EVs in diverse tissues regeneration, discussed the underlying mechanisms, prospects, and challenges of EVs. We also pointed out the problems that need to be solved, application directions, and prospects of EVs in the future and shed new light on the novel cell-free strategy for using EVs in the field of regenerative medicine.

Key Words: Mesenchymal stem cells; Extracellular vesicles; Regenerative medicine; Cellfree strategy

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Extracellular vesicles (EVs) play a critical role in tissue repair and regeneration medicine *via* cell-to-cell communication. In this review, we elaborate and discuss both the recent research progress and the advancements in the therapeutic effects and limitations of EVs in tissue regeneration and engineering medicine. Moreover, we summarize the underlying molecular mechanisms related to EV repair effects and point out the problems that need to be solved, application directions, and prospects of EVs in the future.

**Citation:** Wang DR, Pan J. Extracellular vesicles: Emerged as a promising strategy for regenerative medicine. *World J Stem Cells* 2023; 15(4): 165-181

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/165.htm **D0I:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.165

# INTRODUCTION

Tissue and organ loss are challenging complications that are usually caused by severe diseases such as cancer and serious accidents and impose great burdens on patients' lives. Tissue regeneration and engineering medicine, which aims to repair lost cells and damaged organs caused by diseases or accidents, is achieving great progress sparked by numerous studies of stem cells, biomaterials and so on. Stem cells, especially mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), play a critical role in regeneration medicine due to their strong self-renewal ability and diverse differentiation potential. However, there are several shortcomings of using MSCs in regeneration medicine, including cell source limitations, ethical controversies, low survival rates after cell transplantation, immune rejection, and risk of tumorigenesis after transplantation[1,2]. To solve the shortcomings of cell-based therapy, the paracrine action of cells has become a focus of research attention.

Recent research has focused on the secretions of cells and tissues. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are heterogeneous lipid bilayer-surrounded vesicles secreted by various cell types, including immune cells, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, neuronal cells, cancerous cells, Schwann cells (SCs), and MSCs, that behave as crucial mediators of intercellular communication[3-6]. EVs participate in various types of physiological and pathological activities, including immune responses, homeostasis maintenance, inflammation, angiogenesis, and cancer progression, by transferring biological signals[7,8]. According to their size and origin, EVs can be classified in several ways. On the basis of their origin, EVs can be divided into three categories: Apoptotic bodies generated during cell apoptosis; microvesicles originating from budding cellular membranes; and exosomes derived from multivesicular bodies in fusion with the plasma membrane[4,9]. EVs also can be divided into small EVs, medium-sized EVs, and large EVs[3,10,11].

Increasing evidence indicates that EVs play a critical role in tissue repair and regeneration medicine *via* cell-to-cell communication. Moreover, several studies imply that the beneficial effects of MSCs on tissue regeneration may be attributed to their paracrine action by secreting EVs rather than MSC engraftment and proliferation[3,12,13]. Moreover, EVs themselves possess the ability to recruit endogenous cells and lead to their enrichment by releasing several chemokines, which may contribute to angiogenesis and tissue repair[14,15]. Therefore, EVs are an appropriate and hopeful new source for tissue repair and regeneration.

In this review, we elaborate and discuss both the recent research progress and the advancements in the therapeutic effects and limitations of EVs in tissue regeneration and engineering medicine (Figure 1). Moreover, we summarize the underlying molecular mechanisms related to EV repair effects (Table 1) and point out the problems that need to be solved, application directions (Table 2), and prospects of EVs in the future.

## EVs

The discovery of EVs dates back to 1940, when a brand-new subcellular factor was identified in cell-free plasma by high-speed centrifugation. The subcellular fraction was identified and shown to consist of small vesicles by electron microscopy in the 1960s. The term "exosomes" was introduced when vesicles were isolated from cell supernatant in 1987, and these exosomes were found to be related to the removal of obsolete transmembrane proteins[10]. Currently, EVs are secreted by both normal cells and cancerous cells and act as a means of cell-to-cell communication. Signals are communicated through vesicle membrane proteins or by vesicle contents such as proteins, miRNAs, or long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs)[16].

Table 1 The mechanism of extracellular vesicles in the regeneration medicine			
	Source of EVs	Mechanism	
Kidney	MSC-EVs	Inhibiting oxidation, apoptosis, and inflammation	
	HLSC-EVs	Regulating angiogenesis, the cell cycle, regeneration,	
	BMSC-EVs	autophagy, proliferation[36-38,46]	
Liver disease	hiPSCs-EVs	Inhibiting hepatocyte apoptosis	
	Hepatocyte-EVs	Supporting hepatocyte function	
	MSC-EVs	Promoting angiogenesis	
		Reducing inflammatory responses[48-53]	
Cardiac muscle	ESCs-EVs	Vascularization	
	iPSCs-EVs	Amelioration of apoptosis and hypertrophy	
	MSCs-EVs	Promoting cell proliferation and migration[55-60]	
	CDCs-EVs		
	BMSC-EVs		
Tendon	BMSC-EVs	Modulating macrophage phenotypes	
	ADSC-EVs	Anti-inflammatory reaction	
		Enhancing proliferation, migration, tenogenic differen- tiation of TSCs	
		Regulating angiogenesis	
		Modulating immune responses[62-68]	
Wound healing	BMSC-EVs	Promoting re-epithelialization	
	ADSC-EVs	Promoting collagen maturity and angiogenesis	
	hENSC-EV	Enhancing cell proliferation and migration[69-74]	
	HUVECs-EVs		
	iPSC-EVs		
Tooth and periodontal tissue	BMSC-EVs	Modulating the inflammatory immune response	
	ADSC-EVs	Enhancing cell proliferation and migration	
	DPSC-EVs	Promoting odontogenic differentiation	
	DFC-EVs	Stem cell recruitment[76-83]	
	PDLSC-EVs		
	HERS-EVs		
	SC-EVs		
Nerve	SKP-SC-EVs	Mediating axon regeneration	
	BMSC-EVs	Regulating the phenotype of Schwann cells	
	ADSC-EVs	Promoting angiogenesis	
	GMSC-EVs	Regulating inflammatory reactions[84-94]	
Bone	ADSC-EVs	Angiogenesis	
	BMSC-EVs	Osteoblast proliferation	
	SMSC-EVs	Intercellular communication	
	PRP-EVs	Immune regulation[96-104]	

EVs: Extracellular vesicles; MSCs: Mesenchymal stem cells; HLSC: Human liver stem cells; hiPSCs: Human-induced pluripotent stem cells; ESCs: Embryonic stem cells; iPSCs: Induced pluripotent stem cells; CDCs: Cardiosphere-derived cells; hENSC: Human Endometrial stem cells; DPSC: Dental pulp stem cells; DFC: Dental follicle cell; PDLSC: Periodontal ligament stem cells; PRP: Platelet-rich plasma; SMSC: Synovium mesenchymal stem cells;

Baisbideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

HERS: Hertwig's epithelial root sheath; BMSC: Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell; ADSC: Adipose stem cells; GMSC: Gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cell; SKP-SC: Skin-derived precursor Schwann cells; TSC: Trophoblast stem cells.

Table 2 Extracellular vesicles investigated in clinical studies		
Research title	Interventions	Status
Treatment of Patients with Bone Tissue Defects Using Mesenchymal Stem Cells Enriched by Extracellular Vesicles	MSCs enriched by extracellular vesicles	Not yet recruiting
Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles Infusion Treatment for ARDS	Bone Marrow MSC Derived Extracellular	Not yet recruiting
Efficacy of Platelet- and Extracellular Vesicle-rich Plasma in Chronic Postsurgical Temporal Bone Inflammations	Plateletand extracellular vesicle-rich plasma	Completed
Use of Autologous Plasma Rich in Platelets and Extracellular Vesicles in the Surgical Treatment of Chronic Middle Ear Infections	Plateletand EVs-rich plasma	Recruiting
Extracellular Vesicle Infusion Treatment for COVID-19 Associated ARDS	ExoFlo	Completed
Safety of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Extracellular Vesicles (BMMSC- EVs) for the Treatment of Burn Wounds	Drug: AGLE-102 (BMMSC-EVs)	Not yet recruiting
Treatment of Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathies by Intravenous ExtracellularVesicles of CardiovascularProgenitor Cells	Extracellular vesicle-enriched secretome of cardiovascular progenitor cells differentiated from induced pluripotent stem cells	Not yet recruiting
Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles Infusion Treatment for Mild-to-Moderate COVID-19: A Phase II Clinical Trial	Drug: ExoFlo. Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles	Not yet recruiting
A Safety Study of IV Stem Cellderived Extracellular Vesicles (UNEX-42) in Preterm Neonates at High Risk for BPD	UNEX-42 is a preparation of extracellular vesicles that are secreted from human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells suspended in phosphate-buffered saline	Terminated
ExoFlo™ Infusion for Post-Acute COVID-19 and Chronic Post COVID-19 Syndrome	Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles	Not yet recruiting
Study of ExoFlo for the Treatment of Medically Refractory Ulcerative Colitis	ExoFlo. Intravenous administration of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles	Recruiting
Study of ExoFlo for the Treatment of Medically Refractory Crohn's Disease	ExoFlo. Intravenous administration of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles	Recruiting
Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived EVs for COVID-19 Moderate-to-Severe ARDS: A Phase III Clinical Trial	EXOFLO. Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived EVs	Recruiting
Pilot Study of Human Adipose Tissue Derived Exosomes Promoting Wound Healing	Adipose tissue derived exosomes	Not yet recruiting
Exosome Effect on Prevention of Hairloss	Placental Mesenchymal Stem Cells-derived Exosome	Recruiting
Expanded Access for Use of ExoFlo in Abdominal Solid Organ Transplant Patients	Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles Infusion Treatment	Not yet recruiting
Safety of Injection of Placental Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Exosomes for Treatment of Resistant Perianal Fistula in Crohn's Patients	Placenal MSC derived exosomes	Active, not recruiting
Safety and Efficacy of Injection of Human Placenta Mesenchymal Stem Cells Derived Exosomes for Treatment of Complex Anal Fistula	Placenta MSCs derived exosomes	Recruiting
Safety and Tolerability Study of MSC Exosome Ointment	Exosome ointment	Completed
The Pilot Experimental Study of the Neuroprotective Effects of Exosomes in Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants	Exosomes derived from MSCs	Not yet recruiting

ARDS: Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome; MSC: Mesenchymal stromal cells; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; EVs: Extracellular vesicles.

## Biogenesis and classification of EVs

EVs are classified by several traits, including their density, dimensions, and origin. Three subclasses of EVs have been reported recently. Although the sizes of these three main types of EVs may overlap, their biogenesis is different. Exosomes, whose dimensions range from 30-150 nm, are formed within the endosomal network, where endosomes target some protein/lipids for recycling or exocytosis. During early endosome transformation into late endosomes, proteins that are fated to be degraded or exported





DOI: 10.4252/wisc.v15.i4.165 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 The repair and regeneration effects of extracellular vesicles in different tissue and organs. EVs: Extracellular vesicles; MSCs: Mesenchymal stem cells.

> are packaged into vesicles. Late endosomes, which contain small vesicles, fuse with the plasma membrane and finally lead to the secretion of small vesicles, named exosomes, into the extracellular space[16]. Microvesicles/Ectosomes originate from vesicles budding outward and fission of the plasma membrane directly, which is a dynamic interplay between redistribution and cytoskeletal protein contraction. The size of microvesicles/ectosomes is larger than that of exosomes, ranging from 50-2000 nm. Apoptotic bodies, ranging from 500-40000 nm, are formed during programmed cell death and contain organelles.

## Isolation of EVs

Differential ultracentrifugation (UC), the gold standard EVs isolation approach, is the most reported and classical way to isolate EVs. Successive centrifugation was applied to eliminate large dead cells and cell debris. The supernatant acquired after successive centrifugation was used for another UC step at 100000 g to obtain the pellet related to EVs. The pellet was washed with PBS to obtain purified EVs[17]. UC has several advantages including low cost and low contamination risk with extra isolation reagents. UC is suitable for large volume preparation for its products is of high purity. However, UC is complicated, time-consuming and labor intensive. High speed centrifugation also may lead to potential mechanical damage. There are several isolation methods that can extract EVs in a more efficient way, including polymer-based precipitation[18], size exclusion chromatography (SEC)[19], ultrafiltration (UF)[20], flow field-flow fractionation[21], immunoaffinity capture[22], and microchip-based techniques [23]. Polymer-based precipitation is a commonly used strategy for EVs isolation. The principle of polymer-based precipitation is high hydrophilic water-excluding polymers can alternate the solubility of EVs. Highly hydrophilic polymers interact with water molecules surrounding the EVs to create a hydrophobic micro-environment, resulting in EVs precipitation[24]. Based on above principle, polyethylene glycol is well used in several popular commercial EVs isolation kits[25]. Polymer-based precipitation has high efficiency, but its products is easy to be contaminated by protein aggregates. SEC is according to the size of particle to realize the isolation. After adding to porous materials, substances eluted out in accordance with their particle size, with big particles eluted earlier[26]. Compared to UC, SEC is realized by the performance of passive gravity flow, which highly protect the structure and integrity of EVs[27]. UF uses filter membrane to isolate EVs from cell culture medium. Compared to traditional UC method, UF-based EVs isolation shortens time and presents relatively low requirements on experimental facilities. However, UF also has several shortages including the EVs production maybe limited due to clogging and membrane trapping[28,29]. Immunoaffinity capture is based on specific binding between EVs markers and immobilized antibodies such as Rab5, CD81, CD63, CD9, CD82, annexin, and Alix[30]. Immunoaffinity capture can harvest high-purity EVs with no chemical contamination. However, it is waste of antibodies and low yields[26]. The combination of the above methods is



also applied in the isolation of EVs. Moreover, there are several kits that are available for EV isolation, including ExoQuick and Total Exosome Isolation kits. However, the purity and quality of isolated EVs are extremely important because some soluble proteins or lipoproteins may be coisolated with EVs, leading to inaccurate experimental results. Therefore, isolation methods are of critical importance. Among all the methods, UC and UF followed by SEC are reported to be the most appropriate isolation methods because they can isolate high-purity and high-quality EVs[31,32].

#### Characteristics of EVs

EVs carry several specific surface markers, including proteins related to the cell membrane, annexin, flotillin and auxiliary proteins. Annexins and tetraspanins such as CD9, CD63 and CD81, which are often used for the identification of EVs, are located in the membrane of EVs. Moreover, EVs express ALIX, tumor susceptibility gene 101, VPS4 and heat shock proteins (HSP70 and HSP 90), which are associated with the biogenesis of EVs. EVs are encapsulated in a bilayer membrane, which can help in the safe transfer of their contents to secondary cells. Once released into the extracellular environment, EVs interact with recipient cells in three ways: (1) Endocytic uptake; (2) direct fusion with cells; and (3) adhesion to the cell surface and transmission of contents[4]. Among their contents, EVs are reported to contain large-scale genetic materials, such as mRNA, that play critical roles in cell-to-cell communication. miRNAs that are transferred by EVs also have an impact on biological functions, including cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation of recipient cells. EVs also carry several types of lipids that are related to EV structure, function and biogenesis<sup>[3]</sup>. In conclusion, EVs are heterogeneous and are composed of a bilayer membrane surrounding cargos that are indispensable for cell interactions.

# REPAIR AND REGENERATION EFFECTS OF EVS

#### Kidney

Acute kidney injury (AKI) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) are two major causes of renal failure and exert great pressure on public health. AKI, the most common features of which are the rapid loss of renal tubular cells and a decline in renal function, usually leads to hospitalization[33]. As research has progressed, evidence has shown that MSC-EVs play a major role in treating AKI. EVs were first proven to be effective against AKI in 2009[34]. The intravenous administration of EVs not only alleviated or even reversed the detrimental effect on renal function caused by glycerol injection in an AKI model but also improved renal function and morphology by stimulating the proliferation of tubular epithelial cells (TECs)[35]. In a renal ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury AKI model, MSC-EVs accumulated in the renal tubules and facilitated with the recovery of kidney function through the Keap1-Nrf2 signaling pathway as well as the mitochondrial function of TECs[36]. Studies have also shown that EVs can reduce the presence of luminal cell debris, tubular hyaline casts and necrosis of tubular cells in an AKI model induced by toxins[37]. Moreover, EVs released by cells that were cultured under hypoxia could stimulate angiogenesis and help the formation of the peritubular microvasculature[38]. Furthermore, MSC-EVs attenuated mtDNA damage and inflammation after AKI through the mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) pathway. MSC-EVs could attenuate renal lesion formation, mitochondrial damage, and inflammation in mice with AKI. TFAM overexpression (TFAM-OE) improved the rescue effect of MSC-EVs on mitochondrial damage and inflammation to some extent[39]. In general, MSC-EVs can relieve AKI not only by inhibiting oxidation, apoptosis, and inflammation, but also through regulating angiogenesis, cell cycle, autophagy, and cell proliferation[38]. There are multiple underlying mechanisms. Currently, it is believed that the repair effects of EVs on AKI are largely related to their transfer of genetic material and proteins[40].

CKD is a complex and long-term disease. The main trigger that causes CKD is diabetes. Hyperglycemia leads to glomerular and tubulointerstitial fibrosis, and the progression of fibrosis is the main reason for renal dysfunction<sup>[41]</sup>. Renal glomerulosclerosis and tubulointerstitial fibrosis are hallmarks of all types of CKD, including diabetic nephropathy (DN). Recent studies have shown that EVs are effective for the prevention of DN. For example, EVs can protect podocytes and TECs from apoptosis by secreting protective proteins, including transforming growth factor (TGF)-β1 and angiogenin<sup>[42]</sup>. Another study found that EVs derived from human liver stem cells (HLSCs) and MSCs could reduce or even revert the progression of profibrotic processes and finally ameliorate renal dysfunction and attenuate renal histopathological changes [43]. Moreover, studies have shown that EVs can ameliorate DN by inducing autophagy induction through the mTOR pathway. Rat bone marrowderived EVs present nephroprotective and antifibrotic effects by upregulating autophagy through suppressing the mTOR pathway in a DN model[44]. Furthermore, HLSC-derived EVs could also prevent the development of CKD. HLSC-EVs not only present a regenerative and anti-inflammatory role but also downregulate profibrotic genes, including alpha smooth muscle actin, Col1a1 and TGF-β1, and modulate miRNAs that are related to the fibrotic pathway in the kidney of an aristolochic acidinduced CKD model[45]. In conclusion, MSC-EVs can eliminate the pathogenic damage of CKD by targeting renal fibrosis, reducing tubular atrophy and inflammation, and promoting angiogenesis to



facilitate with tissue regeneration [46]. EVs present a promising approach for renal repair and regeneration. Some evidence based on clinical trials has shown that EVs are safe and effective for CKD patients<sup>[47]</sup>.

## Liver disease

Liver dysfunction is classified into acute and chronic diseases, including hepatitis, alcoholic liver disease, fatty liver disease, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver failure can manifest with several symptoms, such as jaundice, encephalopathy, cerebral edema, sepsis, and gastrointestinal bleeding, and its prognosis is relatively limited. Currently, liver transplantation is still the gold-standard therapy for liver diseases; however, it has many limitations, such as nonspecific treatment approaches, donor organ shortages and lifelong immunosuppressive therapy[48]. Although the liver possesses a great capacity for regeneration through the proliferation of mature liver cells, it can lose its function and lead to severe results when the injury progresses into a state of functional impairment, which may finally lead to liver failure or even death[49]. EVs can prevent further damage to injured liver cells. Studies have reported that EVs can reduce liver injury based on alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase levels after CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced liver impairment in vivo. Moreover, EVs promoted hepatocyte regeneration gene expression and PCNA<sup>+</sup> expression and induced quiescent hepatocytes to re-enter the cell cycle, ultimately assisting with hepatocyte proliferation. Another report showed that EVs derived from human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) could alleviate hepatic I/R injury by suppressing inflammatory responses, attenuating the oxidative stress response and inhibiting cell apoptosis<sup>[50]</sup>. Furthermore, Du et al<sup>[51]</sup> found that hiPSC-derived EVs could alleviate hepatic I/R injury by activating sphingosine kinase and the sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway in hepatocytes and ultimately promote cell proliferation<sup>[51]</sup>. EVs can not only be therapeutic but can also serve as diagnostic tools for liver disease and regeneration in the near future. A report outlined that hepatocytederived EVs played a key role in hepatocyte-to-hepatocyte communication and provided a new method for liver disease diagnosis, and progenitor cell-derived EVs offered a new opportunity for the treatment of liver diseases[52]. In conclusion, recent evidence supports that MSC-derived EVs inhibit hepatocyte apoptosis, support hepatocyte function, promote angiogenesis and hepatocyte proliferation, and reduce inflammatory responses by preventing immunocyte infiltration and inflammatory cytokine secretion [48]. In addition, animal model-based studies suggest that EVs may represent a novel and effective cellfree therapeutic agent as an alternative to cell-based therapies for patients with liver diseases[53].

### Cardiac muscle regeneration

Myocardial repair and regeneration are important in the context of the increasing occurrence of heart failure and cardiac-related diseases. Key mechanisms related to cardiac repair and regeneration include survival and protection, inflammation reduction, angiogenesis, cardiomyogenesis and cell-cell communication. All these mechanisms work collectively and contribute to cardiac regeneration[54]. However, myocardial repair is slow and limited. Stem cell-based therapies have acted as an effective method for cardiac repair. Moreover, EVs, a key component of stem cell secretion, bring new hope to cell-free therapies for cardiac repair and regeneration. EVs of embryonic stem cells, iPSCs, MSCs, and cardiosphere-derived cells (CDCs) have been proven to be effective in cardiac repair[55]. Recent research has shown that EVs derived from murine iPSCs impart cytoprotective properties to cardiac cells in vitro and induce cardiac repair in vivo through vascularization, amelioration of apoptosis and hypertrophy and improvement in left ventricular function[56]. Moreover, iPSC-EVs contained numerous miRNAs (miR-17-92 cluster) and proteins [BMP-4, teratocarcinoma-derived growth factor 1 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C] that are related to cellular proliferation and differentiation, enhanced angiogenesis, and the prevention of apoptosis. Therefore, iPSC-EVs could induce angiogenesis, migration and anti-apoptosis of cardiac endothelial cells and finally induce superior infarct repair[56]. MSC-derived EVs also play a critical role in MSC-based therapy in cardiac diseases. Bian et al<sup>[57]</sup> found that intramyocardial injection of MSC-EVs could markedly enhance blood flow recovery in an acute myocardial infarction (MI) rat model. MSC-EVs could protect cardiac tissue from ischemic injury by promoting blood vessel formation. Receptors for growth factors, cytokines and signaling molecules are contained in EVs, among which Sonic hedgehog and platelet-derived growth factors have been proven to be effective for proangiogenic activities. The results of direct comparisons between MSCs and MSC-EVs have highlighted the beneficial effects of EVs. EVs also present a safer profile than their cells of origin because EV injection does not produce tumors[56]. Moreover, combinatorial treatment with both MSCs and their derived EVs exhibits advantages in MI treatment. Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) and their derived EVs improved cardiac function and reduced infarct size when compared to groups treated with BMSCs or EVs alone[57]. CDC exosomes were proven to enhance angiogenesis and promote cardiomyocyte survival and proliferation. Moreover, CDC exosomes improved cardiac function and imparted structural benefits after MI. miR-146a was the most highly enriched in CDC exosomes and mediated some of the therapeutic benefits of CDC exosomes[58]. EVs combined with biomaterials present better effects for the treatment of cardiac disease. Studies have shown that MSC-derived EVs incorporated into alginate hydrogels are a sustained delivery system that allows for better retention of EVs in the heart in vivo than EV single injection. EVs-Gel has a good effect on promoting angiogenesis, reducing the apoptosis and fibrosis of cardiac tissue,



enhancing scar thickness and improving cardiac function[59]. Another study showed that selfassembling peptide hydrogel-encapsulated exosomes could also promote cardiac repair due to the better retention and stability of EVs[60]. In general, EVs combined with biomaterials provide a novel approach for cell-free therapy and optimization of the therapeutic effects of EVs in MI.

#### Tendon regeneration

Tendons are soft tissues that connect muscles to bones. Tendon diseases and injuries have high morbidity owing to various sports and exercises. The effects of treatments for tendon diseases are limited due to the limited regenerative capacity of tendons. Current treatments for tendon injuries, including surgery and conservative treatments, always have side effects, including secondary injury and scar formation. Therefore, the ideal treatment is to promote tendon regeneration[61]. There are three important stages of tendon healing: Inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling. Suppression of the inflammatory response is critical for tendon repair[62,63]. Research has found that BMSC-EVs may help improving tendon healing by regulating macrophage phenotypes, creating anti-inflammatory environment, promoting apoptotic cell accumulation, and increasing the ratio of tendon resident stem/ progenitor cells[64]. Moreover, EV-educated macrophages (EEMs), a kind of M2-like macrophage treated by EVs, present a more functional and regenerative ability to heal tendons. EVs isolated from MSCs were able to reduce the M1/M2 macrophage ratio and increase the number of endothelial cells 14 days after tendon injury. Injured tendons treated with exogenous EEMs presented improved mechanical properties, reduced inflammation and earlier angiogenesis[62]. Furthermore, Yu et al[29] found that BMSC-EVs could promote the proliferation, migration and tenogenic differentiation ability of tendon stem/progenitor cells (TSPCs). BMSC-derived EVs could activate the regenerative potential of endogenous TSPCs in tendon injury sites. EVs embedded in fibrin glue may allow the sustained release of EVs in injured regions and promote the regeneration of patellar tendon tissue in rats[15]. In addition to BMSCs, ADSC-EVs can also promote the proliferation and migration of tendon cells, reduce fatty infiltration, promote tendon-bone healing, improve the biomechanical properties of the tendon-bone junction and improve the mechanical strength of the repaired tendon[65,66]. The overexpression of H19 can enhance tendon regeneration potential. As an ideal drug carrier, EVs are a reliable delivery method to transmit lncRNAs. Reports have shown that engineered EVs with overload of H19 can regulate tendon regeneration by activating YAP through the H9-pp1-YAP axis[67]. In conclusion, MSC-EVs facilitate tendon regeneration by inhibiting apoptosis as well as enhancing the proliferation, migration and tenogenic differentiation of tendon stem cells and tenocytes. In addition, they can also regulate angiogenesis and modulate immune responses and extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling of tendon tissue[68]. These results indicate that EVs have broad prospects in tendon repair and regeneration.

## Skin and wound healing

EVs are currently widely used in wound healing and skin regeneration. EVs can participate in four stages of wound healing, namely, hemostasis, inflammatory response, cell proliferation and remodeling [69]. Both ADSC-EVs and BMSC-EVs exert benefits on cells related to skin wound healing, including fibroblasts, keratinocytes and endothelial cells, in different ways. BMSC-EVs mainly promote proliferation, whereas ADSC-EVs have a major effect on angiogenesis. BMSC-EVs and ADSC-EVs presented synergistic effects on wound healing<sup>[70]</sup>. Great progress has been made in the field of wound healing with the rapid development of the combination of EVs and biomaterials. EVs and glycerol hydrogels have synergistic effects on the proliferation of human skin fibroblasts. The full-thickness excisional wound model in mice showed that the fibrosis, vascularization, and epithelial thickness of wounds reached a maximum level after treatment with EV-loaded hydrogels. Moreover, research has found that EVs derived from human endometrial stem cells (hENSCs) contain several growth factors, including VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor and TGF-1, which benefit angiogenesis. hENSC-EV-loaded chitosan hydrogel has positive impacts on wound healing by promoting angiogenesis and tissue granulation formation. hENSC-EV-loaded chitosan hydrogel could be an ideal scaffold for skin wound dressing and skin tissue regeneration[71]. EVs derived from HUVECs (HUVECs-EVs) could promote the proliferation and migration activities of keratinocytes and fibroblasts, which are two critical cells for skin regeneration. Gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogel scaffolds combined with HUVEC-EVs could not only repair wound defects but could also achieve sustained release of EVs, which promoted reepithelialization, collagen maturity and angiogenesis that ultimately contributed to wound healing[72]. In addition to wound healing and skin regeneration, EVs also play critical roles in skin aging and several skin diseases. For example, ADSC-EVs can relieve atopic dermatitis. ADSC-EVs can also promote cuticle hydration and ceramide synthesis and significantly reduce the secretion of inflammatory cytokines [interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-13, and IL-17] when applied in vivo[73]. Moreover, ADSCs could protect against oxidative stress by promoting the proliferation of human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) and inhibiting reactive oxygen species and MMP production via the secretion of various cytokines. ADSC-EVs might be potential therapeutic tools for addressing the problem of photoaging [74]. Studies have also shown that EVs derived from human iPSCs could regulate the genotypic and phenotypic changes of HDFs induced by UV photoaging and natural aging. EVs derived from human iPSCs affected cellular responses related to skin aging, including the expression levels of MMP-1 and type I collagen and the proliferation and migratory ability of HDFs. iPSC-EVs can mediate intracellular


transportation and reconstruct the matrix in aging skin by enhancing the expression of structural proteins and regulating the expression of age-related proteins<sup>[75]</sup>. In general, EVs serve as efficient carriers of molecular cargos for wound healing and skin regenerative medicine.

#### Tooth and periodontal regeneration

EVs have been widely used in the repair of dental tissue, including dental pulp, dentin and periodontal tissue. Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs)-EVs can bind to matrix proteins such as type I collagen and fibronectin, enabling them to be tethered to biomaterials. EVs are endocytosed by both DPSCs and human MSCs in a dose-dependent and saturable manner via the caveolar endocytic mechanism and trigger the P38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. In addition, EVs can trigger the increased expression of genes required for odontogenic differentiation. In the generated pulp tissue, DPSC-EVs can also promote the expression of several growth-promoting factors, including TBG- $\beta$  and BMP-2, which ultimately promote the repair of dental pulp tissue[76]. Moreover, DPSC-EVs can promote the proliferation and angiogenesis of vascular endothelial cells by activating the P38/MAPK pathway, which provides the possibility for the regeneration of vascular pulp tissue[77]. SC-EVs could promote DPSC proliferation and enhance neurite outgrowth, neuron migration, and vessel formation in vitro. SC-EVs facilitate dental pulp regeneration through endogenous stem cell recruitment via the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis without exogenous cell transplantation[78]. In addition to SC-EVs, EVs derived from Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells could trigger regeneration of dental pulp-dentin-like tissue composed of hard (regenerative dentin-like tissue) and soft (blood vessel and neuron) tissue in an in vivo tooth root slice model by activating the Wnt pathway[79]. Periodontitis is the primary cause of tooth loss, but there is no effective treatment to repair inflammatory bone loss in periodontitis. In terms of periodontal tissue regeneration, studies have shown that EVs secreted by periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) are therapeutics for bone defects in periodontitis. EVs derived from healthy PDLSCs could rescue the osteogenesis capacity of endogenous stem cells under an inflammatory environment and promote the regeneration of alveolar bone by recovering the osteogenic differentiation ability of inflammatory PDLSCs through the inhinbitation of canonical Wnt signaling[80]. BMSC-EVs are also an ideal cell-free strategy for periodontal regeneration. BMSC-EVs could promote the regeneration of periodontal tissues through the OPG-RANKL-RANK signaling pathway to regulate the function of osteoclasts and affect macrophage polarization and TGF-β1 expression to modulate the inflammatory immune response, thereby inhibiting the development of periodontitis and immune damage in periodontal tissue[81]. Furthermore, the therapeutic effect of ADSC-EVs was the same as that of periodontal surgery in a rat periodontitis model [82]. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced dental follicle cell-derived EVs (L-D-EVs) could promote the proliferation of periodontal ligament cells. L-D-EVloaded hydrogel applied in the treatment of periodontitis was beneficial to repairing lost alveolar bone in the early stage of treatment and maintaining the level of alveolar bone in the late stage of treatment in experimental periodontitis rats by decreasing the expression of the RANKL/OPG ratio in vivo[83]. EVs are presented as a novel cell-free therapeutic strategy for both dental pulp and periodontal regeneration.

### Nerve regeneration

Neurological dysfunction usually causes great physical and psychological distress for patients. Autologous nerve transplantation is widely accepted as the gold standard for peripheral nerve repair, but its inherent defects greatly reduce its availability. Regeneration of peripheral nerves after injury remains a great challenge for researchers. EVs play a fundamental role in the physiological and pathological processes of the nervous system. There is growing evidence that EVs can play a neurotherapeutic role by mediating axon regeneration, activating SCs, promoting angiogenesis, and regulating inflammatory reactions. EVs from skin-derived precursor SCs (SKP-SC-EVs) could promote neurite outgrowth of sensory and motor neurons via the AKT/mTOR/p70S6K pathway in vitro[84,85]. SKP-SC-EV-incorporating silicone conduit nerve grafts could significantly accelerate the recovery of motor, sensory, and electrophysiological functions of rats; facilitate outgrowth and myelination of regenerated axons; and alleviate denervation-induced atrophy of target muscles, which raises the possibility of cell-free therapy in nerve regeneration[86]. Moreover, repair SCs (rSCs) could also release pro-regenerative EVs. Neuronal activity enhances the release of rSC-derived EVs and their transfer to neurons via the ATP-P2Y signaling pathway [87]. Mechanical stimuli could control the intercellular communication between neurons and SCs by changing the composition of miRNA in SC-EVs. MS-SC-EVs transferd miR-23b-3p from mechanically stimulated SCs to neurons, and lead the inhibition of neuronal Nrp1 expression, which was indicated the beneficial effect of MS-SC-EVs on axonal regeneration, and provided evidence for the role of miR-23b-3p-enriched EVs in peripheral nerve injury repair[88]. BMSC-EVs could promote the functional recovery of sciatic nerve injury and increase the expression of GAP-43, a marker of axon regeneration[89]. BMSC-EVs can also promote nerve regeneration by regulating the miRNA mediated genes which related to regeneration, such as vascular endothelial growth factor A and S100b[90]. In addition to BMSC-EVs, ADSC-EVs also benefited nerve regeneration. ADSC-EVs could increase neurite outgrowth in vitro and enhance regeneration after sciatic nerve injury in vivo[91]. Furthermore, ADSC-EVs contained mRNAs of neurotrophic factors, including NGR, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, ciliary neurotrophic factor and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor. ADSC-EVs could deliver mRNAs as well as microRNAs that facilitate with neurotrophic factor



secretion and proliferation, support the SC repair phenotype, and provide a solid therapeutic evidence for nerve regeneration[92]. Gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cell (GMSC)-derived EVs could obviously promote axonal regeneration and functional recovery of injured mouse sciatic nerves. GMSCderived EVs promoted the expression of SC dedifferentiation/repair phenotype-related genes in vitro, particularly c-JUN, a key transcription factor that drives the activation of the repair phenotype of SCs during PNI and regeneration<sup>[93]</sup>. Revascularization treatment is a critical measure for nerve repair. A report revealed that EVs derived from hypoxic preconditioned HUVECs could facilitate MSC angiogenesis activity and the anti-inflammatory impacts of MSCs, which contribute to in vivo effective nerve tissue repair after rat spinal cord transection and provide inspiration for therapies based on stem cells and EVs[94]. In general, EVs are an effective therapeutic tool in nerve regeneration by mediating axon regeneration, regulating the phenotype of SCs, promoting angiogenesis, and regulating inflammatory reactions.

#### Bone regeneration

EVs play four potential roles in bone regeneration, namely, angiogenesis, osteoblast proliferation, intercellular communication, and immune regulation. EV-mediated intercellular communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts may represent a novel mechanism of bone modeling and remodeling. EVs transmit signals between osteoblasts and osteoclasts to regulate bone remodeling. Osteoblasts release RANKL-containing EVs, which are transferred to precursor osteoclasts and promote osteoclast formation by stimulating RANKL-RANK signaling[95]. MSC-derived EVs (MSC-exos), with their inherent capacity to modulate cellular behavior, are emerging as a novel cell-free therapy for bone regeneration. Reports have revealed that EVs derived from osteoinductive BMSCs (BMSC-OL-EVs) contribute to bone regeneration via multicomponent exosomal miRNAs (let-7a-5p, let-7c-5p, miR-328a-5p and miR-31a-5p), which target Acvr2b/Acvr1 and regulate the competitive balance of Bmpr2/ Acvr2b toward Bmpr-elicited Smad1/5/9 phosphorylation[96]. Moreover, lyophilized delivery of BMSC-OI-EVs on hierarchical mesoporous bioactive glass scaffolds showed the possibility of bone regeneration in a rat cranial defect model[96]. Umbilical MSC-derived exosomes (uMSCEXOs) also showed great promise in bone regeneration. uMSCEXOs encapsulated in hyaluronic acid hydrogel and combined with customized nanohydroxyapatite/poly-ɛ-caprolactone (nHP) scaffolds could repair cranial defects in rats by promoting the proliferation, migration, and angiogenic differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells via the miR-21/NOTCH1/DLL4 signaling axis[97]. Compared to EVs derived from uMSCs exposed to normoxia, EVs derived from uMSCs treated with hypoxia promoted angiogenesis, proliferation, and migration to a greater extent. Hypo-Exos facilitated with the recovery of bone fracture by exosomal miR-126 and the SPRED1/Ras/Erk signaling pathway. In addition, hypoxia preconditioning promote the transferring of exosomal miR-126 through the activation of hypoxiainducible factor-1α. Hypoxia preconditioning is an effective and promising approach for optimizing the therapeutic actions of MSC-derived exosomes for bone fracture healing[98]. Moreover, the comparison between adipose, bone marrow, and synovium-derived EVs (ADSC-EVs, BMSC-EVs, and SMSC-EVs, respectively) showed that ADSC-EVs, BMSC-EVs, and SMSC-EVs could facilitate the viability and migration of MSCs and possessed favorable capacities for chondrogenesis and osteogenesis. Among these three types of EVs, ADSC-EVs presented the best performance. The different effects between ADSC-EVs, BMSC-EVs, and SMSC-EVs could be attributed to the different factors associated with the focal adhesion, ECM-receptor interaction, actin cytoskeleton regulation, cAMP, and PI3K-Akt signaling pathways[99]. EVs constitutively expressing BMP2 could facilitate the effects of bone regeneration. BMP-engineered EVs potentiate the BMP2 signaling cascade, possibly due to an altered miRNA composition. EV functionality may be engineered by genetic modification of the parental MSCs to induce osteoinduction and bone regeneration [100]. EVs combined with biomaterials present a better effect on bone repair. Three-dimensional engineered scaffolds (PLAs) complexed with human gingival MSCs have therapeutic effects that can improve bone tissue regeneration[101]. EVs combined with tricalcium phosphate-modified scaffolds can promote osteogenic differentiation of cells and promote the recovery of cranial defects in vivo by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway[102]. In addition to bone regeneration, MSC-EVs or platelet-rich plasma-derived EVs also have high therapeutic value for treating osteoarthritis by suppressing the inflammatory immune microenvironment. BMSC-derived exosomes can effectively promote cartilage repair and extracellular matrix synthesis and alleviate knee pain in OA rats[103]. In addition, the modification of EVs and the combination of EVs with biomaterials can enhance targeting effects and extend retention which contribute to an effectively treatment of OA [104].

# PROSPECTS AND CHALLENGES OF EVS IN TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE

Previous studies based on EVs have shed new light on the application of EVs in tissue regeneration, but there are some major problems that still need to be solved in the clinical translation of EVs. First, the storage of EVs is unstable. EVs can be stored at 80 °C for several months; however, the pH value of the storage solution and freeze-thaw cycles can affect EV activity. The transport and storage conditions of



EVs need to be further studied. Second, there is no effective method to isolate purified EVs in large quantities. At present, EVs are extracted mainly by UC, immunoadsorption, precipitation or microfluidic separation and are easily contaminated by proteins. Nowadays, there are several strategies to enhance the purity and quality of harvested EVs. From the perspective of stimulation of EVs secretion, many factors including protein regulations, thermal and oxidative stress, oxygen concentration, low pH (< 6.0), radiation, starvation can enhance the secretion of EVs from cells[105]. From the perspective of the methods of EVs isolation, how to simplify the isolation procedure and improve the EVs yield are the main two obstructions in the research field of EVs. Recent report reveals that the isolation procedure of EVs may be simplified with the improvement of newly EVs separation techniques including immunoaffinity, chromatography and polymer precipitation[106]. Moreover, with the development of commercial EVs isolation kits, EVs also can be extracted from limited sample in a short period of time. Artificial EVs is another way to realize large scale EVs generation. Artificial EVs generation technologies use the physical forces or chemicals (nitrogen cavitation<sup>[107]</sup>, extrusion via porous membrane[108], sonication[109]) to break cells and release the cellular components. With reconstitution of the released lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids, artificial EVs can be generated in large quantity[105].

Moreover, improving the therapeutic efficiency of EVs is also a great challenge for applying EVs to clinical use. EV surface engineering can realize the EVs selective enrichment in specific cells and potentially tissues by introduction of targeting moieties[110]. To improve the therapeutic effects of EVs, a variety of methods (active drug loading, passive modification, electroporation, acoustic degradation, chemical transfection, *etc.*) can be used to modify EVs. Moreover, Cytochalasin B treatment and osmotic pressure can enhance the production of EVs with improved drug loading capacity[111]. Engineered EVs are a new strategy to enhance the expression of targeted proteins of EV-related RNA. These engineered EVs with specific targeted biomolecules can be used specifically for different therapeutic purposes, including as *in vivo* tracers or in targeted cell tracking, which could improve the efficacy of disease therapy and tissue regeneration.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, EVs are intelligent and controllable biomaterials that can participate in a variety of physiological and pathological activities, tissue repair and regeneration by transmitting a variety of biological signals, showing great potential in cell-free tissue regeneration. Engineered EVs, which represent a clean, highly purified, and highly controllable means of achieving the sustained release of drugs, have broad prospects in future tissue regeneration engineering.

# FOOTNOTES

**Author contributions:** Wang DR and Pan J wrote the manuscript; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

**Supported by** The Interdisciplinary and Intercollege Research Project of the State Key Laboratory of Oral Disease, Sichuan University, No. 2021KXK0403; and Health Commission of Sichuan Province, No. 21PJ062.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Dian-Ri Wang 0000-0001-8128-7637; Jian Pan 0000-0003-1346-048X.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Fan JR

Zaishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# REFERENCES

- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Armstrong L, Djonov V, Lako M, Stojkovic M. Ethical and Safety Issues of Stem Cell-Based Therapy. Int J Med Sci 2018; 15: 36-45 [PMID: 29333086 DOI: 10.7150/ijms.21666]
- 2 MacPherson A, Kimmelman J. Ethical development of stem-cell-based interventions. Nat Med 2019; 25: 1037-1044 [PMID: 31270501 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-019-0511-6]
- 3 Tsiapalis D, O'Driscoll L. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Extracellular Vesicles for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine Applications. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32316248 DOI: 10.3390/cells9040991]
- Keshtkar S, Azarpira N, Ghahremani MH. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: novel frontiers in 4 regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res Ther 2018; 9: 63 [PMID: 29523213 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-018-0791-7]
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 2013; 200: 373-383 5 [PMID: 23420871 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.201211138]
- Ludwig AK, Giebel B. Exosomes: small vesicles participating in intercellular communication. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 6 2012; 44: 11-15 [PMID: 22024155 DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.10.005]
- Yuana Y, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Extracellular vesicles in physiological and pathological conditions. Blood Rev 2013; 27: 7 31-39 [PMID: 23261067 DOI: 10.1016/j.blre.2012.12.002]
- 8 Yáñez-Mó M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borràs FE, Buzas EI, Buzas K, Casal E, Cappello F, Carvalho J, Colás E, Cordeiro-da Silva A, Fais S, Falcon-Perez JM, Ghobrial IM, Giebel B, Gimona M, Graner M, Gursel I, Gursel M, Heegaard NH, Hendrix A, Kierulf P, Kokubun K, Kosanovic M, Kralj-Iglic V, Krämer-Albers EM, Laitinen S, Lässer C, Lener T, Ligeti E, Linē A, Lipps G, Llorente A, Lötvall J, Manček-Keber M, Marcilla A, Mittelbrunn M, Nazarenko I, Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Nyman TA, O'Driscoll L, Olivan M, Oliveira C, Pállinger É, Del Portillo HA, Reventós J, Rigau M, Rohde E, Sammar M, Sánchez-Madrid F, Santarém N, Schallmoser K, Ostenfeld MS, Stoorvogel W, Stukelj R, Van der Grein SG, Vasconcelos MH, Wauben MH, De Wever O. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. J Extracell Vesicles 2015; 4: 27066 [PMID: 25979354 DOI: 10.3402/jev.v4.27066]
- Liu Y, Wang Y, Lv Q, Li X. Exosomes: From garbage bins to translational medicine. Int J Pharm 2020; 583: 119333 9 [PMID: 32348800 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119333]
- van der Pol E, Böing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of 10 extracellular vesicles. Pharmacol Rev 2012; 64: 676-705 [PMID: 22722893 DOI: 10.1124/pr.112.005983]
- Théry C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, Antoniou A, Arab T, Archer F, Atkin-11 Smith GK, Ayre DC, Bach JM, Bachurski D, Baharvand H, Balaj L, Baldacchino S, Bauer NN, Baxter AA, Bebawy M, Beckham C, Bedina Zavec A, Benmoussa A, Berardi AC, Bergese P, Bielska E, Blenkiron C, Bobis-Wozowicz S, Boilard E, Boireau W, Bongiovanni A, Borràs FE, Bosch S, Boulanger CM, Breakefield X, Breglio AM, Brennan MÁ, Brigstock DR, Brisson A, Broekman ML, Bromberg JF, Bryl-Górecka P, Buch S, Buck AH, Burger D, Busatto S, Buschmann D, Bussolati B, Buzás EI, Byrd JB, Camussi G, Carter DR, Caruso S, Chamley LW, Chang YT, Chen C, Chen S, Cheng L, Chin AR, Clayton A, Clerici SP, Cocks A, Cocucci E, Coffey RJ, Cordeiro-da-Silva A, Couch Y, Coumans FA, Coyle B, Crescitelli R, Criado MF, D'Souza-Schorey C, Das S, Datta Chaudhuri A, de Candia P, De Santana EF, De Wever O, Del Portillo HA, Demaret T, Deville S, Devitt A, Dhondt B, Di Vizio D, Dieterich LC, Dolo V, Dominguez Rubio AP, Dominici M, Dourado MR, Driedonks TA, Duarte FV, Duncan HM, Eichenberger RM, Ekström K, El Andaloussi S, Elie-Caille C, Erdbrügger U, Falcón-Pérez JM, Fatima F, Fish JE, Flores-Bellver M, Försönits A, Frelet-Barrand A, Fricke F, Fuhrmann G, Gabrielsson S, Gámez-Valero A, Gardiner C, Gärtner K, Gaudin R, Gho YS, Giebel B, Gilbert C, Gimona M, Giusti I, Goberdhan DC, Görgens A, Gorski SM, Greening DW, Gross JC, Gualerzi A, Gupta GN, Gustafson D, Handberg A, Haraszti RA, Harrison P, Hegyesi H, Hendrix A, Hill AF, Hochberg FH, Hoffmann KF, Holder B, Holthofer H, Hosseinkhani B, Hu G, Huang Y, Huber V, Hunt S, Ibrahim AG, Ikezu T, Inal JM, Isin M, Ivanova A, Jackson HK, Jacobsen S, Jay SM, Jayachandran M, Jenster G, Jiang L, Johnson SM, Jones JC, Jong A, Jovanovic-Talisman T, Jung S, Kalluri R, Kano SI, Kaur S, Kawamura Y, Keller ET, Khamari D, Khomyakova E, Khvorova A, Kierulf P, Kim KP, Kislinger T, Klingeborn M, Klinke DJ 2nd, Kornek M, Kosanović MM, Kovács ÁF, Krämer-Albers EM, Krasemann S, Krause M, Kurochkin IV, Kusuma GD, Kuypers S, Laitinen S, Langevin SM, Languino LR, Lannigan J, Lässer C, Laurent LC, Lavieu G, Lázaro-Ibáñez E, Le Lay S, Lee MS, Lee YXF, Lemos DS, Lenassi M, Leszczynska A, Li IT, Liao K, Libregts SF, Ligeti E, Lim R, Lim SK, Linē A, Linnemannstöns K, Llorente A, Lombard CA, Lorenowicz MJ, Lörincz ÁM, Lötvall J, Lovett J, Lowry MC, Loyer X, Lu Q, Lukomska B, Lunavat TR, Maas SL, Malhi H, Marcilla A, Mariani J, Mariscal J, Martens-Uzunova ES, Martin-Jaular L, Martinez MC, Martins VR, Mathieu M, Mathivanan S, Maugeri M, McGinnis LK, McVey MJ, Meckes DG Jr, Meehan KL, Mertens I, Minciacchi VR, Möller A, Møller Jørgensen M, Morales-Kastresana A, Morhayim J, Mullier F, Muraca M, Musante L, Mussack V, Muth DC, Myburgh KH, Najrana T, Nawaz M, Nazarenko I, Nejsum P, Neri C, Neri T, Nieuwland R, Nimrichter L, Nolan JP, Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Noren Hooten N, O'Driscoll L, O'Grady T, O'Loghlen A, Ochiya T, Olivier M, Ortiz A, Ortiz LA, Osteikoetxea X, Østergaard O, Ostrowski M, Park J, Pegtel DM, Peinado H, Perut F, Pfaffl MW, Phinney DG, Pieters BC, Pink RC, Pisetsky DS, Pogge von Strandmann E, Polakovicova I, Poon IK, Powell BH, Prada I, Pulliam L, Quesenberry P, Radeghieri A, Raffai RL, Raimondo S, Rak J, Ramirez MI, Raposo G, Rayyan MS, Regev-Rudzki N, Ricklefs FL, Robbins PD, Roberts DD, Rodrigues SC, Rohde E, Rome S, Rouschop KM, Rughetti A, Russell AE, Saá P, Sahoo S, Salas-Huenuleo E, Sánchez C, Saugstad JA, Saul MJ, Schiffelers RM, Schneider R, Schøyen TH, Scott A, Shahaj E, Sharma S, Shatnyeva O, Shekari F, Shelke GV, Shetty AK, Shiba K, Siljander PR, Silva AM, Skowronek A, Snyder OL 2nd, Soares RP, Sódar BW, Soekmadji C, Sotillo J, Stahl PD, Stoorvogel W, Stott SL, Strasser EF, Swift S, Tahara H, Tewari M, Timms K, Tiwari S, Tixeira R, Tkach M, Toh WS, Tomasini R, Torrecilhas AC, Tosar JP, Toxavidis V, Urbanelli L, Vader P, van Balkom BW, van der Grein SG, Van Deun J, van Herwijnen MJ, Van Keuren-Jensen K, van Niel G, van Royen ME, van Wijnen AJ, Vasconcelos MH, Vechetti IJ Jr, Veit TD, Vella LJ, Velot É, Verweij FJ, Vestad B, Viñas JL, Visnovitz T, Vukman KV, Wahlgren J, Watson DC, Wauben MH, Weaver A, Webber JP, Weber V, Wehman AM, Weiss DJ, Welsh JA, Wendt S, Wheelock AM, Wiener Z, Witte L, Wolfram J, Xagorari A, Xander P, Xu J, Yan X, Yáñez-Mó M, Yin H, Yuana Y, Zappulli V, Zarubova J, Žėkas V, Zhang JY, Zhao Z, Zheng L, Zheutlin AR, Zickler AM, Zimmermann P, Zivkovic AM,



Zocco D, Zuba-Surma EK. Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 2018; 7: 1535750 [PMID: 30637094 DOI: 10.1080/20013078.2018.1535750]

- 12 Lai RC, Yeo RW, Lim SK. Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015; 40: 82-88 [PMID: 25765629 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.03.001]
- Tolar J, Le Blanc K, Keating A, Blazar BR. Concise review: hitting the right spot with mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem 13 Cells 2010; 28: 1446-1455 [PMID: 20597105 DOI: 10.1002/stem.459]
- Silva AM, Almeida MI, Teixeira JH, Maia AF, Calin GA, Barbosa MA, Santos SG. Dendritic Cell-derived Extracellular 14 Vesicles mediate Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell recruitment. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 1667 [PMID: 28490808 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-01809-x]
- Yu H, Cheng J, Shi W, Ren B, Zhao F, Shi Y, Yang P, Duan X, Zhang J, Fu X, Hu X, Ao Y. Bone marrow mesenchymal 15 stem cell-derived exosomes promote tendon regeneration by facilitating the proliferation and migration of endogenous tendon stem/progenitor cells. Acta Biomater 2020; 106: 328-341 [PMID: 32027991 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2020.01.051]
- Akers JC, Gonda D, Kim R, Carter BS, Chen CC. Biogenesis of extracellular vesicles (EV): exosomes, microvesicles, 16 retrovirus-like vesicles, and apoptotic bodies. J Neurooncol 2013; 113: 1-11 [PMID: 23456661 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-013-1084-8]
- Théry C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants 17 and biological fluids. Curr Protoc Cell Biol 2006; Chapter 3: Unit 3.22 [PMID: 18228490 DOI: 10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30]
- Rider MA, Hurwitz SN, Meckes DG Jr. ExtraPEG: A Polyethylene Glycol-Based Method for Enrichment of Extracellular Vesicles. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 23978 [PMID: 27068479 DOI: 10.1038/srep23978]
- Böing AN, van der Pol E, Grootemaat AE, Coumans FA, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Single-step isolation of extracellular 19 vesicles by size-exclusion chromatography. J Extracell Vesicles 2014; 3 [PMID: 25279113 DOI: 10.3402/jev.v3.23430]
- Lobb RJ, Becker M, Wen SW, Wong CS, Wiegmans AP, Leimgruber A, Möller A. Optimized exosome isolation protocol 20 for cell culture supernatant and human plasma. J Extracell Vesicles 2015; 4: 27031 [PMID: 26194179 DOI: 10.3402/jev.v4.27031]
- Wang T, Anderson KW, Turko IV. Assessment of Extracellular Vesicles Purity Using Proteomic Standards. Anal Chem 21 2017; 89: 11070-11075 [PMID: 28949504 DOI: 10.1021/acs.analchem.7b03119]
- Yoo CE, Kim G, Kim M, Park D, Kang HJ, Lee M, Huh N. A direct extraction method for microRNAs from exosomes 22 captured by immunoaffinity beads. Anal Biochem 2012; 431: 96-98 [PMID: 22982508 DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2012.09.008]
- 23 Correction for Wu et al, Isolation of exosomes from whole blood by integrating acoustics and microfluidicss. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2020; 117: 28525 [PMID: 33077606 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2020183117]
- 24 Soares Martins T, Catita J, Martins Rosa I, A B da Cruz E Silva O, Henriques AG. Exosome isolation from distinct biofluids using precipitation and column-based approaches. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0198820 [PMID: 29889903 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.01988201
- García-Romero N, Madurga R, Rackov G, Palacín-Aliana I, Núñez-Torres R, Asensi-Puig A, Carrión-Navarro J, Esteban-Rubio S, Peinado H, González-Neira A, González-Rumayor V, Belda-Iniesta C, Ayuso-Sacido A. Polyethylene glycol improves current methods for circulating extracellular vesicle-derived DNA isolation. J Transl Med 2019; 17: 75 [PMID: 30871557 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-019-1825-3]
- Yang D, Zhang W, Zhang H, Zhang F, Chen L, Ma L, Larcher LM, Chen S, Liu N, Zhao Q, Tran PHL, Chen C, Veedu 26 RN, Wang T. Progress, opportunity, and perspective on exosome isolation - efforts for efficient exosome-based theranostics. Theranostics 2020; 10: 3684-3707 [PMID: 32206116 DOI: 10.7150/thno.41580]
- Taylor DD, Shah S. Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream analyses of their cargoes. Methods 27 2015; 87: 3-10 [PMID: 25766927 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.02.019]
- He L, Zhu D, Wang J, Wu X. A highly efficient method for isolating urinary exosomes. Int J Mol Med 2019; 43: 83-90 28 [PMID: 30365060 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2018.3944]
- Yu LL, Zhu J, Liu JX, Jiang F, Ni WK, Qu LS, Ni RZ, Lu CH, Xiao MB. A Comparison of Traditional and Novel 29 Methods for the Separation of Exosomes from Human Samples. Biomed Res Int 2018; 2018: 3634563 [PMID: 30148165 DOI: 10.1155/2018/3634563]
- Liu C, Su C. Design strategies and application progress of therapeutic exosomes. Theranostics 2019; 9: 1015-1028 30 [PMID: 30867813 DOI: 10.7150/thno.30853]
- Tian Y, Gong M, Hu Y, Liu H, Zhang W, Zhang M, Hu X, Aubert D, Zhu S, Wu L, Yan X. Quality and efficiency 31 assessment of six extracellular vesicle isolation methods by nano-flow cytometry. J Extracell Vesicles 2020; 9: 1697028 [PMID: 31839906 DOI: 10.1080/20013078.2019.1697028]
- Gowen A, Shahjin F, Chand S, Odegaard KE, Yelamanchili SV. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles: 32 Challenges in Clinical Applications. Front Cell Dev Biol 2020; 8: 149 [PMID: 32226787 DOI: 10.3389/fccll.2020.00149]
- Pozzoli S, Simonini M, Manunta P. Predicting acute kidney injury: current status and future challenges. J Nephrol 2018; 33 31: 209-223 [PMID: 28624882 DOI: 10.1007/s40620-017-0416-8]
- Bruno S, Grange C, Deregibus MC, Calogero RA, Saviozzi S, Collino F, Morando L, Busca A, Falda M, Bussolati B, 34 Tetta C, Camussi G. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles protect against acute tubular injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009; 20: 1053-1067 [PMID: 19389847 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2008070798]
- Herrera Sanchez MB, Bruno S, Grange C, Tapparo M, Cantaluppi V, Tetta C, Camussi G. Human liver stem cells and 35 derived extracellular vesicles improve recovery in a murine model of acute kidney injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014; 5: 124 [PMID: 25384729 DOI: 10.1186/scrt514]
- Cao H, Cheng Y, Gao H, Zhuang J, Zhang W, Bian Q, Wang F, Du Y, Li Z, Kong D, Ding D, Wang Y. In Vivo Tracking 36 of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Improving Mitochondrial Function in Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. ACS Nano 2020; 14: 4014-4026 [PMID: 32212674 DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.9b08207]
- Zhou Y, Xu H, Xu W, Wang B, Wu H, Tao Y, Zhang B, Wang M, Mao F, Yan Y, Gao S, Gu H, Zhu W, Qian H. 37 Exosomes released by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells protect against cisplatin-induced renal oxidative



stress and apoptosis in vivo and in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013; 4: 34 [PMID: 23618405 DOI: 10.1186/scrt194]

- Grange C, Iampietro C, Bussolati B. Stem cell extracellular vesicles and kidney injury. Stem Cell Investig 2017; 4: 90 38 [PMID: 29270416 DOI: 10.21037/sci.2017.11.02]
- Zhao M, Liu S, Wang C, Wang Y, Wan M, Liu F, Gong M, Yuan Y, Chen Y, Cheng J, Lu Y, Liu J. Mesenchymal Stem 39 Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Attenuate Mitochondrial Damage and Inflammation by Stabilizing Mitochondrial DNA. ACS Nano 2021; 15: 1519-1538 [PMID: 33369392 DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.0c08947]
- Grange C, Skovronova R, Marabese F, Bussolati B. Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles and Kidney Regeneration. 40 Cells 2019; 8 [PMID: 31614642 DOI: 10.3390/cells8101240]
- 41 Simonson MS. Phenotypic transitions and fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int 2007; 71: 846-854 [PMID: 17342177 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002180]
- Jiang ZZ, Liu YM, Niu X, Yin JY, Hu B, Guo SC, Fan Y, Wang Y, Wang NS. Exosomes secreted by human urine-42 derived stem cells could prevent kidney complications from type I diabetes in rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016; 7: 24 [PMID: 26852014 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-016-0287-2]
- 43 Grange C, Tritta S, Tapparo M, Cedrino M, Tetta C, Camussi G, Brizzi MF. Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles inhibit and revert fibrosis progression in a mouse model of diabetic nephropathy. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 4468 [PMID: 30872726 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-41100-9]
- Ebrahim N, Ahmed IA, Hussien NI, Dessouky AA, Farid AS, Elshazly AM, Mostafa O, Gazzar WBE, Sorour SM, 44 Seleem Y, Hussein AM, Sabry D. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Ameliorated Diabetic Nephropathy by Autophagy Induction through the mTOR Signaling Pathway. Cells 2018; 7 [PMID: 30467302 DOI: 10.3390/cells7120226]
- Kholia S, Herrera Sanchez MB, Cedrino M, Papadimitriou E, Tapparo M, Deregibus MC, Brizzi MF, Tetta C, Camussi G. 45 Human Liver Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Prevent Aristolochic Acid-Induced Kidney Fibrosis. Front Immunol 2018; 9: 1639 [PMID: 30072992 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01639]
- Birtwistle L, Chen XM, Pollock C. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles to the Rescue of Renal Injury. 46 Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34202940 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22126596]
- Nassar W, El-Ansary M, Sabry D, Mostafa MA, Fayad T, Kotb E, Temraz M, Saad AN, Essa W, Adel H. Erratum to: 47 Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. Biomater Res 2017; 21: 3 [PMID: 28396799 DOI: 10.1186/s40824-017-0089-3]
- Psaraki A, Ntari L, Karakostas C, Korrou-Karava D, Roubelakis MG. Extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: The regenerative impact in liver diseases. Hepatology 2022; 75: 1590-1603 [PMID: 34449901 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32129
- Tan CY, Lai RC, Wong W, Dan YY, Lim SK, Ho HK. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote hepatic 49 regeneration in drug-induced liver injury models. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014; 5: 76 [PMID: 24915963 DOI: 10.1186/scrt465]
- Nong K, Wang W, Niu X, Hu B, Ma C, Bai Y, Wu B, Wang Y, Ai K. Hepatoprotective effect of exosomes from human-50 induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stromal cells against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Cytotherapy 2016; 18: 1548-1559 [PMID: 27592404 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.08.002]
- 51 Du Y, Li D, Han C, Wu H, Xu L, Zhang M, Zhang J, Chen X. Exosomes from Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (hiPSC-MSCs) Protect Liver against Hepatic Ischemia/ Reperfusion Injury via Activating Sphingosine Kinase and Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Signaling Pathway. Cell Physiol Biochem 2017; 43: 611-625 [PMID: 28934733 DOI: 10.1159/000480533]
- Balaphas A, Meyer J, Sadoul R, Morel P, Gonelle-Gispert C, Bühler LH. Extracellular vesicles: Future diagnostic and 52 therapeutic tools for liver disease and regeneration. Liver Int 2019; 39: 1801-1817 [PMID: 31286675 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14189
- EL Andaloussi S, Mäger I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic 53 opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2013; 12: 347-357 [PMID: 23584393 DOI: 10.1038/nrd3978]
- Broughton KM, Wang BJ, Firouzi F, Khalafalla F, Dimmeler S, Fernandez-Aviles F, Sussman MA. Mechanisms of Cardiac Repair and Regeneration. Circ Res 2018; 122: 1151-1163 [PMID: 29650632 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312586
- Adamiak M, Sahoo S. Exosomes in Myocardial Repair: Advances and Challenges in the Development of Next-55 Generation Therapeutics. Mol Ther 2018; 26: 1635-1643 [PMID: 29807783 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.04.024]
- Adamiak M, Cheng G, Bobis-Wozowicz S, Zhao L, Kedracka-Krok S, Samanta A, Karnas E, Xuan YT, Skupien-Rabian 56 B, Chen X, Jankowska U, Girgis M, Sekula M, Davani A, Lasota S, Vincent RJ, Sarna M, Newell KL, Wang OL, Dudley N, Madeja Z, Dawn B, Zuba-Surma EK. Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell (iPSC)-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Are Safer and More Effective for Cardiac Repair Than iPSCs. Circ Res 2018; 122: 296-309 [PMID: 29118058 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311769]
- Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L, Wang X, Min Y, Yu H. Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal 57 stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. J Mol Med (Berl) 2014; 92: 387-397 [PMID: 24337504 DOI: 10.1007/s00109-013-1110-5]
- Ibrahim AG, Cheng K, Marbán E. Exosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy. Stem Cell 58 Reports 2014; 2: 606-619 [PMID: 24936449 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.04.006]
- 59 Lv K, Li Q, Zhang L, Wang Y, Zhong Z, Zhao J, Lin X, Wang J, Zhu K, Xiao C, Ke C, Zhong S, Wu X, Chen J, Yu H, Zhu W, Li X, Wang B, Tang R, Huang J, Hu X. Incorporation of small extracellular vesicles in sodium alginate hydrogel as a novel therapeutic strategy for myocardial infarction. Theranostics 2019; 9: 7403-7416 [PMID: 31695776 DOI: 10.7150/thno.32637
- Han C, Zhou J, Liang C, Liu B, Pan X, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Yan B, Xie W, Liu F, Yu XY, Li Y. Human umbilical cord 60 mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes encapsulated in functional peptide hydrogels promote cardiac repair. Biomater Sci 2019; 7: 2920-2933 [PMID: 31090763 DOI: 10.1039/c9bm00101h]
- Sun J, Mou C, Shi Q, Chen B, Hou X, Zhang W, Li X, Zhuang Y, Shi J, Chen Y, Dai J. Controlled release of collagen-61 binding SDF-1a from the collagen scaffold promoted tendon regeneration in a rat Achilles tendon defect model.



Biomaterials 2018; 162: 22-33 [PMID: 29428676 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.02.008]

- Vinhas A, Rodrigues MT, Gomes ME. Exploring Stem Cells and Inflammation in Tendon Repair and Regeneration. Adv 62 Exp Med Biol 2018; 1089: 37-46 [PMID: 30088259 DOI: 10.1007/5584\_2018\_258]
- Shen H, Yoneda S, Abu-Amer Y, Guilak F, Gelberman RH. Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate the early 63 inflammatory response after tendon injury and repair. J Orthop Res 2020; 38: 117-127 [PMID: 31286564 DOI: 10.1002/jor.24406]
- Shi Z, Wang Q, Jiang D. Extracellular vesicles from bone marrow-derived multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells regulate 64 inflammation and enhance tendon healing. J Transl Med 2019; 17: 211 [PMID: 31238964 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-019-1960-x]
- 65 Chen SH, Chen ZY, Lin YH, Chen SH, Chou PY, Kao HK, Lin FH. Extracellular Vesicles of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Promote the Healing of Traumatized Achilles Tendons. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34830254 DOI: 10.3390/ijms222212373]
- Wang C, Hu Q, Song W, Yu W, He Y. Adipose Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Decrease Fatty Infiltration and Enhance Rotator Cuff Healing in a Rabbit Model of Chronic Tears. Am J Sports Med 2020; 48: 1456-1464 [PMID: 32272021 DOI: 10.1177/0363546520908847
- Tao SC, Huang JY, Li ZX, Zhan S, Guo SC. Small extracellular vesicles with LncRNA H19 "overload": YAP Regulation 67 as a Tendon Repair Therapeutic Tactic. iScience 2021; 24: 102200 [PMID: 33733065 DOI: 10.1016/j.isci.2021.102200]
- Lui PPY. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles for the Promotion of Tendon Repair an Update of Literature. Stem Cell Rev Rep 2021; 17: 379-389 [PMID: 32785869 DOI: 10.1007/s12015-020-10023-8]
- Zhou X, Brown BA, Siegel AP, El Masry MS, Zeng X, Song W, Das A, Khandelwal P, Clark A, Singh K, Guda PR, 69 Gorain M, Timsina L, Xuan Y, Jacobson SC, Novotny MV, Roy S, Agarwal M, Lee RJ, Sen CK, Clemmer DE, Ghatak S. Exosome-Mediated Crosstalk between Keratinocytes and Macrophages in Cutaneous Wound Healing. ACS Nano 2020; 14: 12732-12748 [PMID: 32931251 DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.0c03064]
- Pomatto M, Gai C, Negro F, Cedrino M, Grange C, Ceccotti E, Togliatto G, Collino F, Tapparo M, Figliolini F, Lopatina 70 T, Brizzi MF, Camussi G. Differential Therapeutic Effect of Extracellular Vesicles Derived by Bone Marrow and Adipose Mesenchymal Stem Cells on Wound Healing of Diabetic Ulcers and Correlation to Their Cargoes. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 33917759 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22083851]
- Nooshabadi VT, Khanmohamadi M, Valipour E, Mahdipour S, Salati A, Malekshahi ZV, Shafei S, Amini E, Farzamfar S, 71 Ai J. Impact of exosome-loaded chitosan hydrogel in wound repair and layered dermal reconstitution in mice animal model. J Biomed Mater Res A 2020; 108: 2138-2149 [PMID: 32319166 DOI: 10.1002/jbm.a.36959]
- 72 Zhao D, Yu Z, Li Y, Wang Y, Li Q, Han D. GelMA combined with sustained release of HUVECs derived exosomes for promoting cutaneous wound healing and facilitating skin regeneration. J Mol Histol 2020; 51: 251-263 [PMID: 32388839 DOI: 10.1007/s10735-020-09877-61
- Shin KO, Ha DH, Kim JO, Crumrine DA, Meyer JM, Wakefield JS, Lee Y, Kim B, Kim S, Kim HK, Lee J, Kwon HH, 73 Park GH, Lee JH, Lim J, Park S, Elias PM, Park K, Yi YW, Cho BS. Exosomes from Human Adipose Tissue-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Promote Epidermal Barrier Repair by Inducing de Novo Synthesis of Ceramides in Atopic Dermatitis. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32164386 DOI: 10.3390/cells9030680]
- Gentile P, Garcovich S. Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells (AD-MSCs) against Ultraviolet (UV) Radiation 74 Effects and the Skin Photoaging. Biomedicines 2021; 9 [PMID: 34064624 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines9050532]
- Cha H, Hong S, Park JH, Park HH. Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes and Nanovesicles: Promotion of Cell Proliferation, 75 Migration, and Anti-Senescence for Treatment of Wound Damage and Skin Ageing. Pharmaceutics 2020; 12 [PMID: 33255430 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12121135]
- Huang CC, Narayanan R, Alapati S, Ravindran S. Exosomes as biomimetic tools for stem cell differentiation: Applications in dental pulp tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 2016; 111: 103-115 [PMID: 27728810 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.09.029
- Xian X, Gong Q, Li C, Guo B, Jiang H. Exosomes with Highly Angiogenic Potential for Possible Use in Pulp 77 Regeneration. J Endod 2018; 44: 751-758 [PMID: 29426641 DOI: 10.1016/j.joen.2017.12.024]
- Wang D, Lyu Y, Yang Y, Zhang S, Chen G, Pan J, Tian W. Schwann cell-derived EVs facilitate dental pulp regeneration 78 through endogenous stem cell recruitment via SDF-1/CXCR4 axis. Acta Biomater 2022; 140: 610-624 [PMID: 34852303 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2021.11.039]
- Zhang S, Yang Y, Jia S, Chen H, Duan Y, Li X, Wang S, Wang T, Lyu Y, Chen G, Tian W. Exosome-like vesicles 79 derived from Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells promote the regeneration of dentin-pulp tissue. Theranostics 2020; 10: 5914-5931 [PMID: 32483427 DOI: 10.7150/thno.43156]
- Lei F, Li M, Lin T, Zhou H, Wang F, Su X. Treatment of inflammatory bone loss in periodontitis by stem cell-derived 80 exosomes. Acta Biomater 2022; 141: 333-343 [PMID: 34979326 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2021.12.035]
- Liu L, Guo S, Shi W, Liu Q, Huo F, Wu Y, Tian W. Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Small Extracellular 81 Vesicles Promote Periodontal Regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2021; 27: 962-976 [PMID: 32962564 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2020.0141
- Mohammed E, Khalil E, Sabry D. Effect of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells and Their Exo as Adjunctive Therapy to 82 Nonsurgical Periodontal Treatment: A Histologic and Histomorphometric Study in Rats. Biomolecules 2018; 8 [PMID: 30544734 DOI: 10.3390/biom8040167]
- Shi W, Guo S, Liu L, Liu Q, Huo F, Ding Y, Tian W. Small Extracellular Vesicles from Lipopolysaccharide-83 Preconditioned Dental Follicle Cells Promote Periodontal Regeneration in an Inflammatory Microenvironment. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2020; 6: 5797-5810 [PMID: 33320548 DOI: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.0c00882]
- Cong M, Shen M, Wu X, Li Y, Wang L, He Q, Shi H, Ding F. Improvement of sensory neuron growth and survival via negatively regulating PTEN by miR-21-5p-contained small extracellular vesicles from skin precursor-derived Schwann cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 80 [PMID: 33494833 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-02125-4]
- Wu X, Wang L, Cong M, Shen M, He Q, Ding F, Shi H. Extracellular vesicles from skin precursor-derived Schwann cells 85 promote axonal outgrowth and regeneration of motoneurons via Akt/mTOR/p70S6K pathway. Ann Transl Med 2020; 8:



1640 [PMID: 33490152 DOI: 10.21037/atm-20-5965]

- Yu M, Gu G, Cong M, Du M, Wang W, Shen M, Zhang Q, Shi H, Gu X, Ding F. Repair of peripheral nerve defects by 86 nerve grafts incorporated with extracellular vesicles from skin-derived precursor Schwann cells. Acta Biomater 2021; 134: 190-203 [PMID: 34289422 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2021.07.026]
- Saquel C, Catalan RJ, Lopez-Leal R, Ramirez RA, Necuñir D, Wyneken U, Lamaze C, Court FA. Neuronal activity-87 dependent ATP enhances the pro-growth effect of repair Schwann cell extracellular vesicles by increasing their miRNA-21 Loading. Front Cell Neurosci 2022; 16: 943506 [PMID: 36212694 DOI: 10.3389/fncel.2022.943506]
- 88 Xia B, Gao J, Li S, Huang L, Zhu L, Ma T, Zhao L, Yang Y, Luo K, Shi X, Mei L, Zhang H, Zheng Y, Lu L, Luo Z, Huang J. Mechanical stimulation of Schwann cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration via extracellular vesiclemediated transfer of microRNA 23b-3p. Theranostics 2020; 10: 8974-8995 [PMID: 32802175 DOI: 10.7150/thno.44912]
- Ma Y, Ge S, Zhang J, Zhou D, Li L, Wang X, Su J. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles promote nerve 89 regeneration after sciatic nerve crush injury in rats. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2017; 10: 10032-10039 [PMID: 31966893]
- 90 Zhao J, Ding Y, He R, Huang K, Liu L, Jiang C, Liu Z, Wang Y, Yan X, Cao F, Huang X, Peng Y, Ren R, He Y, Cui T, Zhang Q, Zhang X, Liu Q, Li Y, Ma Z, Yi X. Dose-effect relationship and molecular mechanism by which BMSC-derived exosomes promote peripheral nerve regeneration after crush injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 360 [PMID: 32811548 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01872-81
- Bucan V, Vaslaitis D, Peck CT, Strauß S, Vogt PM, Radtke C. Effect of Exosomes from Rat Adipose-Derived 91 Mesenchymal Stem Cells on Neurite Outgrowth and Sciatic Nerve Regeneration After Crush Injury. Mol Neurobiol 2019; 56: 1812-1824 [PMID: 29931510 DOI: 10.1007/s12035-018-1172-z]
- 92 Haertinger M, Weiss T, Mann A, Tabi A, Brandel V, Radtke C. Adipose Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Induce Proliferation of Schwann Cells via Internalization. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 31936601 DOI: 10.3390/cells9010163]
- 93 Mao Q, Nguyen PD, Shanti RM, Shi S, Shakoori P, Zhang Q, Le AD. Gingiva-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Extracellular Vesicles Activate Schwann Cell Repair Phenotype and Promote Nerve Regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2019; 25: 887-900 [PMID: 30311853 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2018.0176]
- 94 Li L, Mu J, Zhang Y, Zhang C, Ma T, Chen L, Huang T, Wu J, Cao J, Feng S, Cai Y, Han M, Gao J. Stimulation by Exosomes from Hypoxia Preconditioned Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells Facilitates Mesenchymal Stem Cells Angiogenic Function for Spinal Cord Repair. ACS Nano 2022; 16: 10811-10823 [PMID: 35786851 DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.2c02898]
- 95 Deng L, Wang Y, Peng Y, Wu Y, Ding Y, Jiang Y, Shen Z, Fu Q. Osteoblast-derived microvesicles: A novel mechanism for communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts. Bone 2015; 79: 37-42 [PMID: 26013558 DOI: 10.1016/j.bone.2015.05.022
- Liu A, Lin D, Zhao H, Chen L, Cai B, Lin K, Shen SG. Optimized BMSC-derived osteoinductive exosomes immobilized 96 in hierarchical scaffold via lyophilization for bone repair through Bmpr2/Acvr2b competitive receptor-activated Smad pathway. Biomaterials 2021; 272: 120718 [PMID: 33838528 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2021.120718]
- 97 Zhang Y, Xie Y, Hao Z, Zhou P, Wang P, Fang S, Li L, Xu S, Xia Y. Umbilical Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosome-Encapsulated Hydrogels Accelerate Bone Repair by Enhancing Angiogenesis. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2021; 13: 18472-18487 [PMID: 33856781 DOI: 10.1021/acsami.0c22671]
- Liu W, Li L, Rong Y, Qian D, Chen J, Zhou Z, Luo Y, Jiang D, Cheng L, Zhao S, Kong F, Wang J, Xu T, Gong F, Huang 98 Y, Gu C, Zhao X, Bai J, Wang F, Zhao W, Zhang L, Li X, Yin G, Fan J, Cai W. Hypoxic mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote bone fracture healing by the transfer of miR-126. Acta Biomater 2020; 103: 196-212 [PMID: 31857259 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2019.12.020]
- Li Q, Yu H, Sun M, Yang P, Hu X, Ao Y, Cheng J. The tissue origin effect of extracellular vesicles on cartilage and bone 00 regeneration. Acta Biomater 2021; 125: 253-266 [PMID: 33657452 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2021.02.039]
- 100 Huang CC, Kang M, Lu Y, Shirazi S, Diaz JI, Cooper LF, Gajendrareddy P, Ravindran S. Functionally engineered extracellular vesicles improve bone regeneration. Acta Biomater 2020; 109: 182-194 [PMID: 32305445 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2020.04.017]
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Cardelli P, Merciaro I, Ettorre V, Traini T, Bedini R, Scionti D, Bramanti A, Nanci A, Caputi S, Fontana A, Mazzon E, Trubiani O. Three-dimensional printed PLA scaffold and human gingival stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: a new tool for bone defect repair. Stem Cell Res Ther 2018; 9: 104 [PMID: 29653587 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-018-0850-0]
- Qin Y, Wang L, Gao Z, Chen G, Zhang C. Bone marrow stromal/stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles regulate 102 osteoblast activity and differentiation in vitro and promote bone regeneration in vivo. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 21961 [PMID: 26911789 DOI: 10.1038/srep21961]
- 103 He L, He T, Xing J, Zhou Q, Fan L, Liu C, Chen Y, Wu D, Tian Z, Liu B, Rong L. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes protect cartilage damage and relieve knee osteoarthritis pain in a rat model of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 276 [PMID: 32650828 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01781-w]
- Yin B, Ni J, Witherel CE, Yang M, Burdick JA, Wen C, Wong SHD. Harnessing Tissue-derived Extracellular Vesicles for 104 Osteoarthritis Theranostics. Theranostics 2022; 12: 207-231 [PMID: 34987642 DOI: 10.7150/thno.62708]
- Hahm J, Kim J, Park J. Strategies to Enhance Extracellular Vesicle Production. Tissue Eng Regen Med 2021; 18: 513-524 105 [PMID: 34275103 DOI: 10.1007/s13770-021-00364-x]
- 106 Guix FX, Corbett GT, Cha DJ, Mustapic M, Liu W, Mengel D, Chen Z, Aikawa E, Young-Pearse T, Kapogiannis D, Selkoe DJ, Walsh DM. Detection of Aggregation-Competent Tau in Neuron-Derived Extracellular Vesicles. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 29495441 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19030663]
- 107 Gao J, Chu D, Wang Z. Cell membrane-formed nanovesicles for disease-targeted delivery. J Control Release 2016; 224: 208-216 [PMID: 26778696 DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.01.024]
- Jang SC, Kim OY, Yoon CM, Choi DS, Roh TY, Park J, Nilsson J, Lötvall J, Kim YK, Gho YS. Bioinspired exosome-108 mimetic nanovesicles for targeted delivery of chemotherapeutics to malignant tumors. ACS Nano 2013; 7: 7698-7710 [PMID: 24004438 DOI: 10.1021/nn402232g]
- Mendez R, Banerjee S. Sonication-Based Basic Protocol for Liposome Synthesis. Methods Mol Biol 2017; 1609: 255-260 109



[PMID: 28660588 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6996-8\_21]

- 110 Richter M, Vader P, Fuhrmann G. Approaches to surface engineering of extracellular vesicles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2021; 173: 416-426 [PMID: 33831479 DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2021.03.020]
- 111 Nair A, Bu J, Rawding PA, Do SC, Li H, Hong S. Cytochalasin B Treatment and Osmotic Pressure Enhance the Production of Extracellular Vesicles (EVs) with Improved Drug Loading Capacity. Nanomaterials (Basel) 2021; 12 [PMID: 35009953 DOI: 10.3390/nano12010003]



W J S C World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 182-195

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.182

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Human pluripotent stem cell-derived β cells: Truly immature islet β cells for type 1 diabetes therapy?

Helen Jiang, Fang-Xu Jiang

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Mao RF, China; Papazafiropoulou A, Greece

Received: December 27, 2022 Peer-review started: December 27, 2022

First decision: January 6, 2023 Revised: January 30, 2023 Accepted: March 20, 2023 Article in press: March 20, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Helen Jiang, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, University of Western Australia, Perth 6009, Australia

Fang-Xu Jiang, School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Western Australia, Perth 6009, Australia

Fang-Xu Jiang, School of Health and Medical Sciences, Edith Cowan University, Perth 6027, Australia

Corresponding author: Fang-Xu Jiang, PhD, Adjunct Associate Professor, School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Western Australia, 35 Stirling Hwy, Crawley WA 6009, Perth 6009, Australia. fang-xu.jiang@perkins.uwa.edu.au

# Abstract

A century has passed since the Nobel Prize winning discovery of insulin, which still remains the mainstay treatment for type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) to this day. True to the words of its discoverer Sir Frederick Banting, "insulin is not a cure for diabetes, it is a treatment", millions of people with T1DM are dependent on daily insulin medications for life. Clinical donor islet transplantation has proven that T1DM is curable, however due to profound shortages of donor islets, it is not a mainstream treatment option for T1DM. Human pluripotent stem cell derived insulin-secreting cells, pervasively known as stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells (SC- $\beta$  cells), are a promising alternative source and have the potential to become a T1DM treatment through cell replacement therapy. Here we briefly review how islet  $\beta$  cells develop and mature *in vivo* and several types of reported SC- $\beta$  cells produced using different ex vivo protocols in the last decade. Although some markers of maturation were expressed and glucose stimulated insulin secretion was shown, the SC- $\beta$  cells have not been directly compared to their *in vivo* counterparts, generally have limited glucose response, and are not yet fully matured. Due to the presence of extra-pancreatic insulin-expressing cells, and ethical and technological issues, further clarification of the true nature of these SC- $\beta$  cells is required.

**Key Words:** Human pluripotent stem cells; Stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells; Islet  $\beta$  cells; Type 1 diabetes mellitus; Cell replacement therapy

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic condition of absolute or relative deficiency in insulin. Since the discovery of insulin 100 years ago, there has been slow progress in the treatment of type 1 DM (T1DM) in clinical practice. In the scientific community however, there is much interest and progression in the research of human pluripotent stem cell derived insulin producing  $\beta$ -like cells, pervasively known as stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells (SC- $\beta$  cells). If they are determined to be genuine, scalable and functionally matured, SC- $\beta$  cells have the potential to cure T1DM through cell replacement therapy.

**Citation:** Jiang H, Jiang FX. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells: Truly immature islet  $\beta$  cells for type 1 diabetes therapy? World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 182-195 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/182.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.182

#### INTRODUCTION

In this coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic era, there is a silent growing epidemic of significant public health burden with tremendous social and economic costs. This growing epidemic is not an infectious disease, but a chronic non-communicating metabolic disease - it is the epidemic of diabetes mellitus (DM). There was an estimated 537 million adults with DM globally in 2021[1], with the prevalence increasing each year due to the rising incidence of type 2 DM (T2DM) worldwide[2]. DM is a metabolic disorder characterised by a disruption in glucose homeostasis leading to hyperglycaemia, and broadly consists of 2 main types: T1DM and T2DM. T1DM is the absolute deficiency of insulin due to the autoimmune destruction of insulin-secreting  $\beta$  cells in the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas, and is usually first diagnosed in children and young adults. T2DM is the relative deficiency of insulin function due to insulin resistance in peripheral tissues, and sometimes with reduced insulin secretion due to dysfunctional or dedifferentiated  $\beta$  cells, usually occurring in adults.

Hyperglycaemia in T1DM and T2DM can cause various microvascular complications such as diabetic retinopathy and blindness, nephropathy and kidney failure requiring dialysis, as well as peripheral neuropathy and infected foot ulcers that lead to amputations. It can also cause macrovascular complications such as peripheral artery disease, coronary artery disease and stroke. These complications lead to significant morbidity and mortality, as well as substantial associated health and social costs[3,4].

# **INSULIN IS NOT A CURE FOR DIABETES**

These were Sir Frederick Banting's words to the world during his Nobel Lecture for his 1923 Nobel Prize winning discovery of insulin. Subsequent discoveries on primary insulin sequences and radioimmune assay for insulin and other peptide hormones were also awarded the Nobel Prizes (Figure 1)[5]. A century later, unfortunately there is still no cure for DM, and life-long insulin replacement remains the mainstay of treatment for T1DM and controlling high blood sugar levels with antihyperglycaemic agents in most T2DM individuals. The continuous blood glucose monitoring and insulin pump known as artificial pancreas or bionic pancreas still presents the risk of developing complications, though reduced, because this and other current treatments cannot achieve physiological glucose homeostasis in patients [6,7]. These treatments themselves are also not without risks. Insulin as well as some oral anti-hyperglycaemics, such as sulfonylureas and glinides, are associated with the risk of hypoglycaemia which can lead to seizures, coma and even death[8,9]. Thus, there is a critical need for more effective and curative treatments to reduce the global burden of this disease.

The landmark proof-of-concept has demonstrated over the last 2 decades that clinical transplantation of donated human islets are able to restore  $\beta$ -cell function and achieve insulin independence immediately with improvement in glycaemic control and avoid the risk of hypoglycaemia episodes[10-13]. However, a large amount of approximately 340-750 million islet cells are required for successful transplantation in a patient of 68 kg weight[11,14]. Thus, the widespread application of donor islet transplantation is severely limited by the insufficient supply of human organ donor pancreases[15,16]. In addition to supply issues, another challenge to this treatment option is the prevention of transplant rejection, immune destruction and cell death of the transplanted islet cells[17]. To address the donor shortage issue, alternative scalable insulin-secreting tissues must be identified and developed. Due to their ability for theoretically infinite self-renewal and differentiation into all cell types in the body, human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) hold great promise for generating surrogate insulin-secreting cells *ex vivo*, pervasively known as stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells (SC- $\beta$  cells)[18-20] or SC-islets[21] in the literature. In order to help understand the true nature of these SC- $\beta$  cells, we briefly introduce how islet  $\beta$  cells develop *in vivo*.





Figure 1 Nobel prizes awarded for the endeavour towards curing diabetes. Insulin is not a cure for diabetes. Three Nobel prizes have been awarded in this endeavour[5].

# IN VIVO DEVELOPMENT OF ISLET BETA CELLS

The pancreas is derived from the embryonic endoderm, one of the three germ layers, which is formed during gastrulation of embryogenesis. In addition to the pancreas, the definitive endoderm also gives rise to the liver, lung, thymus and other organs of the respiratory and digestive tracts[22]. The endoderm located in the foregut region gives rise to the dorsal and ventral buds of the pancreas which rotate to form one organ, then pancreatic epithelium is induced and expands, from which endocrine progenitors arise. The endocrine progenitors then differentiate into the  $\beta$  cells that secrete the hormone insulin,  $\alpha$  cells that secrete the hormone glucagon,  $\delta$  cells that secrete the hormone somatostatin,  $\varepsilon$  cells that secrete the hormone ghrelin, and PP cells that secrete the hormone pancreatic polypeptide. The pancreatic endocrine cells start to organize into clusters forming islets before birth, and the Islets of Langerhans become fully formed at around 2-3 wk after birth[22]. Human islets are made up of 40%-60%  $\beta$  cells and 30%  $\alpha$  cells[22]. The adult pancreas is made up of exocrine cells that secrete digestive tract enzymes, duct cells that make up the ductal tree to transport digestive enzymes and islet cells that secrete hormones into the bloodstream for glucose homeostasis[23].

Mechanistically, the pancreatic islets are initiated by the transient expression of a high level of the transcription factor neurogenin-3 (NGN3)[24]. NGN3 is important in committing all pancreatic endocrine cell types, the deficiency of which leads to the absence of pancreatic endocrine cells[25,26]. The molecular mechanisms for the development of each pancreatic endocrine cells are not completely defined, however it is suggested that insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells are differentiated from the pancreatic progenitors that express transcription factor genes pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (PDX1) and NK6 homeobox 1 (NKX6-1), and then turn on NGN3[27,28]. There are several  $\beta$  cell transcription factors, including PDX1, NKX6-1 and MAF BZIP transcription factor A (MAFA), which play a critical role in activating insulin transcription and regulating insulin secretion[29-31].

PDX1 is a homeodomain transcription factor homogenously expressed in the early pancreatic bud and its expression persists into mature  $\beta$  cells; the absence of PDX1 leads to agenesis of the pancreas [32]. NKX6-1 and the helix-loop-helix transcription factor Beta2/NeuroD determine islet cell differentiation during embryogenesis, and maintain specific islet cell hormone expression in adults[32]. Knockout of mouse *Nkx6-1* gene leads to a significant inhibition in the formation of  $\beta$  cells[33]. NeuroD is initially expressed in pancreatic epithelium during development, before being expressed in NGN3<sup>+</sup> endocrine progenitors, and finally exclusively expressed in  $\beta$  cells after birth. The absence of Beta2/ NeuroD leads to reduced mouse endocrine cells, in particular  $\beta$  cells, increased apoptosis and arrestment in islet morphology[25,34]. Beta2/NeuroD is also a critical transcriptional activator of the insulin gene[35,36].

 $\beta$ -cell maturation including maturation of other clinically important cell types is a postnatal development process. For example maturation of mouse and human  $\beta$  cells takes place approximately 3 wk[37] and 26-44 wk after birth[38,39] respectively. The maturation process is controlled by transcription factors and exhibited in maturing at the gene, protein, subcellular, intercellular and metabolic levels.

# ISLET BETA CELL MATURATION REGULATED BY TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS

Following  $\beta$ -cell specific NeuroD deletion, the mice developed glucose intolerance and the islets displayed features of foetal/neonatal  $\beta$  cells such as overexpression of glycolytic genes, lactate dehydrogenase (LDHA), Neuropeptide Y, and higher basal insulin secretion and oxygen consumption due to the reliance on oxidative metabolism of glucose[40-46]. That is, the glucose metabolic profile of mouse  $\beta$  cells without NeuroD was equivalent to immature  $\beta$  cells. The mutations of NeuroD cause maturity onset diabetes of the young[22,33]. NeuroD is also critical for maintaining a matured functional state of



islet  $\beta$  cells[40]. These data suggest that NeuroD regulates islet  $\beta$ -cell maturation, though its postnatal dynamic expression profile is not available. Thus, identification of Beta2/NeuroD activators may help mature hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells ex vivo.

MafA is another transcription factor being demonstrated to regulate the maturation of islet cell organisation,  $\beta$  cell mass and  $\beta$  cell function from 3 wk of age in mice using the gene targeting strategy [47]. MafA expression reaches their adult levels at 3 mo in rats[48] coinciding with the obtaining of mature glucose stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS). Aguayo-Mazzucato et al[49] were the first to demonstrate that MAFA overexpression and the thyroid hormone triiodothyronine (T3) treatment are able to increase human foetal islet-like clusters, insulin secretion at 16.8 mmol/L glucose and proinsulin-to-insulin processing. Chromatin immunoprecipitation experiment showed binding of thyroid receptors to MafA promoter, thereby confirming that T3 directly regulates the expression of MafA[50]. The thyroid hormone receptor is also demonstrated to be expressed on human mature islets [51], though its postnatal development profile is unknown.

Furthermore, a recent study shows that the expression of the orphan nuclear transcription factor estrogen-related receptor gamma (ERR $\gamma$ ) is a hallmark of mature  $\beta$  cells[52]. ERRs consist of three paralogs in mammals, namely ERRα (NR3B1 or Esrrα), ERRβ (NR3B2 or Essrβ) and ERRγ (NR3B3 or Essry). ERRy is progressively upregulated in mouse islets from 2 to 6 wk of age (5-fold higher in adults compared to neonatal  $\beta$  cells) and ERR $\gamma$  transcriptional network promotes mitochondrial oxidative metabolism in mouse  $\beta$  cells, required for functional maturation of  $\beta$  cells and glucose homeostasis[52]. Mice with  $\beta$  cell-specific ERR $\gamma$  deletion failed to develop a mature GSIS. With the developmentally deleted  $\beta$  cell-specific ERR $\gamma$  knockout mouse islets, RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) revealed that the expression of 4189 genes were altered, with almost equal numbers of genes down- and up-regulated (2008 and 2182 genes respectively). Gene ontology analysis revealed that ERRy-regulated genes are associated with processes critical for  $\beta$  cell function including ATP biosynthesis, cation transport, oxidative phosphorylation, electron transport and secretion[52]. However, data is not available on postnatal developmental expression of ERRs in human islet cells, which will have to be addressed in the near future. Identification of ERRy activators may help mature hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells ex vivo.

Expression of the Sine Oculis family of homeodomain transcription factors SIX2 and SIX3 increased with age in the human pancreatic islet  $\beta$  cells[53]. SIX2 and SIX3 are localised to the nucleus of adult human  $\beta$  cells but not detected in juvenile (under 9 years of age)  $\beta$  cells[53]. Using gain-of-function experiments in human  $\beta$  cell line, the EndoC-bH1 cells or primary juvenile human islets, evidence has demonstrated that expression of SIX2 or SIX3 were sufficient to enhance cardinal functions of human  $\beta$ cells<sup>[53]</sup>. Identification of SIX2 and SIX3 activators may therefore help generate matured hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells ex vivo.

#### METABOLIC MATURATION OF ISLET BETA CELLS

Although rat islets acquired GSIS by postnatal day 21, a mature GSIS was only achieved by 3 mo[54], coinciding with the time when insulin dynamics reaches their adult levels<sup>[48]</sup>. The metabolic maturation is underscored by genes of important metabolic players in  $\beta$  cells such as glucose transporter 2, glucokinase, glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor and prehormone convertase 1 (encoded by *Pcsk1*) that were expressed from very low levels at postnatal day 2 to higher levels with increased age[48]. Similarly, the metabolic maturation is also underscored by genes transcribing for malate dehydrogenase, glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase, pyruvate carboxylase and carnitine palmitoyl transferase 2 from much lower levels at neonatal postnatal day 2 to high levels at day 28[55]. In the same period, genes encoding proliferation regulators in  $\beta$  cell genes encoding platelet-derived growth factor receptor A, platelet-derived growth factor receptor B, plateletderived growth factor B and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor 1 are progressively downregulated. Mature  $\beta$  cells tend to have lower levels of LDHA and glycolytic genes, as it is downregulated by NeuroD from embryonic to adult islets, which then appears to possess the ability to correspond glucose metabolism with insulin secretion[56-58].

The molecular mechanism of mature  $\beta$ -cell secretion is well understood. The higher blood glucose levels stimulate its active transportation into the  $\beta$  cell cytoplasm, increasing the ATP/ADP ratio through glycolysis and oxidative metabolism and triggering the depolarisation of the  $\beta$  cell membrane and opening the voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel. The AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is a highly conserved sensor of intracellular adenosine nucleotide levels that is activated even with modest decreases in ATP production resulting in relative increases in AMP or ADP. In response, AMPK promotes catabolic pathways to generate more ATP, and inhibits anabolic pathways. The increase in cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> triggers the fusion of insulin granules with the plasma membrane for exocytosis of insulin contents. Coordinating with other islet cells, mature  $\beta$  cells produce insulin in adequate amounts and timeliness to maintain plasma glucose within a narrow concentration range [39,59]. Thus,  $\beta$  cell function is critical for mature GSIS. Destruction and failure of islet  $\beta$  cells will lead to T1DM and T2DM, respectively (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Mature islets are a regulatory centre for glucose homeostasis. A simplified graphic representation of how mature pancreatic islets regulates glucose homeostasis. Skeletal muscle is the largest organ in the body (45%-55% body mass) and consumes about 80% insulin. GLP1: Glucagon-like peptide-1; SCFAs: Short-chain fatty acids.

# MATURATION MARKERS OF ISLET BETA CELLS

To help with the characterization of whether hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells *ex vivo* are matured, we briefly summarize maturation markers for *in vivo* islet  $\beta$  cells. Over the last decade, several potential markers for maturation of immature islet  $\beta$  cells were discovered. Blum *et al*[60] were the first to demonstrate that functional islet  $\beta$  cell maturation is marked by expression of the corticotropin-releasing factor family peptide urocortin 3 (UCN3), along with an increased glucose threshold.

Mature rat  $\beta$  cells expressed significantly higher levels of the gap junction connexion 36 gene (*Cx36*, also known as *Gjd2*) compared to neonatal immature counterparts, corresponding to a significantly higher membrane density of gap junctions and greater intercellular exchange of ethidium bromide[61]. Human mature islets predominantly express CX36 at mRNA and protein levels with  $\beta$  cell membrane harboring detectable levels of CX36 gap junction proteins[62]. Though the developmental profile of human islet CX36 is unknown, we speculate that the dynamic pattern of CX36 expression from human neonatal to mature  $\beta$  cells is similar to that in rats and CX36 is a potential maturation marker for matured hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells *ex vivo*.

Our group recently showed that claudin 4 is the only tight junction molecule family member highly upregulated in the postnatal mouse islets and global deletion of this gene affects mature GSIS in a sex difference manner[63]. Thus, claudin 4 may also be a maturation marker for matured hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells *ex vivo*.

# THE DIFFERENTIATION OF SC-BETA CELLS EX VIVO

The advent of hPSC provided an important opportunity to overcome major challenges of clinical islet transplantation therapy through its accessibility, theoretically unlimited self-renewability and the boundless potential to generate an alternative source of donor insulin-secreting cells *ex vivo*[64,65]. The generated insulin-secreting cells can also be used for disease modelling and pharmaceutical drug testing to help establish therapeutics that improve cell function, survival and proliferation. Insulin-secreting cells differentiated from hPSCs that include human embryonic stem cells (hESC) and induced hPSCs (ihPSC) are ubiquitously termed as SC- $\beta$  cells[18-20] in the literature. hESCs are generated from the inner cell mass of human blastocysts and have the infinite ability to proliferate as undifferentiated cells or differentiate into cells of all ectoderm, mesoderm or endoderm lineages[66,67].

Over recent years, there have been various protocols developed of *ex vivo* differentiation of SC-β cells [18-20] and SC-islets [18,21]. Thus far, hPSCs have been differentiated towards SC- $\beta$  cells through a stepwise manner emulating in vivo pancreatic embryonic development[68-72]. The differentiation of hPSCs towards SC- $\beta$  cells have been achieved with the application of growth factors, proteins or molecules to modulate signaling pathways to progress through each stage of pancreatic development, and is usually measured by expression of a couple of key transcription factors or C-peptide<sup>[22]</sup>. hPSCs (characterised by expression of Oct4) are first differentiated into definite endoderm cells expressing FOXA2 and SOX17 through application of a mix containing Wnt, activin A, inducer of definite endoderm, wortmannin, and sodium butyrate[22]. Then application of FGF10 and FGF7 differentiates the definite endoderm into gut tube endoderm expressing HNF1B and HNF4A<sup>[22]</sup>. The differentiation mixture containing retinoic acid, noggin KAAD-cyclopamine, FGF, and indolactum V leads to differentiation into pancreatic progenitors expressing PDX1 and HNF6, which further differentiates into endocrine progenitors (NKX6-1, NGN3, NKX2-2, PTF1A), and finally into  $\beta$ -cells (characterised by presence of C-peptide and insulin)[22]. We here summarize several representative protocols used to generate SC- $\beta$  cells and SC-islets (Table 1).

Pagliuca et al[73]'s differentiation protocol was the first using specific and cocktail of inducing factors to differentiate hPSCs sequentially through 6 stages into SC- $\beta$  cells (Table 1). At stages 5 and 6, there is however significant heterogeneity in the final population containing SC- $\beta$  and SC- $\alpha$  cells, as well as SCendocrine cells (resembling enterochromaffin cells) and non-endocrine cells (e.g., exocrine cells such as pancreatic acinar, mesenchymal and ductal cells)[18]. Nevertheless, these cells appear to be stable, maintaining their identity as evidenced by their global transcriptional profiles during stage 6 cultures. At this stage, they also express the maturation marker SIX2 but several other  $\beta$  cell markers of maturity are not expressed such as UCN3, MAFA and SIX3[18].

The Velazco-Cruz et al[19]'s protocol was built upon and modified Pagliuca et al[73]'s protocol, and demonstrated that the SC- $\beta$  cells had improved insulin secretion and greater gene expression of  $\beta$  cell markers compared to the cells generated with Pagliuca et al[73]'s protocol, but still much less than the average human islet (Table 1). Follow-up studies with the addition of differentiation factors or changes to the differentiation processes were unfortunately unsuccessful in producing more functional SC-β cells equal to human islet  $\beta$  cells[74-76].

In Balboa et al[20]'s protocol, the SC-islets had similar cytoarchitecture and functional insulin secretion pattern to islet  $\beta$  cells, though with immature glucose-induced mitochondrial respiration and instead retained pyruvate sensitivity - thus the SC-islets were not completely similar to functional adult islets (Table 1). Balboa *et al*[20]'s SC- $\beta$  cells showed heterogeneous mature  $\beta$  cell marker expression, required further maturation in vivo after transplantation, showed upregulated expression of CHGB and MAFA after 6 mo, and did not express adult  $\beta$  cell factors RBP4 and SIX3[20].

Nevertheless, studies indicate that several current pancreatic progenitor differentiation protocols promote precocious endocrine commitment; ultimately resulting in the generation of non-functional polyhormonal cells<sup>[74]</sup>. The efficiency of differentiation decreases with each step, and at the final step there are very small amounts of SC- $\beta$  cells that have a low insulin content, co-express insulin and glucagon, and usually respond poorly to glucose stimulation [22,70]. It was also found that these SC- $\beta$ cells have little to no expression of maturation genes including MAFA and G6PC2[18,73,77]. Following transplantation, the amount of insulin secreted by SC- $\beta$  cells rises[73,77,78] and the previously low or non-expressed genes of islet  $\beta$  cells such as MAFA, G6PC2, MNX1 and INS increases[79].

Cell purification steps will increase the safety of, and ability to upscale the manufacture of  $\beta$  cells. However, there are difficulties in including this step in large-scale manufacturing processes for production of reproducible PSC-derived cellular products with less variability in composition and function[80]. Several cell surface markers have been used to purify different developmental stages of PSC-derived cells[80]. Markers used include CD177 for anterior definitive endoderm cells[81], CD142, CD24 and glycoprotein 2 for pancreatic progenitors [82-85], CD49a for SC- $\beta$  cells [18], and CD9 for negative selection of SC-β cells[86]. Monoclonal antibody against extracellular domain of claudin 4 might help enrich matured SC-β cells differentiated ex vivo.

Finally, a few maturation factors have proven useful in maturing SC-β cells *ex vivo*. For example, T3 enhanced the MAFA expression in the SC- $\beta$  cells, and increased insulin content and insulin secretion at 16.8 mmol/L glucose[49]. Using an adenoviral ERRy vector, overexpression of ERRy increased glucosestimulated C-peptide secretion in hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells, thus may promote their functional maturation<sup>[52]</sup>. Therefore, identification of molecules that activate NEUROD, ERRY, SIX2 and SIX3 will be important. Application of the activators individually or in combination may indeed promote functional maturation of genuine SC- $\beta$  cells.

# CURRENT EX VIVO SYSTEMS ARE DISTINCT FROM IN VIVO ISLET DEVELOPMENT NICHES

The current PSC differentiation protocols for insulin-secreting cells are mostly bulk cultures and consist of cocktails of inducing factors, which are generally based on accumulative knowledge generated from using the animal model systems. In these bulk cultures, there are cells types in the targeted lineage as



#### Table 1 A summary of several differentiation protocols for generating stem cell-derived β cells *ex vivo*

Differentiation protocol	Marker expression	Characterization	Ref.
The stem cell-derived $\beta$ cell protocol is a 6-stage differentiation protocol using specific inducing factors for each stage (11 factors) to produce SC- islets from hPSCs, in a 3D suspension-based cell culture system (4-5 wk)	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1 (about 90% at stage 3). Endocrine markers: C-peptide, CHGA and NKX6- 1. SC-β cell markers: INS, NKX6-1, ISL1, and others	Immunofluorescence. Ultrastructure. Insulin packaging into secretory granules. qRT-PCR. Static and dynamic GSIS. Functional test. Glucose- responsive $Ca^{2+}$ flux, KCl depolarisation, ameliorate hyperglycaemia in diabetic mice. scRNA-seq. Purified SC- $\beta$ cells with anti-CD49a	Pagliuca <i>et al</i> [73], 2014; Veres <i>et al</i> [18], 2019
Optimised 7 stage <i>in vitro</i> differen- tiation protocol of serial culture steps using factors such as vitamin C, ALK5 inhibitor, TGF-β receptor inhibitors, thyroid hormone (T3), R428 (AXL inhibitor), N-acetyl cysteine, Notch and BMP signalling inhibitors	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1 (about 90% at stage 3), NKX6-1. Endocrine markers: C-peptide, CHGA, NEUROD1, NKX2-2 and NKX6-1. $\beta$ cell markers: INS, NKX6-1, ISL1, MAFB. Mature $\beta$ cell markers: MAFA, ABCC8, IAPP, HOPX, NEFM, SIX2, G6PC2	Immunofluorescence. Transmission electron microscopy. qRT-PCR. Static and dynamic GSIS. Functional test in diabetic mice. Flow cytometry. Immunohistochemistry. Diabetes reversal within 40 d in mice. Metabolic analysis. Perifusion assay. Calcium imaging.	Rezania <i>et al</i> [78], 2014
Scalable 3D suspension culture system based on previous methods [101,102], with the addition of retinoic acid, cyclopamine (SHH inhibitor), Noggin (BMP inhibitor), then treatment with epidermal growth factor, KGF and Noggin (EKN). Followed by exposure to a cocktail of factors <i>e.g.</i> , TBP, ALK inhibitor, Noggin, TANK	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1 and NKX6-1 (90%). Endocrine markers: C-peptide, NEUROG3, NKX2-2 and NKX6-1, $\beta$ cell markers: INS, NKX6-1, NKX2-2, PDX1. Mature $\beta$ cell markers: MAFA, MAFB, PDX1, NKX6.1, NXK2.2, ISL1, PAX6, NEUROD1, and CHGA	Immunofluorescence. Transmission electron microscopy. qRT-PCR. Static and dynamic GSIS. Insulin biosynthesis and glucose metabolism, blood glucose reduction but not reversal of diabetes in mice. Flow cytometry. Western blot analysis. Statistical analysis	Russ <i>et al</i> [74], 2015
Six-stage differentiation strategy modulating TGF-β signaling by modulating Alk5i exposure, combined with controlling cell cluster size and use of enriched serum-free media culture	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1. Endocrine markers: CHGA (96%), C- peptide (73%), NKX6-1. SC-β cell markers: INS, CHGA, NKX2-2, PDX1, NKX6-1, MAFB, GCK, and GLUT1	Immunofluorescence. qRT-PCR. Static and dynamic GSIS. Flow cytometry. Light microscopy. Glucose responsive, first- and second-phase insulin release, improved glucose tolerance in mice. Western blot. Perifusion assay. Glucose tolerance test	Velazco-Cruz <i>et al</i> [19], 2019
Optimised differentiation protocol combining previous protocols. Changes made: Differentiation of hPSCs in adherent conditions until pancreatic progenitor stage. Then optimised with nicotinamide, epidermal growth factor, activin A and a ROCK inhibitor; a microwell aggregation step; and a final maturation step in suspension culture	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1. Endocrine markers: C-peptide. SC- $\beta$ cell markers: INS. Mature $\beta$ cell markers: INS, G6PC2, SIX2, GLIS3, RBP4, SIX3. HOPX, UCN3, IAPP, CPE and FXYD2 upregulated post engraftment. CHGB and MAFA upregulated 6 mo post-engraftment. B cell differentiation: SIX2, HOPX, ZBTB20. Insulin secretion genes: PCSK1, CPE, CHGB, ABCC8, FXYD2, GABRA2	Immunohistochemistry. Flow cytometry. Perifusion assay. Respirometry. Transmission electron microscopy. Electrophysiology. Exocytosis imaging. $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ imaging. $[cAMP]_m$ imaging. Metabolite tracing analysis. Ratiometric analysis. Transplantation study. scRNA-seq transcriptomic profiling. Glucose responsive biphasic insulin secretion. Glucose tolerance test	Balboa <i>et al</i> [20], 2022
Differentiation protocol using hCiPSC-islets by optimising pancreatic progenitor to β cells fate commitment by modulating signaling pathways and reconstructing islet spatial structure through 3D cell aggregates of posterior foregut- committed cells and combination of ISX9 and Wnt-C59 at stage 5	Pancreas progenitor marker: PDX1. Endocrine markers: C-peptide, CHGA and NKX6-1. β cell markers: PDX1, NKX6.1 and NKX2.2. Mature β cell markers: MAFA, UCN3	Immunofluorescence. qRT-PCR. Transmission electron microscopy. Static and dynamic GSIS. Glucose-stimulated calcium flux assay. Flow cytometry. scRNAseq. Glucose responsive biphasic insulin secretion, decrease HbA1c, restore endogenous C-peptide secretion. Glucose tolerance tests. Preclinical diabetic non-human primate transplantation study. Fasting blood glucose levels. Glycated HbA1c, scRNA-seq. Teratoma assay. Karyotype analysis. Calcium imaging. Cryo-electron microscopy. ELISA	Du et al[21], 2022

PDX1: Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1; SC-islets: Stem cell-derived islets; hPSC: Human pluripotent stem cells; C-peptide: Connecting peptide; CHGA: Chromogranin A; NKX6-1: NK6 homeobox 1; qRT-PCR: Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction; GSIS: Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion; SC-β cell: Stem cell-derived β cell; INS: Insulin gene; ISL1: ISL LIM homeobox 1; Ca<sup>2+</sup>: Calcium; KCI: Potassium chloride; scRNA-seq: Single-cell RNA sequencing; anti-CD49a: CD49a (Integrin alpha 1) antibody; TGF-β receptor inhibitor/ALK5i: Transforming growth factor β-receptor I/activin receptor-like kinase 5 inhibitor; R428 (AXL inhibitor): A selective small-molecule inhibitor of AXL (bemcentinib, BGB324); BMP: Bone morphogenetic protein; NEUROD1: Neurogenic differentiation 1; NKX2-2: NK2 homeobox 2; MAFA: MAF BZIP transcription factor A; MAFB: MAF BZIP transcription factor B; ABCC8: ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily C Member 8; IAPP: Islet amyloid polypeptide; HOPX: HOP homeobox; NEFM: Neurofilament medium chain; SIX2: SIX homeobox 2; G6PC2: Glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit 2; KGF: (FGF7) Keratinocyte growth factor; TBP: TATA-binding protein; TANK: TRAF family member associated NFKB activator; PAX6: Paired box 6; GCK: Glucokinase; GLUT1: Glucose transporter 1; ROCK inhibitor: Rhokinase inhibitor; GLIS3: GLI-similar 3/zinc finger 3; RBP4: Retinol binding protein 4; SIX3: SIX homeobox 3; UCN3: Urocortin 3; CPE: Carboxypeptidase E; FXYD2; FXYD domain containing ion transport regulator 2; cAMP: Cyclic adenosine monophosphate; ZBTB20: Zinc finger and BTB domain containing 20; PCSK1: Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 1; GABRA2: Gamma-aminobutyric acid type A receptor subunit alpha-2; hCiPSC: Human chemically induced pluripotent stem cells; ISX9: Isoxazole-9; Wnt-C59: Nanomolar inhibitor of mammalian PORCN acyltransferase activity and blocks activation of all evaluated human Wnts; HbA1c: Hemoglobin A1c; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

 WJSC
 https://www.wjgnet.com

well as unwanted lineages. One or two in vivo biomarkers are selected based on in vivo islet lineage development to characterise targeted cells at different differentiated stages ex vivo. However, these in vivo biomarkers should not be extrapolated as biomarkers for the ex vivo differentiation conditions because of clear differences in spatiotemporal and microenvironment niches between the in vivo development and ex vivo differentiation (Figure 3). In other words, we do not yet fully understand the full regulatory program, or the molecular details of the 3D microenvironment niche for specific islet lineage development in vivo to guide the specific differentiation of hPSCs into insulin-secreting cells ex vivo.

#### EXTRAPANCREAS INSULIN-SECRETING CELLS

Perhaps the research community have also forgotten the fact that in our body, extra-pancreas insulinsecreting cells exist, which may complicate the efforts of generating genuine SC- $\beta$  cells. Subverted to general knowledge, approximately a quarter of human foetal enteroendocrine K/L cells were recently shown to express high levels of insulin and other  $\beta$  cell genes including the transcription factor PDX1, by using samples of foetal and neonatal human small intestines derived from the endoderm during development[87]. Notably, the expression of UCN3 in the human foetal enteroendocrine K/L cells was higher than in foetal human pancreatic  $\beta$  cells[87]. These results were confirmed with single molecule fluorescence in-situ hybridisation of insulin mRNA combined with immunofluorescent antibody staining of the insulin protein [87]. Secondly, thymocytes that are derived from the foregut, adjacent to which gives rise to the pancreas, normally produce insulin to induce self-tolerance and protect the body from the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic insulin-secreting  $\beta$  cells[88]. Lastly, though the central nervous system is an ectoderm-derived organ, the neuronal progenitors derived from adult hippocampus and the olfactory bulb were demonstrated to undergo insulin biosynthesis[89]. Human INS mRNA expression is also detected in the hippocampus, amygdala and temporal lobe in addition to the olfactory bulb, cerebellar and pontine regions[90]. A historical account of the extrapancreas insulinsecreting cells is referred to in a recent review article[88]. These data suggest that it is possible that the current reported SC-β cells contain a varied percentage of non-pancreatic insulin-secreting cells. Future studies are required to increase the percentage of genuine insulin-secreting  $\beta$ -like cells in the *ex vivo* systems.

# SC-BETA CELLS TRANSPLANTED INTO NON-HUMAN PRIMATES

To further test their functions, the chemically induced SC-islets were recently intraportally transplanted into immunosuppressed adult diabetic rhesus macaques<sup>[21]</sup>. Three months after the SC-islet transplantation, all four macaques reportedly had improvements in diabetic symptoms, glycaemic control, fasting blood sugar levels, hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), and reduced exogenous insulin requirements<sup>[21]</sup>. However, after 5-6 mo, two of the macaques developed graft failure (the other two macaques died of immunosuppression-related complications)[21]. Autopsy conducted on the macaques found no evidence of teratoma or tumorigenesis, but levels of  $\beta$  cells had fallen. The authors concluded that the immunosuppression regimen used was not appropriate in preventing immune attack against the grafts<sup>[21]</sup>. Whether the short-term improvements in diabetic rhesus macaques are related to the immaturity of grafted SC-islets and/or the presence of non-pancreatic insulin-secreting cells needs to be determined in the future.

# SC-BETA CELLS IN CLINICAL TRIALS AS A T1DM THERAPY

The first hPSC-derived, differentiated cell replacement T1DM therapy product named VX-880 was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for phase 1/2 clinical trials in March 2021. The VX-880 are SC-islets for T1DM patients with certain indications; that is, impaired hypoglycaemic awareness and severe hypoglycaemia[91]. The preliminary outcomes of the clinical trials were presented in June 2022 at the American Diabetes Association 82<sup>nd</sup> Scientific Sessions by Vertex, a United States Pharmaceutics company [91]. A half-dose of VX-880 in two patients was able to achieve glucose-responsive insulin secretion, significantly improve time-in-range (the amount of time that blood glucose level is measured to be within target blood sugar range 70-180 mg/dL or 3.9-10 mmol/L), reduce exogenous insulin requirements and improved HbA1c[91]. VX-880 was also well tolerated although with some largely mild or moderate adverse reactions[91]. For example, patient 1 showed blood glucose time-in-range change from 40.1% on 34.0 units per day of exogenous insulin at baseline to 99.9% and insulin independence at day 270 onwards. Patient 2 showed blood glucose time-in-range change from 35.9% on 25.9 units per day of exogenous insulin at baseline to 51.9% with a 30% reduction in exogenous insulin use at day 150[91]. Whereas these results are very promising, VX-880 requires a





Figure 3 There are clear differences in spatiotemporal and microenvironment niches between the in vivo development and ex vivo differentiation of islet lineages. Details of lineage tracing mouse lines can be found in articles[103,104]. ICM: Inner cell mass; PSC: Pluripotent stem cell; Sox17: SRY-box transcription factor 17; GFP: Green fluorescent protein; PDX1: Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1, also known as insulin promoter factor 1; NGN3: Neurogenin-3; MIP: Mouse insulin 1 promoter; SC-β cells: Stem cell-derived β cells.

lengthy in vivo maturation period for blood sugar control (in patient 1) in contrast to donated islets retrieved from deceased persons, which achieved immediate insulin independence after transplantation into recipients[10-13]. The lengthy in vivo maturation period of grafted VX880 is a strong independent indicator that these SC- $\beta$  cells are immature. It is also premature to claim the VX-880 SC- $\beta$  cells are all genuine immature counterparts of islet  $\beta$  cells, as the duration and longevity of insulin independence was not yet available at the time of writing this article.

# CONCLUSION

Immaturity of PSC-derived cells is a general obstacle, not only in the case of SC- $\beta$  cells and SC-islets, but also other clinically important cell types[92]. Maturation biology is the final frontier in stem cell biology, of which our knowledge is still in its infancy. As summarised in Table 1, multiple hPSC differentiation protocols have been used in different laboratories. Consequently, off-target differentiation and aberrant differentiation from these protocols are more likely unavoidable, resulting in only a low frequency of genuine SC-β cells. Furthermore, the stage-specific differentiation factors selected may direct nonspecific spatiotemporal differentiation, thus resulting in multiple cell types of the endodermal germ layer and even neuronal lineage origins. This may result in some differentiating cells along unwanted pathways and give rise to extrapancreas insulin-secreting cells. On the other hand, unwanted or offtarget differentiated cellular products have accumulated in the bulk culture protocols and not been excluded for subsequent differentiation steps, which further increases the possibility of compromising the characterization through use of one or two developmental markers of *in vivo* cellular lineages. Finally, in addition to the above, there are still other challenges in this exciting field of research, such as ensuring SC- $\beta$  cell survival post-transplantation given the highly vascularised islets are susceptible to ischaemic injury and loss of cell mass [93,94]. Developing methods that evade autoimmune attack in T1DM patients without the use of lifelong immunosuppression would be valuable [95].

Stage-specific *in vivo* pancreatic and islet lineage cell types would provide ideal positive controls for the ex vivo hPSC-derived insulin-secreting cells. Nevertheless, the human ethics issues and lack of human embryonic and foetal pancreatic tissues available prevent such reliable and precise comparison to be made between the islet lineage cells and the PSC-derived cells. However, future efforts should be made to resolve these issues. Similarly, it would be wise not to solely concentrate on undertaking



human  $\beta$  cell differentiation and maturation studies from hPSCs. Instead, investigating  $\beta$  cell differentiation and maturation from model animals will be invaluable and will facilitate the realisation of a curative stem cell therapy for people with T1DM.

In order to minimise confusion between the *ex vivo* differentiated insulin-secreting cells and islet  $\beta$ cells, our laboratory proposed a 4-criterial post-genomic concept for naming " $\beta$  cells" a few years ago [96]. Recently, Kaestner et al[97] described many islet biologists/scientists much like the "Parable of the Blind Men and the Elephant" in terming "β cells". This appears to be the case in respect to claims made about SC- $\beta$  cells without proper positive controls of corresponding *in vivo* islet lineage cells. Kaestner *et al*[97] further proposed six salient features of normal, fully functional mature  $\beta$  cells and made a recommendation to not name PSC-derived insulin-producing cells as "β cells", but conservatively as insulin-producing cells, insulin<sup>+</sup> cells or  $\beta$ -like cells, when there is no clear evidence that the six features of *in vivo*  $\beta$  cells are met.

The degree of single-cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) data similarity between the SC-β cells and donated islet  $\beta$  cells remains largely unclear. First, all scRNA-seq datasets of SC- $\beta$  cells lacked a direct positive control from in vivo pancreatic and islet lineage cells. Second, most current scRNA-seq methods provide a high throughput but sacrifice full transcript coverage and sensitivity[98]. Third, as barcodes/inducers are introduced by the template switching of reverse transcriptase, strand invasion becomes problematic through systematic bias, namely biases from the introduction of artefacts. Fourth, loss of cDNA synthesis and bias in cDNA amplification leads to severe quantitative errors of these scRNA-seq methods[99]. Fifth, the current scRNA-seq methods suffer from impaired mRNA accounting. However, molecular spikes have significantly improved single cell mRNA accounting[100], adoption of the molecular spike method and further improvements may help address the above issues. As such, genuine SC- $\beta$  cells will eventually become available as donor cells for establishing curative therapies for people suffering from T1DM in the not too distant future.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Jiang H wrote the first draft of the manuscript; Jiang FX conceived and designed the research; and all authors have edited, revised, reviewed and approved submission of the manuscript.

Supported by the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation, No. 4-2006-1025; Diabetes Australia Research Trust; and Telethon Perth Children's Hospital Research Fund (TPCHRF) grant to Jiang FX.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Australia

ORCID number: Helen Jiang 0000-0002-5949-141X; Fang-Xu Jiang 0000-0003-3172-0476.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

### REFERENCES

- Magliano DJ, Boyko EJ; IDF Diabetes Atlas 10th edition scientific committee. IDF DIABETES ATLAS [Internet]. 10th ed. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2021 [PMID: 35914061]
- Lovic D, Piperidou A, Zografou I, Grassos H, Pittaras A, Manolis A. The Growing Epidemic of Diabetes Mellitus. Curr 2 Vasc Pharmacol 2020; 18: 104-109 [PMID: 30961501 DOI: 10.2174/1570161117666190405165911]
- 3 American Diabetes Association. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. Diabetes Care 2018; 41: 917-928 [PMID: 29567642 DOI: 10.2337/dci18-0007]
- 4 Leese B. The costs of diabetes and its complications. Soc Sci Med 1992; 35: 1303-1310 [PMID: 1439913 DOI: 10.1016/0277-9536(92)90183-q]
- Sims EK, Carr ALJ, Oram RA, DiMeglio LA, Evans-Molina C. 100 years of insulin: celebrating the past, present and 5 future of diabetes therapy. Nat Med 2021; 27: 1154-1164 [PMID: 34267380 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-021-01418-2]
- Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, Nathan DM, Genuth S, Lachin J, Cleary P, Crofford O, 6 Davis M, Rand L, Siebert C. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1993; 329: 977-986 [PMID: 8366922 DOI:



#### 10.1056/NEJM199309303291401]

- 7 Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet 1998; 352: 837-853 [PMID: 9742976 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)07019-6]
- UK Hypoglycaemia Study Group. Risk of hypoglycaemia in types 1 and 2 diabetes: effects of treatment modalities and 8 their duration. Diabetologia 2007; 50: 1140-1147 [PMID: 17415551 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-007-0599-y]
- Cryer PE. Individualized Glycemic Goals and an Expanded Classification of Severe Hypoglycemia in Diabetes. Diabetes 9 Care 2017; 40: 1641-1643 [PMID: 29162584 DOI: 10.2337/dc16-1741]
- Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam D, Alfadhli E, Kneteman NM, Lakey JR, Shapiro AM. Five-year follow-up after 10 clinical islet transplantation. Diabetes 2005; 54: 2060-2069 [PMID: 15983207 DOI: 10.2337/diabetes.54.7.2060]
- Shapiro AM, Ricordi C, Hering BJ, Auchincloss H, Lindblad R, Robertson RP, Secchi A, Brendel MD, Berney T, 11 Brennan DC, Cagliero E, Alejandro R, Ryan EA, DiMercurio B, Morel P, Polonsky KS, Reems JA, Bretzel RG, Bertuzzi F, Froud T, Kandaswamy R, Sutherland DE, Eisenbarth G, Segal M, Preiksaitis J, Korbutt GS, Barton FB, Viviano L, Seyfert-Margolis V, Bluestone J, Lakey JR. International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. N Engl J Med 2006; 355: 1318-1330 [PMID: 17005949 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa061267]
- 12 Robertson RP. Islet transplantation a decade later and strategies for filling a half-full glass. Diabetes 2010; 59: 1285-1291 [PMID: 20508222 DOI: 10.2337/db09-1846]
- 13 Shapiro AM, Lakey JR, Ryan EA, Korbutt GS, Toth E, Warnock GL, Kneteman NM, Rajotte RV. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 230-238 [PMID: 10911004 DOI: 10.1056/nejm200007273430401]
- McCall M, Shapiro AM. Update on islet transplantation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2012; 2: a007823 [PMID: 14 22762022 DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007823]
- Bellin MD, Barton FB, Heitman A, Harmon JV, Kandaswamy R, Balamurugan AN, Sutherland DE, Alejandro R, Hering 15 BJ. Potent induction immunotherapy promotes long-term insulin independence after islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes. Am J Transplant 2012; 12: 1576-1583 [PMID: 22494609 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03977.x]
- Latres E, Finan DA, Greenstein JL, Kowalski A, Kieffer TJ. Navigating Two Roads to Glucose Normalization in 16 Diabetes: Automated Insulin Delivery Devices and Cell Therapy. Cell Metab 2019; 29: 545-563 [PMID: 30840911 DOI: 10.1016/i.cmet.2019.02.007
- Weir GC, Cavelti-Weder C, Bonner-Weir S. Stem cell approaches for diabetes: towards beta cell replacement. Genome 17 Med 2011; 3: 61 [PMID: 21951399 DOI: 10.1186/gm277]
- Veres A, Faust AL, Bushnell HL, Engquist EN, Kenty JH, Harb G, Poh YC, Sintov E, Gürtler M, Pagliuca FW, Peterson 18 QP, Melton DA. Charting cellular identity during human in vitro β-cell differentiation. Nature 2019; 569: 368-373 [PMID: 31068696 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-019-1168-5]
- Velazco-Cruz L, Song J, Maxwell KG, Goedegebuure MM, Augsornworawat P, Hogrebe NJ, Millman JR. Acquisition of 19 Dynamic Function in Human Stem Cell-Derived β Cells. Stem Cell Reports 2019; 12: 351-365 [PMID: 30661993 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.12.012
- Balboa D, Barsby T, Lithovius V, Saarimäki-Vire J, Omar-Hmeadi M, Dyachok O, Montaser H, Lund PE, Yang M, 20 Ibrahim H, Näätänen A, Chandra V, Vihinen H, Jokitalo E, Kvist J, Ustinov J, Nieminen AI, Kuuluvainen E, Hietakangas V, Katajisto P, Lau J, Carlsson PO, Barg S, Tengholm A, Otonkoski T. Functional, metabolic and transcriptional maturation of human pancreatic islets derived from stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2022; 40: 1042-1055 [PMID: 35241836 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-022-01219-z]
- Du Y, Liang Z, Wang S, Sun D, Wang X, Liew SY, Lu S, Wu S, Jiang Y, Wang Y, Zhang B, Yu W, Lu Z, Pu Y, Zhang 21 Y, Long H, Xiao S, Liang R, Zhang Z, Guan J, Wang J, Ren H, Wei Y, Zhao J, Sun S, Liu T, Meng G, Wang L, Gu J, Wang T, Liu Y, Li C, Tang C, Shen Z, Peng X, Deng H. Human pluripotent stem-cell-derived islets ameliorate diabetes in non-human primates. Nat Med 2022; 28: 272-282 [PMID: 35115708 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-021-01645-7]
- Borowiak M. The new generation of beta-cells: replication, stem cell differentiation, and the role of small molecules. Rev 22 Diabet Stud 2010; 7: 93-104 [PMID: 21060968 DOI: 10.1900/RDS.2010.7.93]
- Slack JM. Developmental biology of the pancreas. Development 1995; 121: 1569-1580 [PMID: 7600975 DOI: 23 10.1242/dev.121.6.1569
- Petersen MBK, Azad A, Ingvorsen C, Hess K, Hansson M, Grapin-Botton A, Honoré C. Single-Cell Gene Expression 24 Analysis of a Human ESC Model of Pancreatic Endocrine Development Reveals Different Paths to β-Cell Differentiation. Stem Cell Reports 2017; 9: 1246-1261 [PMID: 28919263 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.08.009]
- 25 Habener JF, Kemp DM, Thomas MK. Minireview: transcriptional regulation in pancreatic development. Endocrinology 2005; 146: 1025-1034 [PMID: 15604203 DOI: 10.1210/en.2004-1576]
- 26 Gu G, Dubauskaite J, Melton DA. Direct evidence for the pancreatic lineage: NGN3+ cells are islet progenitors and are distinct from duct progenitors. Development 2002; 129: 2447-2457 [PMID: 11973276 DOI: 10.1242/dev.129.10.2447]
- 27 Rezania A, Bruin JE, Xu J, Narayan K, Fox JK, O'Neil JJ, Kieffer TJ. Enrichment of human embryonic stem cell-derived NKX6.1-expressing pancreatic progenitor cells accelerates the maturation of insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Stem Cells 2013; 31: 2432-2442 [PMID: 23897760 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1489]
- Schaffer AE, Taylor BL, Benthuysen JR, Liu J, Thorel F, Yuan W, Jiao Y, Kaestner KH, Herrera PL, Magnuson MA, 28 May CL, Sander M. Nkx6.1 controls a gene regulatory network required for establishing and maintaining pancreatic Beta cell identity. PLoS Genet 2013; 9: e1003274 [PMID: 23382704 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003274]
- Ohlsson H, Karlsson K, Edlund T. IPF1, a homeodomain-containing transactivator of the insulin gene. EMBO J 1993; 12: 29 4251-4259 [PMID: 7901001 DOI: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1993.tb06109.x]
- 30 Schisler JC, Jensen PB, Taylor DG, Becker TC, Knop FK, Takekawa S, German M, Weir GC, Lu D, Mirmira RG, Newgard CB. The Nkx6.1 homeodomain transcription factor suppresses glucagon expression and regulates glucosestimulated insulin secretion in islet beta cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102: 7297-7302 [PMID: 15883383 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0502168102
- 31 Wang H, Brun T, Kataoka K, Sharma AJ, Wollheim CB. MAFA controls genes implicated in insulin biosynthesis and



secretion. Diabetologia 2007; 50: 348-358 [PMID: 17149590 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-006-0490-2]

- Sander M, German MS. The beta cell transcription factors and development of the pancreas. J Mol Med (Berl) 1997; 75: 32 327-340 [PMID: 9181474 DOI: 10.1007/s001090050118]
- Naya FJ, Huang HP, Qiu Y, Mutoh H, DeMayo FJ, Leiter AB, Tsai MJ. Diabetes, defective pancreatic morphogenesis, 33 and abnormal enteroendocrine differentiation in BETA2/neuroD-deficient mice. Genes Dev 1997; 11: 2323-2334 [PMID: 9308961 DOI: 10.1101/gad.11.18.2323]
- Weinstein DC, Ruiz i Altaba A, Chen WS, Hoodless P, Prezioso VR, Jessell TM, Darnell JE Jr. The winged-helix 34 transcription factor HNF-3 beta is required for notochord development in the mouse embryo. Cell 1994; 78: 575-588 [PMID: 8069910 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90523-1]
- Naya FJ, Stellrecht CM, Tsai MJ. Tissue-specific regulation of the insulin gene by a novel basic helix-loop-helix 35 transcription factor. Genes Dev 1995; 9: 1009-1019 [PMID: 7774807 DOI: 10.1101/gad.9.8.1009]
- Oiu Y, Guo M, Huang S, Stein R. Insulin gene transcription is mediated by interactions between the p300 coactivator and 36 PDX-1, BETA2, and E47. Mol Cell Biol 2002; 22: 412-420 [PMID: 11756538 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.22.2.412-420.2002]
- 37 Stolovich-Rain M, Enk J, Vikesa J, Nielsen FC, Saada A, Glaser B, Dor Y. Weaning triggers a maturation step of pancreatic β cells. Dev Cell 2015; 32: 535-545 [PMID: 25662175 DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2015.01.002]
- 38 Sun ZY, Yu TY, Jiang FX, Wang W. Functional maturation of immature  $\beta$  cells: A roadblock for stem cell therapy for type 1 diabetes. World J Stem Cells 2021; 13: 193-207 [PMID: 33815669 DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v13.i3.193]
- 39 Otonkoski T, Andersson S, Knip M, Simell O. Maturation of insulin response to glucose during human fetal and neonatal development. Studies with perifusion of pancreatic isletlike cell clusters. Diabetes 1988; 37: 286-291 [PMID: 3286329 DOI: 10.2337/diab.37.3.286]
- Gu C, Stein GH, Pan N, Goebbels S, Hörnberg H, Nave KA, Herrera P, White P, Kaestner KH, Sussel L, Lee JE. 40 Pancreatic beta cells require NeuroD to achieve and maintain functional maturity. Cell Metab 2010; 11: 298-310 [PMID: 20374962 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.03.006]
- 41 Asplund K, Hellerström C. Glucose metabolism of pancreatic islets isolated from neonatal rats. Horm Metab Res 1972; 4: 159-163 [PMID: 4339758 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1094091]
- Boschero AC, Bordin S, Sener A, Malaisse WJ. D-glucose and L-leucine metabolism in neonatal and adult cultured rat 42 pancreatic islets. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1990; 73: 63-71 [PMID: 2292340 DOI: 10.1016/0303-7207(90)90045-a]
- Freinkel N, Lewis NJ, Johnson R, Swenne I, Bone A, Hellerström C. Differential effects of age versus glycemic 43 stimulation on the maturation of insulin stimulus-secretion coupling during culture of fetal rat islets. Diabetes 1984; 33: 1028-1038 [PMID: 6389221 DOI: 10.2337/diab.33.11.1028]
- Rozzo A, Meneghel-Rozzo T, Delakorda SL, Yang SB, Rupnik M. Exocytosis of insulin: in vivo maturation of mouse 44 endocrine pancreas. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009; 1152: 53-62 [PMID: 19161376 DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.04003.x]
- Hughes SJ. The role of reduced glucose transporter content and glucose metabolism in the immature secretory responses 45 of fetal rat pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 1994; 37: 134-140 [PMID: 8163046 DOI: 10.1007/s001250050083]
- 46 Tu J, Tuch BE. Glucose regulates the maximal velocities of glucokinase and glucose utilization in the immature fetal rat pancreatic islet. Diabetes 1996; 45: 1068-1075 [PMID: 8690154 DOI: 10.2337/diab.45.8.1068]
- 47 Hang Y, Yamamoto T, Benninger RK, Brissova M, Guo M, Bush W, Piston DW, Powers AC, Magnuson M, Thurmond DC, Stein R. The MafA transcription factor becomes essential to islet  $\beta$ -cells soon after birth. Diabetes 2014; 63: 1994-2005 [PMID: 24520122 DOI: 10.2337/db13-1001]
- Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Koh A, El Khattabi I, Li WC, Toschi E, Jermendy A, Juhl K, Mao K, Weir GC, Sharma A, 48 Bonner-Weir S. Mafa expression enhances glucose-responsive insulin secretion in neonatal rat beta cells. Diabetologia 2011; 54: 583-593 [PMID: 21190012 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-010-2026-z]
- 49 Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Dilenno A, Hollister-Lock J, Cahill C, Sharma A, Weir G, Colton C, Bonner-Weir S. MAFA and T3 Drive Maturation of Both Fetal Human Islets and Insulin-Producing Cells Differentiated From hESC. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015; 100: 3651-3659 [PMID: 26207953 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2015-2632]
- El Khattabi I, Sharma A. Proper activation of MafA is required for optimal differentiation and maturation of pancreatic β-50 cells. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015; 29: 821-831 [PMID: 26696512 DOI: 10.1016/j.beem.2015.09.006]
- Chuang JC, Cha JY, Garmey JC, Mirmira RG, Repa JJ. Research resource: nuclear hormone receptor expression in the 51 endocrine pancreas. Mol Endocrinol 2008; 22: 2353-2363 [PMID: 18669644 DOI: 10.1210/me.2007-0568]
- Yoshihara E, Wei Z, Lin CS, Fang S, Ahmadian M, Kida Y, Tseng T, Dai Y, Yu RT, Liddle C, Atkins AR, Downes M, 52 Evans RM. ERRγ Is Required for the Metabolic Maturation of Therapeutically Functional Glucose-Responsive β Cells. Cell Metab 2016; 23: 622-634 [PMID: 27076077 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.03.005]
- 53 Arda HE, Li L, Tsai J, Torre EA, Rosli Y, Peiris H, Spitale RC, Dai C, Gu X, Qu K, Wang P, Wang J, Grompe M, Scharfmann R, Snyder MS, Bottino R, Powers AC, Chang HY, Kim SK. Age-Dependent Pancreatic Gene Regulation Reveals Mechanisms Governing Human β Cell Function. Cell Metab 2016; 23: 909-920 [PMID: 27133132 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.04.002
- Bliss CR, Sharp GW. Glucose-induced insulin release in islets of young rats: time-dependent potentiation and effects of 2-54 bromostearate. Am J Physiol 1992; 263: E890-E896 [PMID: 1443122 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.1992.263.5.e890]
- Jermendy A, Toschi E, Aye T, Koh A, Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Sharma A, Weir GC, Sgroi D, Bonner-Weir S. Rat neonatal 55 beta cells lack the specialised metabolic phenotype of mature beta cells. Diabetologia 2011; 54: 594-604 [PMID: 21240476 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-010-2036-x]
- Zhao C, Rutter GA. Overexpression of lactate dehydrogenase A attenuates glucose-induced insulin secretion in stable 56 MIN-6 beta-cell lines. FEBS Lett 1998; 430: 213-216 [PMID: 9688541 DOI: 10.1016/s0014-5793(98)00600-0]
- Sekine N, Cirulli V, Regazzi R, Brown LJ, Gine E, Tamarit-Rodriguez J, Girotti M, Marie S, MacDonald MJ, Wollheim 57 CB. Low lactate dehydrogenase and high mitochondrial glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase in pancreatic beta-cells. Potential role in nutrient sensing. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 4895-4902 [PMID: 8106462 DOI: 10.1016/s0021-9258(17)37629-9
- Schuit F, De Vos A, Farfari S, Moens K, Pipeleers D, Brun T, Prentki M. Metabolic fate of glucose in purified islet cells. 58



Glucose-regulated anaplerosis in beta cells. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 18572-18579 [PMID: 9228023 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.272.30.18572]

- Ferrannini E, Mari A. Beta cell function and its relation to insulin action in humans: a critical appraisal. Diabetologia 59 2004; **47**: 943-956 [PMID: 15105990 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-004-1381-z]
- Blum B, Hrvatin S, Schuetz C, Bonal C, Rezania A, Melton DA. Functional beta-cell maturation is marked by an 60 increased glucose threshold and by expression of urocortin 3. Nat Biotechnol 2012; 30: 261-264 [PMID: 22371083 DOI: 10.1038/nbt.2141]
- Carvalho CP, Barbosa HC, Britan A, Santos-Silva JC, Boschero AC, Meda P, Collares-Buzato CB. Beta cell coupling and 61 connexin expression change during the functional maturation of rat pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 2010; 53: 1428-1437 [PMID: 20361177 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-010-1726-8]
- Serre-Beinier V, Bosco D, Zulianello L, Charollais A, Caille D, Charpantier E, Gauthier BR, Diaferia GR, Giepmans BN, 62 Lupi R, Marchetti P, Deng S, Buhler L, Berney T, Cirulli V, Meda P. Cx36 makes channels coupling human pancreatic beta-cells, and correlates with insulin expression. Hum Mol Genet 2009; 18: 428-439 [PMID: 19000992 DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddn370]
- Li H, Neelankal John A, Nagatake T, Hamazaki Y, Jiang FX. Claudin 4 in pancreatic  $\beta$  cells is involved in regulating the 63 functional state of adult islets. FEBS Open Bio 2020; 10: 28-40 [PMID: 31562747 DOI: 10.1002/2211-5463.12735]
- Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC. New sources of pancreatic beta-cells. Nat Biotechnol 2005; 23: 857-861 [PMID: 16003374 64 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1115]
- Soria B, Skoudy A, Martín F. From stem cells to beta cells: new strategies in cell therapy of diabetes mellitus. 65 Diabetologia 2001; 44: 407-415 [PMID: 11357469 DOI: 10.1007/s001250051636]
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell 66 lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998; 282: 1145-1147 [PMID: 9804556 DOI: 10.1126/science.282.5391.1145]
- Xu C, Inokuma MS, Denham J, Golds K, Kundu P, Gold JD, Carpenter MK. Feeder-free growth of undifferentiated 67 human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2001; 19: 971-974 [PMID: 11581665 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1001-971]
- Jiang J, Au M, Lu K, Eshpeter A, Korbutt G, Fisk G, Majumdar AS. Generation of insulin-producing islet-like clusters 68 from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2007; 25: 1940-1953 [PMID: 17510217 DOI: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0761
- 69 Jiang W, Shi Y, Zhao D, Chen S, Yong J, Zhang J, Qing T, Sun X, Zhang P, Ding M, Li D, Deng H. In vitro derivation of functional insulin-producing cells from human embryonic stem cells. Cell Res 2007; 17: 333-344 [PMID: 17426693 DOI: 10.1038/cr.2007.28
- Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S, Young H, Richardson M, Smart NG, Cunningham J, 70 Agulnick AD, D'Amour KA, Carpenter MK, Baetge EE. Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2008; 26: 443-452 [PMID: 18288110 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1393]
- D'Amour KA, Agulnick AD, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Kroon E, Baetge EE. Efficient differentiation of human embryonic 71 stem cells to definitive endoderm. Nat Biotechnol 2005; 23: 1534-1541 [PMID: 16258519 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1163]
- D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, Moorman MA, Kroon E, Carpenter MK, Baetge 72 EE. Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2006; 24: 1392-1401 [PMID: 17053790 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1259]
- Pagliuca FW, Millman JR, Gürtler M, Segel M, Van Dervort A, Ryu JH, Peterson QP, Greiner D, Melton DA. Generation 73 of functional human pancreatic β cells in vitro. Cell 2014; 159: 428-439 [PMID: 25303535 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.040]
- Russ HA, Parent AV, Ringler JJ, Hennings TG, Nair GG, Shveygert M, Guo T, Puri S, Haataja L, Cirulli V, Blelloch R, 74 Szot GL, Arvan P, Hebrok M. Controlled induction of human pancreatic progenitors produces functional beta-like cells in vitro. EMBO J 2015; 34: 1759-1772 [PMID: 25908839 DOI: 10.15252/embj.201591058]
- 75 Ghazizadeh Z, Kao DI, Amin S, Cook B, Rao S, Zhou T, Zhang T, Xiang Z, Kenyon R, Kaymakcalan O, Liu C, Evans T, Chen S. ROCKII inhibition promotes the maturation of human pancreatic beta-like cells. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 298 [PMID: 28824164 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-00129-y]
- Millman JR, Xie C, Van Dervort A, Gürtler M, Pagliuca FW, Melton DA. Generation of stem cell-derived β-cells from 76 patients with type 1 diabetes. Nat Commun 2016; 7: 11463 [PMID: 27163171 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms11463]
- Hogrebe NJ, Augsornworawat P, Maxwell KG, Velazco-Cruz L, Millman JR. Targeting the cytoskeleton to direct 77 pancreatic differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2020; 38: 460-470 [PMID: 32094658 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-020-0430-6
- Rezania A, Bruin JE, Arora P, Rubin A, Batushansky I, Asadi A, O'Dwyer S, Quiskamp N, Mojibian M, Albrecht T, Yang 78 YH, Johnson JD, Kieffer TJ. Reversal of diabetes with insulin-producing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2014; 32: 1121-1133 [PMID: 25211370 DOI: 10.1038/nbt.3033]
- Augsornworawat P, Maxwell KG, Velazco-Cruz L, Millman JR. Single-cell transcriptome profiling reveals β cell maturation in stem cell-derived islets after transplantation. Cell Rep 2021; 34: 108850 [PMID: 33691098 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108850]
- Migliorini A, Nostro MC, Sneddon JB. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived insulin-producing cells: A regenerative 80 medicine perspective. Cell Metab 2021; 33: 721-731 [PMID: 33826915 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.03.021]
- Mahaddalkar PU, Scheibner K, Pfluger S, Ansarullah, Sterr M, Beckenbauer J, Irmler M, Beckers J, Knöbel S, Lickert 81 H. Generation of pancreatic  $\beta$  cells from CD177(+) anterior definitive endoderm. *Nat Biotechnol* 2020; **38**: 1061-1072 [PMID: 32341565 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-020-0492-5]
- Ameri J, Borup R, Prawiro C, Ramond C, Schachter KA, Scharfmann R, Semb H. Efficient Generation of Glucose-82 Responsive Beta Cells from Isolated GP2(+) Human Pancreatic Progenitors. Cell Rep 2017; 19: 36-49 [PMID: 28380361 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.032]
- Cogger KF, Sinha A, Sarangi F, McGaugh EC, Saunders D, Dorrell C, Mejia-Guerrero S, Aghazadeh Y, Rourke JL, 83



Screaton RA, Grompe M, Streeter PR, Powers AC, Brissova M, Kislinger T, Nostro MC. Glycoprotein 2 is a specific cell surface marker of human pancreatic progenitors. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 331 [PMID: 28835709 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-00561-0

- Jiang W, Sui X, Zhang D, Liu M, Ding M, Shi Y, Deng H. CD24: a novel surface marker for PDX1-positive pancreatic 84 progenitors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2011; 29: 609-617 [PMID: 21308865 DOI: 10.1002/stem.608]
- Kelly OG, Chan MY, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Ostertag TM, Ross KG, Richardson M, Carpenter MK, D'Amour KA, 85 Kroon E, Moorman M, Baetge EE, Bang AG. Cell-surface markers for the isolation of pancreatic cell types derived from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2011; 29: 750-756 [PMID: 21804561 DOI: 10.1038/nbt.1931]
- 86 Li X, Yang KY, Chan VW, Leung KT, Zhang XB, Wong AS, Chong CCN, Wang CC, Ku M, Lui KO. Single-Cell RNA-Sea Reveals that CD9 Is a Negative Marker of Glucose-Responsive Pancreatic 8-like Cells Derived from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports 2020; 15: 1111-1126 [PMID: 33096048 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2020.09.009]
- Egozi A, Llivichuzhca-Loja D, McCourt BT, Bahar Halpern K, Farack L, An X, Wang F, Chen K, Konnikova L, Itzkovitz 87 S. Insulin is expressed by enteroendocrine cells during human fetal development. Nat Med 2021; 27: 2104-2107 [PMID: 34887578 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-021-01586-1]
- Kojima H, Fujimiya M, Terashima T, Kimura H, Chan L. Extrapancreatic proinsulin/insulin-expressing cells in diabetes 88 mellitus: is history repeating itself? Endocr J 2006; 53: 715-722 [PMID: 16960402 DOI: 10.1507/endocrj.kr-84]
- Kuwabara T, Kagalwala MN, Onuma Y, Ito Y, Warashina M, Terashima K, Sanosaka T, Nakashima K, Gage FH, 89 Asashima M. Insulin biosynthesis in neuronal progenitors derived from adult hippocampus and the olfactory bulb. EMBO Mol Med 2011; 3: 742-754 [PMID: 21984534 DOI: 10.1002/emmm.201100177]
- Mehran AE, Templeman NM, Brigidi GS, Lim GE, Chu KY, Hu X, Botezelli JD, Asadi A, Hoffman BG, Kieffer TJ, Bamji SX, Clee SM, Johnson JD. Hyperinsulinemia drives diet-induced obesity independently of brain insulin production. Cell Metab 2012; 16: 723-737 [PMID: 23217255 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.019]
- Vertex Presents New Data from VX-880 Phase 1/2 Clinical Trial at the American Diabetes Association 82nd Scientific 91 Sessions. [cited 15 October 2022]. Available from: https://investors.vrtx.com/news-releases/news-release-details/vertexpresents-new-data-vx-880-phase-12-clinical-trial-american
- 92 Alvarez-Dominguez JR, Melton DA. Cell maturation: Hallmarks, triggers, and manipulation. Cell 2022; 185: 235-249 [PMID: 34995481 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.12.012]
- 93 Davalli AM, Scaglia L, Zangen DH, Hollister J, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC. Vulnerability of islets in the immediate posttransplantation period. Dynamic changes in structure and function. Diabetes 1996; 45: 1161-1167 [PMID: 8772716 DOI: 10.2337/diab.45.9.11611
- Faleo G, Russ HA, Wisel S, Parent AV, Nguyen V, Nair GG, Freise JE, Villanueva KE, Szot GL, Hebrok M, Tang Q. 94 Mitigating Ischemic Injury of Stem Cell-Derived Insulin-Producing Cells after Transplant. Stem Cell Reports 2017; 9: 807-819 [PMID: 28803916 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.07.012]
- 95 Melton D. The promise of stem cell-derived islet replacement therapy. Diabetologia 2021; 64: 1030-1036 [PMID: 33454830 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-020-05367-2]
- Jiang FX, Morahan G. Insulin-secreting  $\beta$  cells require a post-genomic concept. World J Diabetes 2016; 7: 198-208 96 [PMID: 27226815 DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v7.i10.198]
- Kaestner KH, Campbell-Thompson M, Dor Y, Gill RG, Glaser B, Kim SK, Sander M, Stabler C, Stewart AF, Powers 97 AC. What is a β cell? Mol Metab 2021; 53: 101323 [PMID: 34416394 DOI: 10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101323]
- 98 Hagemann-Jensen M, Ziegenhain C, Sandberg R. Scalable single-cell RNA sequencing from full transcripts with Smartseq3xpress. Nat Biotechnol 2022; 40: 1452-1457 [PMID: 35637418 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-022-01311-4]
- Islam S, Zeisel A, Joost S, La Manno G, Zajac P, Kasper M, Lönnerberg P, Linnarsson S. Quantitative single-cell RNA-99 seq with unique molecular identifiers. Nat Methods 2014; 11: 163-166 [PMID: 24363023 DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.2772]
- 100 Ziegenhain C, Hendriks GJ, Hagemann-Jensen M, Sandberg R. Molecular spikes: a gold standard for single-cell RNA counting. Nat Methods 2022; 19: 560-566 [PMID: 35468967 DOI: 10.1038/s41592-022-01446-x]
- Rezania A, Bruin JE, Riedel MJ, Mojibian M, Asadi A, Xu J, Gauvin R, Narayan K, Karanu F, O'Neil JJ, Ao Z, Warnock 101 GL, Kieffer TJ. Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors into functional islets capable of treating pre-existing diabetes in mice. Diabetes 2012; 61: 2016-2029 [PMID: 22740171 DOI: 10.2337/db11-1711]
- Schulz TC, Young HY, Agulnick AD, Babin MJ, Baetge EE, Bang AG, Bhoumik A, Cepa I, Cesario RM, Haakmeester C, Kadoya K, Kelly JR, Kerr J, Martinson LA, McLean AB, Moorman MA, Payne JK, Richardson M, Ross KG, Sherrer ES, Song X, Wilson AZ, Brandon EP, Green CE, Kroon EJ, Kelly OG, D'Amour KA, Robins AJ. A scalable system for production of functional pancreatic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 2012; 7: e37004 [PMID: 22623968 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037004]
- 103 Jiang FX, Mehta M, Morahan G. Quantification of insulin gene expression during development of pancreatic islet cells. Pancreas 2010; 39: 201-208 [PMID: 19812524 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3181bab68f]
- Jiang FX, Li K, Archer M, Mehta M, Jamieson E, Charles A, Dickinson JE, Matsumoto M, Morahan G. Differentiation of 104 Islet Progenitors Regulated by Nicotinamide into Transcriptome-Verified B Cells That Ameliorate Diabetes. Stem Cells 2017; 35: 1341-1354 [PMID: 28090703 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2567]



WJSC

# World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 196-208

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.196

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

# Mechanisms of analgesic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in osteoarthritis pain

Fatimah Almahasneh, Ejlal Abu-El-Rub, Ramada R Khasawneh

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Shengwen Calvin Li, United States; Chen H, China; Shuang W, China

Received: December 28, 2022 Peer-review started: December 28, 2022 First decision: January 9, 2023 Revised: January 25, 2023 Accepted: March 27, 2023 Article in press: March 27, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Fatimah Almahasneh, Ejlal Abu-El-Rub, Ramada R Khasawneh, Basic Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine - Yarmouk University, Irbid 21163, Jordan

Corresponding author: Ejlal Abu-El-Rub, PhD, Assistant Professor, Basic Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine -Yarmouk University, Irbid-Shafiq Irshidat Street, Irbid 21163, Jordan. ejlal.abuelrub@yu.edu.jo

# Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common musculoskeletal disease, and it is a major cause of pain, disability and health burden. Pain is the most common and bothersome presentation of OA, but its treatment is still suboptimal, due to the short-term action of employed analgesics and their poor adverse effect profile. Due to their regenerative and anti-inflammatory properties, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been extensively investigated as a potential therapy for OA, and numerous preclinical and clinical studies found a significant improvement in joint pathology and function, pain scores and/or quality of life after administration of MSCs. Only a limited number of studies, however, addressed pain control as the primary end-point or investigated the potential mechanisms of analgesia induced by MSCs. In this paper, we review the evidence reported in literature that support the analgesic action of MSCs in OA, and we summarize the potential mechanisms of these antinociceptive effects.

Key Words: Osteoarthritis; Pain; Inflammation; Mesenchymal stem cells; Regeneration; Analgesic mechanisms

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common musculoskeletal disease, and it is a major cause of pain, disability and economic burden. Pain is the most common and bothersome presentation of OA, but its treatment is still suboptimal, which highlights the need for new analgesic agents for OA. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been extensively investigated as a potential therapy for OA due to their regenerative and anti-inflammatory properties. The administration of MSCs resulted in significant improvement in joint pathology and function, pain scores and/or quality of life in numerous preclinical and clinical studies. Only a limited number of studies, however, addressed pain control as the primary endpoint or investigated the potential mechanisms of analgesia induced by MSCs. So, this paper reviews literature for evidence of analgesic actions of MSCs in OA, and summarizes the potential mechanisms of these anti-nociceptive effects

Citation: Almahasneh F, Abu-El-Rub E, Khasawneh RR. Mechanisms of analgesic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in osteoarthritis pain. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 196-208 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/196.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.196

#### INTRODUCTION

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a disease of movable joints characterized by anatomic and/or physiologic derangements including cartilage degradation, bone remodeling, osteophyte formation, joint inflammation and loss of normal joint function. It is initiated by micro- and macro-injury of the joint, which activates maladaptive repair responses producing abnormal tissue metabolism[1].

Clinical manifestations of OA include joint pain, tenderness, limitation of movement, coarse crepitus and, occasionally, effusion and mild local inflammation[2]. Diagnosis depends on the observation of signs and symptoms through clinical examination[3]. X-ray can be performed to help with differential diagnosis and in case of atypical features[4]. However, radiologic findings do not always complement the clinical presentation of pain<sup>[5]</sup>.

Pathophysiology of OA is complex and is based on cartilage degeneration preceded by subchondral bone lesions. Historically, OA had been considered a disease of joint wear and tear, but recently, lowgrade chronic inflammation has been found to play a key role in OA pathology. Both innate and adaptive central immunological mechanisms are involved in inflammation. Formation of ectopic bone and osteophytes are a characteristic pathologic features of OA[6]. Neuroinflammation and central sensitization mechanisms contribute to the development of chronic pain[7].

OA is the most common musculoskeletal disorder worldwide, and it poses a huge health and economic burden. It is considered a major cause of chronic pain, disability -due to diminished joint mobility and function-, and decreased quality of life[8,9]. Thus, finding effective and safe therapies for the treatment of OA is a significant clinical need.

Despite the recent progresses in understanding the pathophysiology of OA[7], the treatment of this condition is still suboptimal<sup>[10]</sup>. For low-grade OA, pain management and lifestyle changes are the only available therapeutic options, with total joint replacement considered the end-stage therapy. However, no effective therapeutic options are available that can stop the progress of the disease[10]. Analgesia may be achieved using nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (topical or systemic) as a first line, followed by paracetamol or tramadol. Less used medications include duloxetine and topical capsaicin. Intra-articular steroids are effective and recommended if other agents do not provide sufficient pain control, although their effect is short-termed[3]. Pharmacological therapies should be always accompanied by physical and psychosocial interventions, such as exercise, weight management and manual therapy. Patients whose joint symptoms are substantially impacting their quality of life and in which non-surgical management is ineffective or unsuitable should be referred for joint replacement surgery<sup>[3]</sup>. Table 1 summarizes the treatment guidelines for OA as recommended by the American College of Rheumatology and Arthritis Foundation[11].

# PAIN IN OA

Pain is the major manifestation of OA and it significantly affects the function and quality of life of patients[12]. Both peripheral and central mechanisms contribute to OA pain. Peripherally, nociceptive signals may arise from the synovium, bone marrow, soft tissues and even cartilage in the advanced stages of the disease<sup>[13]</sup>. These inputs are modulated at the central level through mechanisms involving spinal and cortical sensitization, and the activity of discrete areas of the brain. Central sensitization may explain the poor correlation between pain severity in OA and the extent of cartilage damage, and the



# Table 1 Recommended therapies for the management of osteoarthritis by the American College of Rheumatology and Arthritis Foundation

	Hand	Knee	Нір	
Physical and psychosocial approaches				
Exercise <sup>1</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Self-Efficacy and Self-Management Programs <sup>1</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Weight loss <sup>1</sup>		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Tai Chi <sup>1</sup>		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Heat, therapeutic cooling <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Cognitive Behavioral Therapy <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Acupuncture <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
Paraffin <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$			
Yoga <sup>2</sup>		$\checkmark$		
Pharmacological approach				
Oral NSAIDs <sup>1</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Topical NSAIDs	$\sqrt{2}$	$\sqrt{1}$		
IA corticosteroids	$\sqrt{2}$	$\sqrt{1}$	$\sqrt{1}$ (image-guided)	
Acetaminophen <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Tramadol <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Duloxetine <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Chondroitin <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$			
Topical capsaicin <sup>2</sup>		$\checkmark$		

<sup>1</sup>Strongly recommended.

<sup>2</sup>Conditionally recommended.

Strongly and conditionally recommended approaches for the management of hand, knee, and hip osteoarthritis are shown. NSAIDs: Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs; IA: Intra-articular.

persistence of pain after joint replacement in some patients[14].

In the periphery, sensitization of afferent neurons is mediated by cytokines, chemokines and neuropeptides and is associated with low-grade inflammation and innate immunity[15], immune cell infiltration and activation, and damage-associated molecular patterns. These mechanisms involve early post-translational changes to receptor ion channels, followed by late transcription-dependent mechanisms, which produce changes to the chemical phenotype of the cell[16]. Animal models of OA demonstrated the role of nerve growth factor (NGF) in nociceptor sensitization after tissue injury, mainly through the tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) receptor. In addition, increased NGF levels were found in the synovial fluid of OA patients and were associated with pain[17,18]. Other molecules associated with the peripheral component of OA pain include the neuropeptide calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP)[19], interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and tumor-necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ )[20].

Central sensitization occurs both at the spinal and supraspinal levels. In the spinal cord, acute pain is accompanied with  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor activation by glutamate, followed by an early phase of sensitization, mediated by substance P (SP) acting on neurokinin 1 receptors, in which N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors are activated. The late phase sensitization witnesses gene induction with enhanced synthesis of prostaglandins and other local inflammatory mediators[14]. In models of OA, spinal cord exhibits enhanced transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1 (TRPV1) activity and increased levels of SP, CGRP, IL-1  $\alpha/\beta$ , IL-13, IL-17, TNF- $\alpha$ , L-selectin, tissue inhibitor of metallopeptidase inhibitor 1 and vascular endothelial growth factors[21]. In addition, activation of glial cells was found to contribute to spinal sensitization occurs in several areas of the brain, including the rostral ventral medulla and the periaqueductal gray and it involves inflammatory mediators, such as prostaglandins, as well as serotoninergic and noradrenergic facilitation[23].

## TREATMENT OF OA PAIN

Pain management in OA is still considered suboptimal. The use of paracetamol, once recommended as the first-line analgesic for OA pain, has now been reviewed after meta-analysis suggested that monotherapy with paracetamol may be ineffective[24] and that long-term treatment provides no more pain relief than placebo for most patients<sup>[11]</sup>. NSAIDs are effective on the short term to control OA pain and are thus strongly recommended. Their use, however, is limited by the adverse effect profile[11]. Intra-articular injections of steroids also showed short-term effectiveness (2-10 wk)[3], but they are limited in frequency of administration and may cause cartilage damage if used repeatedly[25]. The use of other analgesics, such as duloxetine, tramadol, and non-tramadol opioids is not supported by strong evidence of efficacy, as well as other supplements, such as hyaluronic acid, glucosamine, chondroitin, fish oil and vitamin D[11]. These factors highlight the need for the development of novel therapies that are both effective and safe on the long term.

# MSCS AND THEIR THERAPEUTIC USES

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are multipotent adult stem cells likely derived from diverse embryonic lineages and isolated from different sources. They were discovered by Friedenstein in 1970[26]. The International Society for Cellular Therapy has proposed a set of standards to define MSCs: (1) Expression of a certain set of cluster of differentiation (CD) markers (CD105, CD73, and CD90); (2) Lack of expression of hematopoietic lineage CD markers (CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79α or CD19 and histocompatibility complex (HLA)-DR surface molecules); (3) Differentiation into osteoblasts (bone), adipocytes (fat) and chondroblasts (cartilage) in vitro; and (4) Plastic adherence and ability to form colony-forming unit fibroblasts[27]. MSCs from different sources showed differences in differentiation potential, immunophenotype, immunomodulatory activity, proteome, and transcriptome, producing their specific characteristics and features in their application.

MSCs are an attractive option and among the most frequently used stem cell types for clinical application and regenerative medicine due to numerous advantages, including self-renewal and differentiation, mostly due to their secreted trophic factors that mediate cell-to-cell communication. Moreover, immune rejection is an important concern with allogeneic cell-based therapy, but the lack of cell surface HLA class II molecules and T cell costimulatory molecules and their paracrine-mediated immunomodulatory activity, and secretion of immunomodulatory factors indicate that the MSCs have broad anti-inflammatory properties and active in tissue repair[28-31].

A large number of studies demonstrated the beneficial effects of MSC-based therapies to treat different pathologies, including neurological disorders, cardiac ischemia, diabetes, and bone and cartilage diseases[32,33], which indicate that MSCs holds great promise for cell therapies and tissue engineering.

Studies showed the ability of MSCs to migrate toward damaged tissues, which functionally influence the repairing of these tissues [34]. MSCs act to accelerate healing and reduce inflammation, which is essential to remove dead cells, and facilitate cell migration and proliferation in the injury site [35,36]. For instance, a study using a rat model of cardiomyopathy showed that MSC transplantation significantly improved cardiac function by induction of myogenesis and angiogenesis, resulting in decreased left ventricular end-diastolic pressure and increased left ventricular maximum[37]. Another study showed that basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) can promote the migration and survival of bone marrow MSCs in vitro, as the perfusion of the coronary vein with retrograde bFGF can enhance the graft transplantation of MSCs, promote the differentiation of MSCs to cardiomyocytes, and restore cardiac function[38]. Some studies used a laboratory-grown cell sheet patches of MSCs to repair large damaged areas instead of intravenous infusion of MSCs. Kim et al[39] transplanted adipose-derived stem cells (AD-MSCs) sheet to treat myocardial infarction in a rat model and showed that the stem cell sheet promoted cellular engraftment and upregulated growth factor and cytokine expression. An in vivo study of neonatal stroke rat model proved that intranasal delivery of MSC reduced ischemic brain damage and reduced white and gray matters loss[40]. The study attributed the healing in the injury site to an increase in cell proliferation after transplantation of MSCs.

In skeletal disorders, MSCs could be helpful in tissue repairing and regeneration through several mechanisms, including homing, angiogenesis, differentiation, and response to inflammatory condition [41]. Liu et al[42] used umbilical cord-MSCs (UC-MSCs) to treat rheumatoid arthritis in collageninduced arthritis mice through suppression of T follicular helper cell differentiation partly via the production of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. In addition, MSCs prevented arthritis progression by inhibiting both the number and function of follicular helper cell in vivo. Another study showed that transplantation of MSCs from allogeneic related donors treated severe progressive systemic sclerosis [43]. A third in vitro study treated bone marrow derived-MSCs (BM-MSCs) with all-trans retinoic acid, then co-cultured them with CD3/28-activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells derived from ankylosing spondylitis (AS) patients. The results showed that BM-MSCs treated with all-trans retinoic acid significantly decreased pathogenic cytokine, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-17A and interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) in AS[44].



#### **MSCS IN OA**

MSCs are the most studied stem cells for treating bone related diseases and the associated inflammation. The effects of treatment by MSCs on OA pathology and presentation was widely investigated in vitro and in different preclinical models of OA using different routes of administration of multiple types and amounts of MSCs. Numerous clinical trials also addressed the potential therapeutic role of MSCs in OA.

MSCs have the ability to differentiate into mesoderm-derived cells, including osteoblasts and chondrocytes. More importantly, MSCs are considered powerful immunomodulators and inflammation combatants rendering them suitable for many immunological and bone diseases where inflammation is a prominent component. OA is the most common form of arthritis and clinically variable in its severity. Patients with symptomatic form of OA suffer from intermittent attacks which are usually associated with joint pain. OA pathology encompasses the inflammation and degeneration of articular cartilage that defects its integrity and leads to subsequent changes in the subchondral bone. Many preclinical and clinical studies have corroborated the therapeutic potential of MSCs in alleviating the inflammation associated with OA and initiating the regeneration of the defective articular cartilage. A pilot study conducted by Song et al[45] reported positive outcomes of injecting autologous human adipose-derived MSCs (haMSCs) intra-articularly in patients with OA. Song *et al*[45] reported that a dosage of  $5 \times 10^7$ haMSCs produced the desired improvement in the pain scale and restored the volume and the function of knee cartilage. Similarly, Lee *et al* [46] reported that single intra-articular injection of  $1 \times 10^8$  AD-MSCs for patients with knee OA produced a significant reduction in the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities OA (WOMAC) index total score and the test related sub-scores for pain, stiffness and physical function at 6 mo post-injection. The range of articular motion remarkably enhanced after MSCs transplantation with no change in the joint space width of medial and lateral compartment and size of the cartilage damage[46]. On the other hand, Matas et al[47] found that intra-articular injection of two repeated doses of umbilical cord-derived MSCs (UC-MSCs) (20 × 10° per dose) at baseline and 6 mo was superior than using a single dose in lowering the WOMAC pain scores. Patients with knee OA who were recruited in Matas et al study experienced 86% reduction in pain and 89% reduction in disability with no progression in the chondral damage and intra-articular calcifications examined by magnetic resonance imaging at 12 mo[47]. Bastos et al[48] compared the effect of injecting autologous bone marrow-derived culture-expanded MSCs (hBM-MSCs) intra-articularly with or without the addition of platelet-rich plasma to intra-articular corticosteroid injections in patients with symptomatic knee OA. MSCs alone or in combination with platelet rich plasma were superior to corticosteroids in improving the Knee Injury and OA Outcome Score, increasing the range of motion and reducing the expression of IL-10, which is usually increased in OA knees, at 12 mo follow up[48].

The extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from different MSCs have currently gained a wide interest due to their high therapeutic efficacy and safety profile. Li et al[49] injected UC-MSCs-EVs in the articular lumen of a rat model of OA created by the surgical transection of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACLT), and reported that the UC-MSCs derived EVs can deliver therapeutically effective miRNAs, including has-miR-122-5p, has-miR-148a-3p, has-miR-486-5p, has-miR-let-7a-5p, and has-miR-100-5p, which were able to promote the reprogramming of macrophages into anti-inflammatory M2macrophages and increasing the level of inflammation inhibitory cytokine IL-10. Moreover, these miRNAs were effective in inducing the phosphoinositide-3-kinase-Akt signaling pathway, which is integral to prevent further degeneration of the knee cartilage and seize the progression of OA[49]. Duan et al[50] conducted an interesting study by isolating synovial MSCs and chondrocytes from the knee cartilage of patients getting total knee arthroplasty. After culturing these cells, they primed the MSCs with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and isolated EVs from these preconditioned synovial MSCs. The EVs were injected in the right knees of mice model of OA created by surgical removal of anterior cruciate ligament and medial meniscus. It was found that the presence of Let-7b miRNA in the EVs isolated from LPS primed synovial MSCs were effective in reducing the cartilage damage, increasing the thickness of cartilage layer, and decreasing the level of the inflammatory and matrix lysis protein disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs 5 (ADAMTS5) while increasing the levels of aggrecan and type II collagen alpha 1 chain, which are essential for the interaction with hyaluronan and enhancing the load-bearing characteristics of the knee [50]. Likewise, Jin et al [51] reported that lncRNA MEG-3 existed in the exosomes derived from bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSCs) and prevents the apoptosis and senescence of chondrocytes through lowering the level of IL-1 $\beta$  and decreasing the inflammatory damage of knee cartilage, which helps in restoring the trabecular bone volume and density of the knee joint in OA rat model. Mao et al [52] observed that miR-92a-3p was significantly less in the chondrocytes isolated from the cartilage of OA patients who underwent total knee replacement. BM-MSCs derived exosomes can deliver miR-92a-3p following their injection in the knees of collagenase-induced OA mouse model, which enhances the differentiation potential of resident stem cells to chondrocytes and increases the synthesis of cartilage matrix. These protective and regenerative effects are mediated by the inhibition of Wnt Family Member 5A[52]. Huang et al[53] demonstrated that miR-206 was downregulated and E74-like factor 3 (Elf3) was upregulated in the femoral tissues of OA mouse model. The administration of BM-MSCs derived exosomes that have sufficient amount of miR-206 was effective in downregulating Elf3 and ameliorating the inflammation and apoptosis of resident osteoblasts besides increasing the expression of osteocalcin and bone morphogenetic protein 2 and



enhancing the deposition of calcium and the activity of alkaline phosphatase[53]. In the rat model of temporomandibular joint OA, Zhang et al[54] injected exosomes derived from MSCs. They reported a significant suppression of inflammation mediated by decreasing the level of IL-1 $\beta$  and increasing the levels of nitric oxide and matrix metalloproteinase 13 (MMP13), which promoted the synthesis of glycosaminoglycans required for matrix restoration and regeneration<sup>[54]</sup>.

Genetic modification of MSCs is one of the most studied approaches to enhance their therapeutic and regenerative potential. It has been found that the transplantation of MSCs overexpressing plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) or heme oxygenase-1 in the surgery-induced canine OA model can considerably suppress the destructive inflammation and increase the levels of aggrecan and collagen type 2 in chondrocytes. PDGF-MSCs were more effective in improving the limb function and reducing pain<sup>[55]</sup>. The accumulative evidence supported by the above mentioned studies highlights the importance of MSCs in mitigating OA inflammation and restoring the integrity and density of volume of articular cartilage and its associated matrix, which indicates that MSCs can be a possible new therapeutic tool for OA.

# EFFECTS OF MSCS ON OA PAIN

Despite the large number of preclinical studies investigating the effects of MSC administration on OA pathophysiology, only a small part of them included the effects on pain, and even less had pain control as the main outcome. This may be due to the difficulty of pain assessment in animal models of OA[56] and the complexity of the pain phenomenon[57]. In addition, reported results were contrasting, probably due to the variability in animal models and the methods of pain evaluation, as well as types of MSCs used and routes of their administration<sup>[56]</sup>.

A number of *in vivo* studies, however, found an improvement in OA associated pain following treatment with MSCs. Transforming growth factor β1 (TGF-β1)-modified MSC-derived exosome was found to attenuate cartilage damage and pain behaviors in the ACLT model of OA by inhibiting angiogenesis, suppressing calcification of the cartilage zone and osteoclastogenesis[58]. Intra-articular injection of adipose derived MSCs (ADSCs) in rats diminished monoiodoacetate (MIA)-induced OA cartilage lesions by paracrine-based mechanisms and restored the OA associated mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia. In patients, ADSCs also reduced OA pain, as measured by the visual analog scale and WOMAC[59].

In a study by Zeng et al[60], bone marrow-derived MSCs (BMSCs) were enhanced by kartogenin (KGN) nanoparticles and administered to osteoarthritic rats. In addition to articular cartilage repair and enhanced chondrogenesis, KGN-enhanced BMSCs also ameliorated OA pain, as shown by increased weight bearing on the injured leg and decreased latency period after hot plate exposure. Administration of different concentrations of MSCs into OA rat knees improved both the histological damage and weight bearing distribution in the ACLT model[61].

Sakamoto et al[62] found that early intra-articular injection of adipose-derived MSCs resulted in significant suppression of inflammation and pain and prevented degenerative OA changes, but did not promote cartilage repair. In another study involving the MIA model of OA, STAT3 signaling pathway was suppressed by treatment of MSCs with STA21. Both intravenous (IV) and intra-articular (IA) administration of STA21-treated MSCs decreased expression of proinflammatory cytokines in the joint, which improved pain severity and cartilage damage[63].

A trial of adult human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in the MIA model of OA caused significant pain reduction, along with articular damage repair. In patients, the same cells did not produce the significant improvement in pain scores[64].

Intra-articular injection of a large variety of MSCs in patients with knee OA was found to significantly improve joint pathology, disease symptoms, pain score and quality of life[65]. Human umbilical cord MSCs (hUC-MSCs) was found to improve pain scores and quality of life in OA patients. hUC-MSCs increase the expression of chondrocytes and activate anti-inflammatory mechanisms, preventing degradation of cartilage and bone[66]. A clinical trial of autologous bone marrow stem cells (BM-SC) concluded that a single IA injection of these stem cells significant reduced knee pain and improved quality of life[67]. Other clinical trials reviewed by Hwang et al[68] also resulted in improved joint function, reduction of pain severity and improved life satisfaction.

#### PROPOSED MECHANISMS OF ANALGESIA OF MSCS IN OA

Data from literature suggest that the analgesic action of MSCs in OA involves a peripheral component, originating in the joint tissues, and a central component related to central hypersensitization. This reflects the mechanisms of nociception reported in OA[69].

It can be speculated that a major antinociceptive mechanism of MSCs in OA is through inhibition of inflammation. MSCs secrete anti-inflammatory and growth factors that support their immunomodulatory, immunosuppressive and trophic capacities. These properties contribute to the regeneration of



Almahasneh F et al. Analgesic mechanisms of MSCs in osteoarthritis



Figure 1 Graphical summary of proved and anticipated analgesic mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells in osteoarthritis. Mesenchymal stem cell (MSCs) transplantation reverts central sensitization and induces peripheral analgesia due to their anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties and by attenuation of specific pain pathways via exosomes-derived microRNAs and MSCs paracrine factors. TSG-6: TNF-stimulated gene 6 protein; CCL2: Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2; PGE2: Prostaglandin E2; GluN2A: N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 2A; IL-6: Interleukin 6; iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase; TNF a: Tumor necrosis factor α; IL-1β: Interleukin-1β; CGRP: Calcitonin gene-related peptide; PKCγ: Protein kinase C γ; ADAMTS-5: A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs 5; IL-10: Interleukin 10; TGF-β: Transforming growth factor β; NGF: Nerve growth factor; NLRP3: NLR family pyrin domain containing 3; HIF-1: Hypoxia inducible factor 1.

> damaged cartilage and joint homeostasis, improving inflammatory and catabolic aspects of OA[70,71]. Initially, the bioactive substances secreted by MSCs change the inflammatory milieu in the joint from pro-inflammatory to anti-inflammatory, producing analgesia[65]. On the longer term, MSCs are inserted in the joint tissues and trigger the repair and regeneration of damaged tissues, including cartilage<sup>[72]</sup>. Numerous molecules have been reported to contribute to the antiinflammatory effects of MSCs in OA, including nitric oxide (NO), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)-27, IL-10, TGF-β, IL-6, IFN-γ, CCL2, hepatocyte growth factor, nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) and TNF-α[73-75]. Cyclooxygenase 2/prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) pathway plays a key role in the anti-inflammatory effect of MSCs in OA[76], where MSCs increase the levels of the antiinflammatory mediator PGE2[75]. Similar antiinflammatory results were also produced by MSC EVs[77]. Since these molecules and their related pathways are well established contributors to OA pain, their involvement in the analgesic mechanisms of MSCs in OA can be hypothesized.

> Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2)/C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) signaling is crucial in the development of knee OA pain. Neuronal CCL2 and CCR2 from dorsal root ganglion (DRG) mediate macrophage infiltration, while local CCL2/CCR2 signaling in the joint directly stimulates intraarticular CCR2 positive sensory nerves, producing knee hyperalgesia[78]. Interestingly, the analgesic effect of MSCs in different models of pain was associated with decreased levels of CCL2, produced by the downregulation of the NF-KB and c-Jun N-terminal kinase/mitogen activated protein kinase pathways[79,80], which suggests that a similar mechanism could be involved in the analgesic effect of MSC in OA.

> Other molecules and pathways relevant to OA pain include: (1) NGF / TrkA; (2) CGRP; (3) IL-1 $\beta$ ; (4) Pyrin domain-containing protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome; and (5) Wnt/β-Catenin[69]. NLRP3 inflammasome is a component of the innate immune system and is involved in the regulation of active IL-1β. NF-KB increases the expression of inactive NLRP3 and pro-IL-1 mRNA, followed by the assembly of the inflammasome, which results in the activation of caspase 1 and release of IL-1, IL-18, MMP13 and ADAMTS5. In OA, dysregulation of NLRP3 inflammasome in OA contributes to chronic pain[69]. MSCs were found to inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages[81], inflammatory cardiomyopathy[82] and inflammatory renal disease[83], which could indicate inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome as a potential mechanism of MSCs induced analgesia in OA.

> In OA, high levels of Wnt are associated with progressive joint damage<sup>[84]</sup> and hyperalgesia<sup>[69]</sup>. Since MSCs were found to inhibit the Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin pathway in a number of disorders[85,86], this pathway could be involved in MSC analgesic mechanism and should be investigated further. In the



study by Lee *et al*[63], administration of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3-inhibited MSCs reduced the levels of inflammatory mediators and chemokines in the OA joint, and this was associated with improvement in pain behavior and decreased TRPV1 expression in the dorsal root ganglion. This effect was more pronounced with IV administration, indicating a systemic immunomodulatory effect on inflammation.

The interaction of MSCs with immune cells, including macrophage, dendritic cells, T lymphocytes, and natural killer cells, also contributes to MSC antiinflammatory properties[87]. MSCs induce polarization of macrophages to an antiinflammatory M2 phenotype through: (1) Cellular interaction and paracrine factor-mediated mechanisms; and (2) exosome-mediated mechanisms. The first involves cytokines and hormones, and the latter depends on RNAs and other molecules[88]. Following an intraarticular injection of BM-MSCs in patients with knee OA, a decrease in synovial fluid levels of proinflammatory monocytes/macrophages and IL-12p40 was recorded[89].

Ai et al[90] investigated the effects of MSCs and derived EVs (MSC-EVs) on pain behaviors in the destabilization of the medial meniscus murine model of OA. It was found that treated OA mice did not display pain behaviors observed in untreated counterparts, and that did not result from reduced joint damage, but rather from a lack of knee-innervating sensory neuron hyperexcitability. MSC-EV treatment also prevented NGF-induced sensory neuron hyperexcitability. These results suggest that MSCs and MSC-EVs may reduce pain in OA by direct action on peripheral sensory neurons[90]. Another study [91] found that the intrathecal administration of umbilical cord blood MSCs (UCBMSCs) improved both pain behavior and inflammation in the MIA model of OA. This effect is regulated by LncRNA H19 and involves microRNA-29a-3p/ FOS axis. microRNA29a-3p, the target gene of LncRNA H19, and FOS mRNA were down-regulated after stem cell therapy, suggesting that microRNA-29a-3p and FOS might play a role in pain improvement. c-fos in spinal dorsal horn of rats was significantly down-regulated after UCBMSCs treatment, which may be the reason for pain improvement. Phosphorylation levels of NMDA receptor 1 (NR1), NR2B, protein kinase C y (PKCy), extracellular signal-regulated kinase in spinal dorsal horn of rats with OA pain decreased significantly after intervention of UCBMSCs, indicating that the central sensitization of rats with advanced OA pain decreased and the pain symptoms improved. Similar results were observed in astrocytes.

Intra-articular injection of human adipose tissue-derived MSCs was reported to improve pain behavior in a medial meniscal transection (MMT) rat model of OA[92]. These effects were attributed to the recruitment of endogenous cells through paracrine communication[93], and to a lesser extent, to direct engraftment coordinated with the local environment[94]. Paracrine factors excreted by MSCs help recruitment of stem and progenitor cells, repair of degraded tissue and, most importantly, counteracting inflammation. A similar result was reported after administration of bone marrow MSC (BMSC)-derived exosome in the MIA model of OA[95], which was found to inhibit CGRP and iNOS expression in the DRG, indicating relief of both inflammatory and neuropathic aspects of OA pain[95]. BMSC-derived exosome also attenuates the inhibitory effect of IL-1β on the upregulated inflammatory mediators.

In the meniscal transection (MNX) model of OA, different effects were reported on pain behavior and joint pathology with the use of early and late passage MSCs. Late passage MSCs attenuated established pain behavior, while early passage MSCs exacerbated it. Interestingly, none of them modified MNX-induced joint pathology, which suggests an analgesic mechanism not related to articular pathology[96]. SiMAG-labelled MSCs were detected within the synovial cavity at 29 d postinjection, indicating a peripheral site of analgesic action of the MSCs. The recorded decrease in serum TNF $\alpha$  indicated inhibition of systemic inflammation, which is the expected cause of pain relief[97]. Similarly, van Buul *et al*[56] reported that intra-articular injection of bone marrow mononuclear cells in the MIA model of OA significantly improved pain behavior – measured as weight bearing distribution - but did not affect cartilage damage, subchondral bone changes and synovial inflammation. Similar results were observed with the administration of MSCs and MSC-EVs in a mouse collagenase-induced OA model[98]. MSCs were also found to downregulate ADAMTS-5 expression, inhibit the expression of anti- CGRP and increase the expression of TNF-stimulated gene/protein-6 (TSG-6)[99]. These changes indicate the suppression of the central sensitization of pain.

Several pain pathways were found to be inhibited by MSCs in other types or models of pain. Small EVs from induced pluripotent stem cell-derived MSCs alleviated acute pain in tendinopathy by inhibition of mast cell degranulation and infiltration and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and genes involved in the HIF-1 signaling pathway[100]. Human BMSCs relieved pain behavior in rodents by inhibition of neuronal hyperexcitability and primary afferent input, as well as suppression of GluN2A (N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 2A) tyrosine phosphorylation and PKC gamma (PKCg) immunoreactivity in the rostral ventromedial medulla[101]. In murine chronic constriction injury and spared nerve injury models, TGF- $\beta$ 1 was found to suppress spinal synaptic plasticity and DRG neuronal hyperexcitability *via* TGF- $\beta$  receptor 1-mediated noncanonical signaling. This effect was mediated by paracrine mechanism by which BMSCs target C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12-producing DRGs[102]. We thus anticipate that MSCs use in OA may exhibit their analgesic effects through the HIF-1, GluN2A tyrosine, PKCg and TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathways. Figure 1 summarizes the established and proposed mechanisms of analgesia exerted by MSCs or MSC related EVs in OA.

# CONCLUSION

Numerous in vitro, in vivo and clinical studies demonstrated the capability of MSCs in halting and/or reversing the progression of joint tissue damage in OA, as well as mitigating joint inflammation, improving pain sensation and enhancing overall patient quality of life. MSCs were able to produce an analgesic effect in models of OA through both peripheral mechanisms, mainly involving antiinflammatory processes, and on a central level, by preventing or reversing central sensitization. This evidence further reinforces the potential of MSCs as a safe and effective treatment for OA pain. Additional pathways which were observed in other types of pain may contribute to the analgesic mechanisms of MSCs in OA, and require further investigations.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Almahasneh F, and Abu-El-Rub E conceptualized the review subtopics; Almahasneh F, Abu-El-Rub E, and Khasawneh RR collected the literature used to write the review and drafted the manuscript; Almahasneh F, and Abu-El-Rub E revised and formatted the content of the manuscript and verified spelling, punctuation and grammatical errors; all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no competing interests.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Jordan

ORCID number: Fatimah Almahasneh 0000-0002-8799-2721; Ejlal Abu-El-Rub 0000-0001-9217-2560; Ramada R Khasawneh 0000-0003-3873-925X.

S-Editor: Liu GL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu GL

# REFERENCES

- Kraus VB. Blanco FJ. Englund M. Karsdal MA. Lohmander LS. Call for standardized definitions of osteoarthritis and risk stratification for clinical trials and clinical use. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2015; 23: 1233-1241 [PMID: 25865392 DOI: 10.1016/j.joca.2015.03.036]
- 2 Abhishek A, Doherty M. Diagnosis and clinical presentation of osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2013; 39: 45-66 [PMID: 23312410 DOI: 10.1016/j.rdc.2012.10.007]
- Taruc-Uy RL, Lynch SA. Diagnosis and treatment of osteoarthritis. Prim Care 2013; 40: 821-836, vii [PMID: 24209720 3 DOI: 10.1016/j.pop.2013.08.003]
- Wang X, Oo WM, Linklater JM. What is the role of imaging in the clinical diagnosis of osteoarthritis and disease 4 management? Rheumatology (Oxford) 2018; 57: iv51-iv60 [PMID: 29351654 DOI: 10.1093/rheumatology/kex501]
- McAlindon TE, Snow S, Cooper C, Dieppe PA. Radiographic patterns of osteoarthritis of the knee joint in the community: the importance of the patellofemoral joint. Ann Rheum Dis 1992; 51: 844-849 [PMID: 1632657 DOI: 10.1136/ard.51.7.844]
- Roelofs AJ, Kania K, Rafipay AJ, Sambale M, Kuwahara ST, Collins FL, Smeeton J, Serowoky MA, Rowley L, Wang H, 6 Gronewold R, Kapeni C, Méndez-Ferrer S, Little CB, Bateman JF, Pap T, Mariani FV, Sherwood J, Crump JG, De Bari C. Identification of the skeletal progenitor cells forming osteophytes in osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2020; 79: 1625-1634 [PMID: 32963046 DOI: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218350]
- Coaccioli S, Sarzi-Puttini P, Zis P, Rinonapoli G, Varrassi G. Osteoarthritis: New Insight on Its Pathophysiology. J Clin 7 Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 36294334 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11206013]
- 8 Trouvin AP, Perrot S. Pain in osteoarthritis. Implications for optimal management. Joint Bone Spine 2018; 85: 429-434 [PMID: 28889010 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2017.08.002]
- Chen A, Gupte C, Akhtar K, Smith P, Cobb J. The Global Economic Cost of Osteoarthritis: How the UK Compares. 9 Arthritis 2012; 2012: 698709 [PMID: 23082249 DOI: 10.1155/2012/698709]
- Primorac D, Molnar V, Matišić V, Hudetz D, Jeleč Ž, Rod E, Čukelj F, Vidović D, Vrdoljak T, Dobričić B, Antičević D, 10 Smolić M, Miškulin M, Ćaćić D, Borić I. Comprehensive Review of Knee Osteoarthritis Pharmacological Treatment and the Latest Professional Societies' Guidelines. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2021; 14 [PMID: 33801304 DOI: 10.3390/ph14030205]
- Kolasinski SL, Neogi T, Hochberg MC, Oatis C, Guyatt G, Block J, Callahan L, Copenhaver C, Dodge C, Felson D, 11



Gellar K, Harvey WF, Hawker G, Herzig E, Kwoh CK, Nelson AE, Samuels J, Scanzello C, White D, Wise B, Altman RD, DiRenzo D, Fontanarosa J, Giradi G, Ishimori M, Misra D, Shah AA, Shmagel AK, Thoma LM, Turgunbaev M, Turner AS, Reston J. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hand, Hip, and Knee. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2020; 72: 149-162 [PMID: 31908149 DOI: 10.1002/acr.24131]

- Adatia A, Rainsford KD, Kean WF. Osteoarthritis of the knee and hip. Part I: aetiology and pathogenesis as a basis for 12 pharmacotherapy. J Pharm Pharmacol 2012; 64: 617-625 [PMID: 22471357 DOI: 10.1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01458.x]
- 13 Walsh DA, McWilliams DF, Turley MJ, Dixon MR, Fransès RE, Mapp PI, Wilson D. Angiogenesis and nerve growth factor at the osteochondral junction in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2010; 49: 1852-1861 [PMID: 20581375 DOI: 10.1093/rheumatology/keq188]
- 14 Kidd B. Mechanisms of pain in osteoarthritis. HSS J 2012; 8: 26-28 [PMID: 23372523 DOI: 10.1007/s11420-011-9263-7]
- 15 Syx D, Tran PB, Miller RE, Malfait AM. Peripheral Mechanisms Contributing to Osteoarthritis Pain. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2018; 20: 9 [PMID: 29480410 DOI: 10.1007/s11926-018-0716-6]
- 16 Woolf CJ, Costigan M. Transcriptional and posttranslational plasticity and the generation of inflammatory pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96: 7723-7730 [PMID: 10393888 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.96.14.7723]
- Aloe L, Tuveri MA, Carcassi U, Levi-Montalcini R. Nerve growth factor in the synovial fluid of patients with chronic 17 arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1992; 35: 351-355 [PMID: 1536673 DOI: 10.1002/art.1780350315]
- Stoppiello LA, Mapp PI, Wilson D, Hill R, Scammell BE, Walsh DA. Structural associations of symptomatic knee 18 osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 2014; 66: 3018-3027 [PMID: 25049144 DOI: 10.1002/art.38778]
- Walsh DA, Mapp PI, Kelly S. Calcitonin gene-related peptide in the joint: contributions to pain and inflammation. Br J 19 Clin Pharmacol 2015; 80: 965-978 [PMID: 25923821 DOI: 10.1111/bcp.12669]
- Goldring MB, Otero M. Inflammation in osteoarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2011; 23: 471-478 [PMID: 21788902 DOI: 20 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328349c2b1]
- Zhang RX, Ren K, Dubner R. Osteoarthritis pain mechanisms: basic studies in animal models. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 21 2013; 21: 1308-1315 [PMID: 23973145 DOI: 10.1016/j.joca.2013.06.013]
- Bradesi S. Role of spinal cord glia in the central processing of peripheral pain perception. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2010; 22: 499-511 [PMID: 20236247 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01491.x]
- Haywood AR, Hathway GJ, Chapman V. Differential contributions of peripheral and central mechanisms to pain in a 23 rodent model of osteoarthritis. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 7122 [PMID: 29740093 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-25581-8]
- da Costa BR, Reichenbach S, Keller N, Nartey L, Wandel S, Jüni P, Trelle S. Effectiveness of non-steroidal anti-24 inflammatory drugs for the treatment of pain in knee and hip osteoarthritis: a network meta-analysis. Lancet 2017; 390: e21-e33 [PMID: 28699595 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31744-0]
- Pavone V, Vescio A, Turchetta M, Giardina SMC, Culmone A, Testa G. Injection-Based Management of Osteoarthritis of 25 the Knee: A Systematic Review of Guidelines. Front Pharmacol 2021; 12: 661805 [PMID: 33959026 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2021.661805]
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS. The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-26 pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 1970; 3: 393-403 [PMID: 5523063 DOI: 10.1111/i.1365-2184.1970.tb00347.x
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop Dj, Horwitz 27 E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006; 8: 315-317 [PMID: 16923606 DOI: 10.1080/14653240600855905]
- Wagner J, Kean T, Young R, Dennis JE, Caplan AI. Optimizing mesenchymal stem cell-based therapeutics. Curr Opin 28 Biotechnol 2009; 20: 531-536 [PMID: 19783424 DOI: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009.08.009]
- 29 Abbaszadeh H, Ghorbani F, Derakhshani M, Movassaghpour A, Yousefi M. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: A novel therapeutic paradigm. J Cell Physiol 2020; 235: 706-717 [PMID: 31254289 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.29004]
- Asgarpour K, Shojaei Z, Amiri F, Ai J, Mahjoubin-Tehran M, Ghasemi F, ArefNezhad R, Hamblin MR, Mirzaei H. 30 Exosomal microRNAs derived from mesenchymal stem cells: cell-to-cell messages. Cell Commun Signal 2020; 18: 149 [PMID: 32917227 DOI: 10.1186/s12964-020-00650-6]
- Golpanian S, Wolf A, Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Rebuilding the Damaged Heart: Mesenchymal Stem Cells, Cell-Based 31 Therapy, and Engineered Heart Tissue. Physiol Rev 2016; 96: 1127-1168 [PMID: 27335447 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00019.2015
- 32 Brown C, McKee C, Bakshi S, Walker K, Hakman E, Halassy S, Svinarich D, Dodds R, Govind CK, Chaudhry GR. Mesenchymal stem cells: Cell therapy and regeneration potential. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2019; 13: 1738-1755 [PMID: 31216380 DOI: 10.1002/term.2914]
- Han L, Zhou Y, Zhang R, Wu K, Lu Y, Li Y, Duan R, Yao Y, Zhu D, Jia Y. MicroRNA Let-7f-5p Promotes Bone 33 Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Survival by Targeting Caspase-3 in Alzheimer Disease Model. Front Neurosci 2018; 12: 333 [PMID: 29872375 DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00333]
- Shojaei F, Rahmati S, Banitalebi Dehkordi M. A review on different methods to increase the efficiency of mesenchymal 34 stem cell-based wound therapy. Wound Repair Regen 2019; 27: 661-671 [PMID: 31298446 DOI: 10.1111/wrr.12749]
- 35 Toh WS, Zhang B, Lai RC, Lim SK. Immune regulatory targets of mesenchymal stromal cell exosomes/small extracellular vesicles in tissue regeneration. Cytotherapy 2018; 20: 1419-1426 [PMID: 30352735 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.09.008]
- Li Y, Zhang D, Xu L, Dong L, Zheng J, Lin Y, Huang J, Zhang Y, Tao Y, Zang X, Li D, Du M. Cell-cell contact with 36 proinflammatory macrophages enhances the immunotherapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in two abortion models. Cell Mol Immunol 2019; 16: 908-920 [PMID: 30778166 DOI: 10.1038/s41423-019-0204-6]
- 37 Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Itoh T, Iwase T, Murakami S, Miyahara Y, Fujii T, Uematsu M, Ohgushi H, Yamagishi M, Tokudome T, Mori H, Miyatake K, Kitamura S. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in a rat model of dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2005; 112: 1128-1135 [PMID: 16103243 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.500447



- Wang X, Zhen L, Miao H, Sun Q, Yang Y, Que B, Lopes Lao EP, Wu X, Ren H, Shi S, Lau WB, Ma X, Ma C, Nie S. 38 Concomitant Retrograde Coronary Venous Infusion of Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor Enhances Engraftment and Differentiation of Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair after Myocardial Infarction. Theranostics 2015; 5: 995-1006 [PMID: 26155315 DOI: 10.7150/thno.11607]
- 39 Kim JH, Joo HJ, Kim M, Choi SC, Lee JI, Hong SJ, Lim DS. Transplantation of Adipose-Derived Stem Cell Sheet Attenuates Adverse Cardiac Remodeling in Acute Myocardial Infarction. Tissue Eng Part A 2017; 23: 1-11 [PMID: 27676105 DOI: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2016.0023]
- van Velthoven CT, Sheldon RA, Kavelaars A, Derugin N, Vexler ZS, Willemen HL, Maas M, Heijnen CJ, Ferriero DM. 40 Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation attenuates brain injury after neonatal stroke. Stroke 2013; 44: 1426-1432 [PMID: 23539530 DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.000326]
- Kangari P, Talaei-Khozani T, Razeghian-Jahromi I, Razmkhah M. Mesenchymal stem cells: amazing remedies for bone 41 and cartilage defects. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 492 [PMID: 33225992 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-02001-1]
- 42 Liu R, Li X, Zhang Z, Zhou M, Sun Y, Su D, Feng X, Gao X, Shi S, Chen W, Sun L. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells inhibited T follicular helper cell generation in rheumatoid arthritis. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 12777 [PMID: 26259824 DOI: 10.1038/srep12777
- Keyszer G, Christopeit M, Fick S, Schendel M, Taute BM, Behre G, Müller LP, Schmoll HJ. Treatment of severe 43 progressive systemic sclerosis with transplantation of mesenchymal stromal cells from allogeneic related donors: report of five cases. Arthritis Rheum 2011; 63: 2540-2542 [PMID: 21547891 DOI: 10.1002/art.30431]
- Li D, Wang P, Li Y, Xie Z, Wang L, Su H, Deng W, Wu Y, Shen H. All-Trans Retinoic Acid Improves the Effects of 44 Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells on the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis: An In Vitro Study. Stem Cells Int 2015; 2015: 484528 [PMID: 26124839 DOI: 10.1155/2015/484528]
- Song Y, Du H, Dai C, Zhang L, Li S, Hunter DJ, Lu L, Bao C. Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for 45 osteoarthritis: a pilot study with long-term follow-up and repeated injections. Regen Med 2018; 13: 295-307 [PMID: 29417902 DOI: 10.2217/rme-2017-0152]
- Lee WS, Kim HJ, Kim KI, Kim GB, Jin W. Intra-Articular Injection of Autologous Adipose Tissue-Derived Mesenchymal 46 Stem Cells for the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis: A Phase IIb, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2019; 8: 504-511 [PMID: 30835956 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.18-0122]
- 47 Matas J, Orrego M, Amenabar D, Infante C, Tapia-Limonchi R, Cadiz MI, Alcayaga-Miranda F, González PL, Muse E, Khoury M, Figueroa FE, Espinoza F. Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (MSCs) for Knee Osteoarthritis: Repeated MSC Dosing Is Superior to a Single MSC Dose and to Hyaluronic Acid in a Controlled Randomized Phase I/II Trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2019; 8: 215-224 [PMID: 30592390 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.18-0053]
- Bastos R, Mathias M, Andrade R, Amaral RJFC, Schott V, Balduino A, Bastos R, Miguel Oliveira J, Reis RL, Rodeo S, 48 Espregueira-Mendes J. Intra-articular injection of culture-expanded mesenchymal stem cells with or without addition of platelet-rich plasma is effective in decreasing pain and symptoms in knee osteoarthritis: a controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2020; 28: 1989-1999 [PMID: 31587091 DOI: 10.1007/s00167-019-05732-8]
- 49 Li K, Yan G, Huang H, Zheng M, Ma K, Cui X, Lu D, Zheng L, Zhu B, Cheng J, Zhao J. Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects of the extracellular vesicles derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on osteoarthritis via M2 macrophages. J Nanobiotechnology 2022; 20: 38 [PMID: 35057811 DOI: 10.1186/s12951-021-01236-1
- Duan A, Shen K, Li B, Li C, Zhou H, Kong R, Shao Y, Qin J, Yuan T, Ji J, Guo W, Wang X, Xue T, Li L, Huang X, Sun 50 Y, Cai Z, Liu W, Liu F. Extracellular vesicles derived from LPS-preconditioned human synovial mesenchymal stem cells inhibit extracellular matrix degradation and prevent osteoarthritis of the knee in a mouse model. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 427 [PMID: 34321073 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02507-2]
- Jin Y, Xu M, Zhu H, Dong C, Ji J, Liu Y, Deng A, Gu Z. Therapeutic effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-51 derived exosomes on osteoarthritis. J Cell Mol Med 2021; 25: 9281-9294 [PMID: 34448527 DOI: 10.1111/jcmm.16860]
- Mao G, Zhang Z, Hu S, Chang Z, Huang Z, Liao W, Kang Y. Exosomes derived from miR-92a-3p-overexpressing human mesenchymal stem cells enhance chondrogenesis and suppress cartilage degradation via targeting WNT5A. Stem Cell Res Ther 2018; 9: 247 [PMID: 30257711 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-018-1004-0]
- 53 Huang Y, Zhang X, Zhan J, Yan Z, Chen D, Xue X, Pan X. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal miR-206 promotes osteoblast proliferation and differentiation in osteoarthritis by reducing Elf3. J Cell Mol Med 2021; 25: 7734-7745 [PMID: 34160894 DOI: 10.1111/jcmm.16654]
- Zhang S, Teo KYW, Chuah SJ, Lai RC, Lim SK, Toh WS. MSC exosomes alleviate temporomandibular joint 54 osteoarthritis by attenuating inflammation and restoring matrix homeostasis. Biomaterials 2019; 200: 35-47 [PMID: 30771585 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.02.006]
- Oh J, Son YS, Kim WH, Kwon OK, Kang BJ. Mesenchymal stem cells genetically engineered to express platelet-derived 55 growth factor and heme oxygenase-1 ameliorate osteoarthritis in a canine model. J Orthop Surg Res 2021; 16: 43 [PMID: 33430899 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-020-02178-4]
- van Buul GM, Siebelt M, Leijs MJ, Bos PK, Waarsing JH, Kops N, Weinans H, Verhaar JA, Bernsen MR, van Osch GJ. 56 Mesenchymal stem cells reduce pain but not degenerative changes in a mono-iodoacetate rat model of osteoarthritis. J Orthop Res 2014; 32: 1167-1174 [PMID: 24839120 DOI: 10.1002/jor.22650]
- Orita S, Ishikawa T, Miyagi M, Ochiai N, Inoue G, Eguchi Y, Kamoda H, Arai G, Toyone T, Aoki Y, Kubo T, Takahashi 57 K. Ohtori S. Pain-related sensory innervation in monoiodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis in rat knees that gradually develops neuronal injury in addition to inflammatory pain. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011; 12: 134 [PMID: 21679434 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-134]
- Wang R, Xu B. TGF<sub>β</sub>1-modified MSC-derived exosome attenuates osteoarthritis by inhibiting PDGF-BB secretion and H-type vessel activity in the subchondral bone. Acta Histochem 2022; 124: 151933 [PMID: 35933783 DOI: 10.1016/j.acthis.2022.151933]
- Yan B, Lv S, Tong P, Yan L, Chen Z, Zhou L, Yuan Q, Guo L, Shan L. Intra-Articular Injection of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Ameliorates Pain and Cartilage Anabolism/Catabolism in Osteoarthritis: Preclinical and Clinical Evidences. Front



Pharmacol 2022; 13: 854025 [PMID: 35387326 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.854025]

- Zeng WN, Zhang Y, Wang D, Zeng YP, Yang H, Li J, Zhou CP, Liu JL, Yang QJ, Deng ZL, Zhou ZK. Intra-articular 60 Injection of Kartogenin-Enhanced Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis in a Rat Model. Am J Sports Med 2021; 49: 2795-2809 [PMID: 34213976 DOI: 10.1177/03635465211023183]
- Ueki H, Katagiri H, Tsuji K, Miyatake K, Watanabe T, Sekiya I, Muneta T, Koga H. Effect of transplanted mesenchymal 61 stem cell number on the prevention of cartilage degeneration and pain reduction in a posttraumatic osteoarthritis rat model. J Orthop Sci 2021; 26: 690-697 [PMID: 32859470 DOI: 10.1016/j.jos.2020.06.011]
- Sakamoto T, Miyazaki T, Watanabe S, Takahashi A, Honjoh K, Nakajima H, Oki H, Kokubo Y, Matsumine A. 62 Intraarticular injection of processed lipoaspirate cells has anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects but does not improve degenerative changes in murine monoiodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2019; 20: 335 [PMID: 31324245 DOI: 10.1186/s12891-019-2710-1]
- Lee SY, Lee SH, Na HS, Kwon JY, Kim GY, Jung K, Cho KH, Kim SA, Go EJ, Park MJ, Baek JA, Choi SY, Jhun J, Park 63 SH, Kim SJ, Cho ML. The Therapeutic Effect of STAT3 Signaling-Suppressed MSC on Pain and Articular Cartilage Damage in a Rat Model of Monosodium Iodoacetate-Induced Osteoarthritis. Front Immunol 2018; 9: 2881 [PMID: 30619261 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02881]
- Gupta PK, Chullikana A, Rengasamy M, Shetty N, Pandey V, Agarwal V, Wagh SY, Vellotare PK, Damodaran D, 64 Viswanathan P, Thej C, Balasubramanian S, Majumdar AS. Efficacy and safety of adult human bone marrow-derived, cultured, pooled, allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells (Stempeucel®): preclinical and clinical trial in osteoarthritis of the knee joint. Arthritis Res Ther 2016; 18: 301 [PMID: 27993154 DOI: 10.1186/s13075-016-1195-7]
- Shoukrie SI, Venugopal S, Dhanoa RK, Selvaraj R, Selvamani TY, Zahra A, Malla J, Hamouda RK, Hamid PF. Safety 65 and Efficacy of Injecting Mesenchymal Stem Cells Into a Human Knee Joint To Treat Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review. Cureus 2022; 14: e24823 [PMID: 35693367 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.24823]
- Dhillon J, Kraeutler MJ, Belk JW, Scillia AJ. Umbilical Cord-Derived Stem Cells for the Treatment of Knee 66 Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review. Orthop J Sports Med 2022; 10: 23259671221104409 [PMID: 35859650 DOI: 10.1177/23259671221104409
- Garay-Mendoza D, Villarreal-Martínez L, Garza-Bedolla A, Pérez-Garza DM, Acosta-Olivo C, Vilchez-Cavazos F, Diaz-67 Hutchinson C, Gómez-Almaguer D, Jaime-Pérez JC, Mancías-Guerra C. The effect of intra-articular injection of autologous bone marrow stem cells on pain and knee function in patients with osteoarthritis. Int J Rheum Dis 2018; 21: 140-147 [PMID: 28752679 DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13139]
- Hwang JJ, Rim YA, Nam Y, Ju JH. Recent Developments in Clinical Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the 68 Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 631291 [PMID: 33763076 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.631291
- Yu H, Huang T, Lu WW, Tong L, Chen D. Osteoarthritis Pain. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35563035 DOI: 69 10.3390/ijms23094642]
- Chen L, Tredget EE, Wu PY, Wu Y. Paracrine factors of mesenchymal stem cells recruit macrophages and endothelial 70 lineage cells and enhance wound healing. PLoS One 2008; 3: e1886 [PMID: 18382669 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001886]
- Agung M, Ochi M, Yanada S, Adachi N, Izuta Y, Yamasaki T, Toda K. Mobilization of bone marrow-derived 71 mesenchymal stem cells into the injured tissues after intraarticular injection and their contribution to tissue regeneration. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2006; 14: 1307-1314 [PMID: 16788809 DOI: 10.1007/s00167-006-0124-8]
- Kuah D, Sivell S, Longworth T, James K, Guermazi A, Cicuttini F, Wang Y, Craig S, Comin G, Robinson D, Wilson J. 72 Safety, tolerability and efficacy of intra-articular Progenza in knee osteoarthritis: a randomized double-blind placebocontrolled single ascending dose study. J Transl Med 2018; 16: 49 [PMID: 29510712 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-018-1420-z]
- Petri RM, Hackel A, Hahnel K, Dumitru CA, Bruderek K, Flohe SB, Paschen A, Lang S, Brandau S. Activated Tissue-73 Resident Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Regulate Natural Killer Cell Immune and Tissue-Regenerative Function. Stem Cell Reports 2017; 9: 985-998 [PMID: 28781075 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.06.020]
- Zha K, Li X, Yang Z, Tian G, Sun Z, Sui X, Dai Y, Liu S, Guo Q. Heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells in cartilage 74 regeneration: from characterization to application. NPJ Regen Med 2021; 6: 14 [PMID: 33741999 DOI: 10.1038/s41536-021-00122-6]
- Kwon DG, Kim MK, Jeon YS, Nam YC, Park JS, Ryu DJ. State of the Art: The Immunomodulatory Role of MSCs for 75 Osteoarthritis. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35163541 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23031618]
- Manferdini C, Maumus M, Gabusi E, Piacentini A, Filardo G, Peyrafitte JA, Jorgensen C, Bourin P, Fleury-Cappellesso 76 S, Facchini A, Noël D, Lisignoli G. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells exert antiinflammatory effects on chondrocytes and synoviocytes from osteoarthritis patients through prostaglandin E2. Arthritis Rheum 2013; 65: 1271-1281 [PMID: 23613363 DOI: 10.1002/art.37908]
- Bryk M, Karnas E, Mlost J, Zuba-Surma E, Starowicz K. Mesenchymal stem cells and extracellular vesicles for the treatment of pain: Current status and perspectives. Br J Pharmacol 2022; 179: 4281-4299 [PMID: 34028798 DOI: 10.1111/bph.15569]
- Miller RE, Tran PB, Das R, Ghoreishi-Haack N, Ren D, Miller RJ, Malfait AM. CCR2 chemokine receptor signaling 78 mediates pain in experimental osteoarthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012; 109: 20602-20607 [PMID: 23185004 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1209294110
- Watanabe S, Uchida K, Nakajima H, Matsuo H, Sugita D, Yoshida A, Honjoh K, Johnson WE, Baba H. Early 79 transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells after spinal cord injury relieves pain hypersensitivity through suppression of pain-related signaling cascades and reduced inflammatory cell recruitment. Stem Cells 2015; 33: 1902-1914 [PMID: 25809552 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2006]
- Liu H, Zhu X, Cao X, Chi A, Dai J, Wang Z, Deng C, Zhang M. IL-1β-primed mesenchymal stromal cells exert enhanced 80 therapeutic effects to alleviate Chronic Prostatitis/Chronic Pelvic Pain Syndrome through systemic immunity. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 514 [PMID: 34563249 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02579-0]



- Kouroupis D, Bowles AC, Greif DN, Leñero C, Best TM, Kaplan LD, Correa D. Regulatory-compliant conditions during 81 cell product manufacturing enhance in vitro immunomodulatory properties of infrapatellar fat pad-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Cytotherapy 2020; 22: 677-689 [PMID: 32723596 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2020.06.007]
- 82 Miteva K, Pappritz K, Sosnowski M, El-Shafeey M, Müller I, Dong F, Savvatis K, Ringe J, Tschöpe C, Van Linthout S. Mesenchymal stromal cells inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation in a model of Coxsackievirus B3-induced inflammatory cardiomyopathy. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 2820 [PMID: 29434214 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-20686-6]
- Zhu Q, Li XX, Wang W, Hu J, Li PL, Conley S, Li N. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation inhibited high salt-induced 83 activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in the renal medulla in Dahl S rats. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2016; 310: F621-F627 [PMID: 26764201 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00344.2015]
- Lories RJ, Monteagudo S. Review Article: Is Wnt Signaling an Attractive Target for the Treatment of Osteoarthritis? 84 Rheumatol Ther 2020; 7: 259-270 [PMID: 32277404 DOI: 10.1007/s40744-020-00205-8]
- Zhao YT, Qin Y, Yang JS, Huang DG, Hu HM, Wang XD, Wu SF, Hao DJ. Wharton's Jelly-derived mesenchymal stem 85 cells suppress apoptosis of nucleus pulposus cells in intervertebral disc degeneration via Wnt pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2020; 24: 9807-9814 [PMID: 33090383 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev\_202010\_23190]
- Aslam N, Abusharieh E, Abuarqoub D, Ali D, Al-Hattab D, Wehaibi S, Al-Kurdi B, Jamali F, Alshaer W, Jafar H, Awidi 86 AS. Anti-oncogenic activities exhibited by paracrine factors of MSCs can be mediated by modulation of KITLG and DKK1 genes in glioma SCs in vitro. Mol Ther Oncolytics 2021; 20: 147-165 [PMID: 33575478 DOI: 10.1016/j.omto.2020.11.005]
- Song N, Scholtemeijer M, Shah K. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Immunomodulation: Mechanisms and Therapeutic Potential. 87 Trends Pharmacol Sci 2020; 41: 653-664 [PMID: 32709406 DOI: 10.1016/j.tips.2020.06.009]
- 88 Kuppa SS, Kim HK, Kang JY, Lee SC, Seon JK. Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Their Paracrine Mediators in Macrophage Polarization: An Approach to Reduce Inflammation in Osteoarthritis. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 36361805 DOI: 10.3390/ijms232113016]
- Chahal J, Gómez-Aristizábal A, Shestopaloff K, Bhatt S, Chaboureau A, Fazio A, Chisholm J, Weston A, Chiovitti J, 89 Keating A, Kapoor M, Ogilvie-Harris DJ, Syed KA, Gandhi R, Mahomed NN, Marshall KW, Sussman MS, Naraghi AM, Viswanathan S. Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Treatment in Patients with Osteoarthritis Results in Overall Improvement in Pain and Symptoms and Reduces Synovial Inflammation. Stem Cells Transl Med 2019; 8: 746-757 [PMID: 30964245 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.18-0183]
- Ai M, Hotham WE, Pattison LA, Ma Q, Henson FMD, Smith ESJ. Role of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Derived 90 Extracellular Vesicles in Reducing Sensory Neuron Hyperexcitability and Pain Behaviors in Murine Osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 2022 [PMID: 36122169 DOI: 10.1002/art.42353]
- Yang Q, Yao Y, Zhao D, Zou H, Lai C, Xiang G, Wang G, Luo L, Shi Y, Li Y, Yang M, Huang X. LncRNA H19 secreted 91 by umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells through microRNA-29a-3p/FOS axis for central sensitization of pain in advanced osteoarthritis. Am J Transl Res 2021; 13: 1245-1256 [PMID: 33841653]
- Wang Z, Zhu H, Dai S, Liu K, Ge C. Alleviation of medial meniscal transection-induced osteoarthritis pain in rats by 92 human adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 2020; 7: 10 [PMID: 32695803 DOI: 10.21037/sci-2020-0031
- McKinney JM, Doan TN, Wang L, Deppen J, Reece DS, Pucha KA, Ginn S, Levit RD, Willett NJ. Therapeutic efficacy 93 of intra-articular delivery of encapsulated human mesenchymal stem cells on early stage osteoarthritis. Eur Cell Mater 2019; 37: 42-59 [PMID: 30693466 DOI: 10.22203/eCM.v037a04]
- Sato M, Uchida K, Nakajima H, Miyazaki T, Guerrero AR, Watanabe S, Roberts S, Baba H. Direct transplantation of 94 mesenchymal stem cells into the knee joints of Hartley strain guinea pigs with spontaneous osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 2012; 14: R31 [PMID: 22314040 DOI: 10.1186/ar3735]
- He L, He T, Xing J, Zhou Q, Fan L, Liu C, Chen Y, Wu D, Tian Z, Liu B, Rong L. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-95 derived exosomes protect cartilage damage and relieve knee osteoarthritis pain in a rat model of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 276 [PMID: 32650828 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01781-w]
- Chapman V, Markides H, Sagar DR, Xu L, Burston JJ, Mapp P, Kay A, Morris RH, Kehoe O, El Haj AJ. Therapeutic 96 Benefit for Late, but Not Early, Passage Mesenchymal Stem Cells on Pain Behaviour in an Animal Model of Osteoarthritis. Stem Cells Int 2017; 2017: 2905104 [PMID: 29434641 DOI: 10.1155/2017/2905104]
- 97 Burston JJ, Sagar DR, Shao P, Bai M, King E, Brailsford L, Turner JM, Hathway GJ, Bennett AJ, Walsh DA, Kendall DA, Lichtman A, Chapman V. Cannabinoid CB2 receptors regulate central sensitization and pain responses associated with osteoarthritis of the knee joint. PLoS One 2013; 8: e80440 [PMID: 24282543 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080440]
- Khatab S, van Osch GJ, Kops N, Bastiaansen-Jenniskens YM, Bos PK, Verhaar JA, Bernsen MR, van Buul GM. 98 Mesenchymal stem cell secretome reduces pain and prevents cartilage damage in a murine osteoarthritis model. Eur Cell Mater 2018; 36: 218-230 [PMID: 30398288 DOI: 10.22203/eCM.v036a16]
- Ichiseki T, Shimazaki M, Ueda Y, Ueda S, Tsuchiya M, Souma D, Kaneuji A, Kawahara N. Intraarticularly-Injected 99 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Stimulate Anti-Inflammatory Molecules and Inhibit Pain Related Protein and Chondrolytic Enzymes in a Monoiodoacetate-Induced Rat Arthritis Model. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 29315262 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19010203
- 100 Gao R, Ye T, Zhu Z, Li Q, Zhang J, Yuan J, Zhao B, Xie Z, Wang Y. Small extracellular vesicles from iPSC-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate tendinopathy pain by inhibiting mast cell activation. Nanomedicine (Lond) 2022; 17: 513-529 [PMID: 35289187 DOI: 10.2217/nnm-2022-0036]
- 101 Guo W, Chu YX, Imai S, Yang JL, Zou S, Mohammad Z, Wei F, Dubner R, Ren K. Further observations on the behavioral and neural effects of bone marrow stromal cells in rodent pain models. Mol Pain 2016; 12 [PMID: 27329776 DOI: 10.1177/1744806916658043]
- Chen G, Park CK, Xie RG, Ji RR. Intrathecal bone marrow stromal cells inhibit neuropathic pain via TGF-β secretion. J 102 Clin Invest 2015; 125: 3226-3240 [PMID: 26168219 DOI: 10.1172/JCI80883]


W J S C World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 209-220

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.209

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

REVIEW

### Roles of cancer stem cells in gastrointestinal cancers

Shi-Hai Xuan, Meng-Lu Hua, Ze Xiang, Xiang-Lin He, Lan Huang, Chun Jiang, Peng Dong, Jian Wu

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A, A, A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ikram D, Indonesia; Tang ZP, China

Received: January 2, 2023 Peer-review started: January 2, 2023 First decision: February 7, 2023 Revised: February 25, 2023 Accepted: March 27, 2023 Article in press: March 27, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Shi-Hai Xuan, Department of Laboratory Medicine, The People's Hospital of Dongtai City, Dongtai 224299, Jiangsu Province, China

Meng-Lu Hua, Ze Xiang, Xiang-Lin He, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310009, Zhejiang Province, China

Lan Huang, Chun Jiang, Jian Wu, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Suzhou Municipal Hospital, Suzhou 215008, Jiangsu Province, China

Peng Dong, Hangzhou Institute of Cardiovascular Diseases, Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou 310015, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Jian Wu, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Suzhou Municipal Hospital, No. 242 Guangji Road, Suzhou 215008, Jiangsu Province, China. wujianglinxing@163.com

#### Abstract

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are the main cause of tumor growth, invasion, metastasis and recurrence. Recently, CSCs have been extensively studied to identify CSCspecific surface markers as well as signaling pathways that play key roles in CSCs self-renewal. The involvement of CSCs in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal (GI) cancers also highlights these cells as a priority target for therapy. The diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of GI cancer have always been a focus of attention. Therefore, the potential application of CSCs in GI cancers is receiving increasing attention. This review summarizes the role of CSCs in GI cancers, focusing on esophageal cancer, gastric cancer, liver cancer, colorectal cancer, and pancreatic cancer. In addition, we propose CSCs as potential targets and therapeutic strategies for the effective treatment of GI cancers, which may provide better guidance for clinical treatment of GI cancers.

Key Words: Cancer stem cells; Gastrointestinal cancers; Promotion; Inhibition; Treatment

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** This review summarizes the role of cancer stem cells (CSCs) in gastrointestinal (GI) cancers, focusing on esophageal cancer, gastric cancer, liver cancer, colorectal cancer, and pancreatic cancer. In addition, we propose CSCs as potential targets and therapeutic strategies for the effective treatment of GI cancers, which may provide better guidance for clinical treatment of GI cancers.

Citation: Xuan SH, Hua ML, Xiang Z, He XL, Huang L, Jiang C, Dong P, Wu J. Roles of cancer stem cells in gastrointestinal cancers. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 209-220 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/209.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.209

#### INTRODUCTION

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are small subgroups of undifferentiated cancer cells. CSCs possess an infinite self-renewal capability and a set of unique surface biomarkers[1]. Gastrointestinal (GI) cancer is the most common major malignancy, and includes esophageal cancer (EC), gastric cancer (GC), liver cancer (LC), colorectal cancer (CRC), pancreatic cancer and other related diseases<sup>[2]</sup>. The incidence of GI cancers is high. Recently, a growing number of studies have been conducted on the important role of CSCs in GI cancers. Research shows that CSCs are mainly involved in the growth, initiation, maintenance, survival, metastasis and recurrence of GI cancer. There are certain limitations in the methods of treatment for currently accepted GI cancers, often leading to treatment failure. This is due to CSCs resistance to chemotherapy and radiation therapy. In current treatment, CSCs cannot be erased, causing metastasis and recurrence of the tumor. Recently, studies have been conducted to clarify the signaling pathway which plays a critical role in the specific surface markers of CSCs and the selfrenewal of CSCs. These cell surface markers as well as signaling pathways are potential targets for the treatment of GI cancer that provide the environment necessary for tumor growth [3-5]. Thus, certain therapies for CSCs will potentially help to eliminate the tumor.

This review aims to summarize the mechanism and treatment of CSCs in GI cancer, and to propose a potential target and therapeutic strategy for the treatment of GI cancer.

#### ROLES OF CSCS IN EC

EC, a common tumor of the digestive tract, causes a majority of cancer deaths[6]. EC includes esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC). EAC may be associated with obesity and ESCC may be associated with drinking and narcotics. Approximately 300000 people die of EC worldwide every year. The incidence and mortality rates of EC vary from country to country [7]. Recently, the relationship between CSCs and the occurrence and development of EC has attracted more and more attention. Chen et al[8] discovered that esophageal CSCs activate matrix metalloproteinase 9 in EC cells and promotes cancer metastasis by the expression of placental growth factor. Moreover, CSCs expressing placental growth factor can promote<sup>[9]</sup> or suppress tumor angiogenesis by stimulating vascular endothelial growth factor[10]. Wang et al[11] found that by acting on ATG7-dependent  $\beta$ -catenin, OV6 CSCs can stably promote the progression of ESCC. In addition, studies have shown that exosomal O-GlcNAc transferase derived from esophageal CSCs can promote the suppression of cancer immunity by increasing programmed death-1 (PD-1) in CD8 T cells[12].

CSCs play a critical role in the treatment of EC. CSCs markers could help to identify the functions of CSCs in EC and can be used as targets for the treatment of EC. It was found that CD44, a CSC surface marker, can isolate and detect ESCC[13]. In addition, Lu et al[14] found CD133 and CXCR4 markers on the surface of ESCC, and the high expression of CD133-CXCR4 may become a marker for forecasting poor prognosis in patients with ESCC. Liu *et al*[15] found that Cripto-1 is a functional marker of CSClike cells (CSLCs) and can predict the prognosis of patients with ESCC. In addition, studies have shown that MYH9 is a novel esophageal CSC marker and prognostic indicator, which promotes tumorigenesis through the PI3K/AKT/mTOR axis[16]. Studies have demonstrated that esophageal CSLCs can resist ferroptosis induced cell death through the active HSP27-GPX4 pathway. Hence, targeting HSP27 or GPX4 blockade is a promising therapeutic strategy to eradicate CSCs in ESCC[17]. Li et al[18] found that exosomal FMR1-AS1 can promote CSLCs homeostasis through TLR7-NFkB-Myc signaling in female EC. Song et al[19] analyzed clinical specimens and found that BCL-2 inhibitor AT101 could overcome drug resistance by targeting the CSC pathway and had good antitumor activity. In addition, Zarei et al[20] found that salinomycin could destabilize the low-pathway sensor TAZ in CSLCS and reduce the viability of esophageal CSLCs. Studies have shown that TRPV2 can maintain the growth of CSCs, and its specific inhibitor tranilast may be used as a targeted therapeutic agent for ESCC[21]. STAT3 and miR-181b activate each other via the CYLD pathway, thereby regulating the proliferation of esophageal



CSLCs[22]. Metformin can inhibit EC cell growth and sensitize EC cells to the cytotoxic effects of 5-FU by targeting components of CSCs and mTOR[23].

CSCs play an important role in the development, progress and future treatment of EC, but the associated research is inadequate, and the underlying mechanisms have not been fully explored. Therefore, more studies are needed to determine the mechanism and support the corresponding conclusions.

#### **ROLES OF CSCS IN GC**

GC is a malignant tumor derived from gastric mucosal epithelium. Most GCs are early adenocarcinomas with no apparent symptoms and are easily overlooked [24]. GC is the main cause of global cancer deaths. The treatment of GC involves surgery in combination with chemotherapy and radiotherapy, but the prognosis of terminal GC is still poor[25]. Over the past decade there is increasing evidence to show that CSCs have a significant role in GC development.

The concept that CSCs cause GC and may lead to invasion, metastasis, and treatment resistance has profound implications for anticancer therapy. Takaishi et al[26] implanted gastric CSCs (GCSCs) in the skin of immunodeficient mice, and a few weeks later observed that these GCSCs showed strong tumorigenic ability. Yang screened out GCSCs with serum-free medium, and found that these GCSCs had high tumorigenesis ability in nude mice, and high expression of GCSCs surface markers OCT4 and SOX2[27]. E-cadherin is a vital adhesion molecule, and its expression is closely related to the degree of cell adhesion [28]. Studies have found that the expression of E-cadherin in GCSCs is down-regulated, resulting in a decrease in the adhesion of tumor cells; thus, GCSCs are highly aggressive and easily metastasize to local lymph nodes or distant metastasis<sup>[29]</sup>. CSC Lgr5+ can promote the growth and proliferation potential of GC[30]. In addition, CSCs may maintain their viability through autophagy[31].

Identifying and targeting CSCs play a vital role in the treatment of GC. Chemotoxicity-induced exosomal lncFERO can regulate ferroptosis and stemness in GCSCs. Therefore, chemotherapy targeting the lncFERO/hnRNPA1/SCD1 axis could be an implicit strategy for CSCs-based GC therapy[32]. In addition, microRNA (miR)-375 can trigger ferroptosis by targeting SLC7A11, thereby attenuating the stemness of GCSCs[33]. CBX7 was found to positively regulate the stem-like characteristics of GC cells by inhibiting p16 and activating the AKT-NF-KB-miR-21 pathway[34]. Sezer et al[35] found that lymphatic metastasis-associated TBL1XR1 promotes the metastasis of gastric CSLCs by sensitizing ERK1/2-SOX2 signaling. Huang *et al*[36] found that SIRT1 inhibits both chemoresistance and cancer stemness in GC by launching a positive feedback loop of AMPK/FOXO3. The m6A methyltransferase METTL3 was found to promote oxaliplatin resistance in CD133+ GCSCs by improving PARP1 mRNA stability to increase base excision repair pathway activity[37]. Celastrus orbiculatus ethyl acetate extract can prevent GC growth by limiting the stemness of GCSCs by changing PDCD4 and EIF3H expression [38]. Methionine has been found to inhibit autophagy in GCSCs by promoting RAB37 methylation and phosphorylation. Therefore, supplementation with methionine  $\gamma$ -lyase can induce autophagy in GCSCs and inhibit tumor growth[36].

The role of CSCs in growth, metastasis, treatment and prognosis of GC is increasingly important. In the past few years, an increasing number of studies have been conducted on the mechanism of action of CSCs against GC and to offer promising targets and therapeutic tactics for GC treatment. Many treatments targeting CSCs have been developed, but there are limits to CSCs targeting therapy. It affects normal stem cells and causes tissue renewal problems. For example, Lgr5 is a marker associated with common stem cells in gastric tissue. mTORC1 can maintain self-renewal of the Lgr5 population, preventing cell differentiation and causing gastric tumorigenesis. However, the use of mTORC1 inhibitors may cause gastric glandular atrophy due to tissue malfunction, limiting its therapeutic use [39]. Therefore, more efforts are needed to treat GC based on CSCs.

#### ROLES OF CSCS IN LC

LC is the third most common cause of cancer associated deaths worldwide. This is due to its high recurrence rate, which after normal treatment, can reach 70%. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the main pathology and causes approximately 80% of LC cases[40]. Liver CSCs (LCSCs) are now known to be responsible for HCC growth, metastasis and recurrence, in addition to failure of chemotherapy and radiation therapy[41]. These findings indicate that LC therapy kills most of the tumor cells, but cannot eliminate LCSCs and treatment can eventually fail as LCSCs survive and generate new tumors. Therefore, CSCs theory has provided new findings in the diagnosis, treatment and prevention of LC (Table 1).

LCSCs play a vital role in the development, progression, recurrence and drug tolerance of HCC. Studies have shown that LCSCs can accelerate tumor growth in primary cancer cells and metastasis of secondary tumors, causing the recurrence of HCC[42]. Studies have found that EpCAM-high HCC stem cells can promote tumor growth by upregulating CEACAM1 to weaken the capacity of natural killer



Xuan SH et al. Roles of CSCs in GI cancers

#### Table 1 Methods for targeting liver cancer stem cells in the treatment of liver cancer

Ref.	Genes/transcription factors/protein	Inducing way	Role
Park et al[43]	EpCAM-high HCC stem cells	Upregulating CEACAM1	Promoting the growth of LC
Deng et al[44]	Histone demethylase JMJD2D	Enhancing Sox9 expression	Promoting the growth of LC
Yang et al[45]	lncARSR	Targeting STAT3 signaling	Promoting LCSCs expansion
Chen et al[47]	4-PBA	Activating β-catenin signaling pathway	Promoting the growth of LC
Galizia et al[49]	CD133	-	Indicator of tumor recurrence
Haraguchi <i>et al</i> [ <mark>51</mark> ]	CD13	-	Causing drug resistance of LCSCs
Yang et al[52]	OV6	-	Causing drug resistance of LCSCs
Wei <i>et al</i> [53]	CD44	Regulating PES1	Promoting the growth of LC
Chen et al[55]	FOXM1	Reducing the expression of ALDH2	Inducing the apoptosis of LCSCs
Dou et al[56]	BC-02	Inhibiting CD13	Eradicate LCSCs
Zhou et al[57]	CD133-apt-Dox	Targeting CD133-expressing cells	Inhibiting the growth of LC
Feng et al[58]	MiR-124	-	Inhibiting LCSCs self-renewal
Jiang et al[59]	MiR-365	Regulating RAC1 pathway	Inhibiting the proliferation and invasion of HCC cells
Li <i>et al</i> [ <mark>60</mark> ]	MicroRNA-21	-	Inhibiting highly invade LCSCs
Si et al[ <mark>61</mark> ]	MiR-219	E-cadherin pathway	regulates the expansion of LCSCs
Dou <i>et al</i> [62]	MicroRNA-6838-5p	Down-regulating CBX4 expression and Inactivating ERK signaling	Inhibiting self-renewal and metastasis of Human LCSCs
Zhang et al[63]	MiR-589-5p	Inhibiting MAP3K8	Inhibiting the growth of LC
Wang et al[64]	HAND2-AS1	-	Promoting the growth of LC
Li et al[ <mark>66</mark> ]	Neuropilin1	The loss of neuropilin1	Inhibiting LCSCs
Wang et al[67]	ZBP-89	Inhibiting Notch1 signaling pathway	Regulating self-renewal of LCSCs

HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; LC: Liver cancer; LCSCs: Liver cancer stem cells.

cells to recognize and kill cancer cells[43]. Histone demethylase JMJD2D can enhance EpCAM and Sox9 expression to promote the self-renewal of liver CSLCs, promoting tumor growth [44]. Yang et al [45] found that IncARSR promoted HCC cell dedifferentiation and LCSCs expansion by targeting STAT3 signaling. Moreover, LCSCs release exosomes in a RAB27A-dependent manner which can lead to resistance to regorate in LC cells[46]. Chen et al [47] found that activating the  $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway leads to upregulation of PPAR-α by 4-PBA, which in turn initiates LCSCs and promotes early HCC. Cao et al[48] found that RACK1 advances self-renewal and chemoresistance of CSCs in HCC by stabilizing nanoparticles.

The biomarkers of LCSCs are important targets in the treatment of LC. CD133 is one of the common surface markers of LCSCs, and studies have found that CD133 isolated from HCC cell lines has high proliferative and tumorigenic potential; thus, enhanced CD133 expression can also serve as a prognostic indicator for survival and tumor recurrence in patients with LC[49]. Yin et al[50] found that aldehyde dehydrogenase was expressed in LCSCs and was positively correlated with CD133 expression. CD13 is a marker of LCSCs, which has the function of dormancy and slow growth, and is the main reason for drug resistance of LCSCs[51]. The LCSCs marker OV6 was found to be chemoresistant, but this was reversed when lentivirus-delivered miRNAs targeting β-catenin were stably expressed. Therefore, targeting Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling could be a potential strategy to reverse the drug resistance properties of OV6 LCSCs[52]. Wei et al [53] found that CD44 regulated PES1 in LCSCs through miR-105-5p to promote tumor growth. Twist2 advances self-renewal of liver CSLCs by changing CD24[54].

LCSCs play a vital role in the treatment of LC. It was found that the transcription factor FOXM1 inhibits the dryness of LCSCs by reducing the expression of ALDH2, and inhibits proliferation, migration, invasion and tumorigenesis, while inducing apoptosis of LCSCs[55]. The CD13 inhibitor BC-02 can target CD13 and upregulate intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ROS-induced DNA damage to damage LCSCs. Therefore, BC-02 may be a potential therapeutic strategy to eradicate LCSCs and overcome chemoresistance in LC[56]. Studies have found that aptamer-based drug delivery agents

(CD133-apt-Dox) targeting CD133-expressing cells can impair the self-renewal ability of liver CSLCs and inhibit the growth of LC[57]. MiRNAs are important regulators of CSCs therapy in LC. Feng *et al* [58] found that forced expression of miR-124 can inhibit LCSCs self-renewal and tumorigenesis. It was shown that miR-365 regulated LCSCs through the RAC1 pathway and prevented the proliferation and invasion of HCC cells[59]. In addition, miR-21 downregulation can inhibit cell proliferation and highly invade LCSCs[60]. Si *et al*[61] found that miR-219 regulates the expansion of LCSCs through the E-cadherin pathway. Dou *et al*[62] showed that miR-6838-5p inhibited self-renewal and metastasis of LCSCs by down-regulating CBX4 expression and inhibiting ERK signaling. In addition, miR-589-5p inhibited MAP3K8 in HCC and inhibited CD90 CSCs[63]. It was shown that HAND2-AS1 can promote self-renewal of LCSCs and drive liver tumorigenesis, providing a potential new target for HCC treatment[64]. In addition, tumor-associated macrophages produce interleukin-6 and signal through STAT3 to improve the expansion of LCSCs[65]. Li *et al*[66] found that the loss of neuropilin 1 inhibits the LCSC population and blocks metastasis in HCC through epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Wang *et al* [67] found that ZBP-89 negatively regulated self-renewal of LCSCs by inhibiting the Notch1 signaling pathway.

Traditional HCC treatment mainly targets fast growing and differentiated HCC cells. However, a part of the emerging CSCs concept explains the failure of these therapies. The research progress of LCSCs has provided a new viewpoint on the possible adhibition in the clinical treatment of LCSCs. Detection of LCSCs is useful for predicting postoperative survival of patients. The development of treatment strategies for LCSCs may greatly improve the treatment of LC[68].

#### **ROLES OF CSCS IN CRC**

CRC is one of the most common cancers and the fourth most frequent cause of cancer death worldwide [69]. Despite the great progress in surgery and chemotherapy over the past decade, the five year survival rate of CRC patients is 50%-65% [70]. In the past few years, an increasing number of studies have shown that CSCs are closely associated with the occurrence and development of CRC, which provides promising directions for the diagnosis and treatment of CRC (Table 2).

CSCs are the major cause of drug resistance and disease recurrence in CRC. Studies have found that Lgr5 CSCs have a vital role in primary and metastatic colon cancer, and can promote tumor growth and metastasis[71]. In addition, most colorectal CSCs (CCSCs) express Lgr5 and form distant metastasis, which is a major factor driving CRC metastasis[72]. Recent studies have found that human CCSCs can give rise to vascular endothelial cells and constitute the vasculature in cancer tissue, which provides a new mechanism for tumor angiogenesis in cancer[73]. CD26 CCSCs can lead to CRC metastasis[74]. Razi *et al*[75] found that DCLK1 is a promising CCSC marker that changes tumor progression and invasion in a miR-137- and miR-15a-dependent manner. The JAK2/STAT3/CCND2 axis promotes the persistence and radioresistance of CRCs, which is the drug resistance mechanism for the continuous growth of CSCs after radiotherapy[76]. Liu *et al*[77] found that Sec62 promotes stemness and chemoresistance in human CRC by sensitizing the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway. Studies have shown that CCSCs acquire chemoresistance by the upregulation of F-Box/WD repeat-containing protein 7 and the consequent degradation of c-Myc[78]. In addition, PD-L1 can maintain CSCs self-renewal by activating the HMGA1-dependent signaling pathway[79]. 5-FU improves the stemness of CRC through p53-mediated WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway activation[80].

Whereas conventional therapies target proliferating and mature cancer cells, CSCs are mostly quiescent and poorly differentiated, so they could easily survive the chemotherapy attack. Therefore, novel therapies targeting CSCs are necessary. Chen *et al*[81] found that phenethyl isothiocyanate inhibits CCSCs by suppressing the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway. In addition, (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate can also inhibit CCSCs by suppressing the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway[82]. Studies have shown that AGR2 is a new stem cell marker that is changed by the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway in CCSCs and is important for stemness maintenance of CCSCs[83]. Jang *et al*[84] reported that tankyrase inhibitors downregulated c-KIT tyrosine kinase and prevented the growth of CD44-positive CCSCs. Liu *et al*[85] found that PTK6 interacts with JAK2 and phosphorylates to activate JAK2/STAT3 signaling, which can improve stemness and chemoresistance of CRC cells and reverse chemoresistance in CRC. Studies have shown that mithramycin A inhibits CRC growth by targeting CSCs[86]. Studies have also found that disruption of endolysosome RAB5/7 effectively eliminates CCSCs[87]. PrPC inhibits CSCs properties by interacting with c-MET in CRC cells[88].

According to the data accumulated during cancer research, CSCs have become a fundamental cause of cancer progression and resistance to treatment. Therefore, it is important to understand the biological, functional and clinical significance of CSCs in CRC tolerance in order to develop an effective treatment model for CRC patients. However, the practical clinical application of CSCs in CRC is still limited, and further studies and efforts are needed for clinical applications.

Zaishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 2 Methods for targeting colorectal cancer stem cells in the treatment of colorectal cancer

Ref.	Genes/transcription factors/protein	Inducing way	Role
Fumagalli <i>et al</i> [72]	Lgr5	-	Promoting the growth of CRC
Cheung et al[74]	CD16	-	Promoting the growth of CRC
Razi et al[75]	DCLK1	MiR-137 and Mir-15a-dependent manner	Promoting the growth of CRC
Park et al[76]	JAK2/STAT3/CCND2 axis	-	Causing drug resistance of CCSCs
Liu et al[77]	Sec62	Activating the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway	Causing drug resistance of CCSCs
Izumi et al[ <mark>78</mark> ]	F-Box/WD repeat-containing protein 7	-	Causing drug resistance of CCSCs
Wei <i>et al</i> [79]	PD-L1	Activating HMGA1-dependent Signaling pathway	Maintaining CSCs self-renewal
Cho <i>et al</i> [80]	5-FU	Activing p53-mediated WNT/β-catenin pathway	Promoting the stemness of CRC
Chen et al[81]	Phenethyl isothiocyanate	Suppressing Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway	Inhibiting CCSCs
Chen et al[82]	(-)-Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate	Suppressing Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway	Inhibiting CCSCs
Dahal et al[ <mark>83</mark> ]	AGR2	Regulating Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway	Regulating the stemness maintenance of CCSCs
Jang et al[84]	Tankyrase inhibitors	Downregulating c-KIT tyrosine kinase	Inhibiting the growth of CD44-positive CCSCs
Liu et al[ <mark>85</mark> ]	PTK6 interacts with JAK2	Activating JAK2/STAT3 signaling	Reversing chemoresistance in CRC
Quarni et al[ <mark>86</mark> ]	Mitramycin A	-	Inhibiting CCSCs
Lim et al[88]	PrPC	Interacting with c-MET	Inhibiting CCSCs

CCSC: Colorectal cancer stem cells; CRC: Colorectal cancer; CSCs: Cancer stem cells.



Figure 1 The roles of cancer stem cells in gastrointestinal cancers. CSC: Cancer stem cells; LCSC: Liver cancer stem cells.

#### ROLES OF CSCS IN PANCREATIC CANCER

Pancreatic cancer is one of the most deadly human malignancies, the survival rate is 8% and the prognosis is the worst of all GI tumors[89-91]. It is now the fourth most common cause of cancer associated deaths worldwide. The tumorigenesis capacity of pancreatic cancer cells is different, and the proliferation and growth of pancreatic cancer are highly dependent on the presence of a limited subgroup of pancreatic cancer cells, called pancreatic CSCs (PCSCs)[92]. The concept of CSCs is recognized and some of the identified molecules and signaling pathways are associated with cancer diagnosis and treatment.

PCSCs contribute to the development and invasion of pancreatic cancer. It has been found that PCSC CD9 can promote the plasma membrane localization of glutamine transporter ASCT2, improving glutamine uptake in pancreatic cancer cells and promoting tumor growth[93]. Leng et al[94] found that SIRT1 coordinating with CRL4B can regulate PCSCs to promote tumorigenesis. In PCSCs, PAF1 interacts with DDX3 and PHF5A to regulate the expression of NANOG and other genes that regulate stemness. Therefore, knockdown of PAF1 reduced the development and progression ability of in situ pancreatic cancer in mice and its CSCs[95]. Bao et al[96] found that pancreatic CSLCs can promote tumor formation and rapid tumor growth by activating FoxQ1. Masuo et al[97] demonstrated that SNAIL2 can promote the tumorigenicity and chemotherapy resistance of PCSCs by regulating IGFBP2.

PCSCs have an important role in pancreatic cancer therapy. Studies have shown that PCSCs have longer telomeres and higher telomerase activity than tumor cells, which is associated with the expression of pluripotent genes (Nanog, Sox2, Oct3/4). Therefore, telomerase inhibition can lead to apoptosis of PCSCs, which is a suitable therapeutic approach against CSCs, especially in pancreatic cancer [98]. Yang et al [99] found that miR-873 could inhibit self-renewal and proliferation of PCSCs by blocking the PLEK2-dependent PI3K/AKT pathway. In addition, miR-205 can resensitize gemcitabineresistant pancreatic cancer cells to gemcitabine and act as a tumor suppressor miRNA[100]. JNK is required for PCSCs self-renewal and tumor initiation, as well as its survivin expression. Dexamethasone was found to induce the expression of MKP-1 through glucocorticoid receptor activation, thereby inactivating JNK and inhibiting tumor growth[101]. Urtasun et al[102] showed that simultaneous blockade of IGF-IR and EGFR/Her-2 using NVP-AEW541 and lapatinib could inhibit drug resistance in pancreatic cancer.

The role of CSCs in pancreatic cancer metastasis, recurrence and treatment has become very important. A large number of studies have allowed tumor stem cell markers to achieve metastasis, progression and resistance of pancreatic cancer cells, which provide potential targets and therapeutic directions for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. Nevertheless, there are still few practical clinical applications of PCSCs, and further studies are needed for clinical applications.

Recently, many studies have shown that CSCs are closely related to tumor recurrence, metastasis and drug resistance, especially in EC, GC, LC, CRC and pancreatic cancer (Figure 1). CSCs can be identified by a series of surface markers, including OV6, EpCAM, CD13, CD133 and CD44. Surface markers of CSCs are useful for cancer diagnosis and prognosis prediction. In addition, CSCs regulate tumor progression and therapeutic resistance through multiple mechanisms, including Notch, Wnt/β-catenin and other signaling pathways. There are many other elements that make CSC impressions, such as the tumor microenvironment and non-coding RNAs, including miRNAs and long non-coding RNAs.

#### CONCLUSION

Currently, we have developed a combination of chemotherapeutic agents and small molecule inhibitors to reduce CSCs and effectively treat GI cancer. As CSCs have many similar features to stem cells, the molecular signal pathway or mechanism that distinguishes the two cell subgroups is still unknown. Therefore, stem cell therapy is limited, and it is necessary to further study the biological difference between normal stem cells and LCSCs. Research on the therapy of GI cancer with regard to CSCs is still at the in vitro and animal experimental stage, and the precise molecular mechanism of CSCs in GI cancer requires further study. Therefore, more research is needed to promote the application of CSCs in clinical practice.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wu J and Dong P designed study and revised the manuscript. Xuan SH, Hua ML and Xiang Z analyzed data and performed manuscript drafting; He XL, Huang L and Jiang C searched the literature and collected data; Dong P and Wu J reviewed the results and made critical comments on the manuscript; all authors reviewed and approved the final version; Xuan SH and Hua ML contributed equally to this work; Wu J and Dong P contributed equally to this work.

Supported by the Youth Medical Talent of Jiangsu Province, No. QNRC2016475.



Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that there are no competing interests associated with this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jian Wu 0000-0003-0087-3744.

S-Editor: Yan JP L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang XD

#### REFERENCES

- Puglisi MA, Tesori V, Lattanzi W, Gasbarrini GB, Gasbarrini A. Colon cancer stem cells: controversies and perspectives. 1 World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 2997-3006 [PMID: 23716979 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i20.2997]
- Wolfe W, Xiang Z, Yu X, Li P, Chen H, Yao M, Fei Y, Huang Y, Yin Y, Xiao H. The Challenge of Applications of 2 Probiotics in Gastrointestinal Diseases. Adv Gut Microbiome Res 2023; 2023 [DOI: 10.1155/2023/1984200]
- 3 Dylla SJ, Beviglia L, Park IK, Chartier C, Raval J, Ngan L, Pickell K, Aguilar J, Lazetic S, Smith-Berdan S, Clarke MF, Hoey T, Lewicki J, Gurney AL. Colorectal cancer stem cells are enriched in xenogeneic tumors following chemotherapy. PLoS One 2008; 3: e2428 [PMID: 18560594 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002428]
- Wu J, Zhang JR, Qin J. Clinical significance of methylation of E-cadherin and p14ARF gene promoters in skin squamous 4 cell carcinoma tissues. Int J Clin Exp Med 2014; 7: 1808-1812 [PMID: 25126184]
- Wu J, Cui LL, Yuan J, Wang Y, Song S. Clinical significance of the phosphorylation of MAPK and protein expression of cyclin D1 in human osteosarcoma tissues. Mol Med Rep 2017; 15: 2303-2307 [PMID: 28260005 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2017.6224
- 6 Napier KJ, Scheerer M, Misra S. Esophageal cancer: A Review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, staging workup and treatment modalities. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2014; 6: 112-120 [PMID: 24834141 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v6.i5.112]
- 7 Abbas G, Krasna M. Overview of esophageal cancer. Ann Cardiothorac Surg 2017; 6: 131-136 [PMID: 28447001 DOI: 10.21037/acs.2017.03.03
- Chen Y, Jiang T, Mao A, Xu J. Esophageal cancer stem cells express PLGF to increase cancer invasion through MMP9 8 activation. Tumour Biol 2014; 35: 12749-12755 [PMID: 25213700 DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-2601-x]
- 9 Carmeliet P, Moons L, Luttun A, Vincenti V, Compernolle V, De Mol M, Wu Y, Bono F, Devy L, Beck H, Scholz D, Acker T, DiPalma T, Dewerchin M, Noel A, Stalmans I, Barra A, Blacher S, VandenDriessche T, Ponten A, Eriksson U, Plate KH, Foidart JM, Schaper W, Charnock-Jones DS, Hicklin DJ, Herbert JM, Collen D, Persico MG. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. Nat Med 2001; 7: 575-583 [PMID: 11329059 DOI: 10.1038/87904]
- Eriksson A, Cao R, Pawliuk R, Berg SM, Tsang M, Zhou D, Fleet C, Tritsaris K, Dissing S, Leboulch P, Cao Y. Placenta 10 growth factor-1 antagonizes VEGF-induced angiogenesis and tumor growth by the formation of functionally inactive PIGF-1/VEGF heterodimers. Cancer Cell 2002; 1: 99-108 [PMID: 12086892 DOI: 10.1016/s1535-6108(02)00028-4]
- Wang C, Yan FH, Zhang JJ, Huang H, Cui QS, Dong W, Zhang WW, Zhao Y, Chen HZ, Zhao TJ. OV6(+) cancer stem 11 cells drive esophageal squamous cell carcinoma progression through ATG7-dependent β-catenin stabilization. Cancer Lett 2017; 391: 100-113 [PMID: 28131903 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.01.026]
- Yuan Y, Wang L, Ge D, Tan L, Cao B, Fan H, Xue L. Exosomal O-GlcNAc transferase from esophageal carcinoma stem 12 cell promotes cancer immunosuppression through up-regulation of PD-1 in CD8(+) T cells. Cancer Lett 2021; 500: 98-106 [PMID: 33307156 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.12.012]
- Zhao JS, Li WJ, Ge D, Zhang PJ, Li JJ, Lu CL, Ji XD, Guan DX, Gao H, Xu LY, Li EM, Soukiasian H, Koeffler HP, 13 Wang XF, Xie D. Tumor initiating cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas express high levels of CD44. PLoS One 2011; 6: e21419 [PMID: 21731740 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021419]
- Lu C, Xu F, Gu J, Yuan Y, Zhao G, Yu X, Ge D. Clinical and biological significance of stem-like CD133(+)CXCR4(+) 14 cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015; 150: 386-395 [PMID: 26092504 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.05.030]
- Liu Q, Cui X, Yu X, Bian BS, Qian F, Hu XG, Ji CD, Yang L, Ren Y, Cui W, Zhang X, Zhang P, Wang JM, Cui YH, 15 Bian XW. Cripto-1 acts as a functional marker of cancer stem-like cells and predicts prognosis of the patients in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Mol Cancer 2017; 16: 81 [PMID: 28431580 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-017-0650-7]
- Kai JD, Cheng LH, Li BF, Kang K, Xiong F, Fu JC, Wang S. MYH9 is a novel cancer stem cell marker and prognostic 16 indicator in esophageal cancer that promotes oncogenesis through the PI3K/AKT/mTOR axis. Cell Biol Int 2022; 46: 2085-2094 [PMID: 36030536 DOI: 10.1002/cbin.11894]
- Liu CC, Li HH, Lin JH, Chiang MC, Hsu TW, Li AF, Yen DH, Hsu HS, Hung SC. Esophageal Cancer Stem-like Cells 17 Resist Ferroptosis-Induced Cell Death by Active Hsp27-GPX4 Pathway. Biomolecules 2021; 12 [PMID: 35053196 DOI:



#### 10.3390/biom12010048]

- 18 Li W, Zhang L, Guo B, Deng J, Wu S, Li F, Wang Y, Lu J, Zhou Y. Exosomal FMR1-AS1 facilitates maintaining cancer stem-like cell dynamic equilibrium via TLR7/NFKB/c-Myc signaling in female esophageal carcinoma. Mol Cancer 2019; 18: 22 [PMID: 30736860 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-019-0949-7]
- 19 Song S, Chen Q, Li Y, Lei G, Scott A, Huo L, Li CY, Estrella JS, Correa A, Pizzi MP, Ma L, Jin J, Liu B, Wang Y, Xiao L, Hofstetter WL, Lee JH, Weston B, Bhutani M, Shanbhag N, Johnson RL, Gan B, Wei S, Ajani JA. Targeting cancer stem cells with a pan-BCL-2 inhibitor in preclinical and clinical settings in patients with gastroesophageal carcinoma. Gut 2021; 70: 2238-2248 [PMID: 33487592 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321175]
- Zarei M, Jazi MS, Tajaldini M, Khosravi A, Asadi J. Selective Inhibition of Esophageal Cancer Stem-like Cells with 20 Salinomycin. Anticancer Agents Med Chem 2020; 20: 783-789 [PMID: 32156244 DOI: 10.2174/1871520620666200310093125
- Shiozaki A, Kudou M, Ichikawa D, Fujiwara H, Shimizu H, Ishimoto T, Arita T, Kosuga T, Konishi H, Komatsu S, 21 Okamoto K, Marunaka Y, Otsuji E. Esophageal cancer stem cells are suppressed by tranilast, a TRPV2 channel inhibitor. J Gastroenterol 2018; 53: 197-207 [PMID: 28389731 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-017-1338-x]
- Xu DD, Zhou PJ, Wang Y, Zhang L, Fu WY, Ruan BB, Xu HP, Hu CZ, Tian L, Qin JH, Wang S, Wang X, Li YC, Liu 22 QY, Ren Z, Zhang R, Wang YF. Reciprocal activation between STAT3 and miR-181b regulates the proliferation of esophageal cancer stem-like cells via the CYLD pathway. Mol Cancer 2016; 15: 40 [PMID: 27189061 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-016-0521-7
- Honjo S, Ajani JA, Scott AW, Chen Q, Skinner HD, Stroehlein J, Johnson RL, Song S. Metformin sensitizes 23 chemotherapy by targeting cancer stem cells and the mTOR pathway in esophageal cancer. Int J Oncol 2014; 45: 567-574 [PMID: 24859412 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2450]
- Hu B, El Hajj N, Sittler S, Lammert N, Barnes R, Meloni-Ehrig A. Gastric cancer: Classification, histology and 24 application of molecular pathology. J Gastrointest Oncol 2012; 3: 251-261 [PMID: 22943016 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2012.021]
- Sitarz R, Skierucha M, Mielko J, Offerhaus GJA, Maciejewski R, Polkowski WP. Gastric cancer: epidemiology, 25 prevention, classification, and treatment. Cancer Manag Res 2018; 10: 239-248 [PMID: 29445300 DOI: 10.2147/CMAR.S149619
- Takaishi S, Okumura T, Tu S, Wang SS, Shibata W, Vigneshwaran R, Gordon SA, Shimada Y, Wang TC. Identification 26 of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells 2009; 27: 1006-1020 [PMID: 19415765 DOI: 10.1002/stem.30]
- Yang L, Ping YF, Yu X, Qian F, Guo ZJ, Qian C, Cui YH, Bian XW. Gastric cancer stem-like cells possess higher 27 capability of invasion and metastasis in association with a mesenchymal transition phenotype. Cancer Lett 2011; 310: 46-52 [PMID: 21782323 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.06.003]
- Delektorskaia VV, Perevoshchikov AG, Golovkov DA, Kushlinskii NE. [Immunohistochemical study of E-cadherin, 28 beta-catenin and CD-44v6 expression in the cells of primary colon cancer and its metastases]. Arkh Patol 2005; 67: 34-38 [PMID: 16405020]
- Zhu Z, Xu J, Li L, Ye W, Xu G, Chen B, Zeng J, Li J, Huang Z. Effect of gastric cancer stem cell on gastric cancer 29 invasion, migration and angiogenesis. Int J Med Sci 2020; 17: 2040-2051 [PMID: 32788883 DOI: 10.7150/ijms.46774]
- Li XB, Yang G, Zhu L, Tang YL, Zhang C, Ju Z, Yang X, Teng Y. Gastric Lgr5(+) stem cells are the cellular origin of 30 invasive intestinal-type gastric cancer in mice. Cell Res 2016; 26: 838-849 [PMID: 27091432 DOI: 10.1038/cr.2016.47]
- Togano S, Yashiro M, Masuda G, Sugimoto A, Miki Y, Yamamoto Y, Sera T, Kushiyama S, Nishimura S, Kuroda K, 31 Okuno T, Ohira M. Gastric cancer stem cells survive in stress environments via their autophagy system. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 20664 [PMID: 34667215 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-00155-3]
- Zhang H, Wang M, He Y, Deng T, Liu R, Wang W, Zhu K, Bai M, Ning T, Yang H, Liu Y, Wang J, Ba Y. 32 Chemotoxicity-induced exosomal IncFERO regulates ferroptosis and stemness in gastric cancer stem cells. Cell Death Dis 2021; 12: 1116 [PMID: 34845198 DOI: 10.1038/s41419-021-04406-z]
- Ni H, Qin H, Sun C, Liu Y, Ruan G, Guo Q, Xi T, Xing Y, Zheng L. MiR-375 reduces the stemness of gastric cancer cells 33 through triggering ferroptosis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 325 [PMID: 34090492 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02394-7]
- Barlesi F, Vansteenkiste J, Spigel D, Ishii H, Garassino M, de Marinis F, Özgüroğlu M, Szczesna A, Polychronis A, Uslu 34 R, Krzakowski M, Lee JS, Calabrò L, Arén Frontera O, Ellers-Lenz B, Bajars M, Ruisi M, Park K. Avelumab versus docetaxel in patients with platinum-treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (JAVELIN Lung 200): an open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 1468-1479 [PMID: 30262187 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30673-9]
- Sezer A, Kilickap S, Gümüş M, Bondarenko I, Özgüroğlu M, Gogishvili M, Turk HM, Cicin I, Bentsion D, Gladkov O, 35 Clingan P, Sriuranpong V, Rizvi N, Gao B, Li S, Lee S, McGuire K, Chen CI, Makharadze T, Paydas S, Nechaeva M, Seebach F, Weinreich DM, Yancopoulos GD, Gullo G, Lowy I, Rietschel P. Cemiplimab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 of at least 50%: a multicentre, open-label, global, phase 3, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet 2021; 397: 592-604 [PMID: 33581821 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00228-2]
- 36 Huang J, Xu J, Chen Y, Zhuang W, Zhang Y, Chen Z, Chen J, Zhang H, Niu Z, Fan Q, Lin L, Gu K, Liu Y, Ba Y, Miao Z, Jiang X, Zeng M, Fu Z, Gan L, Wang J, Zhan X, Liu T, Li Z, Shen L, Shu Y, Zhang T, Yang Q, Zou J; ESCORT Study Group. Camrelizumab versus investigator's choice of chemotherapy as second-line therapy for advanced or metastatic oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCORT): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 832-842 [PMID: 32416073 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30110-8]
- Li H, Wang C, Lan L, Yan L, Li W, Evans I, Ruiz EJ, Su Q, Zhao G, Wu W, Zhang H, Zhou Z, Hu Z, Chen W, Oliveira JM, Behrens A, Reis RL, Zhang C. METTL3 promotes oxaliplatin resistance of gastric cancer CD133+ stem cells by promoting PARP1 mRNA stability. Cell Mol Life Sci 2022; 79: 135 [PMID: 35179655 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-022-04129-0
- Zhu YD, Ba H, Chen J, Zhang M, Li P. Celastrus orbiculatus Extract Reduces Stemness of Gastric Cancer Stem Cells by 38 Targeting PDCD4 and EIF3H. Integr Cancer Ther 2021; 20: 15347354211058168 [PMID: 34802261 DOI: 10.1177/15347354211058168]



- Li K, Wu H, Wang A, Charron J, Mishina Y, Habib SL, Liu H, Li B. mTOR signaling regulates gastric epithelial 39 progenitor homeostasis and gastric tumorigenesis via MEK1-ERKs and BMP-Smad1 pathways. Cell Rep 2021; 35: 109069 [PMID: 33951440 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109069]
- 40 Kulik L, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology and Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 477-491.e1 [PMID: 30367835 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.065]
- Zhao Y, Li Y, Sheng J, Wu F, Li K, Huang R, Wang X, Jiao T, Guan X, Lu Y, Chen X, Luo Z, Zhou Y, Hu H, Liu W, Du 41 B, Miao S, Cai J, Wang L, Zhao H, Ying J, Bi X, Song W. P53-R273H mutation enhances colorectal cancer stemness through regulating specific lncRNAs. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2019; 38: 379 [PMID: 31455383 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-019-1375-9]
- 42 Fan ST, Yang ZF, Ho DW, Ng MN, Yu WC, Wong J. Prediction of posthepatectomy recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma by circulating cancer stem cells: a prospective study. Ann Surg 2011; 254: 569-576 [PMID: 21892074 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182300a1d
- Park DJ, Sung PS, Kim JH, Lee GW, Jang JW, Jung ES, Bae SH, Choi JY, Yoon SK. EpCAM-high liver cancer stem 43 cells resist natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity by upregulating CEACAM1. J Immunother Cancer 2020; 8 [PMID: 32221015 DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000301]
- Deng Y, Li M, Zhuo M, Guo P, Chen Q, Mo P, Li W, Yu C. Histone demethylase JMJD2D promotes the self-renewal of 44 liver cancer stem-like cells by enhancing EpCAM and Sox9 expression. J Biol Chem 2021; 296: 100121 [PMID: 33434575 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.RA120.015335]
- Yang C, Cai WC, Dong ZT, Guo JW, Zhao YJ, Sui CJ, Yang JM. IncARSR promotes liver cancer stem cells expansion 45 via STAT3 pathway. Gene 2019; 687: 73-81 [PMID: 30391438 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.10.087]
- Huang H, Hou J, Liu K, Liu Q, Shen L, Liu B, Lu Q, Zhang N, Che L, Li J, Jiang S, Wang B, Wen Q, Hu L, Gao J. 46 RAB27A-dependent release of exosomes by liver cancer stem cells induces Nanog expression in their differentiated progenies and confers regorafenib resistance. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 3429-3437 [PMID: 34258777 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15619]
- Chen SZ, Ling Y, Yu LX, Song YT, Chen XF, Cao QQ, Yu H, Chen C, Tang JJ, Fan ZC, Miao YS, Dong YP, Tao JY, 47 Monga SPS, Wen W, Wang HY. 4-phenylbutyric acid promotes hepatocellular carcinoma via initiating cancer stem cells through activation of PPAR-a. Clin Transl Med 2021; 11: e379 [PMID: 33931972 DOI: 10.1002/ctm2.379]
- Cao J, Zhao M, Liu J, Zhang X, Pei Y, Wang J, Yang X, Shen B, Zhang J. RACK1 Promotes Self-Renewal and 48 Chemoresistance of Cancer Stem Cells in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma through Stabilizing Nanog. Theranostics 2019; 9: 811-828 [PMID: 30809310 DOI: 10.7150/thno.29271]
- 49 Galizia G, Gemei M, Del Vecchio L, Zamboli A, Di Noto R, Mirabelli P, Salvatore F, Castellano P, Orditura M, De Vita F, Pinto M, Pignatelli C, Lieto E. Combined CD133/CD44 expression as a prognostic indicator of disease-free survival in patients with colorectal cancer. Arch Surg 2012; 147: 18-24 [PMID: 22250106 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.2011.795]
- Yin S, Li J, Hu C, Chen X, Yao M, Yan M, Jiang G, Ge C, Xie H, Wan D, Yang S, Zheng S, Gu J. CD133 positive 50 hepatocellular carcinoma cells possess high capacity for tumorigenicity. Int J Cancer 2007; 120: 1444-1450 [PMID: 17205516 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.22476]
- Haraguchi N, Ishii H, Mimori K, Tanaka F, Ohkuma M, Kim HM, Akita H, Takiuchi D, Hatano H, Nagano H, Barnard 51 GF, Doki Y, Mori M. CD13 is a therapeutic target in human liver cancer stem cells. J Clin Invest 2010; 120: 3326-3339 [PMID: 20697159 DOI: 10.1172/JCI42550]
- Yang W, Yan HX, Chen L, Liu Q, He YQ, Yu LX, Zhang SH, Huang DD, Tang L, Kong XN, Chen C, Liu SQ, Wu MC, 52 Wang HY. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling contributes to activation of normal and tumorigenic liver progenitor cells. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 4287-4295 [PMID: 18519688 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6691]
- Wei S, Liu K, He Q, Gao Y, Shen L. PES1 is regulated by CD44 in liver cancer stem cells via miR-105-5p. FEBS Lett 53 2019; 593: 1777-1786 [PMID: 31127852 DOI: 10.1002/1873-3468.13459]
- Liu AY, Cai Y, Mao Y, Lin Y, Zheng H, Wu T, Huang Y, Fang X, Lin S, Feng Q, Huang Z, Yang T, Luo Q, Ouyang G. 54 Twist2 promotes self-renewal of liver cancer stem-like cells by regulating CD24. Carcinogenesis 2014; 35: 537-545 [PMID: 24193512 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgt364]
- 55 Chen L, Wu M, Ji C, Yuan M, Liu C, Yin Q. Silencing transcription factor FOXM1 represses proliferation, migration, and invasion while inducing apoptosis of liver cancer stem cells by regulating the expression of ALDH2. IUBMB Life 2020; 72: 285-295 [PMID: 31580537 DOI: 10.1002/iub.2166]
- Dou C, Fang C, Zhao Y, Fu X, Zhang Y, Zhu D, Wu H, Liu H, Zhang J, Xu W, Liu Z, Wang H, Li D, Wang X. BC-02 56 eradicates liver cancer stem cells by upregulating the ROS-dependent DNA damage. Int J Oncol 2017; 51: 1775-1784 [PMID: 29039459 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4159]
- Zhou G, Da Won Bae S, Nguyen R, Huo X, Han S, Zhang Z, Hebbard L, Duan W, Eslam M, Liddle C, Yuen L, Lam V, 57 Qiao L, George J. An aptamer-based drug delivery agent (CD133-apt-Dox) selectively and effectively kills liver cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Lett 2021; 501: 124-132 [PMID: 33352247 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.12.022]
- 58 Feng Y, Jiang W, Zhao W, Lu Z, Gu Y, Dong Y. miR-124 regulates liver cancer stem cells expansion and sorafenib resistance. Exp Cell Res 2020; 394: 112162 [PMID: 32640195 DOI: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2020.112162]
- 59 Jiang ZB, Ma BQ, Liu SG, Li J, Yang GM, Hou YB, Si RH, Gao P, Yan HT. miR-365 regulates liver cancer stem cells via RAC1 pathway. Mol Carcinog 2019; 58: 55-65 [PMID: 30182377 DOI: 10.1002/mc.22906]
- Li YC, Xu FM, Zhang GQ, Li SB, Wen YY, Zeng F. Down-regulation of microRNA-21 inhibits cell proliferation and 60 invasion of high-invasion liver cancer stem cells. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2018; 22: 7832-7840 [PMID: 30536328 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev\_201811\_16408]
- Si A, Wang L, Miao K, Zhang R, Ji H, Lei Z, Cheng Z, Fang X, Hao B. miR-219 regulates liver cancer stem cell 61 expansion via E-cadherin pathway. Cell Cycle 2019; 18: 3550-3561 [PMID: 31724462 DOI: 10.1080/15384101.2019.1691762]
- Dou Z, Lu F, Hu J, Wang H, Li B, Li X. MicroRNA-6838-5p suppresses the self-renewal and metastasis of human liver 62 cancer stem cells through downregulating CBX4 expression and inactivating ERK signaling. Biol Chem 2023; 404: 29-39 [PMID: 36215729 DOI: 10.1515/hsz-2022-0156]



- Zhang X, Jiang P, Shuai L, Chen K, Li Z, Zhang Y, Jiang Y, Li X. miR-589-5p inhibits MAP3K8 and suppresses 63 CD90(+) cancer stem cells in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2016; 35: 176 [PMID: 27835990 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-016-0452-6
- Wang Y, Zhu P, Luo J, Wang J, Liu Z, Wu W, Du Y, Ye B, Wang D, He L, Ren W, Sun X, Chen R, Tian Y, Fan Z. 64 LncRNA HAND2-AS1 promotes liver cancer stem cell self-renewal via BMP signaling. EMBO J 2019; 38: e101110 [PMID: 31334575 DOI: 10.15252/embj.2018101110]
- Wan S, Zhao E, Kryczek I, Vatan L, Sadovskaya A, Ludema G, Simeone DM, Zou W, Welling TH. Tumor-associated 65 macrophages produce interleukin 6 and signal via STAT3 to promote expansion of human hepatocellular carcinoma stem cells. Gastroenterology 2014; 147: 1393-1404 [PMID: 25181692 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.08.039]
- 66 Li X, Zhou Y, Hu J, Bai Z, Meng W, Zhang L, Song X, Wei Y, Yan J. Loss of neuropilin1 inhibits liver cancer stem cells population and blocks metastasis in hepatocellular carcinoma via epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Neoplasma 2021; 68: 325-333 [PMID: 33350850 DOI: 10.4149/neo 2020 200914N982]
- Wang N, Li MY, Liu Y, Yu J, Ren J, Zheng Z, Wang S, Yang S, Yang SL, Liu LP, Hu BG, Chong CC, Merchant JL, Lai 67 PB, Chen GG. ZBP-89 negatively regulates self-renewal of liver cancer stem cells via suppression of Notch1 signaling pathway. Cancer Lett 2020; 472: 70-80 [PMID: 31874246 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.12.026]
- 68 Chan LH, Luk ST, Ma S. Turning hepatic cancer stem cells inside out--a deeper understanding through multiple perspectives. Mol Cells 2015; 38: 202-209 [PMID: 25666349 DOI: 10.14348/molcells.2015.2356]
- 69 Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015; 65: 87-108 [PMID: 25651787 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21262]
- Brenner H, Kloor M, Pox CP. Colorectal cancer. Lancet 2014; 383: 1490-1502 [PMID: 24225001 DOI: 70 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61649-9]
- de Sousa e Melo F, Kurtova AV, Harnoss JM, Kljavin N, Hoeck JD, Hung J, Anderson JE, Storm EE, Modrusan Z, 71 Koeppen H, Dijkgraaf GJ, Piskol R, de Sauvage FJ. A distinct role for Lgr5(+) stem cells in primary and metastatic colon cancer. Nature 2017; 543: 676-680 [PMID: 28358093 DOI: 10.1038/nature21713]
- Fumagalli A, Oost KC, Kester L, Morgner J, Bornes L, Bruens L, Spaargaren L, Azkanaz M, Schelfhorst T, Beerling E, 72 Heinz MC, Postrach D, Seinstra D, Sieuwerts AM, Martens JWM, van der Elst S, van Baalen M, Bhowmick D, Vrisekoop N, Ellenbroek SIJ, Suijkerbuijk SJE, Snippert HJ, van Rheenen J. Plasticity of Lgr5-Negative Cancer Cells Drives Metastasis in Colorectal Cancer. Cell Stem Cell 2020; 26: 569-578.e7 [PMID: 32169167 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2020.02.008
- Shangguan W, Fan C, Chen X, Lu R, Liu Y, Li Y, Shang Y, Yin D, Zhang S, Huang Q, Li X, Meng W, Xu H, Zhou Z, 73 Hu J, Mo X. Endothelium originated from colorectal cancer stem cells constitute cancer blood vessels. Cancer Sci 2017; 108: 1357-1367 [PMID: 28421697 DOI: 10.1111/cas.13262]
- Cheung AH, Iyer DN, Lam CS, Ng L, Wong SKM, Lee HS, Wan T, Man J, Chow AKM, Poon RT, Pang R, Law WL. 74 Emergence of CD26+ Cancer Stem Cells with Metastatic Properties in Colorectal Carcinogenesis. Int J Mol Sci 2017; 18 [PMID: 28545226 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18061106]
- Razi S, Sadeghi A, Asadi-Lari Z, Tam KJ, Kalantari E, Madjd Z. DCLK1, a promising colorectal cancer stem cell marker, 75 regulates tumor progression and invasion through miR-137 and miR-15a dependent manner. Clin Exp Med 2021; 21: 139-147 [PMID: 32965580 DOI: 10.1007/s10238-020-00665-w]
- Park SY, Lee CJ, Choi JH, Kim JH, Kim JW, Kim JY, Nam JS. The JAK2/STAT3/CCND2 Axis promotes colorectal 76 Cancer stem cell persistence and radioresistance. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2019; 38: 399 [PMID: 31511084 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-019-1405-7
- Liu X, Su K, Sun X, Jiang Y, Wang L, Hu C, Zhang C, Lu M, Du X, Xing B. Sec62 promotes stemness and 77 chemoresistance of human colorectal cancer through activating Wnt/β-catenin pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2021; 40: 132 [PMID: 33858476 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-021-01934-6]
- Izumi D, Ishimoto T, Miyake K, Eto T, Arima K, Kiyozumi Y, Uchihara T, Kurashige J, Iwatsuki M, Baba Y, Sakamoto 78 Y, Miyamoto Y, Yoshida N, Watanabe M, Goel A, Tan P, Baba H. Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells Acquire Chemoresistance Through the Upregulation of F-Box/WD Repeat-Containing Protein 7 and the Consequent Degradation of c-Myc. Stem Cells 2017; 35: 2027-2036 [PMID: 28699179 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2668]
- Wei F, Zhang T, Deng SC, Wei JC, Yang P, Wang Q, Chen ZP, Li WL, Chen HC, Hu H, Cao J. PD-L1 promotes 79 colorectal cancer stem cell expansion by activating HMGA1-dependent signaling pathways. Cancer Lett 2019; 450: 1-13 [PMID: 30776481 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.02.022]
- Cho YH, Ro EJ, Yoon JS, Mizutani T, Kang DW, Park JC, Il Kim T, Clevers H, Choi KY. 5-FU promotes stemness of 80 colorectal cancer via p53-mediated WNT/β-catenin pathway activation. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 5321 [PMID: 33087710 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-19173-2]
- Chen Y, Li Y, Wang XQ, Meng Y, Zhang Q, Zhu JY, Chen JQ, Cao WS, Xie CF, Li XT, Geng SS, Wu JS, Zhong CY, 81 Han HY. Phenethyl isothiocyanate inhibits colorectal cancer stem cells by suppressing Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Phytother Res 2018; 32: 2447-2455 [PMID: 30159926 DOI: 10.1002/ptr.6183]
- Chen Y, Wang XQ, Zhang Q, Zhu JY, Li Y, Xie CF, Li XT, Wu JS, Geng SS, Zhong CY, Han HY. (-)-Epigallocatechin-82 3-Gallate Inhibits Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells by Suppressing Wnt/β-Catenin Pathway. Nutrients 2017; 9 [PMID: 28587207 DOI: 10.3390/nu9060572]
- Dahal Lamichane B, Jung SY, Yun J, Kang S, Kim DY, Lamichane S, Kim YJ, Park JH, Jang WB, Ji ST, Dehua L, Ha JS, Kim YH, Kwon SM. AGR2 is a target of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling and is important for stemness maintenance in colorectal cancer stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2019; 515: 600-606 [PMID: 31178140 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.05.154]
- Jang MK, Mashima T, Seimiya H. Tankyrase Inhibitors Target Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells via AXIN-Dependent Downregulation of c-KIT Tyrosine Kinase. Mol Cancer Ther 2020; 19: 765-776 [PMID: 31907221 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-19-0668
- Liu C, Pan Z, Chen Q, Chen Z, Liu W, Wu L, Jiang M, Lin W, Zhang Y, Zhou R, Zhao L. Pharmacological targeting 85 PTK6 inhibits the JAK2/STAT3 sustained stemness and reverses chemoresistance of colorectal cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer



Res 2021; 40: 297 [PMID: 34551797 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-021-02059-6]

- Quarni W, Dutta R, Green R, Katiri S, Patel B, Mohapatra SS, Mohapatra S. Mithramycin A Inhibits Colorectal Cancer 86 Growth by Targeting Cancer Stem Cells. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 15202 [PMID: 31645574 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-50917-3]
- Takeda M, Koseki J, Takahashi H, Miyoshi N, Nishida N, Nishimura J, Hata T, Matsuda C, Mizushima T, Yamamoto H, 87 Ishii H, Doki Y, Mori M, Haraguchi N. Disruption of Endolysosomal RAB5/7 Efficiently Eliminates Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells. Cancer Res 2019; 79: 1426-1437 [PMID: 30765602 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2192]
- Lim JH, Go G, Lee SH. PrPC Regulates the Cancer Stem Cell Properties via Interaction With c-Met in Colorectal Cancer 88 Cells. Anticancer Res 2021; 41: 3459-3470 [PMID: 34230141 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.15133]
- 89 Zhang Y, Yang C, Cheng H, Fan Z, Huang Q, Lu Y, Fan K, Luo G, Jin K, Wang Z, Liu C, Yu X. Novel agents for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: emerging therapeutics and future directions. J Hematol Oncol 2018; 11: 14 [PMID: 29386069 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-017-0551-7]
- Cui J, Tian J, Wang W, He T, Li X, Gu C, Wang L, Wu J, Shang A. IGF2BP2 promotes the progression of colorectal 90 cancer through a YAP-dependent mechanism. Cancer Sci 2021; 112: 4087-4099 [PMID: 34309973 DOI: 10.1111/cas.15083
- Lu H, Li Z, Liu L, Tao Y, Zhou Y, Mao X, Zhu A, Wu H, Zheng X. A Pan-Cancer Analysis of the Oncogenic Roles of 91 RAD51 in Human Tumors. Adv Gut Microbiome Res 2022; 2022: 1591377 [DOI: 10.1155/2022/1591377]
- 92 Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM. Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 1030-1037 [PMID: 17283135 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2030]
- 93 Wang VM, Ferreira RMM, Almagro J, Evan T, Legrave N, Zaw Thin M, Frith D, Carvalho J, Barry DJ, Snijders AP, Herbert E, Nye EL, MacRae JI, Behrens A. CD9 identifies pancreatic cancer stem cells and modulates glutamine metabolism to fuel tumour growth. Nat Cell Biol 2019; 21: 1425-1435 [PMID: 31685994 DOI: 10.1038/s41556-019-0407-1]
- Leng S, Huang W, Chen Y, Yang Y, Feng D, Liu W, Gao T, Ren Y, Huo M, Zhang J, Wang Y. SIRT1 coordinates with 94 the CRL4B complex to regulate pancreatic cancer stem cells to promote tumorigenesis. Cell Death Differ 2021; 28: 3329-3343 [PMID: 34163012 DOI: 10.1038/s41418-021-00821-z]
- Karmakar S, Rauth S, Nallasamy P, Perumal N, Nimmakayala RK, Leon F, Gupta R, Barkeer S, Venkata RC, Raman V, 95 Rachagani S, Ponnusamy MP, Batra SK. RNA Polymerase II-Associated Factor 1 Regulates Stem Cell Features of Pancreatic Cancer Cells, Independently of the PAF1 Complex, via Interactions With PHF5A and DDX3. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 1898-1915.e6 [PMID: 32781084 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.07.053]
- Bao B, Azmi AS, Aboukameel A, Ahmad A, Bolling-Fischer A, Sethi S, Ali S, Li Y, Kong D, Banerjee S, Back J, Sarkar 96 FH. Pancreatic cancer stem-like cells display aggressive behavior mediated via activation of FoxQ1. J Biol Chem 2014; 289: 14520-14533 [PMID: 24719318 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M113.532887]
- Masuo K, Chen R, Yogo A, Sugiyama A, Fukuda A, Masui T, Uemoto S, Seno H, Takaishi S. SNAIL2 contributes to 97 tumorigenicity and chemotherapy resistance in pancreatic cancer by regulating IGFBP2. Cancer Sci 2021; 112: 4987-4999 [PMID: 34628696 DOI: 10.1111/cas.15162]
- 98 Walter K, Rodriguez-Aznar E, Ferreira MSV, Frappart PO, Dittrich T, Tiwary K, Meessen S, Lerma L, Daiss N, Schulte LA, Najafova Z, Arnold F, Usachov V, Azoitei N, Erkan M, Lechel A, Brümmendorf TH, Seufferlein T, Kleger A, Tabarés E, Günes C, Johnsen SA, Beier F, Sainz B Jr, Hermann PC. Telomerase and Pluripotency Factors Jointly Regulate Stemness in Pancreatic Cancer Stem Cells. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 34201898 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13133145]
- Yang XL, Ma YS, Liu YS, Jiang XH, Ding H, Shi Y, Jia CY, Lu GX, Zhang DD, Wang HM, Wang PY, Lv ZW, Yu F, Liu JB, Fu D. microRNA-873 inhibits self-renewal and proliferation of pancreatic cancer stem cells through pleckstrin-2dependent PI3K/AKT pathway. Cell Signal 2021; 84: 110025 [PMID: 33915247 DOI: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2021.110025]
- 100 Chaudhary AK, Mondal G, Kumar V, Kattel K, Mahato RI. Chemosensitization and inhibition of pancreatic cancer stem cell proliferation by overexpression of microRNA-205. Cancer Lett 2017; 402: 1-8 [PMID: 28536008 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.05.007
- Suzuki S, Okada M, Sanomachi T, Togashi K, Seino S, Sato A, Yamamoto M, Kitanaka C. Therapeutic targeting of pancreatic cancer stem cells by dexamethasone modulation of the MKP-1-JNK axis. J Biol Chem 2020; 295: 18328-18342 [PMID: 33115754 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.RA120.015223]
- 102 Urtasun N, Vidal-Pla A, Pérez-Torras S, Mazo A. Human pancreatic cancer stem cells are sensitive to dual inhibition of IGF-IR and ErbB receptors. BMC Cancer 2015; 15: 223 [PMID: 25886138 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-015-1249-2]



W J S C World Jour Stem Cells

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 221-234

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.221

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

## Harnessing and honing mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for the amelioration of graft-versus-host disease

Tang-Her Jaing, Tsung-Yen Chang, Chia-Chi Chiu

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kode JA, India; Li SC, United States; Zhang XF, China

Received: December 15, 2022 Peer-review started: December 15, 2022 First decision: January 18, 2023 Revised: January 19, 2023 Accepted: March 21, 2023 Article in press: March 21, 2023

Published online: April 26, 2023



Tang-Her Jaing, Division of Hematology, Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Chang Gung Children's Hospital, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Tsung-Yen Chang, Department of Pediatrics, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Chia-Chi Chiu, Department of Nursing, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Corresponding author: Tang-Her Jaing, MD, Chief Physician, Director, Professor, Division of Hematology, Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Chang Gung Children's Hospital, Chang Gung University, No. 5 Fu-Shin Street, Kwei-Shan, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan. jaing001@cgmh.org.tw

### Abstract

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is a deterministic curative procedure for various hematologic disorders and congenital immunodeficiency. Despite its increased use, the mortality rate for patients undergoing this procedure remains high, mainly due to the perceived risk of exacerbating graft-versushost disease (GVHD). However, even with immunosuppressive agents, some patients still develop GVHD. Advanced mesenchymal stem/stromal cell (MSC) strategies have been proposed to achieve better therapeutic outcomes, given their immunosuppressive potential. However, the efficacy and trial designs have varied among the studies, and some research findings appear contradictory due to the challenges in characterizing the *in vivo* effects of MSCs. This review aims to provide real insights into this clinical entity, emphasizing diagnostic, and therapeutic considerations and generating pathophysiology hypotheses to identify research avenues. The indications and timing for the clinical application of MSCs are still subject to debate.

Key Words: Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells; Graft-versus-host disease; Immunomodulatory; Adaptive immunity; Exosomes

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This article provides insights into the use of validated mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) as a potential treatment strategy for graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). Current prevention and treatment options involve immunosuppression, which can hinder immune recovery and limit the graft-versus-tumor effect. By using MSCs, clinicians can effectively treat GVHD, identify high-risk patients, and stratify patients based on disease severity. Therefore, MSCs can aid in promoting engraftment, ameliorating acute GVHD, and preventing chronic GVHD, making them an attractive option for HSCT.

Citation: Jaing TH, Chang TY, Chiu CC. Harnessing and honing mesenchymal stem/stromal cells for the amelioration of graft-versus-host disease. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 221-234 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/221.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.221

#### INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells with self renewal abilities [1] that can be derived from different tissue sources. They attach to tissue culture dishes and express CD73, CD90, and CD105 but lack the expression of CD45, CD34, CD14, or CD11b, CD79α or CD19, and HLA-DR surface molecules. In vitro, MSCs can differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, or chondroblasts[2,3]. MSCs can be effectively harvested without significant ethical concerns and have low immunogenicity. They have emerged as a promising cell source due to their regenerative and immunomodulatory potentials, limited ethical concerns, and low risk of tumor formation[4-6].

Malignancy relapse is a significant challenge in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). Chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) is associated with lower relapse rates, but the diagnosis, staging, and risk stratification of GVHD are challenging[7]. In this scoping review, we highlight recent evidence on different types of MSCs studied for GVHD, including bone marrow (BM), umbilical cord blood, placenta, adipose tissue, and others. MSCs have been found to inhibit immune cell proliferation and cytotoxic action, making them a potential treatment option for GVHD[8].

This review aims to provide a critical overview of the mechanisms by which MSC can treat GVHD, including immunomodulation, migration, homing, and clinical applications of MSC therapy. We searched peer-reviewed literature in PubMed and Embase to gather the latest information on this topic.

#### THERAPEUTIC STRATEGY OF GVHD

#### Immune pathways in GVHD

One of the most significant challenges in improving the prognosis for patients undergoing allogeneic HSCT is GVHD. This condition can be characterized as a rapid escalation in immune activation caused by massive target tissue apoptosis. The prevention of GVHD is primarily based on the use of calcineurin inhibitors and methotrexate, while the treatment of ongoing GVHD involves the use of corticosteroids. GVHD manifests as acute GVHD (aGVHD) in 53%-62.5% of the patients and chronic GVHD (cGVHD) in 20%-50.4% of patients [9,10], and the development of this complication may contribute to 6.3% of deaths following HSCT[9]. Although the administration of calcium inhibitors such as calcium sulphoaluminate can prevent the development of GVHD in some cases, about 19% of aGVHD II-IV cases are often resistant to all conventional therapy, resulting in a high mortality rate for these patients. Several potential second-line options have been proposed, including the use of MSCs. MSCs have attracted significant interest because they can actively undergo apoptosis by recipient cytotoxic cells [11]. Figure 1 illustrates the immune pathways involved in GVHD and the sites where therapy is used to block GVHD development.

#### Danger signals in aGVHD development

In a typical case of aGVHD, which occurs following a triptych course, symptoms begin with the prodromal phase caused by the underlying disease and conditioning regimens that secrete proinflammatory cytokines, mainly tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and interleukin-6 (IL-6)[12]. Host conditioning facilitates donor cell grafting. Donor allograft T-cells are the primary effector cells for GVHD. However, tissue damage leads to the release of alarmins and the expression of pathogen-recognition receptors, triggering the next phase. This phase activates the innate immune system and, in turn, the adaptive immune system. Alarmins and exogenous pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) elicit similar responses to relevant signals, and they belong to the group of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)[13]. DAMPs and PAMPs are potent stimulators for





DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.221 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Immune pathways in graft-versus-host disease and sites where therapy is used to block graft-versus-host disease development (red bars). APC: Antigen-presenting cell; ATG: Antithymocyte globulin; CSA: Cyclosporine A; DAMPs; Damage-associated molecular patterns; Foxp3+: Forkhead box P3; GCs: Glucocorticosteroids; GVHD: Graft-versus-host disease; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; NK: Natural killer cells; PAMPs: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns.

> host and donor-derived antigen-presenting cells (APCs), which activate and enhance the responses of alloreactive donor T cells[14].

> The immunosuppressive effects of MSCs are classified into soluble factor-mediated effects and cellcell contact-mediated effects. MSCs suppress the proliferation and survival of activated T lymphocytes and reduce the release of inflammatory factors such as IL-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IFN- $\gamma$ . By the same means, MSCs also reduce the number of Th1/Th2 and Th17 cells. Through cell-to-cell contacts, MSCs can stimulate the expression of transcription complexes related to Runt 1 (RUNX1), RUNX3, and CBFβ in Treg-specific regulatory regions to improve the stability of Foxp3[15]. MSCs have also been shown to be highly effective in inhibiting the cytotoxic effect, proliferation, and secretion of different cytokines of NK cells by directly contacting these cells and transforming their phenotype.

> The effects of MSCs on B cells involve inhibiting their cell cycle progression by inducing G0/G1 cell cycle arrest and suppressing their proliferation. Additionally, the differentiation of B cells into IgM-, IgG-, and IgA-secreting cells is impaired by MSCs, thereby limiting their antibody production. Furthermore, MSCs can affect the chemotactic function of B cells[16].

#### GENETIC BASIS OF GVHD

#### Humanized mouse models

Most relevant models for studying human adaptive immune responses use immunocompromised mice whose immune system is reconstituted with human immune cells and immune system components. Lee et al[17] used a model of NSG mice reconstituted with human CD34 cells to evaluate the immunological safety of therapeutically compromising human MSCs. As major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules are the primary mediators of the allogeneic immune response, MHC expression levels are critical in the potential immunogenicity of cells. To investigate MSCs as a cellular therapy in GVHD, Tobin et al [18] treated NSG-PBMC humanized mice with human MSCs as a GVHD model. MSC treatment resulted in a reduction in liver and intestinal pathology and a significant increase in the survival of the GVHD NSG mouse.

In contrast to aGVHD, some MHC-mismatched animal models may mimic the features of cGVHD. However, due to the pathological resemblance between cGVHD and autoimmune diseases, there is a clear connection between the two entities, and the difference in cGVHD is primarily caused by the donor lymphoid graft[19]. These findings provide compelling evidence for the essential role of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) disparity in both aGVHD and cGVHD. The expression pattern of minor histocompatibility antigens (miHAs) determines the target organ involvement in aGVHD. The miHAs exhibit hierarchical immunodominance, which may contribute to the variability in GVHD variability [20].



#### Translation and clinical advances in GVHD

**aGVHD:** HLA mismatching is one of the most significant risk factors for aGVHD and cGVHD risk. HLA proteins are specifically encoded by MHC. In vitro studies have demonstrated that most T cells associated with GVHD are naïve T cells, whereas memory T cells mediate immunity against pathogens and the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect[21]. Regardless of the graft source or conditioning intensity, the incidence of aGVHD is closely related to the number of HLA disparities. Although the impact of HLA disparity has been analyzed in the outcomes following allogeneic HSCT, relatively few studies have tried to correlate it with the incidence and severity of cGVHD. Some studies reported an association between HLA-A, -B, and -C disparity and aGVHD[22].

Although MHC antigens guarantee HLA matching, the donor and recipient may differ in various proteins presented in the form of HLA-peptide complexes to T cells that act as miHAs. The genomes include more than 10<sup>7</sup> polymorphic sequences outside HLA, and the role of miHAs is supported by genome-wide analysis of single-nucleotide polymorphisms[7]. The disparity in a single immuno-dominant miHA is insufficient to cause aGVHD, although T cells primed against a single miHA may induce tissue damage in a human skin explant model[23]. It is unknown whether the number of miHAs triggering a GVL response in a given transplant is significant or whether a small number of antigens play a dominant role[24].

**cGVHD:** In contrast, cGVHD has been considered an autoimmune disease based on its clinical features [25]. Some experimental studies have shown that T cells from animals with cGVHD are specific for a public determinant of MHC class II molecules and are therefore considered autoreactive. These autoreactive cells of cGVHD are often associated with an injured thymus and adverse selection.

Recent clinical data has highlighted a significant link between immune responses against ubiquitous miHAs and cGVHD. Since cGVHD usually occurs after allogeneic HSCT, aGVHD is its related risk factor. Unlike syngeneic GVHD, which results from deficient thymic selection[26], cGVHD typically arises after allogeneic HSCT and is characterized by chronic T-cell activation due to continuous exposure to miHAs. This chronic stimulation can cause target organ damage that resembles auto-immune features, where the target is miHAs for cGVHD and non-polymorphic autoantigens for autoimmune diseases. A study on female-to-male HSCT demonstrated a good correlation between the presence of antibodies to the Y-chromosome-encoded gene and cGVHD[27]. A study in female-to-male HSCT demonstrated a good correlation between the presence of antibodies to Y-chromosome-encoded genes and cGVHD, suggesting that miHAs may indeed be the targets. However, it is not yet clear whether the miHAs targeted in cGVHD are the same as those targeted in aGVHD. A murine study had shown that the type and selection of immunodominant miHAs can determine the target and character of GVHD damage[28].

Epitope spreading and the failure of appropriate regulatory mechanisms in aGVHD may result in donor T cells recognizing both non-polymorphic and miHA epitopes, perpetuating cGVHD. In contrast, T cells directed against miHAs with hematopoietic restriction may also mediate a GVL response in the absence of GVHD[29]. However, the relevant immunogenic targets for cGVHD remain speculative and confidential.

#### Potent immunomodulatory role of MSCs-derived exosomes in preventing GVHD

The safety and effectiveness questions regarding using MSCs remain unresolved, and conflicting effects have been noted due to the heterogeneity observed among MSCs. MSCs-derived exosomes (MSCs-Exo), a subgroup of extracellular vesicles released by MSCs, have shown therapeutic benefits for inflammatory diseases and cancers due to their ability to transport proteins and nucleic acids from donor cells to recipient cells of the same or different tissues, making it a suitable candidate for cell-free therapy. MSCs-Exo have been found to reduce inflammation and fibrosis in the skin, lungs, and liver, and inhibit Th17 cells while inducing Treg cells, making it a potential alternative method for the treatment of cGVHD. The activation of CD4+ T cells and their infiltration into the inflamed mouse lung were reduced in MSCs-Exo-treated mice[30]. MSCs-Exo, extracted from healthy donors' BM, suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory factors TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  but increase the level of anti-inflammatory factor TGF- $\beta$  during *in vitro* culture[31].

Typically, MSCs-Exo are characterized by endosomes that bud inward and package into multivesicular bodies (MVBs). These MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane and deliver the exosomes into the intracellular space. However, exosomes can enrich several molecules as cargo, such as proteins/ cytokines, DNA, RNA, and other nucleic acids. Exosomes, as secretory components of MSCs, transport cytokines, and growth factors of immunoregulation, such as transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1), IL-6, IL-10, hepatocyte growth factor, signaling lipids, mRNAs, and regulatory miRNAs, which exert biological effects on recipient cells, such as cell-to-cell communication, tissue regeneration, metabolism, immune modulation, and homing of immune cells[32,33]. Diverse immune cells establish complex interactions with each other. MSCs-Exo might represent a novel cell-free therapy with unique competitive advantages over parent MSCs, such as no apparent risk of tumor formation or lower immunogenicity.

#### IMMUNE CELL LANDSCAPE OF GVHD

#### Antigen-presenting cells

Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) play a critical role in inducing aGVHD, with dendritic cells (DCs) being one of the most formidable cells in this regard[26]. Innate immunity activation during acute inflammation leads to DCs maturation and subsequent T cell priming, which is central to the potential antitumor benefits of aGVHD. Experimental data suggest that modulating perceptible DC subsets can influence aGVHD[34]. For instance, the absence of RelB signaling in host DCs or enhancing host CD8+ lymphoid DC subsets following HSCT significantly reduces aGVHD[35]. Other APCs, such as monocytes/macrophages, also play a crucial role in this phase. Some data suggest that the host B cells may reduce aGVHD in specific contexts. Although the precise mechanisms remain unclear when acting as APCs, MSCs from the donor, or host also reduce aGVHD.

#### Natural killer, $\gamma\delta$ T, and natural killer T cells

Natural killer (NK) cells can directly kill tumor cells without specific immunization and also have a modulatory effect on aGVHD. In an allo-HSCT donor-to-F1 model, NK cells recognize the absence of donor class I on host APCs and eliminate them, resulting in a reduction of aGVHD reduction. Upon activation, NK cells may induce apoptosis of target cells through contact-dependent cytotoxicity primarily via perforin and granzyme[36]. Pro-apoptotic granzymes enter through perforin pores in the plasma membrane of target cells. Besides the cytotoxic activity, NK cell activation increases the secretion of various cytokines and chemokines, such as IFN-y. However, the role of NK cells in GVHD remains controversial.

The infusion of donor  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may increase aGVHD, while the absence of host  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may reduce APC activation and aGVHD in an MHC-mismatched model. Conversely, in the absence of host γδ T cells, GVHD severity was not modified in an MHC-matched, miHA-disparate model of cGVHD. aGVHD could be more significant in patients with more considerable donor  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. The significance of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in aGVHD and cGVHD is not fully understood and may reflect differences in immunobiology between the two or be solely a consequence of variation in the experimental models.

NKT cells, which are CD1d-reactive, are believed to play an immunoregulatory role in suppressing dysfunctional immune reactions, including GVHD[37]. The cumulative frequency of regulatory T cells (Tregs) is negatively correlated with GVHD development[38], and exogenous NKT cell infusion can reduce the degree of GVHD[39]. However, Treg populations have unstable Foxp3 expression, particularly those expanded in vitro. Because the expression Foxp3 is needed for the suppressive function, further research is necessary to determine if Foxp3 expression can be simplified, especially under proinflammatory conditions characteristic of the GVHD milieu<sup>[40]</sup>.

#### T cells

The complex interactions between MSCs and T cells have been extensively studied, particularly in vitro culture techniques. MSCs may facilitate activated T cells in the phase G0/G1 cell cycle, yet apoptosis is not applicable[41-43]. MSCs may suppress or downregulate the proliferation of both naïve and memory T cells through cell-cell contact or mitogenic stimuli. This suppression is generally not MHC-restricted. MSCs can further decrease IFN-y producing T cells and contribute to the T-cell skewing toward Th2 cells producing IL-4. cGVHD is a Th2 cell dominant disease process[12].

#### Regulatory T cells

MSCs activate *immune* responses that induce the expression of Tregs, which are a cluster of cells with a CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> phenotype that regulate the body's immune response. Tregs highly and constitutively express CTLA-4, which binds to CD80, and CD86 on DCs, leading to impaired DC maturation and blocking CD80/CD86 to CD28 on conventional T cells, thereby preventing costimulation, and T-cell activation. Lower Tregs and deficient Foxp3 expression have been associated with cGVHD in peripheral blood and mucosal biopsies. However, levels of Foxp3 mRNA in the CD25+ T cell compartment do not predict the development of cGVHD, demonstrating that the presence, or absence of Tregs must be considered in the context of their impact on aGVHD and cGVHD. An intriguing possibility is that the negative impact of calcineurin inhibitors on Tregs could exacerbate cGVHD as a consequence of the suppression of the alloreactive donor cytopathic and Tregs.

#### B cells

Host B cells attenuate aGVHD in an IL-10-dependent manner. Recent data provide a rationale for the pathogenic role of donor B cells in cGVHD[12], including a robust correlation between cGVHD and (1) The effects of antibodies against Y-chromosome-encoded miHA; (2) higher numbers of B cells with altered TLR9 responses; (2) levels of a B-cell-activating factor, which enhances survival and differentiation of activated B cells; and (4) in animal models, levels of autoantibodies. Besides, emerging data from the depletion of B cells with rituximab further supports the theory of the pathogenic action of B cells in cGVHD[44]. However, whether B cells are the effectors or inducers of cGVHD remains unknown.



#### SEARCH STRATEGY, STUDY SCREENING, AND SELECTION

We systematically searched the electronic bibliographic databases MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Google Scholar for studies published before November 2022 using the keywords: "graft-versus-host disease" OR "acute GVHD" OR "chronic GVHD" AND "mesenchymal stem cells" AND "mesenchymal stromal cells" AND "treatment response" AND "outcome." Publications were included if they met the following inclusion criteria: (1) Original research; (2) published in 2002 or later; and (3) specifically reporting on the use of MSCs in GVHD patients. Publications were excluded based on the following criteria: (1) Non-English literature; (2) small populations (n < 20 patients) or case studies; and (3) mixed population with non-GVHD patients. A meta-analysis was not performed for the limited number of published studies meeting the inclusion criteria. Pre-post design studies and case series were not included for lack of sustainability of the results. Additionally, reference lists of retrieved articles were cross-referenced for additional eligible articles.

#### RESULTS

This review provides an overview of clinical studies, animal models, and limited human patient trials regarding MSCs. MSCs have been widely studied and increasingly used in GVHD treatment since the first report of promising results by Le Blanc *et al*[45] However, the studies have reported varying outcomes, which could be contributed to differences in cell concentration and MSC infusion dose. While MSC infusion has shown quite promising results following GVHD prophylaxis failure, some clinicians still prefer using methylprednisolone and calcineurin inhibitors before cell therapy with MSCs.

In addition to suppressing inflammation, MSCs have other beneficial effects, including increased angiogenesis, reduced apoptosis, and modified extracellular matrix dynamics. These cells mediate immune system components like macrophages and neutrophils, improving tissue microenvironments. After the injury, MSCs can either promote or suppress the immune system to guide the whole-tissue regeneration process[1]. Clinical responses to MSC infusion assessed as early as one week after treatment may predict patients' overall survival, indicating the potential of MSCs in treating GVHD[45].

Although the paracrine effects of MSCs are known to mediate the modulation of the immune response, the mechanisms underlying this modulation are not yet fully understood. However, it has been found that under conditions of chronic hypoxia or co-stimulation with IFN-γ, MSCs express proteins that have the immunosuppressive capacity, such as IDO, HLA-G, PGE2, and FasL, which can modulate the immune response[46]. While other cytokines play a crucial role in immunosuppression, blocking highly expressed proteins can result in the setback of the human immunosuppressed state, leading to the growth, and proliferation of immune cells. Moreover, MSCs do not trigger the activation of immune cells as they lack CD40, CD80, CD86, and HLA-DR-stimulating molecules. Given that GVHD occurs following the infusion of immune cells donated by the same donors, suppressing the immune activity can improve the patient's prognosis. MSCs' expression of paracrine effects can regulate these donor immune cells through various mechanisms (Table 1)[47-62].

When MSCs are exposed to an insult, such as injury, or bacterial infection, MHC-II molecules facilitate the presentation of bacterial antigens, which induces further activation of T cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$ . MHC-II is downregulated at high levels of IFN- $\gamma$ , while B7-H1 is upregulated[45]. These presentation pathways are illustrated in Figure 2.

MSCs have been used to treat various conditions, including diabetes mellitus (DM), cardiovascular diseases, GVHD, and autoimmune diseases. Despite persistent questions, the immunomodulatory effects of MSCs make them a top choice for cell therapy. MSCs are early multipotent progenitors and non-hematopoietic cell populations that can be expanded ex-vivo to achieve large numbers necessary for *in vivo* use. Recently, adipose tissues, umbilical cord, placenta, and dental pulp have been recognized as multipotent sources of MSCs. MSCs can differentiate into a variety of cell types capable of osteogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, myogenic, and neurogenic differentiation. However, not all individual cells cultivated in tissue culture flasks result in the same degree of multipotency. Self-renewing progenitors can be identified in human BM, and it is currently unknown whether MSCs from other tissues exhibit this property. BM-MSCs are a critical source of multipotent stem cells and serve as a standard for comparing MSCs from different sources (Table 2)[49,63-85].

The term "mesenchymal stem cells" has been proposed as a more appropriate term than MSCs. These cells possess not only multipotency but also significant immunomodulatory and engraftment-promoting properties. They create a specialized microenvironment for HSCs by promoting the secretion of various inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, extracellular matrix, and extracellular vesicles that are crucial for HSC differentiation, proliferation, and maintenance[86-88]. After *in vivo* biological application, MSCs secrete a range of cytokines and regulatory molecules with anti-inflammatory, wound healing, and regenerative effects, promoting the repair of endogenous tissues or tissue replacement. Beres *et al*[40] demonstrated that even in otherwise immunocompetent humans, allogeneic MSCs may graft, and differentiate through significant histocompatible barriers.

Table 1 Immunosuppressive effect exerted by mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from different sources on immune cells						
MSC types	Mechanism of immunosuppressive effect	Ref.				
BM-MSCs	Recipient-derived MSCs from patients with GVHD are analogous to MSCs from healthy volunteers	Copland et al[47]				
	After MSC infusion, the ratio of Th1 cells to Th2 cells was reversed, with an increase in Th1 and a decrease in Th2 achieving a new balance	Zhou et al[48]				
	BM-MSCs reduce the incidence and severity of GVHD by improving thymic function and induction of Tregs but not increase the risks of infections and tumor relapse	Zhao et al[ <mark>49</mark> ]; Selmani et al[50]				
	HLA-G5 secreted by MSCs is critical to the suppressive functions of MSCs	Selmani <i>et al</i> [51]				
MenSCs	MenSCs exhibit a higher capacity to migrate into the intestine and liver and not to their anti-inflammatory capacities	Luz-Crawford <i>et al</i> [52]				
FL-MSCs	FL-MSCs demonstrates much longer-lasting immunomodulatory properties by inhibiting directly the proliferation and activation of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells	Yu et al[ <mark>53</mark> ]				
UC-MSCs	UC-MSCs showed minimal expression of HLA-DR after activation and posed minimal risk of initiating an allogeneic immune	Kim <i>et al</i> [ <mark>54</mark> ]				
	UC-MSCs alleviate SLE through upregulating Treg cells, which was partly dependent on HLA-G	Chen et al[55]				
	UC-MSCs ameliorate GVHD and spare GVL effect via immunoregulations	Wu et al[ <mark>56</mark> ]				
WJ-MSCs	WJ-MSCs exert immunosuppressive effects by cell-cell contact with activated T cells and in part through the soluble factor indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase	He et al[57]				
MC-, WJ- and BM-MSCs	The mixed populations of MSCs displayed all of the positive attributes of WJ-MSC and BM-MSC	Mennan et al[58]				
AT-MSCs	The use of AT-MSC rather than BM-MSC could further preserve NK cell activity and favor GVL	Blanco et al[59]				
hG-MSCs	hG-MSC treatment inhibited local inflammation of injured skin by suppressing inflammatory cells, reducing pro- inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , and increasing anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10, which was promoted by hypoxia	Jiang et al[60]				
CP-, BM- and AT-MSCs	CP-MSCs may have additional advantage over the other MSCs in terms of immunomodulation	Lee <i>et al</i> [61]				
DP-MSCs	Immunomodulation and expression of trophic factors by dental MSCs increase their resistance to allogeneic NK cell lysis and their potential in vivo lifespan	Martinez et al[62]				

AT: Adipose tissue; BM: Bone marrow; CP: Chorionic plate; DP: Dental pump; FL: Fetal liver; hG: Human gingiva; GVHD: Graft-versus-host disease; GVL: Graft-versus-leukemia; MenSC: Menstrual blood-derived mesenchymal stem cell; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; UC: Umbilical cord; WJ: Wharton jelly.

> Similar to hematopoietic stem cells, MSCs have multi-organ specificity, and plasticity. In 2006, the International Society for Cellular Therapy officially defined MSCs as plastic practitioners under standard growing conditions, expressing CD73, and CD90 surface molecules while lacking CD11b, CD14, CD19, CD34, CD45, CD79a, and HLA-DR[2]. In addition, MSCs can differentiate into various mesodermal lineages including osteoblast, adipocyte, and chondroblast, to different degrees.

> MSCs are capable of modulating both innate and adaptive immunity through the release of various soluble factors, including indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase[11], IL-10, prostaglandin 2, nitric oxide, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , HLA-G5, and anti-inflammatory molecule TNF- $\alpha$ -induced gene/protein 6 [89]. These molecules are believed to play a key role in the immunomodulating effects of MSCs, which have been shown to be beneficial in certain immunopathological diseases, such as aGVHD, and type 1 DM. However, the precise mechanisms underlying this therapeutic potential are not yet fully understood. The literature suggests that the immunomodulating potential of MSCs involves interactions with both humoral and cellular components of the innate and adaptive immune systems. The literature refers to several fundamental cellular interactions. An integrated perspective on the utility of MSCs for GVHD has been strengthened by the recent findings that MSCs are induced to undergo necrosis/ apoptosis by the recipient's cytotoxic cells and that this process is assumed to elicit MSC-induced immunosuppression[90]. This finding made it possible to reconcile the dilemma between the effectiveness of MSC and its apparent lack of engraftment and highlighted the crucial role of the patient in the promotion and administration of immunosuppression of MSCs. Recent research has shed light on the role of the patient in promoting and administering immunosuppression of MSCs, with evidence suggesting that MSCs are induced to undergo necrosis/apoptosis by the recipient's cytotoxic cells, leading to MSC-induced immunosuppression[90]. Table 2 provides an overview of recent studies on this topic, with 97 articles selected for full-text evaluation based on agreed-upon title and abstract criteria.

> Innate immunity is primarily centered around the complementary system, with C3, and C5 being cleaved into anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a by convertases at the sites of inflammation. The labile C3



#### Table 2 Effects of different mesenchymal stem/stromal cells on refractory acute graft-versus-host disease

Study type	Patient No.	Indication	MSC type	Response criteria	Main findings	Ref.
Phase 2	55	Steroid-resistant, severe, aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 30/55, better OS/TRM for complete responder	Le Blanc <i>et al</i> [63], 2008
Phase 2	31	Gr. II-IV aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 77%; PR: 16%	Kebriaei <i>et al</i> [ <mark>64</mark> ], 2009
Pilot study	20	Co-transplantation with NMA mismatched HSCT	BM	Glucksberg	Decreased 1 yr GVHD death (10% $vs$ 31%, $P = 0.04$ ). Better NRM & OS	Baron <i>et al</i> [65], 2010
Retrospective	37	Resistant Gr. III-IV aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 65%, better TRM and OS	Ball et al[66], 2013
Multicenter trial	50	Resistant Gr. IV aGVHD	BM	Not mentioned	OR: 33%, CR: 17%, initial response and young age have better survival	Resnick <i>et al</i> [67], 2013
Prospective, single- arm, open-label	75	Severe refractory aGVHD	BM	IBMTR SI	OR on day +28: 61.3%, better OS for responder on day +100 (78.1% <i>vs</i> 31.0%; <i>P</i> < 0.001)	Kurtzberg <i>et al</i> [68], 2014
Phase 1	40	Resistant Gr. II-IV aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 27.5%, OR: 67.5% on day +28; more CR in pediatric group	Introna <i>et al</i> [ <mark>69</mark> ], 2014
Phase 2	25	Refractory aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	71% responded, CR 11/24, better OS for CR	Sánchez-Guijo et al[70], 2014
Prospective, nonrandomized	28 vs 19 without MSC	Refractory aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	Decreased incidence and severity of cGVHD. Better OR and CR.	Zhao et al[49], 2015
Phase 2	48	Steroid-resistant aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 25% on day 28, 50% lasting > 1 mo, with better OS	Te Boome <i>et al</i> [71], 2015
Compassionate use	58	Steroid-resistant aGVHD	BM	IBMTR SI	OR: 47%, but no improvement in OS	von Dalowski <i>et</i> al <mark>[72]</mark> , 2016
Phase 2/3	25	Refractory Gr. III-IV aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	Better OS for OR at 4-wk (CR: 6/25, PR: 9/25)	Muroi <i>et al</i> [ <mark>73</mark> ], 2016
Pilot study	33	Refractory aGVHD	BM	IBMTR SI	CR: 18/33, PR: 7/33, better OS in CR, no TRM in CR	Erbey <i>et al</i> [74], 2016
Compassionate use	26	Severe resistant aGVHD	BM	Not mentioned	OR: 77% on day +28 (CR: 5/26, PR: 15/26)	Kuçi <i>et al</i> <b>[75]</b> , 2016
Phase 2 prospective RCT	62 <i>vs</i> 62 without MSC	cGVHD prophylaxis in haplo	Cord	NIH score	cGVHD: 27% (MSC) <i>vs</i> 49% in 2 yr ( <i>P</i> = 0.021)	Gao et al[ <mark>76</mark> ], 2016
Phase 1/2	26	Steroid-refractory aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	OR: 62% on day 28. Higher response rate in children. High NRM in adults	Salmenniemi <i>et al</i> [77], 2017
Pilot study	22	Refractory GVHD (Gr. 2-4 a or cGVHD)	BM or adipose tissue	Glucksberg/NIH score	CR: 45.8%, PR: 33.3%, better OS in CR/PR	Cetin <i>et al</i> [ <mark>78</mark> ], 2017
Retrospective	46	Refractory Gr. III/IV aGVHD	BM	Not mentioned	50% responded with better OS ( $P = 0.0004$ )	Dotoli <i>et al</i> [ <mark>79</mark> ], 2017
Phase 1/2	33	Steroid-refractory aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	CR: 34%, PR: 50% on day 28. Better OS on day 90 and 1 yr ( <i>P</i> = 0.006, 0.002)	Fernández- Maqueda <i>et al</i> [ <mark>80], 2017</mark>
Phase 1/2	69	Refractory aGVHD	BM	Glucksberg	OR: 83% on day 28	Bader <i>et al</i> [ <mark>81</mark> ], 2018
Observational study	34 vs 34 without MSC	aGVHD	BM or adipose tissue	IBMTR SI	Better OS compared with historical control, $P = 0.0678$ . MSC has no association with risk of infectious complication	Stoma <i>et al</i> [82], 2018
Retrospective	11 (study group 2)	Severe refractory aGVHD	Placenta derived decidual stromal cell	Glucksberg	73% 1 yr OS in study group 2 (albumin), 47% in group 1 (AB plasma), $P = 0.016$	Ringden <i>et al</i> [83], 2018
Retrospective	22	Severe refractory aGVHD	Cord	IBMTR SI	CR: 45.5%, PR: 13.6%	Bozkurt <i>et al</i> [84], 2019



Phase 3 RCT	151 <i>vs</i> 72 placebo	Severe refractory aGVHD	BM	IBMTR SI	Difference of durable CR (lasting > 28 d) not achieved ( $35\% vs 30\%, P = 0.42$ ); Pediatric pts had better OR ( $64\% vs 22\%, P = 0.6$ )	Kebriaei <i>et al</i> [ <mark>85</mark> ], 2020
					(64% vs 23%, P = 0.05)	

aGVHD: Acute graft-versus-host disease; BM: Bone marrow; cGVHD: Chronic graft-versus-host disease; CR: Complete remission; IBMTR SI: International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry severity index; MSC: Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells; OS: Overall survival; PR: Partial remission; RCT: Randomized controlled trial.



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.221 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 The complex network of antigen presentation and immunomodulation. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) exert immunomodulatory functions mainly via interactions with immune cells through cell-to-cell contacts and paracrine activity. The MSC secretome includes several cytokines, growth factors, and chemokines, and their immunomodulatory functions vary depending on the source of the MSCs, the target cells, and the microenvironment. COX-2: Cyclooxygenase-2; IDO: Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase; IFN: Interferon; IL: Interleukin; NF-kB: Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; PGE2: Prostaglandin E2; TLR: Toll-like receptors; TNF-a: Tumor necrosis factor-a; DC: Dendritic cell; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; NK: Natural killer cells.

> convertases cleave C3 into C3a and C3b which can thereafter participate in forming distinct complexes and activate pathways for proliferation and protection against apoptosis through receptor binding. MSCs also secrete the factor H, which inhibits complement activation by limiting the activity of C3 and C5 convertases. In mice, MSCs promote pro-inflammatory repolarization and produce chemostatic cytokines, including IL-6, IL-8, GM-CSF, and macrophage inhibitory factors. IL-8, in particular, is a proinflammatory chemokine produced by multiple cell types that recruits leukocytes to sites of infection or tissue injury. Additionally, MSCs can inhibit mast cell degranulation and histamine release by binding allergens to allergen-specific IgE via FcRe on mast cells, providing a potential therapeutic benefit for allergic reactions[91].

> The molecular interaction between NK cells and MSCs is complex and depends on the immune microenvironment and NK cell activation status. MSC can inhibit cytokine proliferation and production and interfere with NK cell cytotoxicity. They also inhibit monocyte maturation and differentiation into DCs, which are the primary type of APC and play a key role in T lymphocyte activation through antigen presentation. Monocytes and macrophages are important for tissue development, homeostasis, and injury repair. Activated MSCs produce chemokines that attract circulating monocytes to sites of inflammation and injury[92].

> MSCs can regulate the adaptive immune system through multiple redundant pathways. They suppress the proliferation of T cells, IFNy production, CD4 T cell differentiation, and CD8 T-cell cytotoxicity. Di Nicola et al [41] reported that MSCs can suppress T lymphocyte proliferation in vitro with autologous and allogeneic MSCs, including T lymphocytes cultured with DCs or lymphocytes in mixed lymphocyte reactions. MSCs can express and secrete programmed death-ligand 1 and 2, which suppress T-cell proliferation in the presence of MSCs, secrete IL-2, induce apoptosis, and promote the induction of an irreversible hyporeactive state [93]. In vivo studies suggested that MSCs may restore the balance



between T helper 1 and 2 cells in diseases associated with a shift to dominance of these T cell subpopulations[94]. In vitro models have shown that MSCs induce Tregs and maintain survival and suppressive phenotypes[95].

#### CONCLUSION

This article provides insights into the use of validated MSCs as a potential treatment strategy for GVHD in HSCT. Current prevention and treatment options involve immunosuppression, which can hinder immune recovery and limit the graft-versus-tumor effect. By using MSCs, clinicians can effectively treat GVHD, identify high-risk patients, and stratify patients based on disease severity. Therefore, MSCs can aid in promoting engraftment, ameliorating aGVHD, and preventing cGVHD, making them an attractive option for HSCT.

#### **FOOTNOTES**

Author contributions: Jaing TH and Chang TY designed the research study; Chang TY and Chiu CC performed the research; Jaing TH and Chiu CC analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no competing interests.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

ORCID number: Tang-Her Jaing 0000-0002-5407-1555; Tsung-Yen Chang 0000-0003-1123-4235.

S-Editor: Yan JP L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yan JP

#### REFERENCES

- Jiang W, Xu J. Immune modulation by mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif 2020; 53: e12712 [PMID: 31730279 DOI: 10.1111/cpr.12712
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop Dj, Horwitz 2 E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006; 8: 315-317 [PMID: 16923606 DOI: 10.1080/14653240600855905]
- Harichandan A, Bühring HJ. Prospective isolation of human MSC. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2011; 24: 25-36 3 [PMID: 21396590 DOI: 10.1016/j.beha.2011.01.001]
- Fričová D, Korchak JA, Zubair AC. Challenges and translational considerations of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell 4 therapy for Parkinson's disease. NPJ Regen Med 2020; 5: 20 [PMID: 33298940 DOI: 10.1038/s41536-020-00106-y]
- Eggenhofer E, Benseler V, Kroemer A, Popp FC, Geissler EK, Schlitt HJ, Baan CC, Dahlke MH, Hoogduijn MJ. 5 Mesenchymal stem cells are short-lived and do not migrate beyond the lungs after intravenous infusion. Front Immunol 2012; 3: 297 [PMID: 23056000 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00297]
- Saas P, Daguindau E, Perruche S. Concise Review: Apoptotic Cell-Based Therapies-Rationale, Preclinical Results and 6 Future Clinical Developments. Stem Cells 2016; 34: 1464-1473 [PMID: 27018198 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2361]
- Giaccone L, Faraci DG, Butera S, Lia G, Di Vito C, Gabrielli G, Cerrano M, Mariotti J, Dellacasa C, Felicetti F, 7 Brignardello E, Mavilio D, Bruno B. Biomarkers for acute and chronic graft versus host disease: state of the art. Expert Rev Hematol 2021; 14: 79-96 [PMID: 33297779 DOI: 10.1080/17474086.2021.1860001]
- Yagi H, Soto-Gutierrez A, Parekkadan B, Kitagawa Y, Tompkins RG, Kobayashi N, Yarmush ML. Mesenchymal stem cells: Mechanisms of immunomodulation and homing. Cell Transplant 2010; 19: 667-679 [PMID: 20525442 DOI: 10.3727/096368910X508762]
- Paz A, Rigoni L, Fischer G, Schittler M, Pezzi A, Valim V, Dahmer A, Zambonato B, Amorin B, Sehn F, Silva MAD, Daudt L, Silla L. Donor characteristics and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation outcome: experience of a single center in Southern Brazil. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther 2018; 40: 136-142 [PMID: 30057987 DOI: 10.1016/j.htct.2017.11.008]
- Baker M, Wang H, Rowley SD, Cai L, Pecora AL, Skarbnik A, Vesole DH, Adler-Brecher B, Kim D, Donato ML. 10 Comparative Outcomes after Haploidentical or Unrelated Donor Bone Marrow or Blood Stem Cell Transplantation in Adult Patients with Hematological Malignancies. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2016; 22: 2047-2055 [PMID: 27522040



DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.08.003]

- Galleu A, Riffo-Vasquez Y, Trento C, Lomas C, Dolcetti L, Cheung TS, von Bonin M, Barbieri L, Halai K, Ward S, Weng L, Chakraverty R, Lombardi G, Watt FM, Orchard K, Marks DI, Apperley J, Bornhauser M, Walczak H, Bennett C, Dazzi F. Apoptosis in mesenchymal stromal cells induces in vivo recipient-mediated immunomodulation. Sci Transl Med 2017; 9 [PMID: 29141887 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aam7828]
- Paris F, Fuks Z, Kang A, Capodieci P, Juan G, Ehleiter D, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Cordon-Cardo C, Kolesnick R. 12 Endothelial apoptosis as the primary lesion initiating intestinal radiation damage in mice. Science 2001; 293: 293-297 [PMID: 11452123 DOI: 10.1126/science.1060191]
- Ramadan A, Paczesny S. Various forms of tissue damage and danger signals following hematopoietic stem-cell 13 transplantation. Front Immunol 2015; 6: 14 [PMID: 25674088 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00014]
- Toubai T, Mathewson ND, Magenau J, Reddy P. Danger Signals and Graft-versus-host Disease: Current Understanding 14 and Future Perspectives. Front Immunol 2016; 7: 539 [PMID: 27965667 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00539]
- Zhou X, Jin N, Wang F, Chen B. Mesenchymal stem cells: a promising way in therapies of graft-versus-host disease. 15 *Cancer Cell Int* 2020; **20**: 114 [PMID: 32280306 DOI: 10.1186/s12935-020-01193-z]
- 16 Corcione A, Benvenuto F, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Cappiello V, Cazzanti F, Risso M, Gualandi F, Mancardi GL, Pistoia V, Uccelli A. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate B-cell functions. Blood 2006; 107: 367-372 [PMID: 16141348 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2657
- 17 Lee M, Jeong SY, Ha J, Kim M, Jin HJ, Kwon SJ, Chang JW, Choi SJ, Oh W, Yang YS, Kim JS, Jeon HB. Low immunogenicity of allogeneic human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2014; 446: 983-989 [PMID: 24657442 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.03.051]
- 18 Tobin LM, Healy ME, English K, Mahon BP. Human mesenchymal stem cells suppress donor CD4(+) T cell proliferation and reduce pathology in a humanized mouse model of acute graft-versus-host disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2013; 172: 333-348 [PMID: 23574329 DOI: 10.1111/cei.12056]
- Boieri M, Shah P, Dressel R, Inngjerdingen M. The Role of Animal Models in the Study of Hematopoietic Stem Cell 19 Transplantation and GvHD: A Historical Overview. Front Immunol 2016; 7: 333 [PMID: 27625651 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.003331
- 20 Choi EY, Christianson GJ, Yoshimura Y, Sproule TJ, Jung N, Joyce S, Roopenian DC. Immunodominance of H60 is caused by an abnormally high precursor T cell pool directed against its unique minor histocompatibility antigen peptide. Immunity 2002; 17: 593-603 [PMID: 12433366 DOI: 10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00428-4]
- Gatza E, Reddy P, Choi SW. Prevention and Treatment of Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease in Children, Adolescents, and 21 Young Adults. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2020; 26: e101-e112 [PMID: 31931115 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2020.01.004]
- Rimando J, Slade M, DiPersio JF, Westervelt P, Gao F, Liu C, Romee R. The Predicted Indirectly Recognizable HLA 22 Epitopes (PIRCHE) Score for HLA Class I Graft-versus-Host Disparity Is Associated with Increased Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease in Haploidentical Transplantation with Post-Transplantation Cyclophosphamide. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2020; 26: 123-131 [PMID: 31563575 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.09.024]
- 23 Dickinson AM, Wang XN, Sviland L, Vyth-Dreese FA, Jackson GH, Schumacher TN, Haanen JB, Mutis T, Goulmy E. In situ dissection of the graft-versus-host activities of cytotoxic T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigens. Nat Med 2002; 8: 410-414 [PMID: 11927949 DOI: 10.1038/nm0402-410]
- Sweeney C, Vyas P. The Graft-Versus-Leukemia Effect in AML. Front Oncol 2019; 9: 1217 [PMID: 31803612 DOI: 24 10.3389/fonc.2019.01217
- Tyndall A, Dazzi F. Chronic GVHD as an autoimmune disease. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2008; 21: 281-289 [PMID: 25 18503993 DOI: 10.1016/j.beha.2008.03.003]
- Tivol E, Komorowski R, Drobyski WR. Emergent autoimmunity in graft-versus-host disease. Blood 2005; 105: 4885-4891 26 [PMID: 15746077 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-12-4980]
- Miklos DB, Kim HT, Miller KH, Guo L, Zorn E, Lee SJ, Hochberg EP, Wu CJ, Alyea EP, Cutler C, Ho V, Soiffer RJ, 27 Antin JH, Ritz J. Antibody responses to H-Y minor histocompatibility antigens correlate with chronic graft-versus-host disease and disease remission. Blood 2005; 105: 2973-2978 [PMID: 15613541 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3660]
- Schroeder MA, DiPersio JF. Mouse models of graft-versus-host disease: advances and limitations. Dis Model Mech 2011; 28 4: 318-333 [PMID: 21558065 DOI: 10.1242/dmm.006668]
- 29 MacDonald KP, Shlomchik WD, Reddy P. Biology of graft-versus-host responses: recent insights. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013; 19: S10-S14 [PMID: 23290438 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.11.005]
- Lai P, Chen X, Guo L, Wang Y, Liu X, Liu Y, Zhou T, Huang T, Geng S, Luo C, Huang X, Wu S, Ling W, Du X, He C, 30 Weng J. A potent immunomodulatory role of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stromal cells in preventing cGVHD. J Hematol Oncol 2018; 11: 135 [PMID: 30526632 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-018-0680-7]
- 31 Chen W, Huang Y, Han J, Yu L, Li Y, Lu Z, Li H, Liu Z, Shi C, Duan F, Xiao Y. Immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stromal cells-derived exosome. Immunol Res 2016; 64: 831-840 [PMID: 27115513 DOI: 10.1007/s12026-016-8798-6]
- Zhao J, Li X, Hu J, Chen F, Qiao S, Sun X, Gao L, Xie J, Xu B. Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes attenuate 32 myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury through miR-182-regulated macrophage polarization. Cardiovasc Res 2019; 115: 1205-1216 [PMID: 30753344 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvz040]
- Arabpour M, Saghazadeh A, Rezaei N. Anti-inflammatory and M2 macrophage polarization-promoting effect of 33 mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes. Int Immunopharmacol 2021; 97: 107823 [PMID: 34102486 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107823]
- Yu H, Tian Y, Wang Y, Mineishi S, Zhang Y. Dendritic Cell Regulation of Graft-Vs.-Host Disease: Immunostimulation 34 and Tolerance. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 93 [PMID: 30774630 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00093]
- MacDonald KP, Kuns RD, Rowe V, Morris ES, Banovic T, Bofinger H, O'Sullivan B, Markey KA, Don AL, Thomas R, 35 Hill GR. Effector and regulatory T-cell function is differentially regulated by RelB within antigen-presenting cells during GVHD. Blood 2007; 109: 5049-5057 [PMID: 17327399 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2007-01-067249]
- Luetke-Eversloh M, Killig M, Romagnani C. Signatures of human NK cell development and terminal differentiation.



Front Immunol 2013; 4: 499 [PMID: 24416035 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00499]

- Leveson-Gower DB, Olson JA, Sega EI, Luong RH, Baker J, Zeiser R, Negrin RS. Low doses of natural killer T cells 37 provide protection from acute graft-versus-host disease via an IL-4-dependent mechanism. Blood 2011; 117: 3220-3229 [PMID: 21258007 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-303008]
- 38 Yuan X, Cheng G, Malek TR. The importance of regulatory T-cell heterogeneity in maintaining self-tolerance. Immunol Rev 2014; 259: 103-114 [PMID: 24712462 DOI: 10.1111/imr.12163]
- Zhang P, Yang S, Zou Y, Yan X, Wu H, Zhou M, Sun YC, Zhang Y, Zhu H, Xu K, Wang Y, Sheng LX, Mu Q, Sun L, 39 Ouyang G. NK cell predicts the severity of acute graft-versus-host disease in patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation using antithymocyte globulin (ATG) in pretreatment scheme. BMC Immunol 2019; 20: 46 [PMID: 31818250 DOI: 10.1186/s12865-019-0326-8]
- Beres AJ, Drobyski WR. The role of regulatory T cells in the biology of graft versus host disease. Front Immunol 2013; 4: 40 163 [PMID: 23805140 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00163]
- Di Nicola M, Carlo-Stella C, Magni M, Milanesi M, Longoni PD, Matteucci P, Grisanti S, Gianni AM. Human bone 41 marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. Blood 2002; 99: 3838-3843 [PMID: 11986244 DOI: 10.1182/blood.v99.10.3838]
- Tse WT, Pendleton JD, Beyer WM, Egalka MC, Guinan EC. Suppression of allogeneic T-cell proliferation by human 42 marrow stromal cells: implications in transplantation. Transplantation 2003; 75: 389-397 [PMID: 12589164 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000045055.63901.A9]
- 43 Glennie S, Soeiro I, Dyson PJ, Lam EW, Dazzi F. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induce division arrest anergy of activated T cells. Blood 2005; 105: 2821-2827 [PMID: 15591115 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3696]
- 44 Olivieri J, Coluzzi S, Attolico I, Olivieri A. Tirosin kinase inhibitors in chronic graft versus host disease: from bench to bedside. ScientificWorldJournal 2011; 11: 1908-1931 [PMID: 22125447 DOI: 10.1100/2011/924954]
- Le Blanc K, Rasmusson I, Sundberg B, Götherström C, Hassan M, Uzunel M, Ringdén O. Treatment of severe acute 45 graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. Lancet 2004; 363: 1439-1441 [PMID: 15121408 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16104-7]
- Galleu A, Milojkovic D, Deplano S, Szydlo R, Loaiza S, Wynn R, Marks DI, Richardson D, Orchard K, Kanfer E, 46 Tholouli E, Saif M, Sivaprakasam P, Lawson S, Bloor A, Pagliuca A, Potter V, Mehra V, Snowden JA, Vora A, Kishore B. Hunter H. Apperley JF. Dazzi F. Mesenchymal stromal cells for acute graft-versus-host disease: response at 1 week predicts probability of survival. Br J Haematol 2019; 185: 89-92 [PMID: 30637732 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.15749]
- 47 Copland IB, Qayed M, Garcia MA, Galipeau J, Waller EK. Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stromal Cells from Patients with Acute and Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease Deploy Normal Phenotype, Differentiation Plasticity, and Immune-Suppressive Activity. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015; 21: 934-940 [PMID: 25659882 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.01.014
- Zhou H, Guo M, Bian C, Sun Z, Yang Z, Zeng Y, Ai H, Zhao RC. Efficacy of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem 48 cells in the treatment of sclerodermatous chronic graft-versus-host disease: clinical report. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010; 16: 403-412 [PMID: 19925878 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.11.006]
- Zhao K, Lou R, Huang F, Peng Y, Jiang Z, Huang K, Wu X, Zhang Y, Fan Z, Zhou H, Liu C, Xiao Y, Sun J, Li Y, Xiang 49 P, Liu Q. Immunomodulation effects of mesenchymal stromal cells on acute graft-versus-host disease after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015; 21: 97-104 [PMID: 25300866 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.09.030]
- Selmani Z, Naji A, Gaiffe E, Obert L, Tiberghien P, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED, Deschaseaux F. HLA-G is a crucial 50 immunosuppressive molecule secreted by adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Transplantation 2009; 87: S62-S66 [PMID: 19424010 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a2a4b3]
- Selmani Z, Naji A, Zidi I, Favier B, Gaiffe E, Obert L, Borg C, Saas P, Tiberghien P, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED, 51 Deschaseaux F. Human leukocyte antigen-G5 secretion by human mesenchymal stem cells is required to suppress T lymphocyte and natural killer function and to induce CD4+CD25highFOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Stem Cells 2008; 26: 212-222 [PMID: 17932417 DOI: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0554]
- 52 Luz-Crawford P, Torres MJ, Noël D, Fernandez A, Toupet K, Alcayaga-Miranda F, Tejedor G, Jorgensen C, Illanes SE, Figueroa FE, Djouad F, Khoury M. The immunosuppressive signature of menstrual blood mesenchymal stem cells entails opposite effects on experimental arthritis and graft versus host diseases. Stem Cells 2016; 34: 456-469 [PMID: 26528946 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2244]
- Yu Y, Valderrama AV, Han Z, Uzan G, Naserian S, Oberlin E. Human fetal liver MSCs are more effective than adult bone 53 marrow MSCs for their immunosuppressive, immunomodulatory, and Foxp3(+) T reg induction capacity. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 138 [PMID: 33597011 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02176-1]
- 54 Kim JH, Jo CH, Kim HR, Hwang YI. Comparison of Immunological Characteristics of Mesenchymal Stem Cells from the Periodontal Ligament, Umbilical Cord, and Adipose Tissue. Stem Cells Int 2018; 2018: 8429042 [PMID: 29760736 DOI: 10.1155/2018/8429042
- Chen C, Liang J, Yao G, Chen H, Shi B, Zhang Z, Zhao C, Zhang H, Sun L. Mesenchymal stem cells upregulate Treg 55 cells via sHLA-G in SLE patients. Int Immunopharmacol 2017; 44: 234-241 [PMID: 28129605 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.01.024]
- 56 Wu QL, Liu XY, Nie DM, Zhu XX, Fang J, You Y, Zhong ZD, Xia LH, Hong M. Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate graft-versus-host disease following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation through multiple immunoregulations. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 2015; 35: 477-484 [PMID: 26223913 DOI: 10.1007/s11596-015-1456-8]
- He H, Nagamura-Inoue T, Takahashi A, Mori Y, Yamamoto Y, Shimazu T, Tsunoda H, Tojo A. Immunosuppressive 57 properties of Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in vitro. Int J Hematol 2015; 102: 368-378 [PMID: 26228529 DOI: 10.1007/s12185-015-1844-7]
- Mennan C, Brown S, McCarthy H, Mavrogonatou E, Kletsas D, Garcia J, Balain B, Richardson J, Roberts S. 58 Mesenchymal stromal cells derived from whole human umbilical cord exhibit similar properties to those derived from



Wharton's jelly and bone marrow. FEBS Open Bio 2016; 6: 1054-1066 [PMID: 27833846 DOI: 10.1002/2211-5463.12104]

- 59 Blanco B, Herrero-Sánchez MD, Rodríguez-Serrano C, García-Martínez ML, Blanco JF, Muntión S, García-Arranz M, Sánchez-Guijo F, Del Cañizo C. Immunomodulatory effects of bone marrow versus adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells on NK cells: implications in the transplantation setting. Eur J Haematol 2016; 97: 528-537 [PMID: 27118602 DOI: 10.1111/eih.127651
- Jiang CM, Liu J, Zhao JY, Xiao L, An S, Gou YC, Quan HX, Cheng Q, Zhang YL, He W, Wang YT, Yu WJ, Huang YF, 60 Yi YT, Chen Y, Wang J. Effects of hypoxia on the immunomodulatory properties of human gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Dent Res 2015; 94: 69-77 [PMID: 25403565 DOI: 10.1177/0022034514557671]
- 61 Lee JM, Jung J, Lee HJ, Jeong SJ, Cho KJ, Hwang SG, Kim GJ. Comparison of immunomodulatory effects of placenta mesenchymal stem cells with bone marrow and adipose mesenchymal stem cells. Int Immunopharmacol 2012; 13: 219-224 [PMID: 22487126 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2012.03.024]
- Martinez VG, Ontoria-Oviedo I, Ricardo CP, Harding SE, Sacedon R, Varas A, Zapata A, Sepulveda P, Vicente A. 62 Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha improves immunomodulation by dental mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017; 8: 208 [PMID: 28962641 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-017-0659-2]
- Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, Locatelli F, Roelofs H, Lewis I, Lanino E, Sundberg B, Bernardo ME, Remberger M, Dini 63 G, Egeler RM, Bacigalupo A, Fibbe W, Ringdén O; Developmental Committee of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet 2008; 371: 1579-1586 [PMID: 18468541 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60690-X]
- Kebriaei P, Isola L, Bahceci E, Holland K, Rowley S, McGuirk J, Devetten M, Jansen J, Herzig R, Schuster M, Monroy 64 R, Uberti J. Adult human mesenchymal stem cells added to corticosteroid therapy for the treatment of acute graft-versushost disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2009; 15: 804-811 [PMID: 19539211 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2008.03.012]
- Baron F, Lechanteur C, Willems E, Bruck F, Baudoux E, Seidel L, Vanbellinghen JF, Hafraoui K, Lejeune M, Gothot A, Fillet G, Beguin Y. Cotransplantation of mesenchymal stem cells might prevent death from graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) without abrogating graft-versus-tumor effects after HLA-mismatched allogeneic transplantation following nonmyeloablative conditioning. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010; 16: 838-847 [PMID: 20109568 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.01.011]
- Ball LM, Bernardo ME, Roelofs H, van Tol MJ, Contoli B, Zwaginga JJ, Avanzini MA, Conforti A, Bertaina A, Giorgiani 66 G, Jol-van der Zijde CM, Zecca M, Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Egeler RM, Fibbe WE, Lankester AC, Locatelli F. Multiple infusions of mesenchymal stromal cells induce sustained remission in children with steroid-refractory, grade III-IV acute graft-versus-host disease. Br J Haematol 2013; 163: 501-509 [PMID: 23992039 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.12545]
- 67 Resnick IB, Barkats C, Shapira MY, Stepensky P, Bloom AI, Shimoni A, Mankuta D, Varda-Bloom N, Rheingold L, Yeshurun M, Bielorai B, Toren A, Zuckerman T, Nagler A, Or R. Treatment of severe steroid resistant acute GVHD with mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC). Am J Blood Res 2013; 3: 225-238 [PMID: 23997985]
- Kurtzberg J, Prockop S, Teira P, Bittencourt H, Lewis V, Chan KW, Horn B, Yu L, Talano JA, Nemecek E, Mills CR, 68 Chaudhury S. Allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cell therapy (remestemcel-L, Prochymal) as a rescue agent for severe refractory acute graft-versus-host disease in pediatric patients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014; 20: 229-235 [PMID: 24216185 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.11.001]
- Introna M, Lucchini G, Dander E, Galimberti S, Rovelli A, Balduzzi A, Longoni D, Pavan F, Masciocchi F, Algarotti A, 69 Micò C, Grassi A, Deola S, Cavattoni I, Gaipa G, Belotti D, Perseghin P, Parma M, Pogliani E, Golay J, Pedrini O, Capelli C, Cortelazzo S, D'Amico G, Biondi A, Rambaldi A, Biagi E. Treatment of graft versus host disease with mesenchymal stromal cells: a phase I study on 40 adult and pediatric patients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014; 20: 375-381 [PMID: 24321746 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.11.033]
- Sánchez-Guijo F, Caballero-Velázquez T, López-Villar O, Redondo A, Parody R, Martínez C, Olavarría E, Andreu E, Prósper F, Díez-Campelo M, Regidor C, Villaron E, López-Corral L, Caballero D, Cañizo MC, Pérez-Simon JA. Sequential third-party mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014; 20: 1580-1585 [PMID: 24952358 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.06.015]
- Te Boome LC, Mansilla C, van der Wagen LE, Lindemans CA, Petersen EJ, Spierings E, Thus KA, Westinga K, 71 Plantinga M, Bierings M, Broers AE, Cuijpers ML, van Imhoff GW, Janssen JJ, Huisman C, Zeerleder S, Huls G, Boelens JJ, Wulffraat NM, Slaper-Cortenbach IC, Kuball J. Biomarker profiling of steroid-resistant acute GVHD in patients after infusion of mesenchymal stromal cells. Leukemia 2015; 29: 1839-1846 [PMID: 25836589 DOI: 10.1038/leu.2015.89]
- von Dalowski F, Kramer M, Wermke M, Wehner R, Röllig C, Alakel N, Stölzel F, Parmentier S, Sockel K, Krech M, 72 Schmitz M, Platzbecker U, Schetelig J, Bornhäuser M, von Bonin M. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Treatment of Acute Steroid-Refractory Graft Versus Host Disease: Clinical Responses and Long-Term Outcome. Stem Cells 2016; 34: 357-366 [PMID: 26418955 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2224]
- Muroi K, Miyamura K, Okada M, Yamashita T, Murata M, Ishikawa T, Uike N, Hidaka M, Kobayashi R, Imamura M, 73 Tanaka J, Ohashi K, Taniguchi S, Ikeda T, Eto T, Mori M, Yamaoka M, Ozawa K. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (JR-031) for steroid-refractory grade III or IV acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II/III study. Int J Hematol 2016; 103: 243-250 [PMID: 26608364 DOI: 10.1007/s12185-015-1915-9]
- Erbey F, Atay D, Akcay A, Ovali E, Ozturk G. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment for Steroid Refractory Graft-versus-74 Host Disease in Children: A Pilot and First Study from Turkey. Stem Cells Int 2016; 2016: 1641402 [PMID: 26783400 DOI: 10.1155/2016/1641402]
- Kuçi Z, Bönig H, Kreyenberg H, Bunos M, Jauch A, Janssen JW, Škifić M, Michel K, Eising B, Lucchini G, Bakhtiar S, Greil J, Lang P, Basu O, von Luettichau I, Schulz A, Sykora KW, Jarisch A, Soerensen J, Salzmann-Manrique E, Seifried E, Klingebiel T, Bader P, Kuçi S. Mesenchymal stromal cells from pooled mononuclear cells of multiple bone marrow donors as rescue therapy in pediatric severe steroid-refractory graft-versus-host disease: a multicenter survey. Haematologica 2016; 101: 985-994 [PMID: 27175026 DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2015.140368]
- Gao L, Zhang Y, Hu B, Liu J, Kong P, Lou S, Su Y, Yang T, Li H, Liu Y, Zhang C, Gao L, Zhu L, Wen Q, Wang P, Chen X, Zhong J, Zhang X. Phase II Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind Controlled Study of Efficacy and Safety of



Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in the Prophylaxis of Chronic Graft-Versus-Host Disease After HLA-Haploidentical Stem-Cell Transplantation. *J Clin Oncol* 2016; **34**: 2843-2850 [PMID: 27400949 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.3642]

- 77 Salmenniemi U, Itälä-Remes M, Nystedt J, Putkonen M, Niittyvuopio R, Vettenranta K, Korhonen M. Good responses but high TRM in adult patients after MSC therapy for GvHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2017; 52: 606-608 [PMID: 27941780 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2016.317]
- 78 Cetin M, Akyol G, Gonen ZB, Keklik M, Zararsiz G, Unal A, Tiren-Verbeet NL, Kaynar L. Additional infusions of mesenchymal stem cells improve response rate in multidrug-resistant GvHD patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2017; 52: 783-785 [PMID: 28287643 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2017.1]
- 79 Dotoli GM, De Santis GC, Orellana MD, de Lima Prata K, Caruso SR, Fernandes TR, Rensi Colturato VA, Kondo AT, Hamerschlak N, Simões BP, Covas DT. Mesenchymal stromal cell infusion to treat steroid-refractory acute GvHD III/IV after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2017; **52**: 859-862 [PMID: 28287644 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2017.35]
- 80 Fernández-Maqueda C, Gonzalo-Daganzo R, Regidor C, Martín-Donaire T, Sánchez R, Bueno JL, Bautista G, De Liglesia A, Gutiérrez Y, García-Berciano M, Forés R, Royuela A, Fernández MN, Duarte RF, Cabrera-Marín JR. Mesenchymal stromal cells for steroid-refractory acute GvHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2017; 52: 1577-1579 [PMID: 28783146 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2017.177]
- 81 Bader P, Kuçi Z, Bakhtiar S, Basu O, Bug G, Dennis M, Greil J, Barta A, Kállay KM, Lang P, Lucchini G, Pol R, Schulz A, Sykora KW, von Luettichau I, Herter-Sprie G, Uddin MA, Jenkin P, Alsultan A, Buechner J, Stein J, Kelemen A, Jarisch A, Soerensen J, Salzmann-Manrique E, Hutter M, Schäfer R, Seifried E, Klingebiel T, Bonig H, Kuçi S. Effective treatment of steroid and therapy-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease with a novel mesenchymal stromal cell product (MSC-FFM). *Bone Marrow Transplant* 2018; 53: 852-862 [PMID: 29379171 DOI: 10.1038/s41409-018-0102-z]
- 82 Stoma I, Karpov I, Krivenko S, Iskrov I, Milanovich N, Koritko A, Uss A. Mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in hematological patients with acute graft-versus-host disease: characteristics and risk factors for infectious complications. *Ann Hematol* 2018; 97: 885-891 [PMID: 29380038 DOI: 10.1007/s00277-018-3250-8]
- 83 Ringden O, Baygan A, Remberger M, Gustafsson B, Winiarski J, Khoein B, Moll G, Klingspor L, Westgren M, Sadeghi B. Placenta-Derived Decidua Stromal Cells for Treatment of Severe Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease. *Stem Cells Transl Med* 2018; 7: 325-331 [PMID: 29533533 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.17-0167]
- 84 Bozkurt C, Karaöz E, Adaklı Aksoy B, Aydoğdu S, Fışgın T. The Use of Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Childhood Steroid-Resistant Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease: A Retrospective Study of a Single-Center Experience. *Turk J Haematol* 2019; 36: 186-192 [PMID: 31208159 DOI: 10.4274/tjh.galenos.2019.2019.0090]
- 85 Kebriaei P, Hayes J, Daly A, Uberti J, Marks DI, Soiffer R, Waller EK, Burke E, Skerrett D, Shpall E, Martin PJ. A Phase 3 Randomized Study of Remestemcel-L versus Placebo Added to Second-Line Therapy in Patients with Steroid-Refractory Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2020; 26: 835-844 [PMID: 31505228 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.08.029]
- 86 Zoehler B, Fracaro L, Senegaglia AC, Bicalho MDG. Infusion of Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Treat Graft Versus Host Disease: the Role of HLA-G and the Impact of its Polymorphisms. *Stem Cell Rev Rep* 2020; 16: 459-471 [PMID: 32088839 DOI: 10.1007/s12015-020-09960-1]
- 87 Cominal JG, da Costa Cacemiro M, Pinto-Simões B, Kolb HJ, Malmegrim KCR, de Castro FA. Emerging Role of Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles in Pathogenesis of Haematological Malignancies. *Stem Cells Int* 2019; 2019: 6854080 [PMID: 31281380 DOI: 10.1155/2019/6854080]
- 88 Fernández-García M, Yañez RM, Sánchez-Domínguez R, Hernando-Rodriguez M, Peces-Barba M, Herrera G, O'Connor JE, Segovia JC, Bueren JA, Lamana ML. Mesenchymal stromal cells enhance the engraftment of hematopoietic stem cells in an autologous mouse transplantation model. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2015; 6: 165 [PMID: 26345192 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-015-0155-5]
- 89 Lin QM, Zhao S, Zhou LL, Fang XS, Fu Y, Huang ZT. Mesenchymal stem cells transplantation suppresses inflammatory responses in global cerebral ischemia: contribution of TNF-α-induced protein 6. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 2013; 34: 784-792 [PMID: 23474707 DOI: 10.1038/aps.2012.199]
- 90 Cheung TS, Bertolino GM, Giacomini C, Bornhäuser M, Dazzi F, Galleu A. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Graft Versus Host Disease: Mechanism-Based Biomarkers. *Front Immunol* 2020; 11: 1338 [PMID: 32670295 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01338]
- 91 Kim HS, Yun JW, Shin TH, Lee SH, Lee BC, Yu KR, Seo Y, Lee S, Kang TW, Choi SW, Seo KW, Kang KS. Human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cell-derived PGE2 and TGF-β1 alleviate atopic dermatitis by reducing mast cell degranulation. *Stem Cells* 2015; **33**: 1254-1266 [PMID: 25522163 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1913]
- 92 Harrell CR, Djonov V, Volarevic V. The Cross-Talk between Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Immune Cells in Tissue Repair and Regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 33804369 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22052472]
- 93 Davies LC, Heldring N, Kadri N, Le Blanc K. Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Secretion of Programmed Death-1 Ligands Regulates T Cell Mediated Immunosuppression. *Stem Cells* 2017; 35: 766-776 [PMID: 27671847 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2509]
- 94 Le Blanc K, Mougiakakos D. Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells and the innate immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2012; 12: 383-396 [PMID: 22531326 DOI: 10.1038/nri3209]
- 95 Negi N, Griffin MD. Effects of mesenchymal stromal cells on regulatory T cells: Current understanding and clinical relevance. *Stem Cells* 2020; 38: 596-605 [PMID: 31995249 DOI: 10.1002/stem.3151]

Zaishidene® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

W J S C World Jour

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 235-247

DOI: 10.4252/wisc.v15.i4.235

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

## Role of brahma-related gene 1/brahma-associated factor subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells and related neural developmental disorders

Nai-Yu Ke, Tian-Yi Zhao, Wan-Rong Wang, Yu-Tong Qian, Chao Liu

Specialty type: Neurosciences

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Cardile V, Italy; Xuei X, United States

Received: December 24, 2022 Peer-review started: December 24, 2022 First decision: January 31, 2023 Revised: February 12, 2023 Accepted: March 20, 2023 Article in press: March 20, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Nai-Yu Ke, Wan-Rong Wang, Yu-Tong Qian, The First Clinical Medical College, Anhui Medical University, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China

Nai-Yu Ke, Tian-Yi Zhao, Wan-Rong Wang, Yu-Tong Qian, Chao Liu, Institute of Stem cells and Tissue Engineering, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Anhui Medical University, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China

Chao Liu, Department of Histology and Embryology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Anhui Medical University, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China

Corresponding author: Chao Liu, DPhil, Professor, Department of Histology and Embryology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Anhui Medical University, No. 81 Meishan Road, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China. chaol1974@ahmu.edu.cn

#### Abstract

Different fates of neural stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs) and their progeny are determined by the gene regulatory network, where a chromatin-remodeling complex affects synergy with other regulators. Here, we review recent research progress indicating that the BRG1/BRM-associated factor (BAF) complex plays an important role in NSPCs during neural development and neural developmental disorders. Several studies based on animal models have shown that mutations in the BAF complex may cause abnormal neural differentiation, which can also lead to various diseases in humans. We discussed BAF complex subunits and their main characteristics in NSPCs. With advances in studies of human pluripotent stem cells and the feasibility of driving their differentiation into NSPCs, we can now investigate the role of the BAF complex in regulating the balance between self-renewal and differentiation of NSPCs. Considering recent progress in these research areas, we suggest that three approaches should be used in investigations in the near future. Sequencing of whole human exome and genome-wide association studies suggest that mutations in the subunits of the BAF complex are related to neurodevelopmental disorders. More insight into the mechanism of BAF complex regulation in NSPCs during neural cell fate decisions and neurodevelopment may help in exploiting new methods for clinical applications.

Key Words: Neural stem/progenitor cell; BRG1/BRM-associated factor complex; Subunit; Proliferation; Differentiation; Neural developmental disorders



©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** There are several reviews in the literature contributed to the role of BRG1/BRM-associated factor (BAF) complex in neural cell specification and neural development diseases. We review recent progress indicating that BAF complex plays an important role in neural stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs) during neural development and neural developmental disorders. More progresses in the role of BAF complex subunits in balancing self-renewal and differentiation of NSPCs and neurodevelopment could finally be involved in highlighting new methods for clinical application.

Citation: Ke NY, Zhao TY, Wang WR, Qian YT, Liu C. Role of brahma-related gene 1/brahma-associated factor subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells and related neural developmental disorders. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 235-247

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/235.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.235

#### INTRODUCTION

Neural stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs) are self-renewing neural cells capable of differentiating into neurons, astrocytes and/or oligodendrocytes[1-3]. During development, NSPCs are critical for the establishment of the central nervous system (CNS)[4-6]. In the adult central neural system, neurogenesis plays a key role in fundamental processes, for example, memory, learning, the maintenance of normal tissue homeostasis, and the autonomous repair of pathological brain tissues [7,8]. NSPCs can be isolated from three canonical neurogenic niches in the spinal cord and brain, namely, the central canal (CC) in the spinal cord, the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricle (LV) in the brain [9-13]. In addition, NSPCs have been identified in the developing cerebral cortex<sup>[14]</sup>, olfactory epithelium<sup>[15]</sup> and outside the CC<sup>[16]</sup>. The fact that NSPCs can be isolated and propagated in vitro opens up new opportunities for medical research, and we hope they can be used to compensate for cell loss that features in several serious neurological disorders. Moreover, NSPCs can be created *in vitro* through induced differentiation from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and embryonic stem cells (ESCs), expanding the pool of models for studying stem cells in health and illness[17,18]. For cell-based therapy approaches targeting the brain and spinal cord, NSPCs have emerged as focal points. However, the small amount of NSPCs present in this tissue has restricted the clinical uses of these cells. Although recent advancements in ESCs and iPSC research have meant that these cells can be novel sources of NSPCs, understanding NSC molecular regulation and NSPC applications, which are important for disease modeling and regenerative medicine, remain challenges[19-21].

The BRG1/BRM-associated factor (BAF) complex, which is a mammalian chromatin remodeler, regulates chromatin structure and transcription by providing subunit organization and nucleosome recognition in an ATP-dependent manner. Structurally, the BAF complex contains three modules, an ATPase, an actin-related protein (ARP) and a base module<sup>[22]</sup>. More than 30 major subunits of these modules can combine to form the complex [22-24].

By controlling chromatin structure, controlling the differentiation of NSPCs to produce different types of brain cells, and regulating transdifferentiation between cell types, BAF complexes perform crucial roles in the maintenance of a gene expression program. At various phases of brain formation, BAF complexes have specific roles and seem to be produced by the combinatorial assembly of their subunits. Moreover, intimate interactions between the BAF chromatin-remodeling complex and transcriptional machinery control the development of NSPCs[25]. With the combinatorial assembly of homologous component families, which enables their nonredundant functions, distinct BAF complex structures are made possible. ESCs, NSPCs, and postmitotic neurons all exhibit developmental stagespecific BAF assemblages during mammalian brain development. Neuronal BAF (nBAF) function is required for the development of mature postmitotic neuronal features along with long-term memory, and neural progenitor-special BAF (npBAF) structures are particularly important for modulating the rates and modalities of neural progenitor cell replication. Given the high prevalence of BAF subunit mutagenesis in neurological illnesses, it is obvious that BAF complexes perform a crucial role in controlling the rate of neuronal development, homeostasis, and plasticity. Understanding how BAF complex subunits influence BAF complex function and the roles played by different subunits will reveal disease pathogenesis and lead to novel treatments for related human disorders ultimately [26,27].

Here, we summarize recent progress in comprehending the role of the BAF complex in NSPCs. We focus on NSC-/NPC-specific BAF complex subunits and describe how they determine the balance between the self-renewal and differentiation of NSCs and are involved in several human neural developmental disorders. Supplementary Table 1 shows the abbreviations and their descriptions.

#### BAF COMPLEX SUBUNITS AND THEIR MAIN CHARACTERISTICS IN NSPCS

Among the major BAF complex subunits, there are 12 subunits expressed in NSPCs in the embryo cortex, olfactory bulb (OB) and spinal cord, adult brain and spinal cord, and human and mouse retina (detailed information and references are shown in Table 1).

#### BAF190A (BRG1/SMARCA4)

Brg1 (Brahma-related gene 1) is necessary for NSPCs to remain in a state where they can react to gliogenic signals and to suppress neuronal commitment. Lack of Brg1 in NSPCs led to precocious neurogenesis, such that cells in the ventricular zone developed into postmitotic neurons before the start of gliogenesis in conditional brg1- mutant mice. As a result, these animals significantly lost the ability to differentiate astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. In addition, in vitro Brg1 deletion reduced growth factorinduced astrocyte development in gliogenic progenitors. Furthermore, it has been discovered that the levels of proteins associated with stem cell maintenance, such as Pax6, Sox1, and Musashi-1, are significantly lower in the ventricular zones of the mice with brg1-mutations[28]. The hippocampus experienced abnormal adult neurogenesis as a result of Brg1 deletion in nestin-expressing NSPCs. This abnormal adult neurogenesis initially decreased the number of adult NSPCs in the hippocampus, inhibited progenitor maintenance, and later decreased NSPC responsiveness to physiological stimulation. Brg1 deletion appears to hinder cell cycle progression mechanistically, which is partly because of increased p53 pathway activation and p21 expression. Defects in neurosphere formation brought on by Brg1 deletion were repaired by knocking down p53. These findings suggest that aNSPC and progenitor cell maintenance and responsiveness during neurogenesis are determined by epigenetic chromatin remodeling via a Brg1- and p53/p21-dependent mechanism[29].

Many transcription factors manipulating neuronogenesis have been ascertained in the adult and developing brain, and notably, the neurogenic transcriptional regulation factor Pax6, which can directly interact with the Brg1-carrying BAF complex in adult neural progenitor cells. Abolition of either Pax6 or Brg1 in the subependymal zone (SEZ) caused the offspring of adult NSPCs to switch to the SEZ ependymal cell lineage. In the interim, shifting neuroblasts changed to distinct glial cell lineages during or after reaching the OB. Several studies have revealed that there is a network with tripartite effector programing neuronal fate, which can be activated by Pax6-BAF and promote neurogenesis and the transformation from glia to neurons. According to the whole-genome analysis, the downstream regulatory factors of Pax6-BAF include Nfib, Sox11 and Pou3f4. While Brg1 is absent in SEZ and OB, the binding sites of Pax6 carried by Brg1 and most down-regulated genes will be down-regulated at the same time[30]. In the study of Jayaprakash et al[31], they find that Brg1 appears as a slender spherical structure so that it can provide a lager surface and form the further complex by binding to BAF57 and BAF60A. Furthermore, a neural Brg1 isoform interacts with the central neurodevelopmental transcriptional repressor REST/NRSF, suggesting that Brg1 can interact with transcription regulators and factors to conduct the BAF complex to specific sites[31].

#### BAF155 (SMARCC1) and BAF170 (SMARCC2)

Recent study found that conditional deletion of BAF155 can lead to the decrease of basal intermediate progenitors (bIPs), while the delamination of apical radial glial progenitors (RGs) can cause the increase of basal RGs (bRGs). During the progress, BAF155 has been proved necessary for the normal activity of PAX6 to regulate the gene expression. BAF155 can control the expression of the CDC42 effecting protein CEP4 in the Pax6-dependent way in order to regulate the stratification of progenitor. In addition, BAF155-dependent chromatin remodeling is also involved in regulating several human RG-specific genes, thereby acting on the generation of basal progenitors (BPs)[32].

The study of Narayanan et al<sup>[33]</sup> in 2015 revealed a molecular mechanism of controlling the global chromatin state and transcriptional program during development, which is mediated by the BAF complex. They found that BAF155 and BAF170 knockout can cause elimination of the entire BAF complex with all kinds of BAF subunits in cortical development, with the overall increase of the abundance of the repressive marks (H3K27me2/3), decrease of active chromatin mark H3K9Ac, and down-regulation of gene expression. Both BAF155 and BAF170 subunits are expressed in early cortical progenitors (E10.5-E14.5), and BAF170 is replaced by BAF155 in late cortical progenitors[34]. Specifically, between E12.5 and E14.5, apical progenitors express BAF170 and BAF155. They exhibit comparable expression patterns at the height of upper layer neurogenesis (E15.5), with BAF170 being missing from VZ progenitors but expressed in the cortical plate but expressed in the cortical plate[34]. While BAF170 overexpression resulted in the acquisition of a feature similar to that acquired by the Pax6-loss brain, with depletion of overlying layer neurons, BAF170 loss in Emx1t cortical progenitors exerted an effect opposite to that of Pax6 elimination and caused an aberrant growth of IPs and a bias toward the acquisition of an overlying layer identity[34]. By the recruitment of the transcriptional suppressor REST to Pax6 targets, the BAF170-containing npBAF complex indirectly suppresses neurogenesis in its early stages[34,35]. Interestingly, the transcription of BAF170 and Brm subunits, which replace BAF155 and Brg1 subunits in the esBAF, respectively, begins at the same time when ES cells commit to developing into neural progenitors[33,36]. According to a recent functional invest-



#### Table 1 BRG1/BRM-associated factor complex subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells

BAF complex subunits (aliases)	NSPC types	Function	Interaction signalings/factors	Related neural developmental diseases	Ref.
BAF45A (PHF10)	oNSC, E10.5-E11.5 cortical NPCs, E10.5- E16.5 spinal cord VZ	NSPC proliferation	BRG1	-	Bachmann <i>et al</i> [15], 2016; MacDonald <i>et al</i> [89], 2022; Lessard <i>et al</i> [41], 2007
BAF45D (DPF2)	SGZ, SVZ, spinal cord central canal GFAP + radial glial cells	PAX6 expression, contributes to NSPC induction	PAX6, BRG1	CSS	Liu <i>et al</i> [42], 2017; Wang <i>et al</i> [44], 2019; Chen <i>et al</i> [43], 2022; Vasileiou <i>et al</i> [69], 2018; Knapp <i>et al</i> [70], 2019; Milone <i>et al</i> [71], 2020
BAF47 (SMARCB1)	oNSC		BRG1	CSS, kleefstra syndrome, Nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome	Bachmann <i>et al</i> [15], 2016; Tsurusaki <i>et al</i> [72], 2012; Santen <i>et al</i> [74], 2013; Wieczorek <i>et al</i> [75], 2013; Kleefstra <i>et al</i> [88], 2012; Gossai <i>et al</i> [73], 2015
BAF53A (ACTL6A)	oNSC, NPCS in the neural tubes of E11.5 embryos	BAF53A is essential for NPC proliferation	miR-9 and miR-124	-	Bachmann <i>et al</i> [15], 2016; Lessard <i>et al</i> [41], 2007; Yoo <i>et al</i> [45], 2009
BAF55A (SS18)	NPCs in VZ	SS18 is required for NSC self-renewal	BRG1	-	Staahl et al[ <mark>48</mark> ], 2013
BAF57 (SMARCE1)	Adult human OBNSCs	NSC proliferation	Neuregulin-1	CSS	Wieczorek <i>et al</i> [75], 2013; Kosho <i>et al</i> [67], 2014; Marei <i>et al</i> [52], 2012; Zarate <i>et al</i> [76], 2016; Pirotte <i>et al</i> [63], 2010
BAF60A (SMARCD1)	Oligodendrocyte precursors	-	BRG1, BAF155 and BAF170	CSS, Nicolaides- Baraitser syndrome	(Yu et al[54], 2013; Hsiao et al [53], 2003; Machol et al[78], 2019; Nixon et al[77], 2019
BAF60C (SMARCD3)	NPCs in human retinas as well as mouse retina, cortex and spinal cord	Keeps the progenitors in a proliferative state -	Notch signaling	-	Lamba <i>et al</i> [55], 2008
BAF155 (SMARCC1)	oNSC, adult human OBNSCs	Proliferation and maintenance of ONSCs forebrain development	BRG1, PAX6	ASD	Lessard <i>et al</i> [41], 2007; Marei <i>et al</i> [52], 2012; Narayanan <i>et al</i> [33], 2015; Neale <i>et al</i> [84], 2012
BAF170 (SMARCC2)	oNSC, in postnatal DG, in RGL progenitors	oNSC proliferation, affects NSC prolif- eration, differentiation, forebrain development	BRG1	CSS, ASD, Nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome	Lessard <i>et al</i> [ <b>4</b> 1], 2007; Machol <i>et al</i> [ <b>78</b> ], 2019; Narayanan <i>et al</i> [ <b>33</b> ], 2015; Neale <i>et al</i> [ <b>84</b> ], 2012; Tuoc <i>et al</i> [ <b>38</b> ], 2017
BAF190A (BRG1/SMARCA4)	Mouse VZ, SGZ, SEZ, NSCs/NPCs, NCC	NSC maintenance and neuronal differentiation	PAX6, BAF45D	CSS, ASD	Tsurusaki <i>et al</i> [72], 2012; De Rubeis <i>et al</i> [85], 2014; Matsumoto <i>et al</i> [28], 2006; Petrik <i>et al</i> [29], 2015; Ninkovic <i>et al</i> [30], 2013
BAF250A (ARID1A)	Developing cortex	Regulates NSPC prolif- eration and differen- tiation during cortical development	BRG1	CSS	Tsurusaki <i>et al</i> [72], 2012; Liu <i>et al</i> [40], 2021

BRG1: Brahma related gene 1; BRM: Brahma; BAF: BRG1/BRM-associated factor; NSPCs: Neural stem/progenitor cells; oNSCs: Olfactory neural stem cells; CSS: Coffin-siris syndrome; VZ: Ventricular zone; OBNSCs: Olfactory bulb-derived neural stem cells; ASD: Autism spectrum disorder; KSS: Kleefstra syndrome spectrum; DG: Dentate gyrus; RGL: Radial glial-like; SEZ: Subependymal zone; NCC: Neural crest cells.

> igation, Pax6 is directly associated to the BAF complex in aNSCs that contained the Brg1, and its neurogenic activity was abolished in the lack of the Brg1[30]. BAF170 and BAF45 also carry domains with putative DNA-binding capacities [37]. In the neonatal DG, the BAF170 member of the complex is found in radial glial-like (RGL) cells and cell types implicated in following stages of adult neurogenesis together with mature astrocytes. The pool of RGL cells in the DG is reduced by conditional knockout of BAF170 during late cortical neurogenesis and also adult brain neurogenesis, which encourages terminal astrocyte differentiation. A moderate loss in spatial learning was produced by the induced abolition of BAF170 in the DG throughout adult brain neurogenesis, with the reversal test showing the greatest impact on spatial learning. These findings indicate a specialized role for adult neurogenesis in the DG



regulating adaptive behavior and show the engagement of BAF170-reliant chromatin modification in neurogenesis and cognition of hippocampus[38].

#### BAF250A (ARID1A)

The core ATPase, Brg1 or Brm, BAF250A or BAF250B, a homologous dimer of BAF155, or a heterologous dimer of BAF170 and BAF155 are just a few examples of the different subunits that npBAF can contain<sup>[27]</sup>. Mammal BAF is significantly different from its yeast analogue, losing some members while obtaining new core members, such as BAF45a/b/c/d, BAF57, BAF250A/B, SS18/CREST, beta-actin, BRD7, and BRD9. Notably, BAF250A/B are the most commonly mutated subunits of BAF complex in related human neurological diseases[36]. Loss of BAF250A or BAF250B in mouse models leads to early embryonic lethality[39], indicating that, despite their homology, both genes are essential for early development.

Recent genome sequencing and many clinical studies have revealed that mutations of BAF250A is closely related to microcephaly and mental retardation. Liu *et al*[40] generated a *baf250a* conditional knockout mouse line and found that cortical thickness was reduced in the developing cortex. Radial glial cell proliferation is inhibited by loss of BAF250A function, which also increases the rate of cell damage during late cortical neurogenesis and causes abnormal expression of genes involved in proliferation and differentiation. Therefore, for the purpose of better understanding the pathogenic mechanisms and creating new treatments for neurodevelopmental disorders brought on by its mutations, BAF250A may be one of the gene possibilities that is worthwhile being researched[40].

#### BAF45A and BAF45D (DPF2)

BAF45 family proteins, including BAF45A, BAF45B, BAF45C and BAF45D, are subunits of the BAF complex[41]. BAF45A, an npBAF, is required for the self-renewal and proliferative features of neural cells[41]. BAF45A is identified in olfactory neural stem cells (oNSCs), E10.5-E11.5 cortical NPCs, and E10.5-E16.5 spinal cord ventricular zone NSCs[15,41]. BAF45D is expressed in the SGZ of the LV, SGZ of the DG, and the CC of the adult spinal cord. Co-expression of BAF45D and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a marker protein of radial glial cell-like cell was found in the SGZ, SVZ, and CC of the adult spinal cord. According to the results of quantitative examination, BAF45D is selectively expressed in the adult neurogenic regions of neurons in CNS. What's more, BAF45D is necessary for the induction of PAX6, a determinant for neuroectoderm that regulates adult neural stem/progenitor cell self-renewal and specific neural fate, during neuroectodermal differentiation of H9 cells[42].

Recently, BAF45D has been shown to regulate spinal cord neural stem/progenitor cell (SCNSC/ SCNPC) fate mediated through the SMAD-PAX6 axis. SCNSCs exhibit increased DNA-BAF45D compared to that in human ESCs[43]. It has been reported that postmitotic neurons express BAF45B/C protein but lack the paralogous BAF45A/D, which confers neuronal properties [25-27,41]. The protein expression of BAF45D in adult rat NSPCs and neurons but not astrocytes may imply a role for BAF45D in the differentiation of NSPCs[44].

#### BAF53A (ACTL6A)

The BAF53 subunit is encoded by the BAF53A (ACTL6A) or BAF53B (ACTL6B) gene, with the latter exclusively expressed in differentiated neurons[41].

BAF53A is specific to the npBAF complex and can be replaced by BAF53B in the nBAF complex in neurons[26,45]. miR-9 and miR-124 control the transition of postmitotic neurons from the BAF complex's BAF53A to BAF53B subunit [46]. These miRNAs' expression is derepressed in neurons during cell development, which encourages the replacement of BAF53B in the nBAF complex by suppressing the expression of BAF53A. Increased progenitor proliferation can result from BAF53A's continued expression[46]. These miRNAs have an interacting location in the 3'UTR of BAF53A, and their expression is constrained in progenitors by REST and its corepressors [47]. As a result of decreased chromatin accessibility at particular neural transcription factor-binding sites brought on by BAF53A loss, cell cycle-related genes are repressed, preventing the advancement of the cell cycle and cell differentiation[48].

#### BAF57 (SMARCE1)

BAF57, subunit in the BAF complex core, is highly conserved in the BAF complexes of vertebrates[49]. The DNA-binding capabilities of its primary structural characteristic, a high-mobility group domain, imply that BAF57 may perform topological functions when the BAF complex moves in or out a nucleosome. BAF57 specifically interacts with a variety of proteins which aren't part of the BAF complex. BAF57 demonstrates particular functionalities as a result of these interactions. For example, in the embryo, it interacts with the transcriptional cosuppressor Co-REST to enable the neuronal genes inactivation in nonneuronal cells throughout development<sup>[50]</sup>. Interestingly, global gene expression profiling results indicated that BAF57A was specifically upregulated in human NSPCs of OB (OBNSPCs) but not in human embryonic NSPCs (hENSC)[51]. In cultured NSCs, BAF57 interacts with the overexpressed intracellular domain of neuregulin-1 and leads to a decrease in the NSC proliferation rate[52].



#### BAF60A (SMARCD1)

The BAF60A/B subunits define an ESC-specific assembly of BAF, named esBAF[27]. The BAF subunits BAF60A binds to BRG1, the primary factor that drives the BAF complex to particular genomic locations, and interacts with transcription regulators and factors[31]. Nuclear receptors and the BRG1 complex may have an additional important and direct relationship that is necessary for recruitment of promoter and subsequent chromatin modification [53]. Low levels of BAF60A and BAF45B/D expression are found in oligodendrocyte precursors, and these expression levels are upregulated upon differentiation [54]. However, their specific roles in NSPCs are still unclear.

#### BAF60C (SMARCD3)

During development, another crucial BAF complex component called BAF60C also has neuronal progenitor-specific actions. BAF60C is expressed in neural progenitors in the mouse and human retina, as well as the human cortex and spinal cord[55]. BAF60C expression decreases during neural differentiation, and through its interaction with the Notch pathway, its overexpression keeps progenitors in a proliferative condition. Finally, Muller glia that resume the cell cycle following neurotoxic damage express BAF60C once more[55].

#### BAF55A (SS18)

BAF55A, also called SS18, is a member of the npBAF complex. In NSCs, SS18 knockdown results in cell cycle exit and self-renewal failure<sup>[48]</sup>. Moreover, SS18 is adaptively activated to respond to ethanol exposure, protecting fetal NSCs against complete loss of miR-9-2[49].

#### BAF47

BAF47, a ubiquitous BAF complex subunit, is expressed in oNSCS[15]. However, the exact function of BAF47 remains largely unknown.

#### BAF COMPLEX FUNCTIONS IN BALANCING SELF-RENEWAL AND DIFFERENTIATION **OF NSPCS**

The number of neural stem cells expands through symmetrical division, and through asymmetrical divisions, they maintain the capability to self-renew and produce other differentiated cells[56]. Normal neural development requires the maintenance of the dynamic balance between the proliferative cells and differentiated cells of neural stem cells, which controls the number of stem cells and neurons and protects the body from diseases such as glioblastoma<sup>[57]</sup>. Furthermore, neural stem cells respond to several molecular signals during neurogenesis, especially those mediated by the Wnt and Notch signaling pathways[58]. For instance, Notch signaling is a significant mechanism regulating the balance between the quiescence and differentiation of neural stem cells[59]. By suppressing the Notch pathway, the homeostasis of neural stem cells can be altered, promoting neural differentiation[60].

Several BAF family members, which act as components or modulators of the Notch and Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin signaling pathways, have been shown to exert either positive or negative effects on the differentiation of neural stem cells[55,61]. On the one hand, neural differentiation can be promoted by BAF155 and BAF170, which act on regulators of Wnt/β-catenin signaling-related genes, including H3K27me3 and H3K4me2[15,62]. On the other hand, BAF45a and BAF53a contribute to the proliferation and selfrenewal of neural stem cells[41]. The repression of BAF53a during neural differentiation is realized through its 3'-UTR and the cooperative influence of miR-9 and miR-124[45]. Brm and BAF57 interact with the neuregulin-1 (Nrg-1) intracellular domain, reduce proliferation and promote differentiation of neural stem cells in vitro, possibly by reversing the direction of signaling in a pathway [63]. Furthermore, it has been shown that the overexpression of BAF60c maintains the proliferation of neural progenitors by interacting with the Notch signaling pathway [55]. The BAF complex may also make direct contact with the neurogenic transcription factors that are critical for neural stem cell specification or differentiation. Notably, the subunit composition of BAF complexes undergoes a profound switching during differentiation; for instance, BAF40c is replaced by BAF40a, the function of which is activated by Pax6, Tbr1, and Tbr2[64]. Moreover, BAF155 in the primate brain has been shown to be involved in the normal activity of Pax6, thereby regulating the specification of progenitors during cortex development [32]

Overall, BAF complexes function as both agonists and inhibitors of neural differentiation. Notably, certain similarities and differences have been revealed through the approaches used in the aforementioned studies. A study by Narayanan et al[32] was carried out by generating cortex-specific BAF155knockout mice, while in another study, Nguyen et al[62] adopted a transgenic mouse model in which both BAF155 and BAF170 were knocked out, eliminating the entire BAF complex during late cortical neurogenesis. Their double-knockout model offered a novel and practical method for examining the function of complete BAF complexes during cerebral development[65]. Furthermore, a study by Bi-Lin et al[66] was conducted after the neural crest-specific knockout of BAF155 and BAF170 in Wnt1<sup>Cre/+</sup> and



Pax3<sup>Cre/+</sup> mice, and the results demonstrated that the BAF complex modulated the gene expression network and pathways, including the Notch signaling pathway, critical for neural crest development.

#### NSPC-RELATED BAF COMPLEX SUBUNITS IN NEURAL DEVELOPMENTAL DISEASES

Given the importance of BAF complexes in creating and sustaining a chromatin state that keeps proper transcriptional output during NSPC proliferation, differentiation and responses to exogenous or endogenous stimuli, it is clear that several neural developmental disorders have been linked to NSPC-related BAF complex subunits (Table 1 and Figure 1).

#### Coffin-Siris syndrome

Coffin-Siris syndrome (CSS) is a unusual congenital neural developmental disorder characterized clinically by intellectual disability (ID), progressive facial thickening, hirsutism, recurrent infections, difficult feeding, and restricted growth of the distal fifth phalanx and nails[67,68]. Genes encoding NSPC-related BAF complex subunits have been found to have mutations recently thanks to extensive human exome sequencing and genome-wide association research, including BAF45D[69-71], BAF47[72-74], BAF57[67,75,76], BAF60A[77], BAF170[78], BAF190A/BRG1[72], and BAF250A[72]. Different brain midline abnormalities, similar to those seen in people with CSS, were shown to be caused specifically by BAF47, BAF57, and BAF250B mutations in mice with a heterozygous neural system-specific SMARCB1 defect and a partial dysfunctional mutation in a BAF core member gene, indicating significant clinical suggestions for BAF complex-related ID/neurodevelopmental diseases[79].

Within a cohort of 15 unrelated individuals on the CSS pathway disorders registry, who were carriers of a SMARCA4 variant, they showed differences in the severity and number of learning disabilities and health problems. Two of them with novel nonsense variants appeared to acquire a non-organ/system affected phenotype with minor learning/behavioral differences[80]. A recent report described a Chinese woman presenting with on the CSS pathway disorders registry, who were carriers of a SMARCA4 variant, they showed differences in the severity and number of learning disabilities and health problems. Two of them with novel nonsense variants appeared to acquire a non-organ/system affected phenotype with minor learning/behavioral differences and number of learning disabilities and health problems. Two of them with novel nonsense variants appeared to acquire a non-organ/system affected phenotype with minor learning/behavioral differences and endocrine dysfunction. Whole-exome sequencing was used and led to the identification of a heterozygous missense variant in the SMARCC2 gene of the proband[81].

#### Nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome

The clinical features of patients with nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome (NCBRS) caused by mutations in the SMARCA2 gene, remarkably resemble those of CSS patients[82]. The characteristics of hands and feet are where NCBRS and CSS most clearly diverge. While typical CSS patients have hypoplasia or agenesis of the fifth fingernail with or without engagement of the nail phalanges, typical NCBRS patients have pronounced distal phalanges and interphalangeal joints[75]. Five individuals with mutations in BAF60A exhibited developmental delay, small hands and feet, hypotonia, ID, and difficult feeding. According to TRIO exome sequencing, these mutations developed in four of the five patients[77]. A missense mutation (p. Arg366Cys) of BAF47 also has been reported to be associated with NCBRS[75]. Furthermore, variants in BAF170 have also been found in patients presenting with overlapping ID syndromes related to other BAF subunits, such as those identified in CSS and NCBRS[78].

#### Autism spectrum disorder

Autism is a neurodevelopmental disease which is caused by both environmental and genetic factors, presented as speech problems, limited and repetitive behaviors and social skills barrier[83]. Recent exome-sequencing studies on individuals with autism have found mutations in the BAF155, BAF170[84] and BAF190A[85] genes. But at least seventy percent of the cases, the fundamental genetic cause is still unknown.

#### Kleefstra syndrome spectrum

Kleefstra syndrome spectrum (KSS) is a recognizable syndrome characterized by ID and induced by a hybrid mutation in the euchromatin histone methyltransferase 1 (EHMT1) gene[86,87]. According to the research of Kleefstra *et al*[88], KSS could result from mutations in any complex protein including MLL3, MBD5, NR1I3, BAF47, or EHMT1. The EHMT1 mutation is not present in every patient with the primary symptoms of Kleefstra syndrome. In fact, de novo mutations in four genes that code for epigenetic regulators, including BAF47 (SMARCB1), were found in four of the nine individuals who did not have EHMT1 mutations[88]. And their research using a Drosophila model showed that MLL3, MBD5, NR1I3, BAF47, and EHMT1 directly interact with one another[88].

Ke NY et al. BAF complex subunits in NSPCs



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.235 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 BRG1/BRM-associated factor complex subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells and the related neural developmental diseases.

The BRG1/BRM-associated factor (BAF) complex subunits in neural stem/progenitor cells are shown (in colors), including BAF45A/D, BAF47, BAF53, BAF53A, BAF57, BF60A/C, BAF155, BAF170, BAF190A, and BAF250A. The other two types of the BAF complex subunits, β-actin and BCL7/A/B/C, are shown in grey. Neural developmental disease types are listed as, I: Coffin-Siris syndrome; II: Autism spectrum disorder; III: Kleefstra syndrome; IV: Nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome; "?": Unknown. BAF: BRG1/BRM-associated factor.

#### CONCLUSION

Considering recent research progress, we suggest that three aspects of BAF complexes should be investigated in the near future. First, BAF complexes are crucial for development of neural system and differentiation of neural cells, including the specification of neural fate and functionality[4]. BAF complex subunits play key roles in the manipulation of gene expression, and the distinct ontogenetic stagespecific BAF complex functions in neural stem/progenitors and postmitotic neuronal cells that are derived from the combinatorial organization of these subunits<sup>[26]</sup>. Sequencing of human whole-exome and genome-wide association studies have recently demonstrated the link between mutants of BAF complex subunits and neurodevelopmental illnesses like CSS, NCBS, KSS and ASD[89-92]. Focus must be placed on the roles played by BAF complex organization during neural development as well as the ways in which mutations in well-known BAF complex subunits contribute to certain neurodevelopmental illnesses[93]. Secondly, both loss- and gain-of-function techniques to evaluating neural network development at the molecular, single-cell, and network activity levels should be used in order to comprehend how BAF complex gene mutations might cause the phenotypic convergence of CSS, NCBS, KSS, and ASD. For example, ASD and KSS genes focus primarily on the level of neural network communication and provide insight into the pathophysiology of phenotypic consistency disorders[79, 94]. Thirdly, recent investigations have shown that BAF complexes are frequently involved in human cerebral development abnormalities, providing fresh mechanisms and corresponding paths for therapeutic intervention, all of which should be looked into. In recent years, small compounds that target the BAF complex subunits have become viable therapeutic agents. Researchers in the field have been motivated to recognize and take use of the whole spectrum of therapeutic options as a result of the creation and evaluation of novel drugs that target a variety of BAF complex subunits[95].

Zaishidena® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ke NY and Zhao TY collected the data and wrote the manuscript; Wang WR and Qian YT collected the data; Liu C conceived the manuscript, collected the data, and wrote the manuscript.

Supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Anhui Province, No. 2008085MH251; Key Research and Development Project of Anhui Province, No. 202004J07020037; Anhui Provincial Institute of Translational Medicine, No. 2021zhyx-C19; and National Undergraduate Innovation and Entrepreneurship training program, No. 202010366016.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There is no conflict of interest associated with any of the senior author or other coauthors contributed their efforts in this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Chao Liu 0000-0003-3305-3005.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

#### REFERENCES

- Radecki DZ, Samanta J. Endogenous Neural Stem Cell Mediated Oligodendrogenesis in the Adult Mammalian Brain. Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 35805185 DOI: 10.3390/cells11132101]
- 2 Gage FH, Temple S. Neural stem cells: generating and regenerating the brain. Neuron 2013; 80: 588-601 [PMID: 24183012 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.037]
- Ladran I, Tran N, Topol A, Brennand KJ. Neural stem and progenitor cells in health and disease. Wiley Interdiscip Rev 3 Syst Biol Med 2013; 5: 701-715 [PMID: 24068527 DOI: 10.1002/wsbm.1239]
- D'Souza L, Channakkar AS, Muralidharan B. Chromatin remodelling complexes in cerebral cortex development and neurodevelopmental disorders. Neurochem Int 2021; 147: 105055 [PMID: 33964373 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuint.2021.105055]
- Bergström T, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Neural stem cells: brain building blocks and beyond. Ups J Med Sci 2012; 117: 132-142 [PMID: 22512245 DOI: 10.3109/03009734.2012.665096]
- Andreotti JP, Silva WN, Costa AC, Picoli CC, Bitencourt FCO, Coimbra-Campos LMC, Resende RR, Magno LAV, 6 Romano-Silva MA, Mintz A, Birbrair A. Neural stem cell niche heterogeneity. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2019; 95: 42-53 [PMID: 30639325 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.01.005]
- Obernier K, Alvarez-Buylla A. Neural stem cells: origin, heterogeneity and regulation in the adult mammalian brain. 7 Development 2019; 146 [PMID: 30777863 DOI: 10.1242/dev.156059]
- Finkel Z, Esteban F, Rodriguez B, Fu T, Ai X, Cai L. Diversity of Adult Neural Stem and Progenitor Cells in Physiology 8 and Disease. Cells 2021; 10 [PMID: 34440814 DOI: 10.3390/cells10082045]
- 9 Schiro LE, Bauer US, Sandvig A, Sandvig I. Isolation and comparison of neural stem cells from the adult rat brain and spinal cord canonical neurogenic niches. STAR Protoc 2022; 3: 101426 [PMID: 35693206 DOI: 10.1016/j.xpro.2022.101426
- Hugnot JP. Isolate and Culture Neural Stem Cells from the Mouse Adult Spinal Cord. Methods Mol Biol 2022; 2389: 45-10 56 [PMID: 34558000 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-0716-1783-0\_4]
- Suk Y, Kieliszek A, Mobilio D, Venugopal C, Singh SK. Derivation and culturing of neural stem cells from human 11 embryonic brain tissue. STAR Protoc 2022; 3: 101628 [PMID: 36035806 DOI: 10.1016/j.xpro.2022.101628]
- Chicheportiche A, Ruat M, Boussin FD, Daynac M. Isolation of Neural Stem and Progenitor Cells from the Adult Brain 12 and Live Imaging of Their Cell Cycle with the FUCCI System. Methods Mol Biol 2018; 1686: 69-78 [PMID: 29030813 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7371-2\_5]
- 13 Stenudd M, Sabelström H, Llorens-Bobadilla E, Zamboni M, Blom H, Brismar H, Zhang S, Basak O, Clevers H, Göritz C, Barnabé-Heider F, Frisén J. Identification of a discrete subpopulation of spinal cord ependymal cells with neural stem cell properties. Cell Rep 2022; 38: 110440 [PMID: 35235796 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2022.110440]
- Katada S, Takouda J, Nakagawa T, Honda M, Igarashi K, Imamura T, Ohkawa Y, Sato S, Kurumizaka H, Nakashima K. 14 Neural stem/precursor cells dynamically change their epigenetic landscape to differentially respond to BMP signaling for fate switching during brain development. Genes Dev 2021; 35: 1431-1444 [PMID: 34675062 DOI: 10.1101/gad.348797.121]
- Bachmann C, Nguyen H, Rosenbusch J, Pham L, Rabe T, Patwa M, Sokpor G, Seong RH, Ashery-Padan R, Mansouri A, 15 Stoykova A, Staiger JF, Tuoc T. mSWI/SNF (BAF) Complexes Are Indispensable for the Neurogenesis and Development of Embryonic Olfactory Epithelium. PLoS Genet 2016; 12: e1006274 [PMID: 27611684 DOI:



#### 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006274]

- 16 Shu M, Xue X, Nie H, Wu X, Sun M, Qiao L, Li X, Xu B, Xiao Z, Zhao Y, Fan Y, Chen B, Zhang J, Shi Y, Yang Y, Lu F, Dai J. Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals Nestin(+) active neural stem cells outside the central canal after spinal cord injury. Sci China Life Sci 2022; 65: 295-308 [PMID: 34061300 DOI: 10.1007/s11427-020-1930-0]
- Yao J, Mu Y, Gage FH. Neural stem cells: mechanisms and modeling. Protein Cell 2012; 3: 251-261 [PMID: 22549585 17 DOI: 10.1007/s13238-012-2033-6]
- Kumamaru H, Kadoya K, Adler AF, Takashima Y, Graham L, Coppola G, Tuszynski MH. Generation and post-injury 18 integration of human spinal cord neural stem cells. Nat Methods 2018; 15: 723-731 [PMID: 30082899 DOI: 10.1038/s41592-018-0074-3]
- 19 Zhao X, Moore DL. Neural stem cells: developmental mechanisms and disease modeling. Cell Tissue Res 2018; 371: 1-6 [PMID: 29196810 DOI: 10.1007/s00441-017-2738-1]
- Baggiani M, Dell'Anno MT, Pistello M, Conti L, Onorati M. Human Neural Stem Cell Systems to Explore Pathogen-20 Related Neurodevelopmental and Neurodegenerative Disorders. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32806773 DOI: 10.3390/cells9081893]
- Fernandez-Muñoz B, Garcia-Delgado AB, Arribas-Arribas B, Sanchez-Pernaute R. Human Neural Stem Cells for Cell-21 Based Medicinal Products. Cells 2021; 10 [PMID: 34572024 DOI: 10.3390/cells10092377]
- He S, Wu Z, Tian Y, Yu Z, Yu J, Wang X, Li J, Liu B, Xu Y. Structure of nucleosome-bound human BAF complex. 22 Science 2020; 367: 875-881 [PMID: 32001526 DOI: 10.1126/science.aaz9761]
- Varga J, Kube M, Luck K, Schick S. The BAF chromatin remodeling complexes: structure, function, and synthetic 23 lethalities. Biochem Soc Trans 2021; 49: 1489-1503 [PMID: 34431497 DOI: 10.1042/BST20190960]
- El Hadidy N, Uversky VN. Intrinsic Disorder of the BAF Complex: Roles in Chromatin Remodeling and Disease 24 Development. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31652801 DOI: 10.3390/Ijms20215260]
- Narayanan R, Tuoc TC. Roles of chromatin remodeling BAF complex in neural differentiation and reprogramming. Cell 25 Tissue Res 2014; 356: 575-584 [PMID: 24496512 DOI: 10.1007/s00441-013-1791-7]
- Alfert A, Moreno N, Kerl K. The BAF complex in development and disease. Epigenetics Chromatin 2019; 12: 19 [PMID: 26 30898143 DOI: 10.1186/s13072-019-0264-y]
- 27 Son EY, Crabtree GR. The role of BAF (mSWI/SNF) complexes in mammalian neural development. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 2014; 166C: 333-349 [PMID: 25195934 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.c.31416]
- Matsumoto S, Banine F, Struve J, Xing R, Adams C, Liu Y, Metzger D, Chambon P, Rao MS, Sherman LS. Brg1 is 28 required for murine neural stem cell maintenance and gliogenesis. Dev Biol 2006; 289: 372-383 [PMID: 16330018 DOI: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.10.044]
- Petrik D, Latchney SE, Masiulis I, Yun S, Zhang Z, Wu JI, Eisch AJ. Chromatin Remodeling Factor Brg1 Supports the 29 Early Maintenance and Late Responsiveness of Nestin-Lineage Adult Neural Stem and Progenitor Cells. Stem Cells 2015; **33**: 3655-3665 [PMID: 26418130 DOI: 10.1002/stem.2215]
- 30 Ninkovic J, Steiner-Mezzadri A, Jawerka M, Akinci U, Masserdotti G, Petricca S, Fischer J, von Holst A, Beckers J, Lie CD, Petrik D, Miller E, Tang J, Wu J, Lefebvre V, Demmers J, Eisch A, Metzger D, Crabtree G, Irmler M, Poot R, Götz M. The BAF complex interacts with Pax6 in adult neural progenitors to establish a neurogenic cross-regulatory transcriptional network. Cell Stem Cell 2013; 13: 403-418 [PMID: 23933087 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2013.07.002]
- Jayaprakash S, Drakulic S, Zhao Z, Sander B, Golas MM. The ATPase BRG1/SMARCA4 is a protein interaction 31 platform that recruits BAF subunits and the transcriptional repressor REST/NRSF in neural progenitor cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2019; 461: 171-182 [PMID: 31428904 DOI: 10.1007/s11010-019-03600-0]
- 32 Narayanan R, Pham L, Kerimoglu C, Watanabe T, Castro Hernandez R, Sokpor G, Ulmke PA, Kiszka KA, Tonchev AB, Rosenbusch J, Seong RH, Teichmann U, Frahm J, Fischer A, Bonn S, Stoykova A, Staiger JF, Tuoc T. Chromatin Remodeling BAF155 Subunit Regulates the Genesis of Basal Progenitors in Developing Cortex. iScience 2018; 4: 109-126 [PMID: 30240734 DOI: 10.1016/j.isci.2018.05.014]
- Narayanan R, Pirouz M, Kerimoglu C, Pham L, Wagener RJ, Kiszka KA, Rosenbusch J, Seong RH, Kessel M, Fischer A, 33 Stoykova A, Staiger JF, Tuoc T. Loss of BAF (mSWI/SNF) Complexes Causes Global Transcriptional and Chromatin State Changes in Forebrain Development. Cell Rep 2015; 13: 1842-1854 [PMID: 26655900 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.10.046
- Tuoc TC, Boretius S, Sansom SN, Pitulescu ME, Frahm J, Livesey FJ, Stoykova A. Chromatin regulation by BAF170 34 controls cerebral cortical size and thickness. Dev Cell 2013; 25: 256-269 [PMID: 23643363 DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2013.04.005]
- Battaglioli E, Andrés ME, Rose DW, Chenoweth JG, Rosenfeld MG, Anderson ME, Mandel G. REST repression of 35 neuronal genes requires components of the hSWI.SNF complex. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 41038-41045 [PMID: 12192000 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M205691200]
- Ho L, Ronan JL, Wu J, Staahl BT, Chen L, Kuo A, Lessard J, Nesvizhskii AI, Ranish J, Crabtree GR. An embryonic stem 36 cell chromatin remodeling complex, esBAF, is essential for embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009; 106: 5181-5186 [PMID: 19279220 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0812889106]
- Ho PJ, Lloyd SM, Bao X. Unwinding chromatin at the right places: how BAF is targeted to specific genomic locations 37 during development. Development 2019; 146 [PMID: 31570369 DOI: 10.1242/dev.178780]
- 38 Tuoc T, Dere E, Radyushkin K, Pham L, Nguyen H, Tonchev AB, Sun G, Ronnenberg A, Shi Y, Staiger JF, Ehrenreich H, Stoykova A. Ablation of BAF170 in Developing and Postnatal Dentate Gyrus Affects Neural Stem Cell Proliferation, Differentiation, and Learning. Mol Neurobiol 2017; 54: 4618-4635 [PMID: 27392482 DOI: 10.1007/s12035-016-9948-5]
- 39 Celen C, Chuang JC, Luo X, Nijem N, Walker AK, Chen F, Zhang S, Chung AS, Nguyen LH, Nassour I, Budhipramono A, Sun X, Bok LA, McEntagart M, Gevers EF, Birnbaum SG, Eisch AJ, Powell CM, Ge WP, Santen GW, Chahrour M, Zhu H. Arid1b haploinsufficient mice reveal neuropsychiatric phenotypes and reversible causes of growth impairment. Elife 2017; 6 [PMID: 28695822 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.25730]
- Liu X, Dai SK, Liu PP, Liu CM. Arid1a regulates neural stem/progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation during 40 cortical development. Cell Prolif 2021; 54: e13124 [PMID: 34562292 DOI: 10.1111/cpr.13124]


- Lessard J, Wu JI, Ranish JA, Wan M, Winslow MM, Staahl BT, Wu H, Aebersold R, Graef IA, Crabtree GR. An 41 essential switch in subunit composition of a chromatin remodeling complex during neural development. Neuron 2007; 55: 201-215 [PMID: 17640523 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.06.019]
- 42 Liu C, Sun R, Huang J, Zhang D, Huang D, Qi W, Wang S, Xie F, Shen Y, Shen C. The BAF45D Protein Is Preferentially Expressed in Adult Neurogenic Zones and in Neurons and May Be Required for Retinoid Acid Induced PAX6 Expression. Front Neuroanat 2017; 11: 94 [PMID: 29163067 DOI: 10.3389/fnana.2017.00094]
- Chen XY, Hu XJ, Jiang J, Tao J, Liu LH, Fang SY, Shen YX, Hu QS, Liu C. Baf45d regulates spinal cord neural stem/ 43 progenitor cell fate through the smad-pax6 axis. May 20, 2022. [cited 12 February 2023]. Available from: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/

360834915 BAF45D regulates spinal cord neural stemprogenitor cell fate through the SMAD-PAX6 axis

- Wang Z, Huang J, Liu C, Liu L, Shen Y, Shen C. BAF45D Downregulation in Spinal Cord Ependymal Cells Following 44 Spinal Cord Injury in Adult Rats and Its Potential Role in the Development of Neuronal Lesions. Front Neurosci 2019; 13: 1151 [PMID: 31736692 DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01151]
- Yoo AS, Staahl BT, Chen L, Crabtree GR. MicroRNA-mediated switching of chromatin-remodelling complexes in neural 45 development. Nature 2009; 460: 642-646 [PMID: 19561591 DOI: 10.1038/nature08139]
- Conaco C, Otto S, Han JJ, Mandel G. Reciprocal actions of REST and a microRNA promote neuronal identity. Proc Natl 46 Acad Sci U S A 2006; 103: 2422-2427 [PMID: 16461918 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0511041103]
- Alfert A, Walter C, Moreno N, Melcher V, Graf M, Hotfilder M, Dugas M, Albert T, Kerl K. Smarcb1 Loss Results in a 47 Deregulation of esBAF Binding and Impacts the Expression of Neurodevelopmental Genes. Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 35456033 DOI: 10.3390/cells11081354]
- Staahl BT, Tang J, Wu W, Sun A, Gitler AD, Yoo AS, Crabtree GR. Kinetic analysis of npBAF to nBAF switching 48 reveals exchange of SS18 with CREST and integration with neural developmental pathways. J Neurosci 2013; 33: 10348-10361 [PMID: 23785148 DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1258-13.2013]
- Burrowes SG, Salem NA, Tseng AM, Balaraman S, Pinson MR, Garcia C, Miranda RC. The BAF (BRG1/BRM-49 Associated Factor) chromatin-remodeling complex exhibits ethanol sensitivity in fetal neural progenitor cells and regulates transcription at the miR-9-2 encoding gene locus. Alcohol 2017; 60: 149-158 [PMID: 28438527 DOI: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2017.01.003
- 50 Heo Y, Park JH, Kim J, Han J, Yun JH, Lee W. Crystal structure of the HMG domain of human BAF57 and its interaction with four-way junction DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2020; 533: 919-924 [PMID: 33010889 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.09.094]
- Lomelí H, Castillo-Robles J. The developmental and pathogenic roles of BAF57, a special subunit of the BAF chromatin-51 remodeling complex. FEBS Lett 2016; 590: 1555-1569 [PMID: 27149204 DOI: 10.1002/1873-3468.12201]
- Marei HE, Ahmed AE, Michetti F, Pescatori M, Pallini R, Casalbore P, Cenciarelli C, Elhadidy M. Gene expression 52 profile of adult human olfactory bulb and embryonic neural stem cell suggests distinct signaling pathways and epigenetic control. PLoS One 2012; 7: e33542 [PMID: 22485144 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033542]
- Hsiao PW, Fryer CJ, Trotter KW, Wang W, Archer TK. BAF60a mediates critical interactions between nuclear receptors 53 and the BRG1 chromatin-remodeling complex for transactivation. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23: 6210-6220 [PMID: 12917342 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.23.17.6210-6220.2003]
- Yu Y, Chen Y, Kim B, Wang H, Zhao C, He X, Liu L, Liu W, Wu LM, Mao M, Chan JR, Wu J, Lu QR. Olig2 targets 54 chromatin remodelers to enhancers to initiate oligodendrocyte differentiation. Cell 2013; 152: 248-261 [PMID: 23332759 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.006]
- Lamba DA, Hayes S, Karl MO, Reh T. Baf60c is a component of the neural progenitor-specific BAF complex in 55 developing retina. Dev Dyn 2008; 237: 3016-3023 [PMID: 18816825 DOI: 10.1002/dvdy.21697]
- 56 Wang J, Zhu HH, Chu M, Liu Y, Zhang C, Liu G, Yang X, Yang R, Gao WQ. Symmetrical and asymmetrical division analysis provides evidence for a hierarchy of prostate epithelial cell lineages. Nat Commun 2014; 5: 4758 [PMID: 25163637 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms5758]
- Shen F, Song C, Liu Y, Zhang J, Wei Song S. IGFBP2 promotes neural stem cell maintenance and proliferation differentially associated with glioblastoma subtypes. Brain Res 2019; 1704: 174-186 [PMID: 30347220 DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2018.10.018
- Traiffort E, Ferent J. [Neural stem cells and Notch signalling]. Med Sci (Paris) 2015; 31: 1115-1125 [PMID: 26672665 58 DOI: 10.1051/medsci/20153112015]
- Llorens-Bobadilla E, Zhao S, Baser A, Saiz-Castro G, Zwadlo K, Martin-Villalba A. Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals 59 a Population of Dormant Neural Stem Cells that Become Activated upon Brain Injury. Cell Stem Cell 2015; 17: 329-340 [PMID: 26235341 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.07.002]
- Kim TJ, Kwon HS, Kang M, Leem HH, Lee KH, Kim DY. The Antitumor Natural Compound Falcarindiol Disrupts 60 Neural Stem Cell Homeostasis by Suppressing Notch Pathway. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 30388862 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19113432]
- Vasileiou G, Ekici AB, Uebe S, Zweier C, Hoyer J, Engels H, Behrens J, Reis A, Hadjihannas MV. Chromatin-61 Remodeling-Factor ARID1B Represses Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling. Am J Hum Genet 2015; 97: 445-456 [PMID: 26340334 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.08.002]
- Nguyen H, Kerimoglu C, Pirouz M, Pham L, Kiszka KA, Sokpor G, Sakib MS, Rosenbusch J, Teichmann U, Seong RH, 62 Stoykova A, Fischer A, Staiger JF, Tuoc T. Epigenetic Regulation by BAF Complexes Limits Neural Stem Cell Proliferation by Suppressing Wnt Signaling in Late Embryonic Development. Stem Cell Reports 2018; 10: 1734-1750 [PMID: 29779894 DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.04.014]
- Pirotte D, Wislet-Gendebien S, Cloes JM, Rogister B. Neuregulin-1 modulates the differentiation of neural stem cells in 63 vitro through an interaction with the Swi/Snf complex. Mol Cell Neurosci 2010; 43: 72-80 [PMID: 19781646 DOI: 10.1016/j.mcn.2009.09.003]
- Elsen GE, Bedogni F, Hodge RD, Bammler TK, MacDonald JW, Lindtner S, Rubenstein JLR, Hevner RF. The Epigenetic 64 Factor Landscape of Developing Neocortex Is Regulated by Transcription Factors Pax6-> Tbr2-> Tbr1. Front Neurosci



2018; 12: 571 [PMID: 30186101 DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00571]

- Nguyen H, Sokpor G, Pham L, Rosenbusch J, Stoykova A, Staiger JF, Tuoc T. Epigenetic regulation by BAF (mSWI/ 65 SNF) chromatin remodeling complexes is indispensable for embryonic development. Cell Cycle 2016; 15: 1317-1324 [PMID: 26986003 DOI: 10.1080/15384101.2016.1160984]
- Bi-Lin KW, Seshachalam PV, Tuoc T, Stoykova A, Ghosh S, Singh MK. Critical role of the BAF chromatin remodeling 66 complex during murine neural crest development. PLoS Genet 2021; 17: e1009446 [PMID: 33750945 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1009446
- Kosho T, Miyake N, Carey JC. Coffin-Siris syndrome and related disorders involving components of the BAF (mSWI/ 67 SNF) complex: historical review and recent advances using next generation sequencing. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 2014; 166C: 241-251 [PMID: 25169878 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.c.31415]
- Schrier SA, Bodurtha JN, Burton B, Chudley AE, Chiong MA, D'avanzo MG, Lynch SA, Musio A, Nyazov DM, 68 Sanchez-Lara PA, Shalev SA, Deardorff MA. The Coffin-Siris syndrome: a proposed diagnostic approach and assessment of 15 overlapping cases. Am J Med Genet A 2012; 158A: 1865-1876 [PMID: 22711679 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.35415]
- Vasileiou G, Vergarajauregui S, Endele S, Popp B, Büttner C, Ekici AB, Gerard M, Bramswig NC, Albrecht B, Clayton-69 Smith J, Morton J, Tomkins S, Low K, Weber A, Wenzel M, Altmüller J, Li Y, Wollnik B, Hoganson G, Plona MR, Cho MT; Deciphering Developmental Disorders Study, Thiel CT, Lüdecke HJ, Strom TM, Calpena E, Wilkie AOM, Wieczorek D, Engel FB, Reis A. Mutations in the BAF-Complex Subunit DPF2 Are Associated with Coffin-Siris Syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 2018; 102: 468-479 [PMID: 29429572 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2018.01.014]
- Knapp KM, Poke G, Jenkins D, Truter W, Bicknell LS. Expanding the phenotypic spectrum associated with DPF2: A 70 new case report. Am J Med Genet A 2019; 179: 1637-1641 [PMID: 31207137 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.61262]
- 71 Milone R, Gnazzo M, Stefanutti E, Serafin D, Novelli A. A new missense mutation in DPF2 gene related to Coffin Siris syndrome 7: Description of a mild phenotype expanding DPF2-related clinical spectrum and differential diagnosis among similar syndromes epigenetically determined. Brain Dev 2020; 42: 192-198 [PMID: 31706665 DOI: 10.1016/j.braindev.2019.10.007
- 72 Tsurusaki Y, Okamoto N, Ohashi H, Kosho T, Imai Y, Hibi-Ko Y, Kaname T, Naritomi K, Kawame H, Wakui K, Fukushima Y, Homma T, Kato M, Hiraki Y, Yamagata T, Yano S, Mizuno S, Sakazume S, Ishii T, Nagai T, Shiina M, Ogata K, Ohta T, Niikawa N, Miyatake S, Okada I, Mizuguchi T, Doi H, Saitsu H, Miyake N, Matsumoto N. Mutations affecting components of the SWI/SNF complex cause Coffin-Siris syndrome. Nat Genet 2012; 44: 376-378 [PMID: 22426308 DOI: 10.1038/ng.2219]
- Gossai N, Biegel JA, Messiaen L, Berry SA, Moertel CL. Report of a patient with a constitutional missense mutation in 73 SMARCB1, Coffin-Siris phenotype, and schwannomatosis. Am J Med Genet A 2015; 167A: 3186-3191 [PMID: 26364901 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37356]
- 74 Santen GW, Aten E, Vulto-van Silfhout AT, Pottinger C, van Bon BW, van Minderhout IJ, Snowdowne R, van der Lans CA, Boogaard M, Linssen MM, Vijfhuizen L, van der Wielen MJ, Vollebregt MJ; Coffin-Siris consortium, Breuning MH, Kriek M, van Haeringen A, den Dunnen JT, Hoischen A, Clayton-Smith J, de Vries BB, Hennekam RC, van Belzen MJ. Coffin-Siris syndrome and the BAF complex: genotype-phenotype study in 63 patients. Hum Mutat 2013; 34: 1519-1528 [PMID: 23929686 DOI: 10.1002/humu.22394]
- Wieczorek D, Bögershausen N, Beleggia F, Steiner-Haldenstätt S, Pohl E, Li Y, Milz E, Martin M, Thiele H, Altmüller J, Alanay Y, Kayserili H, Klein-Hitpass L, Böhringer S, Wollstein A, Albrecht B, Boduroglu K, Caliebe A, Chrzanowska K, Cogulu O, Cristofoli F, Czeschik JC, Devriendt K, Dotti MT, Elcioglu N, Gener B, Goecke TO, Krajewska-Walasek M, Guillén-Navarro E, Hayek J, Houge G, Kilic E, Simsek-Kiper PÖ, López-González V, Kuechler A, Lyonnet S, Mari F, Marozza A, Mathieu Dramard M, Mikat B, Morin G, Morice-Picard F, Ozkinay F, Rauch A, Renieri A, Tinschert S, Utine GE, Vilain C, Vivarelli R, Zweier C, Nürnberg P, Rahmann S, Vermeesch J, Lüdecke HJ, Zeschnigk M, Wollnik B. A comprehensive molecular study on Coffin-Siris and Nicolaides-Baraitser syndromes identifies a broad molecular and clinical spectrum converging on altered chromatin remodeling. Hum Mol Genet 2013; 22: 5121-5135 [PMID: 23906836 DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddt366]
- Zarate YA, Bhoj E, Kaylor J, Li D, Tsurusaki Y, Miyake N, Matsumoto N, Phadke S, Escobar L, Irani A, Hakonarson H, 76 Schrier Vergano SA. SMARCE1, a rare cause of Coffin-Siris Syndrome: Clinical description of three additional cases. Am J Med Genet A 2016; 170: 1967-1973 [PMID: 27264197 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37722]
- Nixon KCJ, Rousseau J, Stone MH, Sarikahya M, Ehresmann S, Mizuno S, Matsumoto N, Miyake N; DDD Study, 77 Baralle D, McKee S, Izumi K, Ritter AL, Heide S, Héron D, Depienne C, Titheradge H, Kramer JM, Campeau PM. A Syndromic Neurodevelopmental Disorder Caused by Mutations in SMARCD1, a Core SWI/SNF Subunit Needed for Context-Dependent Neuronal Gene Regulation in Flies. Am J Hum Genet 2019; 104: 596-610 [PMID: 30879640 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2019.02.001]
- Machol K, Rousseau J, Ehresmann S, Garcia T, Nguyen TTM, Spillmann RC, Sullivan JA, Shashi V, Jiang YH, Stong N, 78 Fiala E, Willing M, Pfundt R, Kleefstra T, Cho MT, McLaughlin H, Rosello Piera M, Orellana C, Martínez F, Caro-Llopis A, Monfort S, Roscioli T, Nixon CY, Buckley MF, Turner A, Jones WD, van Hasselt PM, Hofstede FC, van Gassen KLI, Brooks AS, van Slegtenhorst MA, Lachlan K, Sebastian J, Madan-Khetarpal S, Sonal D, Sakkubai N, Thevenon J, Faivre L, Maurel A, Petrovski S, Krantz ID, Tarpinian JM, Rosenfeld JA, Lee BH; Undiagnosed Diseases Network, Campeau PM. Expanding the Spectrum of BAF-Related Disorders: De Novo Variants in SMARCC2 Cause a Syndrome with Intellectual Disability and Developmental Delay. Am J Hum Genet 2019; 104: 164-178 [PMID: 30580808 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2018.11.007
- 79 Filatova A, Rey LK, Lechler MB, Schaper J, Hempel M, Posmyk R, Szczaluba K, Santen GWE, Wieczorek D, Nuber UA. Mutations in SMARCB1 and in other Coffin-Siris syndrome genes lead to various brain midline defects. Nat Commun 2019; **10**: 2966 [PMID: 31273213 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-10849-y]
- Li D, Ahrens-Nicklas RC, Baker J, Bhambhani V, Calhoun A, Cohen JS, Deardorff MA, Fernández-Jaén A, Kamien B, 80 Jain M, Mckenzie F, Mintz M, Motter C, Niles K, Ritter A, Rogers C, Roifman M, Townshend S, Ward-Melver C, Schrier Vergano SA. The variability of SMARCA4-related Coffin-Siris syndrome: Do nonsense candidate variants add to milder phenotypes? Am J Med Genet A 2020; 182: 2058-2067 [PMID: 32686290 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.61732]



- 81 Zou Y, Yin Y, Xiao Z, Zhao Y, Han J, Chen B, Xu B, Cui Y, Ma X, Dai J. Transplantation of collagen sponge-based three-dimensional neural stem cells cultured in a RCCS facilitates locomotor functional recovery in spinal cord injury animals. *Biomater Sci* 2022; 10: 915-924 [PMID: 35044381 DOI: 10.1039/d1bm01744f]
- 82 Aref-Eshghi E, Bend EG, Hood RL, Schenkel LC, Carere DA, Chakrabarti R, Nagamani SCS, Cheung SW, Campeau PM, Prasad C, Siu VM, Brady L, Tarnopolsky MA, Callen DJ, Innes AM, White SM, Meschino WS, Shuen AY, Paré G, Bulman DE, Ainsworth PJ, Lin H, Rodenhiser DI, Hennekam RC, Boycott KM, Schwartz CE, Sadikovic B. BAFopathies' DNA methylation epi-signatures demonstrate diagnostic utility and functional continuum of Coffin-Siris and Nicolaides-Baraitser syndromes. Nat Commun 2018; 9: 4885 [PMID: 30459321 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-07193-y]
- 83 Chaste P, Leboyer M. Autism risk factors: genes, environment, and gene-environment interactions. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 2012; 14: 281-292 [PMID: 23226953 DOI: 10.31887/DCNS.2012.14.3/pchaste]
- 84 Neale BM, Kou Y, Liu L, Ma'ayan A, Samocha KE, Sabo A, Lin CF, Stevens C, Wang LS, Makarov V, Polak P, Yoon S, Maguire J, Crawford EL, Campbell NG, Geller ET, Valladares O, Schafer C, Liu H, Zhao T, Cai G, Lihm J, Dannenfelser R, Jabado O, Peralta Z, Nagaswamy U, Muzny D, Reid JG, Newsham I, Wu Y, Lewis L, Han Y, Voight BF, Lim E, Rossin E, Kirby A, Flannick J, Fromer M, Shakir K, Fennell T, Garimella K, Banks E, Poplin R, Gabriel S, DePristo M, Wimbish JR, Boone BE, Levy SE, Betancur C, Sunyaev S, Boerwinkle E, Buxbaum JD, Cook EH Jr, Devlin B, Gibbs RA, Roeder K, Schellenberg GD, Sutcliffe JS, Daly MJ. Patterns and rates of exonic de novo mutations in autism spectrum disorders. *Nature* 2012; 485: 242-245 [PMID: 22495311 DOI: 10.1038/nature11011]
- 95 De Rubeis S, He X, Goldberg AP, Poultney CS, Samocha K, Cicek AE, Kou Y, Liu L, Fromer M, Walker S, Singh T, Klei L, Kosmicki J, Shih-Chen F, Aleksic B, Biscaldi M, Bolton PF, Brownfeld JM, Cai J, Campbell NG, Carracedo A, Chahrour MH, Chiocchetti AG, Coon H, Crawford EL, Curran SR, Dawson G, Duketis E, Fernandez BA, Gallagher L, Geller E, Guter SJ, Hill RS, Ionita-Laza J, Jimenz Gonzalez P, Kilpinen H, Klauck SM, Kolevzon A, Lee I, Lei I, Lei J, Lehtimäki T, Lin CF, Ma'ayan A, Marshall CR, McInnes AL, Neale B, Owen MJ, Ozaki N, Parellada M, Parr JR, Purcell S, Puura K, Rajagopalan D, Rehnström K, Reichenberg A, Sabo A, Sachse M, Sanders SJ, Schafer C, Schulte-Rüther M, Skuse D, Stevens C, Szatmari P, Tammimies K, Valladares O, Voran A, Li-San W, Weiss LA, Willsey AJ, Yu TW, Yuen RK; DDD Study; Homozygosity Mapping Collaborative for Autism; UK10K Consortium, Cook EH, Freitag CM, Gill M, Hultman CM, Lehner T, Palotie A, Schellenberg GD, Sklar P, State MW, Sutcliffe JS, Walsh CA, Scherer SW, Zwick ME, Barett JC, Cutler DJ, Roeder K, Devlin B, Daly MJ, Buxbaum JD. Synaptic, transcriptional and chromatin genes disrupted in autism. *Nature* 2014; 515: 209-215 [PMID: 25363760 DOI: 10.1038/nature13772]
- 86 Kleefstra T, Brunner HG, Amiel J, Oudakker AR, Nillesen WM, Magee A, Geneviève D, Cormier-Daire V, van Esch H, Fryns JP, Hamel BC, Sistermans EA, de Vries BB, van Bokhoven H. Loss-of-function mutations in euchromatin histone methyl transferase 1 (EHMT1) cause the 9q34 subtelomeric deletion syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* 2006; **79**: 370-377 [PMID: 16826528 DOI: 10.1086/505693]
- 87 Kleefstra T, van Zelst-Stams WA, Nillesen WM, Cormier-Daire V, Houge G, Foulds N, van Dooren M, Willemsen MH, Pfundt R, Turner A, Wilson M, McGaughran J, Rauch A, Zenker M, Adam MP, Innes M, Davies C, López AG, Casalone R, Weber A, Brueton LA, Navarro AD, Bralo MP, Venselaar H, Stegmann SP, Yntema HG, van Bokhoven H, Brunner HG. Further clinical and molecular delineation of the 9q subtelomeric deletion syndrome supports a major contribution of EHMT1 haploinsufficiency to the core phenotype. *J Med Genet* 2009; 46: 598-606 [PMID: 19264732 DOI: 10.1136/jmg.2008.062950]
- 88 Kleefstra T, Kramer JM, Neveling K, Willemsen MH, Koemans TS, Vissers LE, Wissink-Lindhout W, Fenckova M, van den Akker WM, Kasri NN, Nillesen WM, Prescott T, Clark RD, Devriendt K, van Reeuwijk J, de Brouwer AP, Gilissen C, Zhou H, Brunner HG, Veltman JA, Schenck A, van Bokhoven H. Disruption of an EHMT1-associated chromatinmodification module causes intellectual disability. *Am J Hum Genet* 2012; **91**: 73-82 [PMID: 22726846 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.05.003]
- 89 MacDonald SK, Marshall AE, Lemire G, Hartley T; Care4Rare Canada Consortium, Kernohan KD, Boycott KM. A novel intragenic DPF2 deletion identified by genome sequencing in an adult with clinical features of Coffin-Siris syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* 2022; 188: 2493-2496 [PMID: 35607970 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.62849]
- 90 Foley R, Duignan S, McArdle L, Betts DR, Green A, McMahon CJ. Nicolaides-Baraitser syndrome in a patient with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and SMARCA2 gene deletion. *Cardiol Young* 2022; 32: 821-823 [PMID: 34521483 DOI: 10.1017/S1047951121003826]
- 91 Lo T, Kushima I, Aleksic B, Kato H, Nawa Y, Hayashi Y, Otgonbayar G, Kimura H, Arioka Y, Mori D, Ozaki N. Sequencing of selected chromatin remodelling genes reveals increased burden of rare missense variants in ASD patients from the Japanese population. *Int Rev Psychiatry* 2022; **34**: 154-167 [PMID: 35699097 DOI: 10.1080/09540261.2022.2072193]
- 92 Aydin H, Bucak IH, Bagis H. Kleefstra Syndrome. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2022; 32: S76-S78 [PMID: 35633020 DOI: 10.29271/jcpsp.2022.Supp1.S76]
- 93 Sokpor G, Xie Y, Rosenbusch J, Tuoc T. Chromatin Remodeling BAF (SWI/SNF) Complexes in Neural Development and Disorders. *Front Mol Neurosci* 2017; 10: 243 [PMID: 28824374 DOI: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00243]
- 94 Frega M, Selten M, Mossink B, Keller JM, Linda K, Moerschen R, Qu J, Koerner P, Jansen S, Oudakker A, Kleefstra T, van Bokhoven H, Zhou H, Schubert D, Nadif Kasri N. Distinct Pathogenic Genes Causing Intellectual Disability and Autism Exhibit a Common Neuronal Network Hyperactivity Phenotype. *Cell Rep* 2020; **30**: 173-186.e6 [PMID: 31914384 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.002]
- 95 Centore RC, Sandoval GJ, Soares LMM, Kadoch C, Chan HM. Mammalian SWI/SNF Chromatin Remodeling Complexes: Emerging Mechanisms and Therapeutic Strategies. *Trends Genet* 2020; 36: 936-950 [PMID: 32873422 DOI: 10.1016/j.tig.2020.07.011]

Zaishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJSC

# World Journal of Stem Cells

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 248-267

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248

**Basic Study** 

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal microRNAs target PI3K/Akt signaling pathway to promote the activation of fibroblasts

Fang-Qi Li, Wen-Bo Chen, Zhi-Wen Luo, Yi-Sheng Chen, Ya-Ying Sun, Xiao-Ping Su, Jun-Ming Sun, Shi-Yi Chen

Specialty type: Cell and tissue engineering

## Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Lei X, China; Tan W, China: Li SC. United States

Received: November 23, 2022 Peer-review started: November 23. 2022 First decision: January 6, 2023 Revised: January 19, 2023 Accepted: March 23, 2023 Article in press: March 23, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023



Fang-Qi Li, Wen-Bo Chen, Zhi-Wen Luo, Yi-Sheng Chen, Ya-Ying Sun, Shi-Yi Chen, Department of Sports Medicine, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200040, China

Xiao-Ping Su, Guangxi Key Laboratory of Oral and Maxillofacial Rehabilitation and Reconstruction, Guangxi Medical University, Nanning 530021, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China

Jun-Ming Sun, Laboratory Animal Center, Guangxi Medical University, Nanning 530021, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China

Corresponding author: Shi-Yi Chen, Doctor, MD, PhD, Academic Editor, Academic Fellow, Chairman, Department of Sports Medicine, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, No. 12 Middle Wulumuqi Road, Jing'an District, Shanghai 200040, China. cshiyi@163.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Fibroblast plays a major role in tendon-bone healing. Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) can activate fibroblasts and promote tendon-bone healing via the contained microRNAs (miRNAs). However, the underlying mechanism is not comprehensively understood. Herein, this study aimed to identify overlapped BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs in three GSE datasets, and to verify their effects as well as mechanisms on fibroblasts.

# AIM

To identify overlapped BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs in three GSE datasets and verify their effects as well as mechanisms on fibroblasts.

# **METHODS**

BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs data (GSE71241, GSE153752, and GSE85341) were downloaded from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database. The candidate miRNAs were obtained by the intersection of three data sets. TargetScan was used to predict potential target genes for the candidate miRNAs. Functional and pathway analyses were conducted using the Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) databases, respectively, by processing data with the Metascape. Highly interconnected genes in the



protein-protein interaction (PPI) network were analyzed using Cytoscape software. Bromodeoxyuridine, wound healing assay, collagen contraction assay and the expression of COL I and  $\alpha$ smooth muscle actin positive were applied to investigate the cell proliferation, migration and collagen synthesis. Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction was applied to determine the cell fibroblastic, tenogenic, and chondrogenic potential.

# RESULTS

Bioinformatics analyses found two BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs, has-miR-144-3p and hasmiR-23b-3p, were overlapped in three GSE datasets. PPI network analysis and functional enrichment analyses in the GO and KEGG databases indicated that both miRNAs regulated the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway by targeting phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). In vitro experiments confirmed that miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p stimulated proliferation, migration and collagen synthesis of NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Interfering with PTEN affected the phosphorylation of Akt and thus activated fibroblasts. Inhibition of PTEN also promoted the fibroblastic, tenogenic, and chondrogenic potential of NIH3T3 fibroblasts.

# **CONCLUSION**

BMSC-derived exosomes promote fibroblast activation possibly through the PTEN and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways, which may serve as potential targets to further promote tendon-bone healing.

Key Words: Exosome; MicroRNA; Fibroblast; Mesenchymal stem cell; Tendon-bone healing

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) can activate fibroblasts and promote tendon-bone healing via the contained microRNAs (miRNAs). Supported by bioinformatics tools, this study identified two BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs, has-miR-144-3p and has-miR-23b-3p, were overlapped in three GSE datasets. Bioinformatic analysis revealed that both miRNAs regulated the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway by targeting phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). Experiments in vitro confirmed that interfering with PTEN can affect the phosphorylation of Akt and thus the activation of fibroblasts. These results suggested a potential mechanism by which BMSC-derived exosomes promote tendon-bone healing.

Citation: Li FQ, Chen WB, Luo ZW, Chen YS, Sun YY, Su XP, Sun JM, Chen SY. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal microRNAs target PI3K/Akt signaling pathway to promote the activation of fibroblasts. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 248-267

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/248.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248

# INTRODUCTION

Tendon-bone insertion (TBI) injury, such as rotator cuff tears and anterior cruciate ligament injuries, is one of the common injuries in daily life and sports. Thus, how to promote tendon-bone healing becomes an important issue in research and clinical practice. The normal TBI has a transitional structure consisting of four gradated layers including bone, mineralized fibrocartilage layer, non-mineralized fibrocartilage layer and tendon[1,2]. This complex structure can disperse force from bone to tendon, preventing stress concentration[3]. However, current therapeutic strategies cannot restore this structure, hence raising the risk of re-injury.

Fibroblasts play a key role in tendon-bone healing. In the early stages of TBI injury,  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin positive ( $\alpha$ -SMA+) fibroblasts help form Sharpey-like fibers to withstand strength at TBI and participate in early ligament remodeling by producing collagen and restoring in situ tension[4,5]. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a kind of stem cells with strong proliferation capacity and multilineage differentiation potential, which can differentiate into myoblasts, osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondroblast[6]. MSCs can be extracted from bone, adipose tissue, blood, and amniotic membrane [7]. They have multiple functions including immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic, and angiogenesis promotion, making them ideal candidate cells for tissue engineering research[8]. Recent evidence indicates that conditioned medium, primarily containing exosomes of MSCs, can stimulate the activation of fibroblasts, thereby promoting tendon-bone healing[9-12]. However, the underlying mechanism is not comprehensively understood.



Bioinformatics has played an important role in exploring disease mechanisms by allowing parallel processing of large volumes of high-throughput sequencing data. To identify key bone marrow MSC (BMSC)-derived exosome microRNAs (miRNAs), three Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) datasets were interrogated using bioinformatics tools in this study. TargetScan, a software designed to predict miRNA binding sites, is often used to analyze target genes of miRNAs[13]. Metascape, a powerful gene functional annotation analysis tool, enables pathway enrichment and biological process (BP) annotation [14]. STRING database allows for assessing the functional associations among target genes[15]. Cytoscape software enables visualization of miRNA-target gene pairs.

Therefore, using the above database tools, this study aimed to identify overlapped BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs in three GSE datasets and verify their effects as well as mechanisms on fibroblasts, so as to facilitate further studies to verify the role of exosomal miRNAs and their potential in promoting tendon-bone healing.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

The workflow of this study was described (Figure 1).

# Data collection

Three BMSC-derived exosomal miRNA expression microarray datasets (GSE71241, GSE153752, and GSE85341) were retrieved from the GEO repository on 20 April 2022. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ geo). GSE71241[16], GSE153752[17], and GSE85341[18] included nine, four and one BMSC-derived exosome samples respectively. The above datasets were produced independently using the GPL18743, GPL16791, and GPL22300 platforms, respectively.

# Venn diagram analysis and prediction of target genes

After obtaining the top 100 BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs in each dataset, Venn diagram analysis was used to identify overlapped miRNAs in the three datasets through online tool Venny (version 2.1) ( https://bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny). The overlapped miRNAs were considered as candidate miRNAs. Potential target genes for the candidate miRNAs were predicted by TargetScan, an experimentally validated database of miRNA-target interactions[13].

# Gene Ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway analyses

Functional and pathway analyses of the predicted target genes were conducted using the Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) databases, respectively, by processing data with the Metascape[14].

# Construction of target gene-protein-protein interaction and miRNA-gene networks

Target gene data was uploaded to the STRING database[15] to assess the functional associations among the target genes of candidate miRNAs. Highly interconnected (hub) genes in the protein-protein interaction (PPI) network were analyzed using Cytoscape software (version 3.9.1). After candidate exosomal miRNAs and their hub target genes were identified, Cytoscape was used to visualize the resulting miRNA-gene network.

# Cell culture and treatment

The NIH3T3 fibroblast (Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences) was used as a model in vitro to further determine the effect of SF1670 [a specific phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) inhibitor] on fibroblasts[19]. Cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco), 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 mg/mL streptomycin and maintained at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. When the cells reached 80% confluence, they were digested with 0.25% trypsin and sub-cultured 1:3. To determine the effect of SF1670, NIH3T3 cells were starved for 24 h with DMEM containing 0.5% FBS and then treated with or without SF1670 2 µM for the indicated time. NIH3T3 fibroblast was seeded and cultured into six-well plate.

# Western blot assay

Protein was extracted and analyzed using an established method[20]. Anti-phosphorylated Akt (p-Akt) (CST, United States, 1:1000) and anti-Akt (CST, United States, 1:1000) were used as primary antibodies. Each group contains 3 protein samples for calculation.

## Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

RNA was extracted and analyzed using the previous method<sup>[21]</sup>. Total RNA was obtained by the Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and quantified by Nanodrop. RNA was then reversely transcribed by the PrimeScript RT reagent kit (Takara Bio). Specific primers used in the experiment are from PrimerBank (Table 1). The operation was performed on the ABI7900 Real-Time PCR System (Applied



Table 1 Primers used in the experiment			
Genes	Primers (5' - 3')		
PTEN	F: TCAGCCGTTACCTGTGTGTG		
	R: TCCTTGTCATTATCTGCACGC		
α-SMA	F: GACAATGGCTCTGGGCTCTGTAA		
	R: CTGTGCTTCGTCACCCACGTA		
Vimentin	F: GACGCCATCAACACCGAGTT		
	R: CTTTGTCGTTGGTTAGCTGGT		
Tenomodulin	F: CCATGCTGGATGAGAGAGGTT		
	R: CCGTCCTCGTAGCAGT		
Col I	F: CCCGGGTTTCAGAGACAACTTC		
	R: TCCACATGCTTTATTCCAGCAATC		
Sox 9	F: GAGCCGGATCTGAAGAGGGA		
	R: GCTTGACGTGTGGGCTTGTTC		
Col II	F: GGGAATGTCCTCTGCGATGAC		
	R: GAAGGGGATCTCGGGGTTG		
GAPDH	F: ACTCCACTCACGGCAAATTC		
	R: TCTCCATGGTGGTGAAGACA		

PTEN: Phosphatase and tensin homolog; α-SMA: α-smooth muscle actin positive.



**DOI:** 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

# Figure 1 The flowchart of this study. miRNAs: MicroRNAs.

Biosystems). The expression of mRNAs relative to the expression of GAPDH was calculated and normalized to the control group.

# Luciferase reporter assay

Validation of miR-144 and miR-23b binding to 3'-UTR was performed using Dual-Glo Luciferase assay



system (Promega) as recommended by the manufacturer. The relative luciferase activities were determined by calculating the ratio of firefly luciferase activities over Renilla luciferase activities. All experiments were repeated three times in triplicate. Two constructs of pmirGLO luciferase reporter plasmid were generated: MUT-PTEN (with mutation of part of miRNA binding site sequence) and WT-PTEN [containing the wild-type (WT) miRNA binding site sequence]. 500 ng of the pmirGLO luciferase reporter plasmid and appropriate miRNA plasmid were co-transfected with lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) into NIH3T3 cells. 48 h after transfection, the luciferase expression was determined using the Dual-Glo Luciferase Reporter Assay Kit (Promega) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The pRL-TK vector (Promega) containing Renilla luciferase was also co-transfected for normalization in all relevant experiments.

# Bromodeoxyuridine assays

The Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation assay was performed using Cell Proliferation ELISA kits (1647229; Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany). Briefly, NIH3T3 cells were plated at 5000 cells/ well in 96-well culture plates in complete media. After attaining 70% confluence, cells were treated with media containing 10% FBS. BrdU solution (10 µM) was added after intervention. The cells were dried and fixed, and cellular DNA was denatured with FixDenat solution (Roche Applied Science) for 30 min at room temperature. A peroxidase-conjugated mouse anti-BrdU monoclonal antibody (Roche Applied Science) was added to the culture plates and cells were incubated for 90 min at room temperature. Tetramethyl-benzidine substrate was added and the plates were incubated for 15 min at room temperature. The absorbance of samples was measured using a microplate reader at 450-620 nm.

# Wound healing assay

Cells at logarithmic growth stage were taken and placed in a six-well plate with a cell density of  $5 \times 10^5$ / well. Three multiple wells were set for each group. When the cells were adherent to the wall in a single layer, a pipetting tip was used to vertically scratch the six-well plate to avoid tilting. The suspension cells were cleaned and removed with PBS and cultured in an incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C. Photographs were taken at 0 and 24 h under the microscope. The wound healing area was measured using ImageJ[22].

# Collagen gel contraction assay

Cell contraction was determined using a kit from Cell Biolabs (San Diego, CA). Briefly, cells were seeded in collagen solution according to the manufacturer's instructions and release from the plates with a sterile spatula. Gel images were taken after release and the surface area of each gel was measured using ImageJ[22].

## Immunofluorescence

NIH3T3 cells were cultured in a 24-well plate. The cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and incubated with 0.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma) and then blocked with goat serum (Biyuntian Company, China) for 1 h. The cells were then incubated overnight at 4 °C with the primary antibody. The secondary antibody was applied, and the cells were incubated for 1 h in the dark. Finally, the nuclei were counterstained with DAPI for 15 min. The stained cells were photographed using a fluorescence microscope.

## Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed at least three times. Data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism 7.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, United States) and were presented by mean ± SD. Significance was typically analyzed by student's t-test, one-way ANOVA followed by post hoc LSD test, and two-way ANOVA followed by multiple *t*-tests. P < 0.05 was regarded as significant.

# RESULTS

## Identification of candidate exosomal miRNAs and target genes

Three independent BMSC-derived exosomal miRNA expression microarray datasets (GSE71241, GSE153752, and GSE85341)[16-18] were downloaded from the GEO database. Subsequently, top 100 BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs in each dataset were obtained. The Venn diagram analysis demonstrated two miRNAs in the intersection of the three datasets (Figure 2). The target gene interactions of two candidate miRNAs, hsa-miR-144-3p and hsa-miR-23b-3p, were assessed by the TargetScan[13]. In total, 1048 and 105 potential target genes were identified for miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p, respectively.

## Functional enrichment analysis of miRNAs' target genes

GO functional annotation analysis revealed that the most enriched terms for the target genes of miR-







144-3p were 'head development' and 'regulation of kinase activity' in the BP, 'postsynapse' in the cellular component (CC), and 'transcription factor binding' and 'kinase activity' in the molecular function (MF) (Figures 3A-D). On the other hand, the target genes of miR-23b-3p were mostly enriched in 'phospholipid metabolic process' in the BP, 'nuclear speck' and 'centrosome' in the CC, and 'chromatin binding' in the MF (Figures 4A-D). KEGG pathway analysis revealed that most of target genes of miR-144-3p enriched in 'pathways in cancer' and 'PI3K-AKT signaling pathway' (Figure 3E); most of target genes of miR-23b-3p enriched in 'pathways in cancer' (Figure 4E).

# Construction of target gene-PPI and miRNA-hub gene networks

A PPI network was constructed through the STRING database<sup>[15]</sup>. Interactions with an overall score of more than 0.4 were considered significant. Further processing was carried out using Cytoscape software. Then, the cytoHubba plugin was used to determine the top 10 hub genes based on the Degree algorithm. The top 10 predicted hub genes of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p were presented (Figures 5A and B). GO and KEGG analysis revealed that these hub genes were mostly enriched in 'regulation of MAPK cascade', 'regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling' and 'negative regulation of cell differentiation' in the BP (Figure 5C, Table 2), 'fibrillar center' and 'focal adhesion' in the CC (Figure 5D, Table 3), and 'protein kinase activity' and 'transcription factor binding' in the MF (Figure 5E, Table 4). Most of these genes were mainly enriched in PI3K-Akt signaling pathway (Figure 5F, Table 5). Interactional analysis showed that PTEN and sonic hedgehog (SHH) are potentially co-regulated by miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p (Figure 5G).

# PTEN is verified as the targets of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p

The phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten (PTEN), was predicted as the hub gene of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p (Figures 6A and B). To further validate the putative binding sites, WT and mutated 3'-UTR of PTEN were cloned into the pmirGLO vector. The transcripts of the target gene were then evaluated by dual luciferase reporter assays. Compared with the control group, luciferase reporter assays showed that miR-144-3p mimics and miR-23b-3p mimics significantly decreased the luciferase activity of WT-PTEN but did not show a significant effect on the luciferase activity of MUT-PTEN (Figures 6C and D). In addition, miR-144-3p mimic significantly down-regulated the mRNA levels of PTEN, while miR-144-3p inhibitor up-regulated the mRNA levels of PTEN (Figure 6E). Similarly, miR-23b-3p mimic down-regulated the mRNA level of PTEN, while miR-23b-3p inhibitor up-regulated the mRNA level of PTEN (Figure 6F). These results indicated that miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p repressed the expression of PTEN by specifically binding with and subsequently inducing the degradation of mRNA.

# miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p regulate the proliferation, migration, and collagen synthesis of NIH3T3 fibroblasts

To evaluate the effect of the identified miRNAs on fibroblast biology and activation, analysis of proliferation and migration was then performed 24 h after transfection of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p respectively. Compared with the control group, proliferation and migration capacity of NIH3T3 cells in



#### Li FQ et al. BMSC-Exos promote tendon-bone healing

Table 2 Top 10 clusters with Gene Ontology Biological Processes analysis of hub-gene targets				
Term	Description	Log <i>P</i>	Log(q-value)	Count
GO:0048732	Gland development	-12.279	-7.927	9
GO:0048608	Reproductive structure development	-10.269	-6.495	8
GO:0061458	Reproductive system development	-10.245	-6.495	8
GO:0030900	Forebrain development	-8.922	-5.472	7
GO:0043408	Regulation of MAPK cascade	-8.603	-5.240	8
GO:0045596	Negative regulation of cell differentiation	-8.549	-5.238	8
GO:0022612	Gland morphogenesis	-8.482	-5.208	5
GO:0014066	Regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling	-8.316	-5.077	5
GO:0060322	Head development	-8.138	-4.931	8
GO:0060284	Regulation of cell development	-8.045	-4.868	7

# Table 3 Top 10 clusters with Gene Ontology Cellular Components analysis of hub-gene targets

Term	Description	Log <i>P</i>	Log( <i>q</i> -value)	Count
GO:0045121	Membrane raft	-4.441	-2.311	4
GO:0098857	Membrane microdomain	-4.436	-2.310	4
GO:0001650	Fibrillar center	-4.076	-2.035	3
GO:0009898	Cytoplasmic side of plasma membrane	-3.849	-1.860	3
GO:0098562	Cytoplasmic side of membrane	-3.638	-1.688	3
GO:0005770	Late endosome	-3.205	-1.308	3
GO:0005788	Endoplasmic reticulum lumen	-3.103	-1.227	3
GO:0031983	Vesicle lumen	-3.041	-1.174	3
GO:0005925	Focal adhesion	-2.726	-0.896	3
GO:0030055	Cell-substrate junction	-2.699	-0.873	3

# Table 4 Top 10 clusters with Gene Ontology Molecular Functions analysis of hub-gene targets

Term	Description	Log <i>P</i>	Log(q-value)	Count
GO:0002020	Protease binding	-5.941	-3.326	4
GO:0004712	Protein serine/threonine/tyrosine kinase activity	-5.299	-2.910	5
GO:0004672	Protein kinase activity	-4.802	-2.546	5
GO:0003682	Chromatin binding	-4.726	-2.507	5
GO:0008134	Transcription factor binding	-4.694	-2.487	5
GO:0031490	Chromatin DNA binding	-4.457	-2.319	3
GO:0016773	Phosphotransferase activity, alcohol group as acceptor	-4.435	-2.310	5
GO:0019904	Protein domain specific binding	-4.395	-2.280	5
GO:0061629	RNA polymerase II-specific DNA-binding transcription factor binding	-4.331	-2.228	4
GO:0016301	Kinase activity	-4.267	-2.193	5

transfection groups were significantly increased (Figures 7A and B). Furthermore, overexpression of miR-144-3p or miR-23b-3p upregulated the expression of Col I and a-SMA in NIH3T3 cells (Figure 7C). These in vitro transfection data indicated that increment in intracellular miR-144-3p or miR-23b-3p stimulated NIH3T3 fibroblast proliferation and migration, and promoted fibroblast-myofibroblast differentiation and collagen synthesis.



Table 5 Top 10 clusters with Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes Pathway analysis of hub-gene targets				
Term	Description	Log <i>P</i>	Log( <i>q</i> -value)	Count
hsa04510	Focal adhesion	-10.807	-6.755	7
hsa05200	Pathways in cancer	-9.488	-5.834	8
hsa04151	PI3K-Akt signaling pathway	-9.088	-5.538	7
hsa01521	EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance	-9.046	-5.538	5
hsa05215	Prostate cancer	-8.593	-5.240	5
hsa05224	Breast cancer	-7.682	-4.608	5
hsa05165	Human papillomavirus infection	-7.560	-4.511	6
hsa05213	Endometrial cancer	-7.435	-4.444	4
hsa05225	Hepatocellular carcinoma	-7.392	-4.437	5
hsa05230	Central carbon metabolism in cancer	-7.102	-4.181	4

EGFR: Epidermal growth factor receptor.

# Inhibition of PTEN promote cell proliferation, migration, collagen synthesis and change the gene expression of fibroblastic-, tenogenic-, and chondrogenic-related factors in NIH3T3 cells

To explore whether BMSC-derived exosome promoted tendon bone healing by directly targeting PTEN in fibroblasts, SF1670, a specific PTEN inhibitor that binds to the active site of PTEN and increases cellular PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 levels and phosphorylation of Akt *in vitro*[19], was used to examine the effect of PTEN inhibition on NIH3T3 cells. The results showed that SF1670 significantly increased the phosphorylation level of Akt compared with DMSO group (Figure 8A). Moreover, BrdU and wound healing assays showed that SF1670 significantly increased proliferation (Figure 8B) and migration (Figure 8C) of NIH3T3 cells. Collagen contraction assays indicated that SF1670 significantly enhanced the contractility of NIH3T3 cells (Figure 8D). Finally, the properties necessary for tendon-bone healing was examined by quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. The results showed that the mRNA level of fibroblast-related genes ( $\alpha$ -SMA and vimentin), tenogenic-related genes (TNMD and Col I), and chondrogenic-related genes (SOX-9 and Col II) were significantly up-regulated by SF1670 (Figure 9).

# DISCUSSION

Tendon-bone healing has always been an important challenge in orthopedics and sports medicine research and clinical practice. Fibroblasts play a key role in early ligament remodeling and a large number of studies have verified the effective role of MSC-derived exosomes in tendon-bone healing[9-12]. However, because the status of MSCs may be influenced by their generations or donors, the expression of exosomal miRNAs may be more or less different. This presents difficulties in identifying the roles associated with MSC-derived exosomal miRNAs. On ground of this, three GEO datasets were interrogated through bioinformatics tools to determine key BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs. Two candidate miRNAs (miRNA-144 and miRNA-23b) were obtained by intersecting the top 100 exosomal miRNAs in each dataset (Figure 2). Their target genes and hub genes were obtained subsequently. GO annotation and KEGG pathway enrichment analysis suggested that these genes were involved in multiple cellular processes (*e.g.,* regulation of kinase activity, transcription factor binding, and phospholipid metabolic process) and signaling cascades (*e.g.,* focal adhesion, and PI3K-Akt pathways). A miRNA-target gene interaction network indicated that PTEN was co-regulated by miRNA-144 and miRNA-23b (Figure 5G).

PTEN functions primarily *via* dephosphorylation of PIP3 to PIP2, resulting in negative regulation of the PI3K/Akt activity[23]. The PTEN/PI3K/Akt nexus participates in various physiological and pathological conditions, and plays an important role in regulating cell growth, apoptosis, metabolism and other processes[24]. Being the direct target of PTEN, PI3K/Akt is also involved in activation of fibroblasts[25,26]. In this study, the effect of PTEN on fibroblasts was also demonstrated. The results showed that inhibition of PTEN increased the level of Akt phosphorylation and promoted the proliferation and migration of fibroblasts (Figure 8), which suggest that PTEN plays an important role in the activation of fibroblasts.





В

Α





С



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Gene Ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes analysis of genes targeted by hsa-miR-144-3p. A-D: Top 10 Gene Ontology biological process, cellular component, and molecular function terms enriched in target genes of hsa-miR-144-3p; E: Top 10 Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathways enriched in target genes of hsa-miR-144-3p. BP: Biological process; CC: Cellular component; MF: Molecular function; GO: Gene Ontology; KEEG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes.

Normal TBI has a transitional structure consisting of four graduated layers including bone tissue, mineralized fibrocartilage layer, non-mineralized fibrocartilage layer and tendon tissue[27], which means that fibrogenesis, tenogenesis and chondrogenesis are key characteristics of tendon-bone healing. As the markers of fibrogenesis,  $\alpha$ -SMA and vimentin are expressed in activated fibroblasts[28]. Similarly, tenomodulin (TNMD) and collagen I, collagen II and Sox-9 are well-acknowledged indicators for representing the activation of tenogenic and chondrogenic process[29,30]. By inhibiting PTEN, the results showed increased expression of fibroblastic, tenogenic and chondrogenic markers in fibroblasts (Figure 9), implying that PTEN and PI3K/Akt pathway may be targets for promoting tendon-bone healing.

In addition, this study found that SHH was also regulated by both miRNA-144 and miRNA-23b (Figure 5G). HH signaling pathway is a highly conserved pathway involved in embryonic development, tissue homeostasis and stem cell maintenance[31]. HH signaling is also involved in regulating proliferation of MSCs in adult tissues and plays critical roles in promoting tendon-bone healing[32-34]. SHH, one of three HH family members in mammals, acts in the early stages of development to regulate patterning and growth[35], and plays a crucial role in bone healing[36]. These evidences suggested that MSC-derived exosomal miRNAs may promote tendon-bone healing in more than one way.

The outcomes of the current study were guaranteed by several factors. In this study, three BMSCderived exosomal miRNA expression microarray datasets were searched from the GEO repository to avoid batch differences. Moreover, due to the costs, technical challenges, and lack of biomarkers suitable for specific exosomes, it is difficult to isolate large number of pure and specific exosomes from mixtures of different vesicle types in a large volume of solution[37]. Therefore, this study identified the key pathway of exosomal miRNA through comprehensive analysis, providing a theoretical basis for developing methods to stably regulate the activation of fibroblasts and thus promote tendon-bone healing.





Ubiquitin-like protein conjugating enzyme activity

0.03

او

0.05 .06

0.01 0.08

GeneRatio

0,09



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Gene Ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes analysis of genes targeted by hsa-miR-23b-3p. A-D: Top 10 Gene Ontology biological process, cellular component, and molecular function terms enriched in target genes of hsa-miR-23b-3p; E: Top 10 Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathways enriched in target genes of hsa-miR-23b-3p. BP: Biological process; CC: Cellular component; MF: Molecular function; GO: Gene Ontology; KEEG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes.





С Gland development Reproductive structure development Reproductive system development Regulation of MAPK cascade Negative regulation of cell differentiation Head development Forebrain development Regulation of cell development Gland morphogenesis Regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling





Ε

Raishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com



**DOI**: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 Gene Ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes analysis of hub-gene targets. A: Top 10 hub-gene targets for hsa-miR-144-3p; B: Top 10 hub-gene targets for hsa-miR-23b-3p; C-E: Top 10 Gene Ontology biological process, cellular component, and molecular function terms enriched in the top 20 hub-gene targets; F: Top 10 Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathways enriched in the 20 hub-gene targets; G: Interaction network of the two microRNAs and their hub-gene targets.

Raishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com



**DOI**: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 Phosphatase and tensin homolog is verified as the targets of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p. A: Human and mouse sequence of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) for miR-144-3p binding site; B: Human and mouse sequence of PTEN for miR-23b-3p binding site; C: The relative luciferase activity was tested after co-transfection of WT/MUT pmirGLO-PTEN-3'UTR and miR-144-3p mimics or their control groups in NIH3T3 cells; D: The relative luciferase activity was tested after co-transfection of WT/MUT pmirGLO-PTEN-3'UTR and miR-23b-3p mimics or their control groups in NIH3T3 cells; E: The mRNA levels of PTEN in NIH3T3 cells transfected with miR-144-3p mimics or miR-144-3p inhibitors; F: The mRNA levels of PTEN in NIH3T3 cells transfected with miR-23b-3p mimics or miR-23b-3p inhibitors; G: Western blot showing the PTEN expression levels after transfected with miR-144-3p mimics. n = 3 per groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01.

However, the outcomes should also be interpreted with caution. The biological functions of exosomal miRNAs are diverse, but this study only took the overlapped target gene, *i.e.*, PTEN, for analysis. Thus, further exploration is needed to pinpoint the specific functions of each miRNA. In addition, this study only used murine NIH3T3 cells *in vitro*. Experiments *in vivo* is needed to verify the reconstruction of the natural gradient structure of TBI.

# CONCLUSION

BMSC-derived exosomes promote fibroblast activation possibly through the PTEN and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways, which may serve as potential targets to further promote tendon-bone healing.

Zaisbideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 7 MiR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p regulate the proliferation, migration and collagen synthesis of NIH3T3 fibroblasts. A: Bromodeoxyuridine assay was performed to measure the proliferation ability; B: Wound healing assay was performed to measure the migratory capability; C: Immunofluorescence was performed to determine the effects of miR-144-3p and miR-23b-3p on COL I and  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin expression. n = 3 per groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.  ${}^{a}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}P < 0.01$ .  $\alpha$ -SMA:  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin.

Saisbideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

а

٦

SF1670

SF1670

b





24 h

Jaisbideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

DMSO

24 h

SF1670

0.0

0 h



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.248 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 8 Inhibition of phosphatase and tensin homolog promoted cell proliferation, migration, and collagen synthesis. A: The protein levels of p-Akt and Akt in NIH3T3 cells were determined by western blot; B: Bromodeoxyuridine assay was performed to measure the proliferation ability; C: Wound healing assay was performed to measure the migratory capability; D: Collagen contraction assay was performed to evaluate the cell contractility. n = 3 per groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.  ${}^{a}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}P < 0.01$ .



Figure 9 Inhibition of phosphatase and tensin homolog change the gene expression of fibroblastic-, tenogenic-, and chondrogenicrelated factors in NIH3T3 cells. The mRNA level of  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin, vimentin, TNMD, Col I, Sox-9, and Col II in NIH3T3 cells treated with or without SF1670 was determined by quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. Data are shown as mean ± SD. <sup>a</sup>*P* < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>*P* < 0.01.  $\alpha$ -SMA:  $\alpha$ smooth muscle actin.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

# Research background

The normal tendon-bone insertion has a transitional structure consisting of four gradated layers including bone, mineralized fibrocartilage layer, non-mineralized fibrocartilage layer and tendon. This complex structure can disperse force from bone to tendon, preventing stress concentration. However, current therapeutic strategies cannot restore this structure, hence raising the risk of re-injury.

# Research motivation

Recent evidence indicates that conditioned medium, primarily contains exosomes of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), can stimulate the activation of fibroblasts, thereby promoting tendon-bone healing. However, the underlying mechanism is not comprehensively understood. Moreover, the expression of exosome microRNA (miRNA) may vary depending on the status of MSCs, which presents difficulties in identifying the roles associated with MSC-derived exosomal miRNAs.

# Research objectives

To identify overlapped bone marrow MSC (BMSC)-derived exosomal miRNAs in three GSE datasets and verify their effects as well as mechanisms on fibroblasts.

# Research methods

BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs data were downloaded from the Gene Expression Omnibus database. The candidate miRNAs were obtained by the intersection of different datasets. TargetScan was used to predict potential target genes. Functional and pathway analyses were conducted using the Gene Ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes databases. Hub genes in the protein-protein interaction (PPI) network were analyzed using Cytoscape software. The transcripts of the target gene were assessed by dual luciferase reporter assays. BrdU, wound healing assay, collagen contraction assay and the expression of COL I and  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin positive were applied to investigate the cell proliferation, migration and collagen synthesis.

# **Research results**

Bioinformatics analyses showed two BMSC-derived exosomal miRNAs, has-miR-144-3p and has-miR-23b-3p, were overlapped in three GSE datasets. PPI network analysis and functional enrichment analyses indicated that both miRNAs regulated the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway by targeting phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). In vitro experiments confirmed that both miRNAs stimulated proliferation, migration and collagen synthesis of NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Interfering with PTEN affected the phosphorylation of Akt and thus activated fibroblasts.

## Research conclusions

BMSC-derived exosomes promote fibroblast activation possibly through the PTEN and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways, which may serve as potential targets to further promote tendon-bone healing.

## Research perspectives

Further exploration is needed to pinpoint the specific functions of exosomal miRNAs. In vivo studies may better reveal the effect of exosomal miRNAs on tendon-bone healing.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Li FQ, Chen WB, and Chen YS designed and performed most of the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript; Luo ZW and Sun YY assisted during the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data and revised the manuscript; and all authors have reviewed and approved the final manuscript. Li FQ, Chen WB, and Luo ZW contributed equally to this study. Su XP (xiaopingsu2013@aliyun.com), Sun JM (sjm990205@163.com), and Chen SY (cshiyi@163.com) correspond to this study.

Supported by Sanming Project of Medicine in Shenzhen, No. SZSM201612078; Health Shanghai Initiative Special Fund (Medical-Sports Integration, Creating a New Model of Exercise for Health), No. JKSHZX-2022-02.

Institutional review board statement: This study involves no human or animal subjects.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by



external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Fang-Qi Li 0000-0001-6924-5522; Wen-Bo Chen 0000-0001-9683-9166; Zhi-Wen Luo 0000-0002-0524-9951; Ya-Ying Sun 0000-0001-5457-6046; Shi-Yi Chen 0000-0001-9190-3122.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang XD

# REFERENCES

- 1 Zelzer E, Blitz E, Killian ML, Thomopoulos S. Tendon-to-bone attachment: from development to maturity. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2014; 102: 101-112 [PMID: 24677726 DOI: 10.1002/bdrc.21056]
- Genin GM, Thomopoulos S. The tendon-to-bone attachment: Unification through disarray. Nat Mater 2017; 16: 607-608 2 [PMID: 28541313 DOI: 10.1038/nmat4906]
- Thomopoulos S, Genin GM, Galatz LM. The development and morphogenesis of the tendon-to-bone insertion what 3 development can teach us about healing -. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2010; 10: 35-45 [PMID: 20190378]
- Kosaka M, Nakase J, Hayashi K, Tsuchiya H. Adipose-Derived Regenerative Cells Promote Tendon-Bone Healing in a Rabbit Model. Arthroscopy 2016; 32: 851-859 [PMID: 26790583 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2015.10.012]
- 5 Weiler A, Unterhauser FN, Bail HJ, Hüning M, Haas NP. Alpha-smooth muscle actin is expressed by fibroblastic cells of the ovine anterior cruciate ligament and its free tendon graft during remodeling. J Orthop Res 2002; 20: 310-317 [PMID: 11918311 DOI: 10.1016/S0736-0266(01)00109-71
- Polymeri A, Giannobile WV, Kaigler D. Bone Marrow Stromal Stem Cells in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative 6 Medicine. Horm Metab Res 2016; 48: 700-713 [PMID: 27871114 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-118458]
- 7 Robey P. "Mesenchymal stem cells": fact or fiction, and implications in their therapeutic use. F1000Res 2017; 6 [PMID: 28491279 DOI: 10.12688/f1000research.10955.1]
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U. Clinical Trials With Mesenchymal Stem Cells: An Update. Cell Transplant 2016; 25: 8 829-848 [PMID: 26423725 DOI: 10.3727/096368915X689622]
- Chen W, Sun Y, Gu X, Cai J, Liu X, Zhang X, Chen J, Hao Y, Chen S. Conditioned medium of human bone marrow-9 derived stem cells promotes tendon-bone healing of the rotator cuff in a rat model. Biomaterials 2021; 271: 120714 [PMID: 33610048 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2021.120714]
- Sun Y, Chen W, Hao Y, Gu X, Liu X, Cai J, Liu S, Chen J, Chen S. Stem Cell-Conditioned Medium Promotes Graft 10 Remodeling of Midsubstance and Intratunnel Incorporation After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction in a Rat Model. Am J Sports Med 2019; 47: 2327-2337 [PMID: 31306585 DOI: 10.1177/0363546519859324]
- 11 Shi Y, Kang X, Wang Y, Bian X, He G, Zhou M, Tang K. Exosomes Derived from Bone Marrow Stromal Cells (BMSCs) Enhance Tendon-Bone Healing by Regulating Macrophage Polarization. Med Sci Monit 2020; 26: e923328 [PMID: 32369458 DOI: 10.12659/MSM.923328]
- Zhou Y, Xie S, Tang Y, Li X, Cao Y, Hu J, Lu H. Effect of book-shaped acellular tendon scaffold with bone marrow 12 mesenchymal stem cells sheets on bone-tendon interface healing. J Orthop Translat 2021; 26: 162-170 [PMID: 33437635 DOI: 10.1016/j.jot.2020.02.013]
- 13 McGeary SE, Lin KS, Shi CY, Pham TM, Bisaria N, Kelley GM, Bartel DP. The biochemical basis of microRNA targeting efficacy. Science 2019; 366 [PMID: 31806698 DOI: 10.1126/science.aav1741]
- 14 Zhou Y, Zhou B, Pache L, Chang M, Khodabakhshi AH, Tanaseichuk O, Benner C, Chanda SK. Metascape provides a biologist-oriented resource for the analysis of systems-level datasets. Nat Commun 2019; 10: 1523 [PMID: 30944313 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6]
- Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Nastou KC, Lyon D, Kirsch R, Pyysalo S, Doncheva NT, Legeay M, Fang T, Bork P, Jensen LJ, 15 von Mering C. The STRING database in 2021: customizable protein-protein networks, and functional characterization of user-uploaded gene/measurement sets. Nucleic Acids Res 2021; 49: D605-D612 [PMID: 33237311 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkaa1074]
- Phinney DG, Di Giuseppe M, Njah J, Sala E, Shiva S, St Croix CM, Stolz DB, Watkins SC, Di YP, Leikauf GD, Kolls J, 16 Riches DW, Deiuliis G, Kaminski N, Boregowda SV, McKenna DH, Ortiz LA. Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. Nat Commun 2015; 6: 8472 [PMID: 26442449 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms9472
- Bliss SA, Sinha G, Sandiford OA, Williams LM, Engelberth DJ, Guiro K, Isenalumhe LL, Greco SJ, Ayer S, Bryan M, 17 Kumar R, Ponzio NM, Rameshwar P. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Stimulate Cycling Quiescence and Early Breast Cancer Dormancy in Bone Marrow. Cancer Res 2016; 76: 5832-5844 [PMID: 27569215 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1092]
- Soni N, Gupta S, Rawat S, Krishnakumar V, Mohanty S, Banerjee A. MicroRNA-Enriched Exosomes from Different 18 Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Can Differentially Modulate Functions of Immune Cells and Neurogenesis. Biomedicines 2021; 10 [PMID: 35052749 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines10010069]
- Rosivatz E, Matthews JG, McDonald NQ, Mulet X, Ho KK, Lossi N, Schmid AC, Mirabelli M, Pomeranz KM, Erneux C,



Lam EW, Vilar R, Woscholski R. A small molecule inhibitor for phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN). ACS Chem Biol 2006; 1: 780-790 [PMID: 17240976 DOI: 10.1021/cb600352f]

- Sun Y, Wang H, Li Y, Liu S, Chen J, Ying H. miR-24 and miR-122 Negatively Regulate the Transforming Growth 20 Factor-\beta/Smad Signaling Pathway in Skeletal Muscle Fibrosis. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2018; 11: 528-537 [PMID: 29858088 DOI: 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.04.005]
- Wang N, Luo Z, Jin M, Sheng W, Wang HT, Long X, Wu Y, Hu P, Xu H, Zhang X. Exploration of age-related 21 mitochondrial dysfunction and the anti-aging effects of resveratrol in zebrafish retina. Aging (Albany NY) 2019; 11: 3117-3137 [PMID: 31105084 DOI: 10.18632/aging.101966]
- Rueden CT, Schindelin J, Hiner MC, DeZonia BE, Walter AE, Arena ET, Eliceiri KW. ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next 22 generation of scientific image data. BMC Bioinformatics 2017; 18: 529 [PMID: 29187165 DOI: 10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z]
- 23 Pulido R. PTEN Inhibition in Human Disease Therapy. Molecules 2018; 23 [PMID: 29385737 DOI: 10.3390/molecules23020285
- Papa A, Pandolfi PP. The PTEN-PI3K Axis in Cancer. Biomolecules 2019; 9 [PMID: 30999672 DOI: 24 10.3390/biom9040153]
- Huang Z, Xing S, Liu M, Deng W, Wang Y, Huang Z, Huang Y, Huang X, Wu C, Guo X, Pan X, Jiang J, Feng F, Li T. 25 MiR-26a-5p enhances cells proliferation, invasion, and apoptosis resistance of fibroblast-like synoviocytes in rheumatoid arthritis by regulating PTEN/PI3K/AKT pathway. Biosci Rep 2019; 39 [PMID: 31221815 DOI: 10.1042/BSR20182192]
- Cao C, Wu F, Niu X, Hu X, Cheng J, Zhang Y, Li C, Duan X, Fu X, Zhang J, Zhang X, Ao Y. Cadherin-11 cooperates 26 with inflammatory factors to promote the migration and invasion of fibroblast-like synoviocytes in pigmented villonodular synovitis. Theranostics 2020; 10: 10573-10588 [PMID: 32929367 DOI: 10.7150/thno.48666]
- Wu Y, Dong Y, Jiang J, Li H, Zhu T, Chen S. Evaluation of the Bone-ligament and tendon insertions based on Raman 27 spectrum and its PCA and CLS analysis. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 38706 [PMID: 28139663 DOI: 10.1038/srep38706]
- Hinz B, Phan SH, Thannickal VJ, Galli A, Bochaton-Piallat ML, Gabbiani G. The myofibroblast: one function, multiple 28 origins. Am J Pathol 2007; 170: 1807-1816 [PMID: 17525249 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070112]
- Chu Y, Huang L, Hao W, Zhao T, Zhao H, Yang W, Xie X, Qian L, Chen Y, Dai J. Long-term stability, high strength, and 29 3D printable alginate hydrogel for cartilage tissue engineering application. Biomed Mater 2021; 16 [PMID: 34507313 DOI: 10.1088/1748-605X/ac2595]
- Younesi Soltani F, Javanshir S, Dowlati G, Parham A, Naderi-Meshkin H. Differentiation of human adipose-derived 30 mesenchymal stem cells toward tenocyte by platelet-derived growth factor-BB and growth differentiation factor-6. Cell Tissue Bank 2022; 23: 237-246 [PMID: 34013429 DOI: 10.1007/s10561-021-09935-7]
- Huang D, Wang Y, Tang J, Luo S. Molecular mechanisms of suppressor of fused in regulating the hedgehog signalling 31 pathway. Oncol Lett 2018; 15: 6077-6086 [PMID: 29725392 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.8142]
- 32 Mak KK, Bi Y, Wan C, Chuang PT, Clemens T, Young M, Yang Y. Hedgehog signaling in mature osteoblasts regulates bone formation and resorption by controlling PTHrP and RANKL expression. Dev Cell 2008; 14: 674-688 [PMID: 18477451 DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2008.02.003]
- Zong JC, Mosca MJ, Degen RM, Lebaschi A, Carballo C, Carbone A, Cong GT, Ying L, Deng XH, Rodeo SA. 33 Involvement of Indian hedgehog signaling in mesenchymal stem cell-augmented rotator cuff tendon repair in an athymic rat model. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2017; 26: 580-588 [PMID: 27887870 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2016.09.036]
- Carbone A, Carballo C, Ma R, Wang H, Deng X, Dahia C, Rodeo S. Indian hedgehog signaling and the role of graft 34 tension in tendon-to-bone healing: Evaluation in a rat ACL reconstruction model. J Orthop Res 2016; 34: 641-649 [PMID: 26447744 DOI: 10.1002/jor.23066]
- Yang J, Andre P, Ye L, Yang YZ. The Hedgehog signalling pathway in bone formation. Int J Oral Sci 2015; 7: 73-79 35 [PMID: 26023726 DOI: 10.1038/ijos.2015.14]
- Horikiri Y, Shimo T, Kurio N, Okui T, Matsumoto K, Iwamoto M, Sasaki A. Sonic hedgehog regulates osteoblast 36 function by focal adhesion kinase signaling in the process of fracture healing. PLoS One 2013; 8: e76785 [PMID: 24124594 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076785]
- He C, Zheng S, Luo Y, Wang B. Exosome Theranostics: Biology and Translational Medicine. Theranostics 2018; 8: 237-37 255 [PMID: 29290805 DOI: 10.7150/thno.21945]



W J S C World Jours

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Stem Cells 2023 April 26; 15(4): 268-280

DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.268

ISSN 1948-0210 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# **Basic Study** Repetitive administration of cultured human CD34+ cells improve adenine-induced kidney injury in mice

Takayasu Ohtake, Shoichi Itaba, Amankeldi A Salybekov, Yin Sheng, Tsutomu Sato, Mitsuru Yanai, Makoto Imagawa, Shigeo Fujii, Hiroki Kumagai, Masamitsu Harata, Takayuki Asahara, Shuzo Kobayashi

Takayasu Ohtake, Regenerative Medicine, The Center for Cell Therapy & Regenerative Specialty type: Research and Medicine, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, Kamakura 247-8533, Kanagawa, Japan experimental medicine Takayasu Ohtake, Kidney Disease and Transplant center, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, Provenance and peer review: Kamakura 247-8533, Kanagawa, Japan Invited article; Externally peer reviewed. Takayasu Ohtake, Amankeldi A Salybekov, Tsutomu Sato, Takayuki Asahara, Shuzo Kobayashi, Regenerative Medicine, Shonan Research Institute of Innovative Medicine, Kamakura 247-Peer-review model: Single blind 8533, Kanagawa, Japan Peer-review report's scientific Shoichi Itaba, Shigeo Fujii, Hiroki Kumagai, Kamakura Techno-science Inc., Kamakura 248quality classification 0036, Japan Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Yin Sheng, Advanced Medicine Science, Tokai University School of Medicine, Isehara 259-Grade C (Good): C 1193, Japan Grade D (Fair): 0 Mitsuru Yanai, Department of Pathology, Sapporo Tokushukai Hospital, Sapporo 004-0041, Grade E (Poor): 0 Japan P-Reviewer: Goebel WS, United Makoto Imagawa, Department of Pathology, Sapporo Medical Center, Sapporo 004-0041, Japan States; Zhang LS, China Masamitsu Harata, Human Life CORD Japan Inc, Chuo-ku 103-0012, Tokyo, Japan Received: December 13, 2022 Peer-review started: December 13, Takayuki Asahara, Cell Processing and Cell/Genome Analysis Center, The Center for Cell 2022 Therapy & Regenerative Medicine, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, Kamakura 247-8533, First decision: February 11, 2023 Kanagawa, Japan Revised: February 24, 2023 Accepted: March 21, 2023 Shuzo Kobayashi, Kidney Disease and Transplant Center, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, Kamakura 247-8533, Kanazawa, Japan Article in press: March 21, 2023 Published online: April 26, 2023 Corresponding author: Takayasu Ohtake, MD, PhD, Director, Doctor, Regenerative Medicine, The Center for Cell Therapy & Regenerative Medicine, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, 1370-1 Okamoto, Kamakura 247-8533, Kanagawa, Japan. ohtake@shonankamakura.or.jp Abstract

# BACKGROUND

There is no established treatment to impede the progression or restore kidney function in human chronic kidney disease (CKD).



# AIM

To examine the efficacy of cultured human CD34+ cells with enhanced proliferating potential in kidney injury in mice.

# **METHODS**

Human umbilical cord blood (UCB)-derived CD34+ cells were incubated for one week in vasculogenic conditioning medium. Vasculogenic culture significantly increased the number of CD34+ cells and their ability to form endothelial progenitor cell colony-forming units. Adenineinduced tubulointerstitial injury of the kidney was induced in immunodeficient non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency mice, and cultured human UCB-CD34+ cells were administered at a dose of 1 × 10<sup>6</sup>/mouse on days 7, 14, and 21 after the start of adenine diet.

## RESULTS

Repetitive administration of cultured UCB-CD34+ cells significantly improved the time-course of kidney dysfunction in the cell therapy group compared with that in the control group. Both interstitial fibrosis and tubular damage were significantly reduced in the cell therapy group compared with those in the control group (P < 0.01). Microvasculature integrity was significantly preserved (P < 0.01) and macrophage infiltration into kidney tissue was dramatically decreased in the cell therapy group compared with those in the control group (P < 0.001).

#### CONCLUSION

Early intervention using human cultured CD34+ cells significantly improved the progression of tubulointerstitial kidney injury. Repetitive administration of cultured human UCB-CD34+ cells significantly improved tubulointerstitial damage in adenine-induced kidney injury in mice via vasculoprotective and anti-inflammatory effects.

Key Words: Chronic kidney disease; CD34+ cell; Adenine; Tubulointerstitial injury; Quality and quantity control culture; Umbilical cord blood

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** There is no established treatment for retarding the progression or improving advanced chronic kidney disease (CKD). Here, we provided effectiveness of cord blood derived cultured human CD34+ cell on progressive CKD model in mice. Kidney function and pathological damage were improved by repetitive cell therapy along with the improvement of microvasculature and inhibition of inflammatory cell infiltration in the kidney. Enhanced cell potential (proliferation and increase of endothelial progenitor cell colony-forming unit) by culture might be a key factor for improving progressive kidney injury.

Citation: Ohtake T, Itaba S, Salybekov AA, Sheng Y, Sato T, Yanai M, Imagawa M, Fujii S, Kumagai H, Harata M, Asahara T, Kobayashi S. Repetitive administration of cultured human CD34+ cells improve adenine-induced kidney injury in mice. World J Stem Cells 2023; 15(4): 268-280 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-0210/full/v15/i4/268.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.268

# INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a progressive disease that leads to end-stage renal disease (ESRD) with increasing incidence and mortality[1]. Incomplete recovery from acute kidney injury (AKI) can also lead to CKD (AKI-CKD transition) through tubular atrophy and failed tubular recovery[2]. CKD affected nearly 750 million people globally in 2016 and constitutes a serious public health burden worldwide<sup>[3]</sup>. Several treatment strategies, including pharmaceutical therapies, such as renin-angiotensin-aldosterone blockers, and diet control, including salt and protein restriction, have been applied to impede CKD progression. However, satisfactory outcomes have not been achieved. Considering the progressive nature of CKD, which is associated with high mortality rates, especially in late-stage CKD patients, including those undergoing dialysis, there is a pressing need to develop novel therapeutic strategies to treat CKD.

The efficacy of cell-based regenerative therapy in animal models of CKD has been tested, and preclinical studies have provided favorable results[4]. Cell-based therapy has been shown to improve functional and histological parameters of kidney injury and delay the development of CKD in animal



models<sup>[4]</sup>. However, clinical trials of cell-based therapy for CKD in humans are still limited, with only three clinical trials published[5-7]. These trials used single administration of autologous bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells[5,6] or granulocyte colony-stimulating factor-mobilized autologous peripheral blood-derived CD34+ cells[7]. Although the safety and tolerability of cell therapy were confirmed, the efficacy in improving or stabilizing renal dysfunction was not established by these early phase trials.

Adenine-induced renal injury in mouse is used as a model of chronic kidney injury caused by 2,8dihydroxyadenine (DHA), a metabolic product of adenine[8,9]. The primary site of adenine-induced renal injury is the tubulointerstitial region. Accumulation of DHA crystals in the renal tubules and interstitial tissue causes progressive degeneration of tubular epithelial cells and induces interstitial fibrosis. Moreover, adenine-containing diet induces chronic and progressive renal injury in mice in a dose-dependent manner. This animal model is suitable for evaluating the efficacy of cell-based therapy for progressive tubulointerstitial injuries. However, to evaluate the efficacy of xenotransplantation of human cells, the animal's immune response has to be avoided. Therefore, we stablished an adenineinduced renal injury model in non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency (NOD/SCID) mice, which lack mature T, B, and natural killer cells.

Human CD34+ endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) have high angiogenic and anti-inflammatory potential, and thus used for this study[10,11]. However, because EPCs from patients with several diseases have impaired function and are insufficient, allogeneic sources are considered as good alternatives. We therefore used umbilical cord blood (UCB)-derived CD34+ cells. However, in our preliminary study, uncultured human UCB-derived CD34+ cell administration could not effectively retard the progression of chronic kidney injury in this model. Hence, we cultured UCB-CD34+ cells to enhance their vasculogenic potential using the quality and quantity culture (QQc) method, which was established for EPCs[12], and used in our previous report[13]. Once or twice administration of human UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells could not improve the time-course of kidney injury. However, administration of human UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells once a week for 3 consecutive weeks demonstrated a significant improvement of kidney function and reduction of renal histological damages. This is the first report of the application of human UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells as an effective regenerative therapy for CKD.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Cell preparation

Human UCB-CD34+ cells were purchased from the RIKEN Bioresource Center (Tsukuba, Japan), plated at a density of  $1 \times 10^4$  cells/well in a 24-well tissue culture plate (BD Falcon, Bedford), and cultured in QQc media for 7 d as previously described [12,13]. QQc uses a serum-free StemSpan SFEM media (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada) with an optimized combination of growth factors as well as cytokines (20 ng/mL thyroid peroxidase, 20 ng/mL interleukine-6, 100 ng/mL SCF, 100 ng/mL Flt-3 Ligand, and 50 ng/mL vascular endothelial growth factor). All reagents were purchased from PeproTech Inc. (Rocky Hill, NJ, United States). This culture method significantly enhanced the vasculogenesis, proliferation, and colony-forming units of CD34+ cells[10]. UCB-CD34+ cells from five separate samples were cultured, and cell populations of pre- and post-QQc human UCB-CD34+ EPCs were evaluated using FACS analysis (FACSVerse<sup>™</sup>, BD, United States). FlowJo<sup>™</sup> (version 10.6, BD, United States) was used for data analysis.

## EPC colony-forming assay

EPC colony-forming units (EPC-CFUs) of pre-QQc and post-QQc human UCB-CD34+ cells were assessed using a colony-forming assay as previously described [12,13]. The EPC colony-forming assay was designed to evaluate the vasculogenic potential of EPCs and categorize total EPC-CFUs (TEPC-CFUs) into two different types of EPC-CFUs: Primitive (small cell-sized) and definitive (large cell-sized). Primitive EPC-CFUs (PEPC-CFUs) have greater potential for proliferation, whereas definitive EPC-CFUs (DEPC-CFUs) are predominantly vasculogenic populations with a greater differentiation potential. Briefly, 500 human UCB-CD34+ cells per dish were seeded into a 35-mm hydrophilic tissue culture dish. Ten to fourteen days later, total EPC colony-forming unit (TEPC-CFUs), PEPC-CFUs, and DEPC-CFUs were counted under light microscopy by two investigators who were blinded to the experimental conditions. Five samples of UCB-CD34+ cells were used for EPC colony-forming assay. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

#### Mice

Six-week-old male NOD/SCID mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories Inc. (Tsukuba, Japan) and used for all experiments. All animal use was in accordance with institutional and ARRIVE guidelines (https://arriveguidelines.org). The experimental protocol was approved by the Administration Committee of Experimental Animals at Kamakura Techno-science, Inc. (No. 20-034, 20-079, Kanagawa, Japan).



# Adenine-induced chronic tubulointerstitial kidney injury

The CKD animal model (adenine-induced chronic tubulointerstitial kidney injury) using NOD/SCID mouse was developed in collaboration with Kamakura Techno-science, Inc. First, several doses of adenine were used to optimize and induce progressive tubulointerstitial kidney injury. Kidney damage showed a dose-dependent pattern, and the optimized dose and period of adenine diet ingestion were finally determined as 0.14% and 3 wk, respectively.

The experimental design is shown in Figure 1. Thirty-five male NOD/SCID mice were used in this experiment. All mice had free access to tap water, and were fed a 0.14% (w/w) adenine-containing diet from day 0 to day 21. The adenine-containing diet was stopped on day 21 and changed to standard laboratory chow diet (CRF-1 powder diet, Oriental Yeast Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) from days 22 to 28 in all mice. Body weight and food intake were measured weekly. Blood sampling from the tail vein was performed on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28. After evaluating the serum creatinine levels on day 7, the mice were divided into two groups, *i.e.*, control group (n = 17) and the cell therapy group (n = 18). After blood sampling on day 28, mice were anesthetized using isoflurane, and kidney tissues were collected for histological analysis. All animal experiments were performed at Kamakura Techno-science, Inc. (Kanagawa, Japan).

# Cell transplantation

Mice in the control group were injected with 100 µL of vehicle (Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium: IMDM), and those in the cell therapy group were injected with 1  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup> UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells in 100  $\mu L$ IMDM via the tail vein. UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells were administered three times on days 7, 14, and 21. Cell purity and viability were evaluated just before cell therapy.

# Kidney function and renal histology

Serial blood samples were drawn from the tail vein on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28, and serum creatinine levels were immediately measured using DRI-CHEM CRE-P III (FUJIFILM Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Kidney tissues were harvested and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, transferred to 70% ethanol, and embedded in paraffin. From these paraffin blocks, 2 µm-thick sections were prepared and stained with periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) and Masson's trichrome (MT) stain for analysis of tubular damage and interstitial fibrosis, respectively. To examine the extent of tubulointerstitial injury, 10 non-overlapping fields from the entire cortical and outer medulla areas in PAS-stained specimens and MT-stained specimens were captured under 100 × magnification. Tubulointerstitial injury in PAS-stained sections were categorized as tubular dilatation with epithelial and tubular atrophy. The degree of injury was scored on a scale of 0 to 4 according to the percentage of the damaged area; 0:0%, normal; 1,0%-25%; 2, 25%-50%;3, 50%-75%; and 4, 75% or more. Interstitial fibrosis in MT-stained sections was quantified as fibrotic area per total area (%) and measured using an automatic image analyzer (cellSens, Olympus, Japan). Tubulointerstitial injury score and interstitial fibrosis area were evaluated in each mouse (n = 17in the control group and n = 18 in the cell therapy group), and mean values in each mouse were used to calculate the group mean value for further comparison between the control group and cell therapy group.

## CD31 and F4/80 immunohistochemistry

Since CD31 antigen is constitutively expressed on the endothelial cell surface, the loss of CD31-positive staining most likely reflects capillary loss. We performed CD31 immunostaining to evaluate peritubular capillary (PTC) loss using 3 µm-thick paraffin sections. PTCs were identified by immunostaining with a rabbit monoclonal anti-CD31 (PECAM-1) antibody (1:100; #77699, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, United States). Immunostaining was performed using a BOND-III autostainer (Leica Biosystems, Wetzlar, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, after deparaffinization of paraffin sections, heat-induced epitope retrieval was performed using BOND Epitope Retrieval Solution 2 (prediluted, pH 9.0; Leica Biosystems, Wetzlar, Germany) for 20 min at 100 °C. Sections were incubated sequentially with endogenous peroxidase block for 5 min, primary antibody for 30 min, secondary detection polymer for 10 min, diaminobenzidine for 10 min, and hematoxylin for 5 min.

PTC density was evaluated according to a previously published method with some modifications [11]. Twenty randomly selected fields encompassing the renal cortex and outer medulla were randomly captured by digital imaging (× 400). Each image was divided into 270 squares using a grid, and the number of squares with CD31-positive staining was counted. The PTC density was represented as a percentage of CD31 positive squares per total number of squares.

Macrophages were identified using a rabbit polyclonal anti-F4/80 antibody (1:100; ab100790, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Ten non-overlapping fields in the cortical and outer medulla areas were randomly selected and captured by digital imaging (× 100). The degree of macrophage infiltration was calculated using the 270-square grid method, as described above. The rate of macrophage infiltration was represented as a percentage of F4/80- positive squares relative to the entire cortical and outer medulla areas. Macrophage infiltration rate and PTC density were assessed in the control group and cell therapy group.





Figure 1 Experimental design. The adenine-containing diet was fed from day 0 to day 21, and switched to a standard laboratory diet from day 22 to day 28. Vehicle (IMDM) or UCB-CD34+ cells in IMDM were administered on days 7, 14, and 21 via the tail vein in the control group and cell therapy group, respectively. IMDM: Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium; UCB: Umbilical cord blood.

#### Statistical analysis

All data are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SE, unless otherwise specified. Comparison between two groups were performed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Differences in time-course of serum creatinine levels during the experimental period between the control group and the cell therapy group were analyzed using repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 11.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) and a P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

#### Effect of the QQc on CD34+ cell expansion and EPC-CFUs

The QQc significantly increased the number of CD34+ cells. CD34+ positivity per the 1 × 10<sup>4</sup> initially seeded cells was significantly increased in post-QQc-CD34+ cells compared with that in pre-QQc-CD34+ cells ( $353821 \pm 122429 vs 7341 \pm 947, P < 0.001$ ) (Figure 2A). Cell viability of QQc-CD34+ cells was higher than that of pre-QQc CD34+ cells (93.6%  $\pm$  1.3% vs 87.0%  $\pm$  0.8%, P < 0.01). After seven days of culturing using the QQc method, the number of CD34+ cells showed almost a 60-fold increase on day 7 compared with that on day 0 (59.0  $\pm$  10.4 vs 1-fold, P < 0.001) (Figure 2B). Post-QQc CD34+ cells formed more TEPC-CFUs than did pre-QQc CD34+ cells (1138.0  $\pm$  124.0 vs 27.0  $\pm$  4.5, P < 0.001) (Figure 2C). Moreover, both PEPC-CFUs and DEPC-CFUs showed a significant increase after QQc compared with pre-QQc (PEPC-CFUs: 17.4 ± 3.0 vs 666.0 ± 127.5, P < 0.001; DEPC-CFUs: 9.4 ± 2.5 vs 472.0 ± 112.0, P < 0.01).

#### QQc-CD34+ cells improved kidney function

The body weight was not significantly different between the cell therapy and control groups on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28. Diet consumption was also comparable between the two groups throughout the experimental period (data not shown).

To evaluate the role of UCB-QQc-CD34+ cell therapy in renal injury, serum creatinine levels were determined in the cell therapy and control groups. The time-course in serum creatinine levels is shown in Figure 3A. Serum creatinine levels were not statistically different between the cell therapy and control groups (0.56 mg/ dL  $\pm$  0.02 mg/dL vs 0.61 mg/dL  $\pm$  0.03 mg/dL) on day 0. During adenine-containing diet feeding, serum creatinine levels showed a gradual and constant increase in the control group (1.51  $mg/dL \pm 0.14 mg/dL$  on day 21) demonstrating a state of renal dysfunction. After switching to the standard diet on day 22, serum creatinine levels in the control group decreased to 1.41 mg/dL ± 0.14 mg/dL on day 28. In the cell therapy group, serum creatinine levels increased until day 14 and then showed a gradual increasing trend on day 21 (1.29 mg/dL  $\pm$  0.09 mg/dL). After switching to the standard diet, serum creatinine levels decreased to 1.09 mg/dL ± 0.09 mg/dL on day 28 in the cell therapy group. Time-course of serum creatinine levels between the control and the cell therapy groups showed borderline significance (P = 0.06). However, the relative ratio of changes in serum creatinine levels from day 0 to day 28 showed a statistically significant difference between the control and the cell therapy groups (255.1% ± 25.9% vs 185.9% ± 18.5%, P = 0.035) (Figure 3B). Thus, repetitive administration of UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells significantly improved the time-course of adenine-induced chronic kidney injury.

## QQc-CD34+ cells reduced interstitial fibrosis and tubular damage

The adenine-containing diet induced prominent tubular damage, including tubular dilatation and





**Figure 2 CD34+ cell and endothelial progenitor cell colony-forming units expansion by quality and quantity culture method.** A: Number of total CD34+ cells. The plot graph demonstrates CD34+ positivity per  $1 \times 10^4$  fresh UCB-CD34+ sample and post-culture CD34+ cell number per  $1 \times 10^4$  initially seeded cells; B: Expansion rate of CD34+ cells. The expansion rate of CD34+ cells from fresh CD34+ cells (day 0) to cultured CD34+ cells (day 7); C: Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) colony-forming unit. The number of TEPC-CFUs, primitive EPC-CFUs, and definitive EPC-CFUs of post- quality and quantity culture (QQc) CD34+ cells. Gray column: Significantly increased compared with that of pre-QQc CD34+ cells; black column: Statistical significances in Figure 2A-C were determined using Mann-Whitney *U* test. UCB: Umbilical cord blood; EPC: Endothelial progenitor cell; CFU: Colony-forming unit; QQc: Quality and quantity culture; TEPC: Total endothelial progenitor cell; PEPC: Primitive endothelial progenitor cell; DEPC: Definite endothelial progenitor cell.

tubular atrophy accompanied by interstitial fibrosis (Figure 4A-D). In line with the reduced time-course of renal injury in cell therapy mice, the interstitial fibrosis area was significantly reduced in the cell therapy group compared with that in the control group ( $8.1\% \pm 5.4\% vs \ 16.3\% \pm 7.0\%, P < 0.01$ ) (Figure 4E). The tubular damage score was also significantly decreased in the cell therapy group compared with that in the control group ( $1.48 \pm 1.27 vs \ 2.83 \pm 1.00, P < 0.01$ ) (Figure 4F).

## PTC density and macrophage infiltration

Representative images of PTC density as evaluated by CD31 immunohistochemical staining are shown in Figure 5. CD31+ staining was significantly decreased, especially around the dilated and degenerated tubules, in this model (Figure 5A). The cell therapy group showed significantly higher PTC density than did the control group ( $57.3\% \pm 6.4\% vs 31.0\% \pm 6.1\%$ , P < 0.01) (Figure 5B and C).

Macrophage infiltration is shown in Figure 6. Infiltration of F4/80-positive macrophages was mainly observed in the area with interstitial fibrotic changes and dilated and degenerated tubules in the control group (Figure 6A). However, macrophage infiltration was dramatically reduced in the cell therapy group compared with that in the control group (1.3%  $\pm$  0.3% *vs* 14.4%  $\pm$  1.1%, *P* < 0.001) (Figure 6B and C).

# DISCUSSION

We demonstrated that repetitive administration of human UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells significantly improved the time-course of adenine-induced tubulointerstitial injury in mice. The relative changes in serum creatinine levels from baseline to day 28 were significantly improved in the cell therapy group compared with those in the control group. Interstitial fibrosis area and tubulointerstitial injury score were also significantly improved by cell therapy. The PTC network, visualized by CD31+ staining, was found to be severely damaged in adenine-induced kidney injury. However, PTC rarefaction was





Figure 3 Changes in serum creatinine levels. A: Time-course of serum creatinine levels in the control group (n = 17) and cell therapy group (n = 18). The P value between the control group and the cell therapy group on day 28 was 0.06; B: Change rate of serum creatinine levels from baseline to day 28 in the control and cell therapy groups. Statistical significance in Figure 3A was determined using repeated measures analysis of variance. Statistical significance in Figure 3B was determined using Mann-Whitney U test.



DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Histological analysis of renal injury. A and B: Tubular injury including tubular dilatation, tubular epithelial atrophy, and tubular atrophy, evaluated using periodic acid-Schiff-stained renal tissue sections of control group (A) and cell therapy group (B); C and D: Interstitial fibrosis using Masson's trichrome stained sections of control group (C) and cell therapy group (D). Scale bar: 200 µm; E: Quantitative analysis of interstitial fibrosis rate, and F: semi-quantitative analysis of tubular injury score. Statistical significance of Figure 4E and F were determined using Mann-Whitney U test.

> significantly improved by cell therapy. Furthermore, macrophage infiltration was dramatically reduced in the cell therapy group. These results might imply the significant potential of CD34+ cell-based therapy for clinical application in CKD.

> CKD progression is caused by multiple factors, including diabetes, hypertension, and glomerulonephritis. Regardless of the diverse causes of CKD, tubulointerstitial damage is the final common pathway that results in its transition to ESRD[14]. Therefore, one major target of cell-based regenerative therapy for CKD is the arrest of chronic tubular and interstitial damage. Loss of integrity of the







Figure 5 Peritubular capillary density evaluation using CD31+ staining. A and B: CD31+ immunostaining of peritubular capillary (PTC) in control group (A) and cell therapy group (B); original magnification (× 400). Scale bar: 100 µm; C: Quantitative analysis of PTC density. Statistical significance in Figure 5C was determined using Mann-Whitney U test.

intrarenal microvasculature is also a major contributor to the progression of renal diseases[15-17]. Tubular damage, interstitial fibrosis, and microvasculature impairment are associates with each other and form a vicious cycle to promote CKD[18-24]. A close association between PTC rarefaction and tubulointerstitial fibrosis has been proven in the human kidney[20]. Hypoxia due to PTC rarefaction induces the production of local inflammatory cytokines[25], which in turn, worsen hypoxia in inflamed tissues. Thus, hypoxia also creates a vicious cycle of inflammation[26].

CD34+ cells have been used in regenerative therapy for several organ damages, including critical limb ischemia<sup>[27,28]</sup>, myocardial ischemia<sup>[29]</sup>, stroke<sup>[30]</sup>, and acute kidney injury<sup>[31]</sup>. CD34+ cells possess two important properties that are considered necessary for regenerative therapy: Enhanced angiogenic and anti-inflammatory potential [10,11]. Externally administered CD34+ EPCs improved kidney injury such as endothelial cell damage in several animal models[13,15,19,32-35]. In cases of acute and severe renal endothelial cell injury, intrinsic repair may not function sufficiently [36]. Furthermore, endothelial disturbances related to ischemia induce permanent damage to PTCs[37]. Therefore, a strategy for vascular protection or angiogenesis might be important for the long-term preservation of kidney function. Recently, horizontal transfer of regenerative information via extracellular vesicles (EVs) between regeneration associated stem/progenitor cells and injured cells in the damaged organ was shown to be a major regenerative mechanism. Exosomes from human CD34+ cells, by themselves, have demonstrated angiogenic activity in in vivo and in vitro experiments [38,39]. Hence, CD34+ based cell therapy could be an excellent strategy to induce vasculogenesis and repair kidney function.

Regarding cell administration, frequency of transplantation as well as the number and regenerative potential of transplanted cells is thought to be very important. Multiple rather than single administration might show more advantages to improve organ damage. Lv *et al*[40] demonstrated that multiple administration of UCB-mesenchymal stem cells showed a superior therapeutic effect compared with that of single administration in an animal model of chemotherapy-induced premature ovarian failure. We also demonstrated that repetitive administration (3 times, once in a week) of cultured UCB-CD34+ cells significantly improved the time-course of adenine-induced chronic kidney injury. The causative signals for CKD, including oxidative stress, tissue hypoxia, and inflammatory cell infiltration with the release of inflammatory cytokines continuously injure the kidney. Therefore, multiple administration of regeneration-associated CD34+ cells at fixed time intervals might be a better treatment strategy for CKD. For the number of administered cells,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/20 g mouse is equivalent to about  $50 \times 10^6$ /kg





DOI: 10.4252/wjsc.v15.i4.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 Macrophage infiltration analysis. A and B: F4/80+ macrophage immunostaining (arrows) in control group (A) and cell therapy group (B); original magnification (× 400). Scale bar: 100 µm; C: Quantitative analysis of the rate of macrophage infiltration area. Statistical significance in Figure 6C was determined using Mann-Whitney U test.

> in humans, an amount that is probably not achievable clinically. It is known that in cases of cell administration via the tail vein in mice, many cells are trapped in the lung, spleen, and bone marrow (extra-renal trap)[13]. Extra-renal trap might necessitate more cells to be administered in mice to deliver sufficient number of cells into the kidney. Therefore, future clinical trials should consider the route of cell administration. To get better effects in future clinical trials, cells should be designed for direct arterial administration.

> Herein, we used human UCB-derived CD34+ cells. UCB-CD34+ cells can be used as an off-the-shelf treatment. Because EPCs from patients with several diseases have impaired function and are insufficient, allogeneic source is considered as a good alternative. Immune reaction against allogeneic cells might limit their use. However, a recent study reported the immunosuppressive effect of cultured human EPCs. The proliferation and activation of mouse T cells were significantly suppressed by coculture with allogeneic human UCB-EPCs[41]. Therefore, cultured UCB-EPCs with enhanced potential might have a chance of emerging as a possible tool for allogeneic cell therapy. One major limitation to using UCB-CD34+ cells is the limited number obtained from one UCB donor. Regarding this, QQc of UCB-CD34+ cells significantly increased the number of CD34+ cells (almost 60 folds) in one week, and EPC-CFUs (total, primitive, and definite EPC-CFUs) were significantly increased. The increased UCB-CD34+ cell number enabled multiple administration. Furthermore, the enhanced vasculogenic and antiinflammatory potential of UCB-CD34+ cells might be critical for preserving PTC integrity and reducing inflammatory cell infiltration.

> There are several limitations to this study. First, the effect of tissue hypoxia was not evaluated to establish the relationship among tubular damage, interstitial fibrosis, PTC integrity, macrophage infiltration, and hypoxia in the kidney tissue of control and cell therapy-treated mice. Second, the cellular behavior of UCB-CD34+ cells (homing and staying in injured kidney) remain undetermined. Third, we could not compare the contents (mRNA, miRNA, and proteins, including growth factors and cytokines) of EVs of pre-QQc and post-QQc UCB-CD34+ cells. Therefore, the EV-mediated mechanism by which UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells showed an effective response in repairing kidney injury remains to be elucidated. We evaluated the effect of cell therapy during the progressive phase, and not the advanced ESRD stage. Therefore, it is unclear whether cell therapy might be effective at the ESRD stage. Stopping adenine diet induced recovery from dysfunction. However, it remains unknown whether stopping



adenine diet without cell therapy brings kidney function completely to normal, because we did not conduct a longer follow-up after switching adenine diet to normal chow. At the same time, we could not elucidate whether the effects of cell therapy were long-lasting since the animals were sacrificed only one week after the last dose of cells. These limitations should be addressed in future research.

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, although the more precise mechanisms should be clarified, this study provides a new insight in the field of regenerative medicine. Repetitive administration of human UCB-QQc-CD34+ cells improved kidney function and reduced histological damage in adenine-induced tubulointerstitial injury. Tubular damage and interstitial fibrosis were significantly improved by cell therapy in accordance with improved PTC integrity and reduced inflammatory cell infiltration. Hence, clinical trials using repetitive administration of regenerative CD34+ cells with enhanced proliferative and angiogenic potential might be expected for patients with progressive CKD.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

# Research background

Chronic kidney Disease (CKD) constitutes a serious public health burden worldwide, and there is no established treatment to impede the progression or restore kidney function in human CKD.

# **Research motivation**

To discover and establish a new effective treatment for CKD is urgently needed. Cell-based therapy has a potential as a new effective treatment for progressive CKD.

# **Research objectives**

To evaluate the efficacy of cultured human cord-blood-derived CD34+ cells.

# **Research methods**

Progressive tubulointerstitial injury with kidney dysfunction was made in mice. Human umbilical cord blood (UCB)-derived CD34+ cells were incubated in vasculogenic conditioned medium for 1 wk to increase the number of CD34+ cells and ability to form endothelial progenitor cell (EPC)-colony-forming units. These cultured human CD34+ cells were administered on days 7, 14, and 21 after the start of adenine diet.

# **Research results**

Cell therapy significantly improved the time-course of progressive kidney dysfunction. Pathological injuries including tubular injury and interstitial fibrosis were significantly reduced in the cell therapy group compared with those in the control group. Preserved microvasculature integrity and decreased macrophage infiltration were shown in the cell therapy group.

## **Research conclusions**

Early intervention using human cultured CD34+ cells significantly improved the progression of tubulointerstitial kidney injury.

# **Research perspectives**

In future research, the efficacy of cultured human CD34+ cells for more advanced CKD such as endstage renal disease (ESRD), cell behavior (homing and staying in injured kidney) after cell administration, differences in extracellular vesicles from pre- and post-incubated UCB-derived CD34+ cells, should be evaluated for further analysis of the efficacy of cell therapy. A future clinical trial of cell therapy for progressive CKD might be expected.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We gratefully thank Mr. Hirata (Center for Clinical and Translational Science) and Mr. Okamura (sRIIM) in Shonan Kamakura General Hospital for their support of cell preparation. We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.com) for English language editing.

Zaishideng® WJSC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ohtake T contributed to principal investigator, conception and design, provision of study material, collection and assembly of data, data analysis, data interpretation, and manuscript writing; Itaba S, Fujii S, and Kumagai H contributed to animal experiment and data analysis; Salybekov AA and Sheng Y contributed to cell culture and cell population analysis; Sato T contributed to cell preparation and cell population analysis; Yanai M and Imagawa M contributed to immunohistochemical analysis; Harata M contributed to cell preparation; Asahara T contributed to advisor of cell culture, conception and design, confirmation of analytical methods and results, data interpretation, advisor for content of manuscript, and final approval of manuscript; Kobayashi S contributed to conception and design, data interpretation, advisor for content of manuscript, and final approval of manuscript.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Administration Committee of Experimental Animals (No. 20-034 and 20-079).

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

**ARRIVE guidelines statement:** The authors have read the ARRIVE Guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE Guidelines.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Takayasu Ohtake 0000-0002-7009-161X.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

# REFERENCES

- Fraser SDS, Roderick PJ. Kidney disease in the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Nat Rev Nephrol 2019; 15: 193-194 [PMID: 30723305 DOI: 10.1038/s41581-019-0120-0]
- Venkatachalam MA, Weinberg JM, Kriz W, Bidani AK. Failed Tubule Recovery, AKI-CKD Transition, and Kidney 2 Disease Progression. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015; 26: 1765-1776 [PMID: 25810494 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2015010006]
- Bikbov B, Perico N, Remuzzi G; on behalf of the GBD Genitourinary Diseases Expert Group. Disparities in Chronic Kidney Disease Prevalence among Males and Females in 195 Countries: Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease 2016 Study. Nephron 2018; 139: 313-318 [PMID: 29791905 DOI: 10.1159/000489897]
- Papazova DA, Oosterhuis NR, Gremmels H, van Koppen A, Joles JA, Verhaar MC. Cell-based therapies for experimental 4 chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dis Model Mech 2015; 8: 281-293 [PMID: 25633980 DOI: 10.1242/dmm.017699]
- Makhlough A, Shekarchian S, Moghadasali R, Einollahi B, Hosseini SE, Jaroughi N, Bolurieh T, Baharvand H, Aghdami 5 N. Safety and tolerability of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells in ADPKD patients. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017; 8: 116 [PMID: 28535817 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-017-0557-7]
- Makhlough A, Shekarchian S, Moghadasali R, Einollahi B, Dastgheib M, Janbabaee G, Hosseini SE, Falah N, Abbasi F, 6 Baharvand H, Aghdami N. Bone marrow-mesenchymal stromal cell infusion in patients with chronic kidney disease: A safety study with 18 months of follow-up. Cytotherapy 2018; 20: 660-669 [PMID: 29580865 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.02.368
- Yang CC, Sung PH, Cheng BC, Li YC, Chen YL, Lee MS, Yip HK. Safety and efficacy of intrarenal arterial autologous CD34+ cell transfusion in patients with chronic kidney disease: A randomized, open-label, controlled phase II clinical trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2020; 9: 827-838 [PMID: 32297703 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.19-0409]
- Kamijo-Ikemori A, Sugaya T, Hibi C, Nakamura T, Murase T, Oikawa T, Hoshino S, Hisamichi M, Hirata K, Kimura K, 8 Shibagaki Y. Renoprotective effect of the xanthine oxidoreductase inhibitor topiroxostat on adenine-induced renal injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2016; 310: F1366-F1376 [PMID: 27029427 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00517.2015]
- 0 Rivera-Valdés JJ, García-Bañuelos J, Salazar-Montes A, García-Benavides L, Dominguez-Rosales A, Armendáriz-Borunda J, Sandoval-Rodríguez A. Human adipose derived stem cells regress fibrosis in a chronic renal fibrotic model induced by adenine. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0187907 [PMID: 29281649 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187907]
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM. Isolation of 10 putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 1997; 275: 964-967 [PMID: 9020076 DOI: 10.1126/science.275.5302.964]



- Abd-Allah SH, Shalaby SM, Abd-Elbary E, Saleh AA, El-Magd MA. Human peripheral blood CD34+ cells attenuate oleic acid-induced acute lung injury in rats. Cytotherapy 2015; 17: 443-453 [PMID: 25536864 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.11.002]
- Masuda H, Iwasaki H, Kawamoto A, Akimaru H, Ishikawa M, Ii M, Shizuno T, Sato A, Ito R, Horii M, Ishida H, Kato S, 12 Asahara T. Development of serum-free quality and quantity control culture of colony-forming endothelial progenitor cell for vasculogenesis. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012; 1: 160-171 [PMID: 23197763 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2011-0023]
- Ohtake T, Kobayashi S, Slavin S, Mochida Y, Ishioka K, Moriya H, Hidaka S, Matsuura R, Sumida M, Katagiri D, Noiri 13 E, Okada K, Mizuno H, Tanaka R. Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Incubated in Vasculogenic Conditioning Medium Dramatically Improve Ischemia/Reperfusion Acute Kidney Injury in Mice. Cell Transplant 2018; 27: 520-530 [PMID: 29737200 DOI: 10.1177/0963689717753186]
- 14 Nath KA. Tubulointerstitial changes as a major determinant in the progression of renal damage. Am J Kidney Dis 1992; **20**: 1-17 [PMID: 1621674 DOI: 10.1016/s0272-6386(12)80312-x]
- Kang DH, Hughes J, Mazzali M, Schreiner GF, Johnson RJ. Impaired angiogenesis in the remnant kidney model: II. 15 Vascular endothelial growth factor administration reduces renal fibrosis and stabilizes renal function. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12: 1448-1457 [PMID: 11423573 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V1271448]
- Bohle A, Mackensen-Haen S, Wehrmann M. Significance of postglomerular capillaries in the pathogenesis of chronic 16 renal failure. Kidney Blood Press Res 1996; 19: 191-195 [PMID: 8887259 DOI: 10.1159/000174072]
- 17 Fine LG, Orphanides C, Norman JT. Progressive renal disease: the chronic hypoxia hypothesis. Kidney Int Suppl 1998; 65: S74-S78 [PMID: 9551436]
- Norman JT, Clark IM, Garcia PL. Hypoxia promotes fibrogenesis in human renal fibroblasts. Kidney Int 2000; 58: 2351-18 2366 [PMID: 11115069 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00419.x]
- Kang DH, Joly AH, Oh SW, Hugo C, Kerjaschki D, Gordon KL, Mazzali M, Jefferson JA, Hughes J, Madsen KM, 19 Schreiner GF, Johnson RJ. Impaired angiogenesis in the remnant kidney model: I. Potential role of vascular endothelial growth factor and thrombospondin-1. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12: 1434-1447 [PMID: 11423572 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V1271434
- 20 Choi YJ, Chakraborty S, Nguyen V, Nguyen C, Kim BK, Shim SI, Suki WN, Truong LD. Peritubular capillary loss is associated with chronic tubulointerstitial injury in human kidney: altered expression of vascular endothelial growth factor. Hum Pathol 2000; 31: 1491-1497 [PMID: 11150374 DOI: 10.1053/hupa.2000.20373]
- Nangaku M. Chronic hypoxia and tubulointerstitial injury: a final common pathway to end-stage renal failure. J Am Soc 21 Nephrol 2006; 17: 17-25 [PMID: 16291837 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005070757]
- Tanaka T. A mechanistic link between renal ischemia and fibrosis. Med Mol Morphol 2017; 50: 1-8 [PMID: 27438710 22 DOI: 10.1007/s00795-016-0146-3]
- Mimura I, Nangaku M. The suffocating kidney: tubulointerstitial hypoxia in end-stage renal disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 23 2010; 6: 667-678 [PMID: 20877304 DOI: 10.1038/nrneph.2010.124]
- Grgic I, Campanholle G, Bijol V, Wang C, Sabbisetti VS, Ichimura T, Humphreys BD, Bonventre JV. Targeted proximal 24 tubule injury triggers interstitial fibrosis and glomerulosclerosis. Kidney Int 2012; 82: 172-183 [PMID: 22437410 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.201
- Snodgrass RG, Boß M, Zezina E, Weigert A, Dehne N, Fleming I, Brüne B, Namgaladze D. Hypoxia Potentiates 25 Palmitate-induced Pro-inflammatory Activation of Primary Human Macrophages. J Biol Chem 2016; 291: 413-424 [PMID: 26578520 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M115.686709]
- Koeppen M, Eckle T, Eltzschig HK. The hypoxia-inflammation link and potential drug targets. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 26 2011; 24: 363-369 [PMID: 21659868 DOI: 10.1097/ACO.0b013e32834873fd]
- 27 Ohtake T, Mochida Y, Ishioka K, Oka M, Maesato K, Moriya H, Hidaka S, Higashide S, Ioji T, Fujita Y, Kawamoto A, Fukushima M, Kobayashi S. Autologous Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor-Mobilized Peripheral Blood CD34 Positive Cell Transplantation for Hemodialysis Patients with Critical Limb Ischemia: A Prospective Phase II Clinical Trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2018; 7: 774-782 [PMID: 30059194 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.18-0104]
- Kawamoto A, Katayama M, Handa N, Kinoshita M, Takano H, Horii M, Sadamoto K, Yokoyama A, Yamanaka T, 28 Onodera R, Kuroda A, Baba R, Kaneko Y, Tsukie T, Kurimoto Y, Okada Y, Kihara Y, Morioka S, Fukushima M, Asahara T. Intramuscular transplantation of G-CSF-mobilized CD34(+) cells in patients with critical limb ischemia: a phase I/IIa, multicenter, single-blinded, dose-escalation clinical trial. Stem Cells 2009; 27: 2857-2864 [PMID: 19711453 DOI: 10.1002/stem.207]
- Losordo DW, Schatz RA, White CJ, Udelson JE, Veereshwarayya V, Durgin M, Poh KK, Weinstein R, Kearney M, 29 Chaudhry M, Burg A, Eaton L, Heyd L, Thorne T, Shturman L, Hoffmeister P, Story K, Zak V, Dowling D, Traverse JH, Olson RE, Flanagan J, Sodano D, Murayama T, Kawamoto A, Kusano KF, Wollins J, Welt F, Shah P, Soukas P, Asahara T, Henry TD. Intramyocardial transplantation of autologous CD34+ stem cells for intractable angina: a phase I/IIa doubleblind, randomized controlled trial. Circulation 2007; 115: 3165-3172 [PMID: 17562958 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.687376]
- Banerjee S, Bentley P, Hamady M, Marley S, Davis J, Shlebak A, Nicholls J, Williamson DA, Jensen SL, Gordon M, 30 Habib N, Chataway J. Intra-Arterial Immunoselected CD34+ Stem Cells for Acute Ischemic Stroke. Stem Cells Transl Med 2014; 3: 1322-1330 [PMID: 25107583 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2013-0178]
- 31 Suzuki H, Ohtake T, Tsukiyama T, Morota M, Ishioka K, Moriya H, Mochida Y, Hidaka S, Sato T, Asahara T, Kobayashi S. Acute kidney injury successfully treated with autologous granulocyte colony-stimulating factor-mobilized peripheral blood CD34-positive cell transplantation: A first-in-human report. Stem Cells Transl Med 2021; 10: 1253-1257 [PMID: 33955678 DOI: 10.1002/sctm.20-0561]
- Patschan D, Krupincza K, Patschan S, Zhang Z, Hamby C, Goligorsky MS. Dynamics of mobilization and homing of 32 endothelial progenitor cells after acute renal ischemia: modulation by ischemic preconditioning. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2006; 291: F176-F185 [PMID: 16478972 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00454.2005]
- Uchimura H, Marumo T, Takase O, Kawachi H, Shimizu F, Hayashi M, Saruta T, Hishikawa K, Fujita T. Intrarenal 33 injection of bone marrow-derived angiogenic cells reduces endothelial injury and mesangial cell activation in experimental



glomerulonephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16: 997-1004 [PMID: 15744001 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2004050367]

- Huang TH, Chen YT, Sung PH, Chiang HJ, Chen YL, Chai HT, Chung SY, Tsai TH, Yang CC, Chen CH, Chang HW, 34 Sun CK, Yip HK. Peripheral blood-derived endothelial progenitor cell therapy prevented deterioration of chronic kidney disease in rats. Am J Transl Res 2015; 7: 804-824 [PMID: 26175844]
- 35 Li B, Cohen A, Hudson TE, Motlagh D, Amrani DL, Duffield JS. Mobilized human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells promote kidney repair after ischemia/reperfusion injury. Circulation 2010; 121: 2211-2220 [PMID: 20458011 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.928796]
- Basile DP, Yoder MC. Renal endothelial dysfunction in acute kidney ischemia reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Hematol 36 Disord Drug Targets 2014; 14: 3-14 [PMID: 25088124]
- Basile DP, Donohoe D, Roethe K, Osborn JL. Renal ischemic injury results in permanent damage to peritubular capillaries 37 and influences long-term function. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2001; 281: F887-F899 [PMID: 11592947 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.2001.281.5.F887]
- Sahoo S, Klychko E, Thorne T, Misener S, Schultz KM, Millay M, Ito A, Liu T, Kamide C, Agrawal H, Perlman H, Qin 38 G, Kishore R, Losordo DW. Exosomes from human CD34(+) stem cells mediate their proangiogenic paracrine activity. Circ Res 2011; 109: 724-728 [PMID: 21835908 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.253286]
- Salybekov AA, Kunikeyev AD, Kobayashi S, Asahara T. Latest Advances in Endothelial Progenitor Cell-Derived 39 Extracellular Vesicles Translation to the Clinic. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 734562 [PMID: 34671654 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.734562]
- Lv X, Guan C, Li Y, Su X, Zhang L, Wang X, Xia HF, Ma X. Effects of single and multiple transplantations of human 40 umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on the recovery of ovarian function in the treatment of premature ovarian failure in mice. J Ovarian Res 2021; 14: 119 [PMID: 34526090 DOI: 10.1186/s13048-021-00871-4]
- Naserian S, Abdelgawad ME, Afshar Bakshloo M, Ha G, Arouche N, Cohen JL, Salomon BL, Uzan G. The TNF/TNFR2 41 signaling pathway is a key regulatory factor in endothelial progenitor cell immunosuppressive effect. Cell Commun Signal 2020; 18: 94 [PMID: 32546175 DOI: 10.1186/s12964-020-00564-3]




## Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

